University of Alberta

The Study of Kidney Microvascular Injury and Repair

by

George Haddad

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Experimental Medicine

Department of Medicine

©George Haddad Fall 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

ABSTRACT

Thrombotic microangiopathies are group of diseases that refer to clinical and pathological syndromes where endothelial injury results in the manifestations of capillary thrombosis, microangiopathic hemolytic anemia, schistocytosis, and can lead to renal failure. In this thesis we aimed to study glomerular endothelial cell (GEC) injury and repair. We developed an animal model of GEC-specific injury that is based on the binding specificity of MOA lectin to the carbohydrate epitope expressed in the mouse renal microvasculature. The lectin was conjugated to saporin to enhance the killing activity. The lectin-saporin (L-S) caused a uniform and reproducible GEC injury that captured many features frequently observed in TMA cases. To study renal repair we isolated and characterized human endothelial progenitor cells (hEPC) that were injected into mice treated with a sublethal dose of L-S. The human cells persisted in the kidney microvasculature of injured mice for 4 days but not in the uninjured control group. We also identified a novel function of PI3K catalytic subunit p110 β in angiogenesis where *in vitro* analysis showed that p110 β knockdown caused a defect in tip cell differentiation and sprouting formation, and decreased cellular migration proliferation. and in vivo analysis demonstrated that endothelial-restricted p110 β ablation rendered the mice more susceptible to kidney injury and impaired renal microvasculature repair. In addition, we demonstrated an important role for platelet-derived growth factor B (PDGFB) in initiating kidney GEC repair mechanism as

systemic inhibition of PDGFB by soluble PDGF receptor β led to high morbidity in the mice treated with a sublethal dose of L-S. In this thesis we developed an important animal model that can be used to further our understanding about the GEC injury and the potential application of EPC transplantation for renal restoration, and to gain more insights about the endogenous factors that govern the kidney microvascular repair mechanism.

ACKNOLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank first my supervisor Dr. Allan Murray for giving me this opportunity. I have been honored and privileged to work with you. Your teaching will help me grow as a scientist and most importantly as a person. I value the time I spent at your lab with so many memories to last a lifetime.

I would like to thank Dr. Lin Fu Zhu for his services. This project would have not been feasible without his microsurgery skills. To Dr. Qiu-Xia Zhang many thanks for being a good listener and your presence in the lab kept me sane.

To my family, I could not have done this without your unconditional love and support. To my mother, your prayers and your guidance will always help me find the right way and I hope to pay you back very soon.

I would like to acknowledge the financial support provided by Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) to my supervisor. Natural Sciences and Engineering Council of Canada (NSERC), President Award, Queen Elizabeth II Award, 75th Anniversary Award for supporting me.

Many thanks to the Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services (HSLAS) for ordering and looking after our animals.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1
1.0 General Introduction 1.1 Thesis Objectives 1.2 Thesis Outline	1 4 4
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.0 Overview	. 6
2.1 Thrombolic Microanglopathy	0 8
2 1 2 Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura	10
2.1.3 Antibody Mediated Allograft Rejection	11
2.1.4 Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation	13
2.2 Endothelial Cells	14
2.3 Endothelial Progenitor Cells	19
2.3.1 Isolation and Characterization of EPC in Adults	19
2.3.2 Identification of Putative EPC	22
2.3.2.1 Expression of Endothelial Markers	22
2.3.2.2 Uplake of Acelylated LDL and U/ex Lectin Binding	24
2.3.2.3 III VIIIO Splotting	23
2 4 Evidence of EPC Participation in Vascular Repair	28
2.4.1 EPC in Cardiovascular Disease	28
2.4.2 EPC in Cerebrovascular Disease	30
2.4.3 EPC in Cancer Therapy	32
2.4.4 EPC in Kidney Disease	34
2.5. Endothelial Cell Role in Blood Vessels Formation	37
2.5.1 Vasculogenesis	37
2.5.2 Angiogenesis	41
2.5.2.1 Sprouting Angiogenesis	43
2.5.2.1.1 TIP Cell Biology	44
2.6 Proangiogenic Eactors	47 70
2.6.1 The Family of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factors	49
2.6.2 The Family of Platelet-Derived growth Factors	57
2.7 Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase as Integrators of Proangiogenic Cues.	60
2.7.1 Class I PI3K	61
2.7.2 Class II PI3K	64
2.7.3 Class III PI3K	65
2.7.4 The Role of PI3K in Angiogenesis	65

2.8 Summary	67
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	69
3.0 Animals	69
3.1 Antibodies	69
3.2 Isolation of Endotnelial Progenitor Cells	71
3.3 Isolation of Human macrophages	12
3.5 End point PCP	12
3.6 SDS-PAGE and Western Blot	12
3 7 II -8 FLISA	73
3.8 Nitric Oxide Assay	74
3.9 Flow Cytometery	75
3.10 MTT Ássay	76
3.11 Two-Dimensional Tube Formation Assay	76
3.12 Uptake of Dil-Ac-LDL and Ulex lectin binding	77
3.13 EdU proliferation Assay	77
3.14 Chemotaxis Assay	78
3.15 siRNA Transfection	78
3.16 Three-Dimensional Angiogenesis Assay	79
3.17 in vivo Vasculogenesis by Matrigel Plugs	
3.18 MOA Lectin-Saporin Conjugation	80
3.19 Tall Vein Injection of Biolinylated MOA Lectin	Öl
3.21 Enzymatic Creatining Assay	01 82
3 22 Blood Lirea Nitrogen Assay	
3 23 Urine Total Protein Microassay	83
3.24 Histology and Immunohistochemical Staining	
3.25 Microscopy	84
3.26 Schistocytes Staining	84
3.27 Human bFGF ELISA	84
3.28 Combined Direct Flow Injection and LC-MS/MS Compound	
Identification and Quantification	85
3.29 Semi-Quantitative Analysis of the Renal Injury	87
3.30 Statistical Analysis	88

CHAPTER IV EXPERIMENTAL GLOMERULAR MICROVASCULAR

4.0 Introduction	92
4.1 Results	94
4.1.1 Characterization of Lectin-Saporin Conjugate	94
4.1.2 Binding Characteristics of MOA lectin in BI6 Mice	95
4.1.3 Results of Intra-Carotid Artery Injection of Lectin-Saporin	96
4.1.4 Functional Characterization of Kidney Injury	97

4.1.5 Metabolomic Analysis	
4.1.6 Discordant transplantation	
4.2 Discussion	

5.0 Introduction	
5.1 Results	133
5.1.1 EPCs Isolation by ECFC Method	133
5.1.2 Characterization of EPC Clones	134
5.1.3 EPC Clones Lineage Commitment	137
5.1.4 Investigation of Endothelial to Mesenchymal Transition	138
5.2 Discussion	140

6.0 Introduction
6.1 Results
6.1.1 Comparison of Angiogenic Activity of Different Endothelial Cell
Types
6.1.2 The Effect of Cellular Proliferation and Migration on Sprouting
Angiogenesis161
6.1.3 The Effect of siRNA Knockdown of Various Genes on
Sprouting Angiogenesis161
6.1.4 The Study of Phosphotidylinositide-3 Kinases Role on
Sprouting Angiogenesis <i>in vitro</i>
6.1.5 Down Regulation of Tip Cells Markers Apelin and DII4 Correlates
with Reduced Angiogenesis163
6.1.6 Apelin and DII4 siRNA Differentially Regulate Sprouting
Angiogenesis164
6.1.7 FGD5 siRNA Knockdown Reduces Sprouting Angiogenesis in
<i>vitro</i> 164
6.2 Discussion

7.0 Introduction	
7.1 Results	192
7.1.1 Introduction of Human EPC into Rag Knockout Mice	
7.1.2 Detection of Human EPC in Mouse Tissues	
7.2 Discussion	195

8.0 Introduction	.208
8.1 Results	.210
8.1.1 Endothelial-Specific p110 β Knockout Renders Mice More	
Susceptible to Injury and Reduces Survival	210
8.1.2 P110β Knockdown Reduces Sprouting Angiogenesis in vitro	.212
8.1.3 P110β Knockdown Reduces Cellular Proliferation and	
Migration	.213
8.1.4 P110β Loss Inhibits Differentiation of hEPC into Tip Cells	.214
8.1.5 PTEN knockdown rescues sprouting in p110 β knockdown	
cells	215
8.1.6 P110β Loss Reduces Microvessel-Like Formation <i>in vivo</i>	.215
8.2 Discussion	.216

9.0 Introduction	233
9.1 Results	236
9.1.1 Coning Soluble PDGFR β and Adenovirus Production	236
9.1.2 sPDGFRβ Inhibits Mesangial Cells bFGF Production After PDGFB Stimulation	237
9.1.3 <i>in vivo</i> Study of the Effect of PDGFB Inhibition After Renal	238
9.2 Discussion	240

CHAPTER X GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS..259

10.0 Overview of Findings	259
10.1 Future Directions	269

CHAPTER XI	FOOTNOTES275

CHAPTER XII	REFERENCES2	27	' 6
-------------	-------------	----	------------

LIST OF TABLES

		Page
Table 3.1:	List of human primers	89
Table 3.2:	List of mouse primers	90
Table 3.3:	List of siRNA used in this thesis	91
Table 4.1:	A list of the metabolites identified in the sera samples From control and injured mice	128
Table 5.1:	Comparison between peripheral and leukapheresis blood	144
Table 6.1:	Summary of the effect of various siRNA knockdown Of various genes on sprouting angiogenesis	179
Table 7.1:	Strategies utilized in the study of hEPC reparative Potential in lectin-saporin mouse model of TMA	201
Table 7.2:	Expression of human CD31 gene in mouse kidney after receiving hEPC as determined by quantitative PCR	206

LIST OF FIGURES

		Page
Figure 2.1:	Schematic representation of VEGF family of growth Factors and their receptors	52
Figure 4.1:	MOA lectin binding to MCEC and conjugation of MOA lectin and saporin	108
Figure 4.2:	Killing activity of L-S conjugate as determined by MTT assay	109
Figure 4.3:	L-S induces cell death of MCEC by apoptosis as determined by cleaved caspase 3 detection	110
Figure 4.4:	MOA lectin binding characteristics after intravenous delivery	111
Figure 4.5:	The development of the intra-carotid artery surgical procedure	112
Figure 4.6:	MOA lectin binding after intra-carotid artery delivery	113
Figure 4.7:	Glomerular thrombotic microangiopathy after L-S Treatment	114
Figure 4.8:	Characterization of the glomerular ultrastructure after L-S induced injury	115
Figure 4.9:	L-S conjugate induces cell death by apoptosis in vivo	116
Figure 4.10:	Dose-response effect of L-S treatment in mice	117
Figure 4.11:	Glomerular microvascular injury after sublethal L-S treatment	118
Figure 4.12:	Glomerular and peritubular capillaries injury after sublethal LS treatment	119
Figure 4.13:	Fibrin is still present in the glomeruli of sublethally injured mice after 4 days	120

Figure 4.14:	Tubular epithelial cell damage occurs after glomerular endothelial injury	121
Figure 4.15:	Evidence of glomerular and tubular injury and repair after sublethal dose of L-S	122
Figure 4.16:	Endothelial gene expression after L-S injury	123
Figure 4.17:	Growth factors gene expression after L-S injury	124
Figure 4.18:	Tip cells markers gene expression after L-S injury	125
Figure 4.19:	Metabolic derangement after glomerular endothelial injury	126
Figure 4.20:	Derangement in the nitric oxide metabolic pathway after glomerular endothelial injury	127
Figure 4.21:	List of the top 25 metabolites that correlated positively with creatinine	129
Figure 4.22:	The concentrations of phospholipids in the injured animals	130
Figure 4.23:	Electron microscope images from discordant Transplantation	131
Figure 5.1:	Flow chart demonstrating the strategy applied to isolate human EPC from peripheral blood	143
Figure 5.2:	Representative images of EPC clones	145
Figure 5.3:	Uptake of Dil-Ac-LDL and Ulex binding	146
Figure 5.4:	mRNA expression levels of endothelial genes	147
Figure 5.5:	The expression of endothelial markers as determined by flow cytometer analysis and by Western blot	148
Figure 5.6:	Lack of expression of macrophage markers in EPC	149
Figure 5.7:	The production of nitric oxide (NO) by hEPC and HUVEC	150
Figure 5.8:	Interleukin-8 (IL-8) production by hEPC and HUVEC	151

Figure 5.9:	Cell viability of EPCs in various culturing conditions as determined by MTT assay	152
Figure 5.10:	Representative images from day 7 cultured EPC under different growth conditions	153
Figure 5.11:	The mRNA expression levels of endothelial and macrophage genes by real time PCR	154
Figure 5.12:	The study of TGF β isoforms on endothelial to mesenchymal transition	155
Figure 5.13:	$TGF\beta$ receptors expression in EPCs as determined by flow cytometer	156
Figure 6.1:	Comparison of the angiogenic activity of various types of endothelial cells	172
Figure 6.2:	Competition assay between EPC and HUVEC	173
Figure 6.3:	The effect of EPC cell-conditioned medium on HUVEC sprouting	174
Figure 6.4:	EPC preferentially occupy tip cell position	175
Figure 6.5:	The role of fibroblast in maintaining cellular survival and sprouts development	176
Figure 6.6:	The effect of cell cycle inhibitor mitomycin C on sprouting angiogenesis	177
Figure 6.7:	The effect of microtubule inhibitor nocodazole on sprouting angiogenesis	178
Figure 6.8:	The effect of siRNA knockdown of p110 $lpha$ on angiogenesis	180
Figure 6.9:	The effect of siRNA knockdown of p110 δ on angiogenesis	181
Figure 6.10:	Inhibition of sprouting angiogenesis by wortmannin	182
Figure 6.11:	The effect of siRNA knockdown of PTEN on angiogenesis	183

Figure 6.12: Real time expression of tip cells markers apelin,

	DII4, and ESM1	184
Figure 6.13:	Induction of tip cell markers ESM1, Dll4, and apelin	185
Figure 6.14:	The effect of siRNA knockdown of apelin on angiogenesis	186
Figure 6.15:	The effect of siRNA knockdown of Dll4 on angiogenesis	187
Figure 6.16:	The effect of siRNA knockdown of FGD5 on angiogenesis	188
Figure 7.1:	Kaplan-Meier survival graph for Rag2 ^{-/-} $\gamma^{-/-}$	202
Figure 7.2:	Detection of human EPC in mouse tissues by end-point PCR	203
Figure 7.3:	Detection of human EPC by immunocytochemistry and immunofluorescence	204
Figure 7.4:	Real time PCR analysis of mRNA expression of endothelial specific genes	205
Figure 7.5:	Evaluation of kidney function after hEPC introduction	207
Figure 8.1:	Detection of exons 21 and 22 deletion of <i>Pik3cb</i> gene by PCR	220
Figure 8.2:	Kaplan-Meier survival graph	221
Figure 8.3:	Histological evaluation and functional analyses of the renal injury	222
Figure 8.4:	Detection of fibrin deposition in glomeruli by immuno- fluorescence	223
Figure 8.5:	Real time PCR expression of endothelial markers and kidney injury markers	224
Figure 8.6:	Quality control of p110 β knockdown by Western blot and qPCR	225
Figure 8.7:	Analysis of sprouting angiogenesis in three-dimension fibrin gel	226

Figure 8.8:	Competition assay between control and p110 β knockdown cells	227
Figure 8.9:	The effect of p110 β knockdown on cellular proliferation as measured by EdU incorporation	228
Figure 810:	The effect of p110 β knockdown on cellular migration	229
Figure 8.11:	The expression of tip cell markers, DLL4, apelin, and ESM1 by qPCR and by Western blot	230
Figure 8.12:	PTEN knockdown overrides p110 β knockdown and restores normal sprouting	231
Figure 8.13:	in vivo vasculogenesis assay using siRNA control and p110 β siRNA treated EPC	232
Figure 9.1:	Cloning of sPDGFR β and Fc vectors	246
Figure 9.2:	Production of adenoviruses and protein detection	247
Figure 9.3:	Inhibtion of mesangial cells bFGF production by PDGFBB stimulation using sPDGFR β	248
Figure 9.4:	Timeline of the experimental procedure	249
Figure 9.5:	Effect of PDGFBB inhibition on the response to L-S challenge in mice	250
Figure 9.6:	Detection recombinant protein expression in mice sera	251
Figure 9.7:	Semi-quantitative evaluation of the kidney injury	252
Figure 9.8:	Evaluation of renal function as measured by serum creatinine blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and proteinuria	253
Figure 9.9:	Detection of fibrin clots in glomeruli by immuno- fluorescence	254
Figure 9.10:	Expression of endothelial and kidney injury markers	255
Figure 9.11:	The effect of PDGFBB inhibition on expression of bFGF and VEGF	- 256
Figure 9.12:	mRNA expression levels of PDGF isoforms after	

injury

Figure 9.13: Tip cells markers gene expression after adenovirus and
L-S injections258

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2-D:	Two dimension
3-D:	Three dimension
Ac-LDL:	Acetylated low density lipoprotein
ADAMTS:	A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase with
	Thrombospondin Motifs
ADMA:	Asymmetric dimethyl arginine
Ad Fc:	Adenoviral vector expressing IgG Fc portion
Ad sPDGFR/PH:	Adenoviral vector expressing soluble PDGFR
AKI:	Acute kidney injury
Akt:	Protein kinase B
ALK:	Activin receptor-like kinase
AMP:	Adenosine monophosphate
AMR:	Antibody-mediated rejection
ANOVA:	Analysis of variance
BSA:	Bovine serum albumin
bFGF:	Basic fibroblast growth factor
bHLH:	Basic helix-loop-helix
BM:	Basement membrane
BMDC:	Bone marrow-derived cells
BMP:	Bone morphogenetic protein
BP:	Base pair
BUN:	Blood urea nitrogen
CAC:	Circulating angiogenic cells
CAD:	Coronary artery disease
CCM:	Cell conditioned medium
CAM:	Chorioallantoic membrane assay
CCR5:	C-C chemokine receptor type 5
Cdc-42:	Cell division control protein 42 homolog
CFU:	Colony forming unit
CRP:	C-reactive protein
CXCR4:	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
DAF-2 DA:	Diaminofluorescein diacetate
DDAH:	Dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase
DII4:	Delta-like 4
DMEM:	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO:	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNA-PK:	DNA-dependent protein kinase
DSB:	DNA double-strand break
DTT:	Dithiothreitol
EBM2:	Endothelial basal medium
ECD:	Extracellular domain

EC:	Endothelial cells
ECM:	Extra cellular matrix
ECFC:	Endothelial colony forming cells
E. coli:	Escherichia coli
EdU:	5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine
EGF:	Epidermal growth factor
ELISA:	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EndMT:	Endothelial to mesenchymal transition
eNOS(NOS3):	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
eEPCs:	Embryonic endothelial progenitor cells
EPC:	Endothelial progenitor cells
EPO:	Erythropoietin
ERG:	Ets related gene transcription factor
ERK:	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ESAM:	Endothelial cell selective adhesion molecule
ESM1:	Endothelial-specific molecule 1
ESRD:	End-stage renal disease
FAK:	Focal adhesion kinase
FBS:	Fetal bovine serum
FGD5:	Faciogenital dysplasia 5 protein
FGF:	Fibroblast growth factor
FLT1:	FMS-like tyrosine kinase
FOXO:	Forkhead transcription factor
FPLC:	Fast performance liquid chromatography
FSP:	Fibroblast specific protein
G-CSF:	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
GEC:	Glomerular endothelial cells
GEFs:	Guanine nucleotide exchange factors
GFP:	Green fluorescent protein
GPCR:	G-protein coupled receptors
H & E:	Hematoxylin & Eosin
HA:	Hyaluronic acid
HAEC:	Human heart aorta endothelial cells
HBSS:	Hank's balanced salt solution
HDL:	High-density lipoprotein
Hes1:	Hairy and enhancer of split-1 transcription factor
Hey1:	Hairy/enhancer-of-split related with YRPW motif
	protein 1
HGF:	Hepatocyte growth factor
HIF1:	Hypoxia inducible factor 1
HSPG:	Heparan sulphate proteoglycans
HSV:	Habu snake venom
HUS:	Hemolytic uremic syndrome
HUVEC:	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
ICAM:	Intercellular adhesion molecule
lds:	DNA-binding protein inhibitors

IGF2:	Insulin-like growth factor 2
IGF2R:	Insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor
IGFBP3:	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3
IL-8:	Interleukin-8
ILK:	Integrin-linked kinase
IQGAP1:	Ras GTPase-activating-like protein IQGAP1
ISVs:	Intersegmental vessels
IV:	Intravenous
Jag1:	Jagged 1
JAM:	Junctional adhesion molecule
kDa:	Kilo Dalton
KDR:	Kinase insert domain receptor
KIM-1:	Kidney injury molecule 1
LC/MS/MS:	Liquid chromatography and tandem mass
	spectrometry
I FA3:	I vmphocyte function antigen 3
LPS:	Lipopolysaccharide
L-S:	MOA Lectin-saporin conjugate
MAPK:	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MAPKAP-2:	Mitogen activated protein kinase activated kinase 2
MCFC:	Mouse cardiovascular endothelial cells
MCP.	Membrane co-factor protein
MCP1	Monocyte chemotactic protein 1
M-CSF	Macrophage-colony stimulating factor
M-CSFR	Macrophage-colony stimulating factor recentor
Met-SO:	Methionine sulfoxide
MHC-II	Major histocompatibility class II
MMD:	Movamova disease
MMP-9:	Matrix metalloproteinase-9
MNC:	Mononuclear cells
MOA:	Marasmius oreades agglutinin
MPGN:	Mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis
MRM:	Multiple reaction monitoring
mRNA:	Messenger ribonucleic acid
mTOR:	Mammalian target of rapamycin
mTORC1:	mTOR complex 1
MTT:	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium
	bromide
NADPH:	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
N-Cadherin:	Neural Cadherin
NF-κB:	Nuclear factor κB
NK:	Natural killer
NRPs:	Neuropilin receptors
NO:	Nitric oxide
NOS:	Nitric oxide synthase
OCT:	Optimal cutting temperature

Ox-LDL:	Oxidatively modified low density lipoprotein
PAEC:	Porcine aorta endothelial cells
PAK:	Serine/threonine-protein kinase
PAR:	Protease activated receptor
PAS:	Periodic acid-Schiff
PBST:	Phosphate buffered saline with tween-20
PECAM:	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule
PCNA:	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR:	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF:	Platelet-derived growth factor
PDGFR:	Platelet-derived growth factor receptor
PDK:	phosphoinositide-dependent kinase
PDG2:	Prostaglandin D2
PDGE2:	Prostaglandin E2
PGF2α:	Prostaglandin F2 α
PGH2:	Prostaglandin H2
PGI2:	Prostacyclin
PI:	Phosphoinositide
PI3K:	Phosphotidylinositide-3 kinase
PIP2:	Phosphotidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate
PIP3:	Phosphotidylinositol (3,4,5) triphosphate
PLC-γ	Phospholipase C-γ
PIGF:	Placental growth factor
PKC:	Protein kinase C
PKCbll:	Protein kinase CbII
PtdIns:	Phosphotidylinositol
PTEN:	Phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on
	chromosome 10
qPCR:	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
Rac1:	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1
Rag:	Recombination activating gene
RANTES:	Regulated and normal T cell expressed and secreted
RAS:	Renal artery stenosis
ROBO4:	Roundabout homolog 4
ROS:	Reactive oxygen species
RTK:	Receptor tyrosine kinases
S1P:	Sphingosine 1-phosphate
SDF1:	Stromal cell-derived factor 1
SH2:	src homology
SHP:	SH2 protein-tyrosine phosphatases
siRNA:	Small interfering RNA
Smad:	Mothers against decapentaplegic homolog
Stx:	Shiga toxin
Sulfo-LC-SPDP:	Sultosuccinimidyl 6-(3'-[2-pyridyldithio]-propionamido) hexanoate

Tcfs:	Transcription factors (E2A immunoglobulin enhancer- binding factors E12/E47)
TGF-β:	Transforming growth factor β
TGF-βR:	Transforming growth factor β receptor
Tie-2:	Tyrosine kinase with immunoglobulin-like and EGF- like domains 2
TMA:	Thrombotic microangiopathy
TMB:	3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine
TNFα:	Tumor necrosis factor α
tPA:	Tissue-type plasminogen activator
TSAd:	T-cell-specific adaptor
TTP:	Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura
TUNEL:	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase nick-end
	labeling
TxA2:	Thromboxane A2
UEA:	Ulex europaeus agglutinin
ULvWF:	Ultra large vWF
uPa:	Urokinase type plasminogen activator
uPAR:	Urokinase receptor
VCAM:	Vascular cell adhesion molecule
VE-Cad:	Vascular endothelial cadherin
VEGF:	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR2:	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2
Vps34:	Vesicular protein-sorting protein 34
vWF:	von Willebrand factor
X-gal:	5-bromo-4-chloro-indolyl-b-galactopyranoside

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.0 General Introduction

Kidney disease affects millions of people worldwide with dialysis and kidney transplantation as the main renal replacement therapies. Chronic kidney disease is a condition of endothelial dysfunction, accelerated progression of atherosclerosis and elevated cardiovascular risk. In addition, alterations of the renal microcirculation can contribute to development of acute kidney injury (AKI), a condition that can lead ultimately to chronic kidney disease [1]. Mounting evidence indicates that injury to renal endothelial cells (EC) contributes to the pathogenesis of acute kidney injury. It appears that EC injury plays an important role in the extension and maintenance of AKI through pathways related to vascular tone. Moreover, a decrease in the ultrafiltration units of the kidney is implicated in the progression of AKI to chronic kidney disease [2].

The endothelium stands at the interphase between health and disease [3]. Because of its numerous physiological functions, it is reported that the endothelium is involved in almost all disease conditions as the primary source or as a secondary target [3]. Knowing that tissue survival requires an adequate supply of nutrients and oxygen, and a healthy endothelium [4], which place an enormous burden on developing different

strategies to overcome endothelium dysfunction and most importantly understanding how the endothelium functions in different vascular beds.

Endothelial cell heterogeneity represents a major obstacle in translating bench to bedside treatments targeting EC for a specific organ [3, 5]. Moreover, not all endothelial cells share common ultrastructural features such as Weibel-Palade bodies and fenestrae. Conversely, caveolae are not restricted only to the endothelium [6]. Although the main function of EC is to line the inside of blood vessels, not all EC perform the same functions. For instance, postcapillary venule EC are responsible for leukocyte migration into the surrounding tissues, while EC lining the arteries regulate vascular tone [3].

It is important to make the distinction between activated and dysfunctional endothelium. Generally, the endothelium is active when performing its normal functions in maintaining an anticoagulant, antiinflammatory, and vasodilator roles, but when activated the endothelium becomes pro-coagulant, pro-inflammatory, and constricts blood vessels [3]. By contrast, the endothelial dysfunction represents a maladaptive state of EC characterized by cell death and/or loss of structural features that lead to disease induction or progression [7].

Since Asahara's [8] seminal report on the isolation of a population of cells termed endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) there has been an overwhelming interest in vascular repair concept in adults. There are several strategies developed to restore vascular supply to damaged organs to repair and regenerate damaged cells. Some strategies are based on delivering angiogenic factors or conditioned cell media; however this approach has not yielded a significant result so far [9]. Another promising approach relies on transplantation of pluripotent stem cells. Despite the great promise stem cells hold, the results of bone-derived stem cells (BMDC) transplantation are somewhat controversial and without clear evidence of differentiation into the correct phenotype and engraftment at the injured site in the kidney [10-12]. Other stem cells such as hematopoietic stem cells transplantations even resulted in worsening of renal function in the mouse ischemia/reperfusion model [12, 13]. Many reports are focused on transplantation of endothelial progenitor cells to repair injured blood vessels to circumvent BMDC maldifferentiation problems [12]. For example, there is evidence of EPC amelioration of kidney injury after transplantation in Thy1.1 glomerulonephritis animal model [14].

The importance of a healthy renal microvasculature in combating progression of kidney injury is paramount. It becomes essential to understand and identify the factors that govern the endogenous repair mechanism at the site of injury and the proper strategy to introduce EPC to accelerate and to enhance renal microvasculature repair.

3

1.1 Thesis Objectives

The <u>main hypothesis</u> of this thesis is endothelial progenitor cells can contribute to and accelerate kidney microvascular repair. The <u>main</u> <u>objective</u> of my thesis is to study glomerular endothelial cells injury/repair. The <u>specific aims</u> of my research project are: (a) To develop an animal model of endothelial specific kidney injury; (b) To isolate and characterize EPC at the clonal level; (c) To study the process of angiogenesis *in vitro* and investigate the role of phosphoinositide-3 kinases (PI3K) during this process; (d) To study the role of PI3K catalytic isoform p110 β in glomerular endothelial cell injury/repair *in vivo*; and (e) to investigate the role that platelet-derived growth factor B (PDGFB) plays in renal endothelium repair after a glomerular endothelial cell specific (GEC) injury.

1.2 Thesis Outline

In chapter 2, I review the current literature with respect to EPC biology, angiogenesis, and thrombotic microangiopathies. Chapter 3 contains a detailed description of materials and methods used in different experiments that comprise this thesis. Chapter 4 provides a report on the development of a glomerular endothelial cell specific injury animal model. Chapter 5 provides a description of endothelial progenitor cells isolation and characterization. Chapter 6, describes the study on the angiogenic potential of EPC, and investigates the roles of select genes involved in the angiogenesis process. Chapter 7 is based on the introduction of EPC *in*

vivo using the GEC specific injury animal model to study homing and incorporation of EPC in the kidney microvasculature at the site of injury. Chapter 8 explores the role of PI3K catalytic subunit p110 β in sprouting angiogenesis as well as in vascular repair *in vivo* using p110 β endothelial-restricted knock out mouse. Chapter 9 focuses on the role of platelet-derived growth factor B (PDGFB) in kidney vascular repair using our TMA model. Chapter 10 contains concluding remarks and provides general discussion of the important findings described in this thesis, in addition to highlighting future directions that can complement and advance further our knowledge in the field of regenerative medicine.

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

2.0 Overview

Thrombotic microangiopathies refer to a group of diseases that include hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS), thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), antibody-mediated transplant rejection and disseminated intravascular coagulation, which are characterized by loss of endothelium, intravascular thrombi, thrombocytopenia, schistocytosis, and variable degrees of organ ischemia and dysfunction [15]. Renal injury is a predominant feature of HUS, which in some cases can lead to irreversible kidney damage that requires dialysis or kidney transplant [16]. Regenerative medicine strategies have been developed to restore damaged endothelium in various vascular diseases that are based on the utilization of bone marrow-derived stem cells or *in vitro* expanded endothelial progenitor cells. However, those strategies are still in their early stages and require more research before cellular transplantation becomes a treatment for vascular diseases [12].

Endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) are a controversial cell population that came to prominence in 1997 after Asahara's [8] report on the isolation of putative progenitor cells that were capable of forming new blood vessels postnatally. Since the first publication, EPC became the most widely studied cell population, as over 9000 papers exist for this topic if endothelial progenitor cells are keyed in the Web of Science search engine. The popularity of those cells stems from the important role EPC believed to play in postnatal neovascularization and the mechanisms that govern this process in human health and disease [17]. EPC are mainly isolated from the mononuclear cell fraction of peripheral blood, and from the bone marrow. However, despite their popularity, EPC remain shrouded with controversy for several reasons; (1) lack of uniform definition to describe these cells; (2) lack of specific phenotype marker(s) to distinguish these cells from other cell types; (3) multiple methods have been used for their isolation; and (4) different cell populations are termed EPC [18].

In this review, I provide description and discussion of the current literature that described the various applications for EPC. The primary focus of the review is on the emerging determinants and principles that are important in clarifying the conflicting reports surrounding the method of isolation and characterization, differentiation between EPC and circulating angiogenic cells, and current status of EPC in regenerative medicine. In addition, the topics of thrombotic microangiopathies, endothelial cells, angiogenesis, vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF) and VEGF receptors, platelet-derived growth factors, and phosphoinositide-3 kinases are covered in this section as they relate to the scope of this thesis.

2.1 Thrombotic Microangiopathy

Thrombotic microangiopathies (TMA) are group of diseases such as hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS), thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. antibody mediated organ rejection, and disseminated intravascular coagulation. TMA is characterized by the presence of thrombi in the microvasculature of various organs, thrombocytopenia, and schistocytosis [16]. Widespread thrombi formation in the capillaries and arterioles depletes platelets, leading to an increase in the levels of shear stress causing erythrocytes fragmentation. The kidney, heart, and brain are the major organs affected by the thrombosis [16]. TMA is also recognized as a serious condition that causes renal transplant complications that can develop within days or years after transplantation [19].

2.1.1 Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome (HUS)

HUS is a severe acute renal disease that predominantly affects young children under the age of four. It leads to renal damage and death if left HUS is hemolytic untreated [20]. characterized by anemia. thrombocytopenia, and renal failure [21]. The classic form is known as diarrhea-positive (D+ HUS), which is caused by a verotoxin (i.e., Shiga toxin) produced, although not exclusively, by Escherichia coli serotype O157:H7 [22]. The verotoxin interferes with the protein synthesis process, leading to microvascular endothelial cell death [23]. The onset of D+ HUS is manifested by the presence of watery diarrhea approximately one week

before hemolysis and thrombocytopenia are detected. Several days later, the patients may experience decreased urine production, which is a condition known as oliguria and/or anuria [21]. D+ HUS is more prevalent in children, about 80 % of childhood cases are D+ HUS, only 5 % of the adult patients [24]. The Shiga toxin associated HUS affects the elderly more severely than children as older patients registered close to 90 % mortality rate, which is 10 to 20 fold higher than in children [25, 26].

The atypical form, known as diarrhea negative (D- HUS), is more severe and marked by proteinuria and hypertension. D- HUS can be triggered by different factors, including viruses, autoimmune diseases, HIV, malignancy, pregnancy, or systemic diseases [22, 27].

The familial and sporadic non-Shiga-toxin HUS are caused by genetic defects involving complement regulatory proteins factor H, factor I, and membrane co-factor protein (MCP, CD64). Factor H is a soluble glycoprotein that binds to glycosaminoglycans expressed on self cells and acts as a cofactor to factor I that mediates C3b cleavage, which is generated by the alternative complement pathway. MCP is a type I membrane-bound protein with cofactor activity to factor I [28, 29]. The deficiency of the complement regulatory proteins lead to uncontrollable C3b activation and the deposition of the C5b9 membrane attack complex on the surface of endothelial cells damaging otherwise healthy endothelium. Factor H has a half-life of about six days and in familial HUS

9

patients the activity of factor H is less than 1 % of normal [30, 31]. Lack of factor H can cause low C3 levels and frequent HUS bouts [32].

Strong evidence implicates endothelial cell damage in the pathogenesis of HUS, leading to the release of von Willebrand factor, platelet activating factor, and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, resulting in platelet aggregation and thrombus formation within the injured glomeruli [21].

2.1.2 Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura

TTP is closely related to HUS but affects mainly older patients and it is manifested in the central nervous system more frequently and involves multiple organs [22]. The clinical hallmarks of TTP are the presence of schistocytes in peripheral blood, thrombocytopenia, increased LDH levels, and hemolytic anemia. Fever may be present in some patients [33, 34]. The pathophysiology of TTP involves a genetic basis. The most common is autoimmune development of antibody against von Willebrand Factor (vWF) cleaving enzyme ADAMTS 13 [16]. vWF is a multimeric glycoprotein produced by endothelial cells and stored within the Weibel-Palade bodies and megakaryocytes. It is involved in platelet aggregation at the site of vascular injury under high shear stress. Under normal conditions ultra large vWF (ULvWF) multimers are cleaved by the zinc metalloprotease ADAMTS 13 into monomers to prevent platelet adhesion [16]. Generally, familial TTP is caused by ADAMTS 13 deficiency, a condition that prevents the enzyme from breaking down the large vWF polymers causing platelet aggregation and thrombi formation in the

microvasculature [35]. The lack of ULvWF cleavage and platelet adhesion mediated by ADAMTS 13 deficiency is dependent on additional factors including the state of shear stress in a given microvasculature, platelet adhesion capacity, and the amount of vWF produced and released by the endothelium. When ADAMTS 13 expression levels drop by 15-20 %, it is sufficient to increase the expression levels of ULvWF [16].

Acquired deficiency of ADAMTS 13 is a result of the presence of anti ADAMTS 13 antibodies in 50-90 % of TTP cases as determined by plasma mixing studies [36]. Plasma exchange is applied to patients who are positive for ADAMTS 13 inhibitory antibodies to control thrombosis [16].

2.1.3 Antibody Mediated Allograft Rejection

Graft rejection is grouped into three categories hyperacute, acute, and chronic. Hyperacute rejection occurs within hours and even minutes after graft transplantation, and is due to pre-sensitization of recipient to donor antigen. Acute rejection can occur few days after transplantation or it may take years and it is mediated by the development of reactive T-cells and/or antibodies to the allograft. Chronic rejection may develop as early as few months or it is manifested years after the transplantation, and is caused by T-cells and/or antibodies developed against the graft [37].

Evidence of antibody-mediated organ rejection was reported as early as the 1970s. But skepticism prevailed until the 1990s when the breakthrough was established largely due to the reliable detection of the complement cleaved product C4d in allograft microvasculature. In addition, the presence of improved methods to detect donor-specific antibodies [38, 39].

The endothelium appears to be the focal point of antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) as antibodies are generated against antigens expressed on endothelial cells such as AB blood group, and MHC class I and II antigens [40]. The mechanism of AMR involves the activation of the classical complement pathway, which requires antibody deposition and activation of complement C1. This initial event leads to activation of other complement molecules and ultimately to the assembly of C5b-C9 which constitute the membrane attack complex that can cause endothelial cells lysis and graft rejection [37]. Complement activation leads to the recruitment of inflammatory cells macrophages and neutrophils that express receptors for complement split-products C3a and C5a that act as chemoattractant and also activate the immune cells to release proinflammatory compounds that exacerbate tissue damage [37]. C3a and C5a can bind to and activate endothelial cells, which lead to an increase in expression of the adhesion molecules E-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1), and vascular cell-adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1), in addition to the release of cytokines interleukin-1 α (IL-1 α) and IL-6, and the chemokines RANTES and IL-8 [41, 42]. In vitro studies have demonstrated that endothelial cell activation can occur in the absence of complement. Antibodies against MHC class I can activate NF- κ B pathway

12

and the release of CCL2 and CXCL1, which may lead to arterial intimal proliferation a feature of complement-independent antibody-mediated rejection [37, 43].

2.1.4 Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation

Disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) is a disease characterized by widespread intravascular thrombosis and fibrin deposition in the circulation [44]. DIC comprises a wide range of presentations and is believed to be caused by an underlying condition, with the majority of cases are associated with systemic inflammation or infection. In addition, DIC is observed in trauma and burns, malignancy, vascular disorders, toxic reactions, and in obstetric complications [45-49]. Because of constant activation of the coagulation system, excessive consumption of clotting factors and platelets may occur leading to bleeding at multiple sites [50]. There are many factors that contribute to the development of DIC such as dysfunctional endothelial cells, and/or defective procoagulant, anticoagulant, and fibrinolytic factors. In DIC patients there is an excessive generation of thrombin and an improper localization of thrombin production, which is a constant finding in DIC condition [51].

The activation of the coagulation cascade during an inflammatory response in patients with systemic inflammation can lead to microvascular thrombosis and multiple organ failure. Microvascular fibrin deposition in kidneys, lungs, liver and other organs is a major finding in experimental animal models of bacteremia or endotoxemia. Inhibition of various factors involved in the coagulation cascade reduced fibrin deposition, and improved organ function in aforementioned animal models [52]. For example, the inhibition of tissue factor/factor VIIa pathway resulted in complete abrogation of thrombin generation [44]. It appears that in DIC patients all major anticoagulant pathways (i.e. antithrombin III, tissue factor pathway inhibitor, and protein C/protein S) are impaired [53].

Treatment of the underlying condition of DIC is essential in the management of patients with DIC. There are several strategies that are applied in the treatment of DIC including, administration of antithrombotic agents, plasma and platelet transfusion, restoration of anticoagulants to physiological levels, and use of fibrinolytic inhibitors [44].

2.2 Endothelial Cells

The endothelium lines the blood vessels and provides a selective barrier for the transport and exchange of materials between blood and tissues [54]. It occupies a large surface area that is estimated to be about 4000-7000 m² for materials exchange [55]. In addition, EC play essential functions in many physiological processes including regulation of the permeability of blood vessels, maintaining the local balance between proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators, generation of new blood vessels, and provision of anti-coagulant and anti-thrombotic environment to prevent platelets and immune cells from adhesion to the endothelium [56, 57]. For example EC regulate the above mentioned processes by the release of the vasodilators nitric oxide (NO) and prostacyclin, and by the presence of anticoagulant molecules such as thrombomodulin at the cell surface [57, 58]. On the other hand, activated EC become pro-coagulant and pro-inflammatory by expressing tissue factor, releasing von Willebrand factor and coagulation factor V, and by increasing the expression of adhesion molecules such as E-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM), vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM), which facilitate the adherence of circulating immune cells to the endothelium [59, 60].

Endothelial dysfunction is a vague term often used to refer to the decreased synthesis and release of NO (endothelium-derived relaxing factor) leading to formation of atherosclerotic plaques [61], which is believed to be due to the fact that lack of NO contributes to impairment in vascular relaxation, platelet aggregation, increases smooth muscle proliferation, and increases leukocytes adhesion [62-65]. In addition, it is reported that cardiovascular risk factors including hypercholesterolemia, hyperglycemia, hypertension, and smoking are also documented to cause endothelial dysfunction [66]. Consequently, endothelial dysfunction is considered an initial step in the process of atherosclerotic plaque formation [67].

NO production is catalyzed by three isoforms of nitric oxide synthases (NOS): endothelial (eNOS or NOS3), neuronal (nNOS or

NOS1) are constitutively expressed, and inducible (iNOS or NOS2) which is responsible for NO generation during an immune response. Unlike iNOS, eNOS and nNOS are mainly regulated by Ca²⁺ fluxes and the subsequent binding of calmodulin [68]. The NOS isoforms catalyze nitric oxide reaction by converting L-arginine and O_2 to the intermediate molecule N^{W} -hydroxyl-L-arginine that is further oxidized into L-citrulline and NO [69]. The reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNI) include the immediate products NO· radical, NO⁻, NO⁺, and the secondary products, NO₂, NO₂, NO₃, N₂O₃, N₂O₄, S-nitrothiols (S-NO), peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) and nitrosyl-metal complexes [70]. In addition to modulating the activities of platelet and leukocytes, and vascular smooth muscle contraction, NO is also shown to control the release of endothelial-derived vasoconstrictors such as endothelin-1 (ET-1) and cyclooxygenase- (COX-) derived eicosanoids [71]. There are six primary COX-derived eicosanoids in the endothelium, prostaglandin I2 (PGI2, prostacyclin), prostaglandin D2 (PGD2), prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), prostaglandin $F2\alpha$ (PGF2 α), prostaglandin H2 (PGH2), and thromboxane A_2 (TxA₂) [72]. The prostaglandins act in both autocrine and paracrine fashion with number of different biological functions such as, vasodilation, vasoconstriction, and platelet activation. It is accepted that PGI2, PGD2 and PGE2, are vasodilators, while PGH2, PGF2a, and TxA₂ are vasoconstrictors [73].

Interestingly, a decrease in NO production could be an indication of reduced eNOS expression. However, it has been demonstrated that
endothelial dysfunction can lead to increase eNOS expression. The exact mechanism of eNOS increased expression is not well understood but It has been reasoned that the increased levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), particularly, hydrogen peroxide can increase eNOS expression at the transcriptional and translational levels [71, 74]. Despite the increased eNOS expression however endothelial dysfunction can lead to a reduction of NO generation, which can be attributed to the production of superoxide anions (O2-) by ROS-producing enzymes (e.g. NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase). The superoxide anions can interact with NO to generate peroxynitrite that has been shown to uncouple eNOS that can worsen the endothelial dysfunction [74].

Arginine residues in proteins can be methylated and subsequent proteolysis can yield methylarginine compounds such as asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), a natural inhibitor of eNOS. It competes with arginine for binding eNOS. ADMA levels are regulated in the body by dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase (DDAH) but in patients with renal failure ADMA levels are increased and associated with reduction in both NO production and DDAH levels [75]. The consequences of NO inhibition in the kidney are numerous including: reduced glomerular flow and glomerular filtration rate, reduced renin secretion, reduced sodium excretion, increased blood pressure, increased production of ROS and nitric peroxide, and worsened renal function [75]. Endothelial cells also have a role in antigen presentation. In humans, almost all microvascular and small vessel endothelial cells constitutively express major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC-II). Unlike bone marrow-derived antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells, endothelial cells utilize lymphocyte function antigen 3 (LFA3)/CD2 pathways to activate CD45RO + B7-independent subpopulation T cells [76]. EC antigen presentation has been implicated in acute and chronic organ transplant rejection in humans [76].

Moreover, endothelial cells play a central role in blood vessel formation. The vasculature forms by two separate processes vasculogenesis angiogenesis. Vasculogenesis refers and to the differentiation of endothelial cells from the mesoderm and their assembly into blood vessels during embryonic development, and it results in the formation of the earliest stages of heart and large vessels as well as primary capillary network [77]. On the other hand, angiogenesis refers to the proliferation and migration of endothelial cells from pre-existing blood vessels. It can occur in both embryo and adult during the processes of wound healing, as well as tumor vasculogenesis in adults [78]. The signaling of proangiogenic factor vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is essential in the formation and maintenance of blood vessels. Vascular growth is also dependent on platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF) and angiopoietins along with VEGF to stabilize the vasculature and to provide survival signals [79].

18

Vascular maintenance and repair can be performed not only by mature endothelial cells that migrate and proliferate to replace injured cells, but also by a cell population termed endothelial progenitor cells [8]. Mounting evidence indicates that bone marrow-derived circulating EPC contribute partly to the regeneration of injured endothelium [80].

2.3 Endothelial Progenitor Cells

2.3.1 Isolation and Characterization of EPC in Adults

Since the first report on the identification of EPC in 1997 by Asahara et al. [8], three methods have emerged describing the isolation of putative EPC from peripheral blood. These methods are known as colony forming unit as modified by Hill (CFU-Hill) [81], circulating angiogenic cells (CAC) [82], and endothelial colony forming cells(ECFC) [82]. The CFU-Hill method is a modified assay that was first described by Asahara et al [8]. Hill et al [81] preplated human mononuclear cells isolated from peripheral blood for 48 hours on fibronectin coated tissue culture dishes. The non-adherent cells were then replated and the colony-forming unit EPC were observed few days later. Hur et al. [82] successfully isolated two different types of EPC from one source and were termed early EPC (CAC) and late EPC (ECFC) based on the time they appeared in culture.

Given the different methods of isolating putative EPC populations, however the identity of these cells remains controversial. Emerging evidence suggests that the cells deriving from the CFU-Hill and the CAC

methods are not "true" EPC. Yoder et al. [83] have demonstrated that plating human mononuclear cells from peripheral blood or umbilical cord blood following the CFU-Hill method resulted in the formation of colonies that are made of small round cells at the center and spindle-shaped cells radiating from the center. Further analyses of CFU-Hill colonies have revealed that they are composed of hematopoietic cells and T lymphocytes [83]. The spindle-shaped cells were macrophages that express many endothelial cells surface markers, however, these cells failed to form blood vessels in vivo. Moreover, these cells were capable of ingesting bacteria indicating that these cells are of monocytic lineage [83]. Yoder et al. [83] went on to demonstrate that CFU-Hill EPC are hematopoietic-derived cells, as the clones generated from human peripheral blood from polycythemia vera patients (harboring a genetic mutation in hematopoietic stem cell, HSC) all expressed the HSC specific mutation in the Janus kinase 2 gene .

Hur et al. [82] reported the isolation of two types of endothelial progenitor cells from human mononuclear cells and were called early EPC (CAC) and late EPC (ECFC). The two cell populations differed greatly. The early EPC had spindle shape and peak growth at 2 to 3 weeks, but died out after 4 weeks. However, the early EPC had lower vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 (VEGFR1), and eNOS. Early EPC did not express endothelial cell markers vascular endothelial-cadherin (VEcadherin), and VEGFR2. In addition, the early EPC rarely formed tubes, but produced higher concentrations of angiogenic cytokines such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and interleukin 8 (IL-8). The late EPC had cobblestone shape and emerged after 2 to 3 weeks in culture and lasted up to 12 weeks. Moreover, the late EPC produced more nitric oxide, were incorporated into human umbilical vein endothelial cells monolayer, and formed tube-like structures on matrigel [82].

There is a reasonable hypothesis that the putative EPC that express endothelial markers but fail to form tube-like structures (CAC) may be monocyte-macrophage subsets that function as regulators of angiogenesis, vascular homeostasis, tissue remodeling, and tumorogenesis without developing into an integral part of the endothelium [84, 85]. It is also being suggested that some macrophages, like the placenta's trophoblast cells may temporarily adhere to the vasculature where endothelial cells are absent and assume endothelial functions as they express a large number of endothelial markers, without ever committing to endothelial lineage [86].

The CFU-Hill and CAC methods that were devised to identify EPC from mononuclear cells were demonstrated, as described above, to be hematopoietic cells. However, the other distinctly different EPC population that emerges later in culture, ECFC, is the cell population that displays properties of EPC, and can give rise to highly proliferative ECFC colonies. These cells can form spontaneously human blood vessels *in vivo* and be incorporated into the vasculature [87]. The ECFC cells represent a minute

21

fraction of the total mononuclear cells and occur at a frequency of 1 in 60 million [83]. Moreover, Yoder et al. [83] have demonstrated that the ECFC-derived cells are not of a hematopoietic origin and are not clonally related to the EPC derived by the CFU-Hill method.

It appears that in the absence of a unified definition of EPC and with no specific surface marker to positively separate EPC from mature endothelial cells, and hematopoietic cells, it is essential to perform a variety of tests to ensure the putative EPC isolated from peripheral blood are endothelial progenitor cells. Among the various techniques used to identify EPC include 1) expression of endothelial markers such as, VEGFR2, von Willebrand factor (vWF), CD144, eNOS, and CD34, 2) uptake of acetylated low density lipoprotein (Ac-LDL) and binding of *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin (UEA lectin), 3) *in vitro* tube formation, and 4) the integration in the host's vasculature *in vivo*.

2.3.2 Identification of Putative EPC

2.3.2.1 Expression of Endothelial Markers

Since Asahara et al. [8] first reported the isolation of putative endothelial cells from peripheral blood using CD34+ cells as the starting point, this surface antigen appears to become the principal marker to isolate EPC. CD34 is a sialomucin protein and functions as cell-cell adhesion factor expressed on different cell populations including, early hematopoietic, endothelial, fibroblast, and number of epithelial cell lineages [88-91]. In addition, another stem cell marker, CD133, is used to isolate EPC from peripheral blood, and G-CSF mobilized peripheral blood in the presence of stem cell growth factor and VEGF [92]. Kinase insert domain receptor (KDR, VEGFR2, or CD309) is another surface antigen that is used in the progenitor cells isolation from whole blood. Those cells have been shown to differentiate into EPC and were shown to incorporate into capillaries of mice with ischemic hindlimb [8]. Other endothelial cell markers are frequently used to identify EPC, such as VE-cadherin, eNOS, CD31, and vWF [17].

Interestingly, Case et al. [93] isolated a cell population coexpressing CD34, CD133, and KDR from human peripheral, cord, and G-CSF mobilized peripheral blood in an attempt to identify cell progeny that participates in neoangiogenesis and vasculogenesis. However, this progenitor cell population did not give rise to EPC but instead they developed into hematopoietic progenitor cells that were also positive for expression of the leukocyte common antigen CD45. Case et al. [93] reasoned that circulating CD34+ CD133+ KDR+ and CD34+ CD45+ cells are distinct, early hematopoietic progenitor cells and not EPC. Further comparison between CD34+CD45+ and CD34+CD45- cells showed that only the CD34+CD45- cells were capable of differentiating into EPC but not the CD34+CD45+ cells [93].

23

2.3.2.2 Uptake of Acetylated LDL and Ulex Lectin Binding

The uptake of acetylated LDL by endothelial cells has become an indispensable assay in the identification of EPC. Earlier studies have demonstrated that rats injected with acetylated LDL and oxidatively modified LDL (Ox-LDL) were rapidly cleared from the blood circulation by the liver [94]. Further analyses showed that the endothelial cells were the primary cells responsible for the uptake of Ac-LDL, whereas the Ox-LDL were removed by the liver's Kupffer cells [31]. The uptake of modified LDL is mediated by scavenger receptors expressed on the surface of endothelial cells and in the case of macrophages the uptake of Ox-LDL leads to the formation of foam cells in atherosclerotic lesions [95, 96]. Fluorescently labeled Ac-LDL with the probe 1,1'-dioctadecyl-3, 3,3', 3'tetramethylindocarbocaynine perchlorate is commonly used in the identification of EPC. However, this property is not unique to endothelial cells, but also shared by other cell types such as monocytes, and macrophages, which are capable of Ac-LDL uptake via the scavenger receptors as well [97]. Thus this assay by itself is insufficient in the identification process of EPC.

Binding of lectin by cell surface glycoproteins is another characteristic of endothelial cells that is employed for positive identification of EPC. Generally, *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin is used since it was found to bind primarily vascular endothelium in various human tissues [98]. However, lectin can also bind to other cell types including epithelial [99],

and hematopoietic cells [100]. Therefore, lectin binding to endothelial cells cannot specifically distinguish endothelial cells from other cell types alone, and it requires additional analyses for positive identification.

2.3.2.3 *in vitro* Sprouting

The development of an in vitro three-dimensional (3D) matrix angiogenic model has emerged as a defining assay for the identification of putative EPC population. A number of different methods using a variety of extracellular matrix components are available to test the tube formation of EPC in vitro, including matrigel, collagen, and fibrin. Matrigel is prepared from mouse Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm sarcoma and is supplemented with collagen type IV, nidogen, and laminin. EPC plated on Matrigel form cordlike structures. However, the cells only align and do not sprout or proliferate, and most importantly do not make intercellular lumens [101]. In addition, it has been reported that other cell types such as fibroblasts and U87-MG glioblastoma cells can form cord-like structures on matrigel as well [102]. The lumen formation process in vitro is studied in 3D extracellular matrix (ECM) environment using type I collagen. Because collagen is a major ECM component, scientists reasoned that endothelial cells in direct contact with collagen type IV simulate in vivo condition. Under these conditions, endothelial cells undergo the vacuolization process, which in vitro models of lumen formation in 3D ECM have shown that the process is mediated by the formation and coalescence of pinocytosis intracellular vacuoles [103]. This in vitro observation is

supported by an *in vivo* study of vascular development in zebrafish. Bayless and Davis [104] have demonstrated that vessel development in zebrafish expressing Cdc-42-GFP fusion protein is also regulated by intracellular vacuolization and coalescence. Alternatively, fibrin is used to study tube formation, branching and anastomosis of endothelial cells. The endothelial cells are coated onto Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gels. This method involves the plating of fibroblasts on top of the fibrin gels for sprouting and tube formation to occur [101].

The broad definition of EPC and the lack of a specific marker have resulted in controversies that affected greatly the field of vascular repair. The different types of cells being considered as EPC vary considerably from one study to another. The definition of EPC according to Ingram and Yoder [17] states that the EPC are circulating cells that must produce endothelial progeny that are capable to form endothelial tubes in vitro and contribute to endothelium repair and restore the function of the endothelial lining or participate in the *de novo* formation of blood vessels *in vivo*. Based on the extensive work of Ingram and Yoder characterizing the different EPC population, they reasoned that to date the only EPC that display endothelial activity at a clonal level are ECFC [17, 83]. However, they suggested that the other EPC populations participate in neoangiogenesis in some capacity to facilitate, initiate, and regulate the function of ECFC in blood vessels formation, maturation and remodeling [17, 83].

2.3.2.4 EPC Homing and Mobilization

EPC mobilization from their particular niches can be activated by ischemic or mechanical injuries through the activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) and the release of VEGF, stromal derived factor (SDF1), erythropoietin, GM-CSF and G-CSF [105-107]. Cytokines and proteinases play an important role in mobilizing EPC and stem cells in general. Cytokines induce mobilization by dissociating stem and progenitor cells from bone marrow stromal cells permitting these cells to enter the blood stream through the sinusoidal endothelium [108]. One important cytokine that is able to mobilize stem cells is granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), which induces mobilization of CD34 + cells, and at the same time G-CSF promote the release of elastase and cathepsin G from neutrophils leading to the detachment of stromal cells from the integrins expressed on hematopoietic stem cells [108]. In addition, elastase and cathepsin G separate SDF-1 released by stromal cells from its receptor CXCR4 expressed on progenitor cells. The SDF-1-CXCR4 dissociation leads to increased levels of circulating SDF-1, which reverses the SDF-1 gradient across the bone marrow barrier, allowing CXCR4+ progenitor cells to exit the bone marrow and enter the bloodstream [108]. Furthermore, matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) appears to play a central role in the mobilization of EPC, because the mobilization of EPC by VEGF, SDF-1, and placental growth factor (PIGF) depends on the activity of MMP-9, which releases soluble c-kit ligand thus inducing survival,

proliferation, and mobilization of progenitor cells [109]. The mobilization mediated by MMP-9 is also dependent on eNOS, since eNOS knockout mice have lower activity of pro-MMP-9 and EPC mobilization is greatly reduced [110]. Homing of EPC to the injured endothelium is a fairly rapid process 1-2 days approximately and it is facilitated by the adhesion molecules P and E selectins and integrins, which mediate rolling and adhesion of mobilized EPC to the blood vessel wall [4, 111]. In addition, the homing process requires the activity of SDF-1/CXCR4 signaling, very late antigen 4 (VLA-4)/vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), and the interaction between CD44 and hyaluronic acid [112]. CXCR2 also is important in the homing of circulating EPC to the site of injury possibly by increasing the adhesion of EPC to extracellular matrix [113]. A recent study by Maeng et al. [114] reports that insulin-like growth factor 2 (IGF2) and IGF-2 receptor (IGF2R) play an important role in promoting EPC homing to the site of injury. IGF2-induced hypoxia stimulated the mobilization of EPC and their incorporation into newly forming vessels. The activity of IGF2 is dependent on G protein linked to IGF2R and intracellular Ca²⁺ that is stimulated by β 2 isoform of phospholipase C [114].

2.4 Evidence of EPC Participation in Vascular Repair

2.4.1 EPC in Cardiovascular Disease

Hill et al. [81] originally demonstrated that the number of circulating EPC inversely correlate with cumulative cardiovascular risk. In addition,

Hill's group showed that using the number of EPC in peripheral blood is far more accurate indication of cardiovascular risk than the applied Framingham risk factor score [81].

The number of circulating EPC is affected by a variety of factors that are linked to cardiovascular diseases. In patients with hypercholesterolemia the capacity of EPC to proliferate and migrate was decreased as it was shown in age-matched patients with increased levels of low density lipoprotein [115]. On the other hand, higher high-density lipoprotein (HDL) correlates with higher numbers of EPC in patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) [116]. In addition, the number of circulating EPC is impacted by smoking and physical inactivity. Chronic smokers appears to have lower levels of EPC, a condition that can be rectified by smoking cessation [117], whereas, physical activity significantly enhanced the number of circulating EPC in healthy and CAD people after standardized physical activity [118]. The cardiovascular risk factor Creactive protein (CRP) is also associated with decreased number of EPC and the progression of endothelial dysfunction as it serves to impair EPC antioxidant defenses and promote their apoptosis and telomerase inactivation [119]. Moreover, there is circumstantial evidence that the levels and bioactivity of CD34+/KDR+ EPC in patients with atherosclerosis are reduced, and it appears related to the progression and increased risk of cardiovascular events and death [120].

29

Recent evidence have indicated that EPC contribute to endothelial repair by repopulating areas of damaged endothelial cells as EPC covered implanted Dacron grafts in dogs [121], the ventricular assist device surface as well as the damaged endothelium of the artery in patients undergone angioplasty procedure [122]. However, EPC not only involved in repairing damaged endothelium but may also accelerate the progression of atherosclerotic plaques formation as well as their size and composition in apolipoprotein E knockout mice [123].

Given the controversy surrounding the true identity of EPC since it has been shown that EPC derived through the Hill's and CAC methods are hematopoietic cells not capable of forming secondary endothelial colonies *in vitro* [83], Massa et al. [124] determined the frequency of ECFC in peripheral blood from patients with acute myocardial infarction to be significantly greater (10 times) than ECFC from cord blood or from peripheral blood from healthy individuals.

2.4.2 EPC in Cerebrovascular Disease

Stroke is a cardiovascular disease and involves a complicated chain of events including disrupted blood flow, cerebral ischemia, inflammation, and neuronal necrosis of the blood-brain barrier [125]. However, it is not very clear which of these mechanisms are required for the mobilization of EPC from the bone marrow to the peripheral blood, but vascular trauma and tissue ischemia along with the release of cytokines

and VEGF appear to be involved in the EPC mobilization process [126]. The repair of brain tissue after a stroke is a difficult task, mainly because the lesions are very often large and affects different cell types. However, the identification of EPC may offer a new strategy involving cell therapy, as the transplantation of EPC, derived from donor bone marrow of transgenic mice constitutively expressing β -galactosidase in endothelial cells, in focal cerebral ischemia animal model showed that Tie2-lacZincorporated positive endothelial cells were into the site of neovascularization near the infarct region. This process was concomitant with a decrease of the effect of ischemic stroke [127].

In an observational study Ghani et al. [128] have reported a decrease in the number of early adhering cluster-forming EPC obtained from peripheral blood of patients with ischemic stroke as compared to that of healthy volunteers by using the Hill method of EPC isolation. They also reported that elderly and people with cardiovascular diseases generally have lower number of EPC and that the number of circulating EPC did not increase the weeks after recovering from acute or stable stroke [128]. Moreover, Chu et al. [129] found that the number of EPC colonies was reduced in patients with acute stroke compared to that of healthy volunteers, and it was even lower in people with large-artery atherosclerosis compared to patients with cardioembolism.

It is reported that higher number of EPC during the acute stage improves prognosis, angiogenesis, and regeneration of ischemic brain tissue in human and animal model studies [126]. In a prospective study that included 48 stroke patients it was reported that an increase of EPC during the first week was associated with a neurological improvement and a reduction of infarct growth after 3 months [130].

Circulating endothelial progenitor cells are also used as a pathogenic marker of moyamoya disease (MMD), which is an unusual form of chronic cerebrovascular occlusive disease involving the formation of abnormal blood vessels at the base of the brain [131]. The authors isolated EPC from the peripheral blood of MMD patients using the colonyforming unit method (CFU-Hill). After seven days of culture CFU were counted and found that their number was significantly lower in MMD patients than that found in healthy individuals [132]. However, during longterm culture (2 months) the outgrowth cells from the CFUs were found in only 10% of the control group, but were found in 33% of the MMD patients [132].

2.4.3 EPC in Cancer Therapy

Emerging evidence suggests that changes in EPC numbers could be used to predict the effectiveness of an anticancer drug combinations [133]. Nolan et al. [134] showed that bone marrow-derived EPC play a major role in the neovascularization of newly formed tumors. EPC and their high proliferative capacity may have great potential in systemic cancer gene therapy as was demonstrated by Wei et al. [135] where they showed that intravenously administered embryonic endothelial progenitor cells (eEPC) into mice homed preferentially to hypoxic lung metastases. The eEPC were genetically modified to express a suicide fusion gene that transforms harmless 5-fluorocytosine to the cytotoxic compound 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) that is used in clinical practice. 5-FU diffuses into the surrounding cells and exerts its strong bystander cytotoxic effects [135]. eEPC carrying the suicide fusion gene were injected into the tail vein and homed mainly into metastases in the lung where the tumor cells were effectively killed by the bystander cytotoxic effects of 5-FU five days post-injection [135]. Interestingly, eEPC were able to evade the immune system as they do not express the major histocompatibility class I and are not eliminated by NK cells [135]. Conversely, It was demonstrated that mature EC injected intravenously did not home preferentially to any organ and were not detected into subcutaneous implanted tumors [136].

Other approaches for cancer treatment using endothelial progenitor cells are being considered. For example, EPC are proposed to deliver antiangiogenic agents by gene transfer, as this approach will provide the advantage of producing high drug concentrations at the site of the tumor, consequently avoiding systemic toxicity [137]. Davidoff et al. [138] demonstrated that when bone marrow-derived cells expressing a truncated version of VEGFR2 and were transplanted into mice, some of the cells were incorporated into post-transplant tumor vasculature. The truncated VEGR2 was expressed for an extended time and that correlated with reduced tumor growth and vascularity.

2.4.4 EPC in Kidney Disease

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is characterized by retention of urea and other nitrogenous wastes and in the imbalance of extracellular fluid volume as well as electrolyte and acid-base homeostasis. The dysfunction and apoptosis of tubular epithelial cells play a major role in the pathophysiological consequences of AKI [139]. Vascular injury results in modification of renal oxygenation and hemodynamics that may have adverse effects on renal function and may lead to chronic kidney disease [140, 141]. A number of reports suggesting that endothelial progenitor cells may enhance vascular regeneration in different ischemic organs, including the mobilization and homing of EPC after acute renal ischemia to the injured kidney areas which, resulted in improvement of kidney function by repairing the injured microvasculature [139]. Moreover, Li et al. [142] demonstrated that introduction of human CD34+ hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (HSPC) into a mouse model of ischemia/reperfusion injury resulted in their recruitment to the kidney. The HSPC acquired EPC markers and produced proangiogenic factors that was associated with enhanced renal microvasculature repair. However, the HSPC-derived EC rarely engrafted into the mouse capillary walls demonstrating that human HSPC mediate kidney repair by paracrine mechanism and not by replacing damaged EC.

In a study by Abe-Yoshio et al. [143] reversible glomerulonephritis was induced by habu snake venom (HSV) and the role of EPC in restoring the kidney function in the injured mice was examined. The bone marrow cells from transgenic mice expressing β -galactosidase gene under the control of Tie-2 promoter were transplanted into lethally irradiated FVB/N mice. The snake venom was injected after the bone marrow transplantation. The kidneys from the experimental and control groups were collected at 7, 28, and 56 days post-injection. In the control group a small number of β -galactosidase-expressing cells were identified after Xgal staining. However, in HSV treated mice, there was a significant increase of β -galactosidase-expressing cells in the damaged glomeruli with maximum number achieved at day 28. However, the number of X-galpositive cells was reduced at day 56 post injection coinciding with glomeruli recovery [143].

Chade et al. [144] demonstrated that the administration of a mixed populations (late and early outgrowth cells) of autologous EPC preserved the architecture and function of kidneys in pigs with chronic renal artery stenosis (RAS) and decreased the microvascular remodeling. The hemodynamics and function of kidneys, in pigs with RAS, were determined by a multidetector computed tomography *in vivo*. After 4 weeks of intrarenal infusion of autologous EPC, which were the late outgrowth cells, there was an increased expression of angiogenic factors in the kidneys. Moreover, it appears that the EPC stimulated the proliferation and maturation of new blood vessels, decreased renal fibrosis and microvascular remodeling, and EPC restored the renal filtration function [144].

Schlieper et al. [145] studied the number of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in hemodialysis patients. EPC from peripheral blood expressing CD34+KDR+ were isolated and grown for 7 days and the colony-forming units were evaluated in 65 hemodialysis patients. The number of circulating EPC was significantly decreased as compared to 27 healthy controls or to patients with coronary artery disease but with normal renal function. On the other hand, coronary calcifications did not correlate with the numbers of circulating EPC, CD34+KDR+, or isolated acetylated-LDL+ and lectin+ endothelial progenitor cells. Moreover, multivariate analysis showed that the numbers of acetylated-LDL+ and lectin+ EPCs were negative predictors in hematocrit and reticulocytes, whereas the low levels of fetuin-A in the serum was a positive predictor of low circulating endothelial progenitor cells in hemodialysis patients [145].

Endothelial progenitor cells may play an important role in the increased risk of cardiovascular disease in end-stage renal disease (ESRD), which is associated with accelerated atherosclerosis and impaired angiogenesis [146]. Metsyuanim et al. [146] investigated the levels of circulating EPC in children undergoing hemodialysis and after transplantation. The EPC were isolated from peripheral blood and characterized for their expression of endothelial-specific genes including,

VE-cadherin, CD146, CD31, Tie-2, KDR, CD133, in addition to growth factor with known effects on endothelial function such as, VEGF, erythropoietin (EPO), and SDF-1. The mRNA levels of VE-cadherin, CD146, KDR, VEGF, and EPO were decreased in ESRD children. VE-cadherin expression was most significantly reduced in all the patients and was inversely correlated with serum urea and creatinine concentrations. In addition, VE-cadherin expression levels among the ESRD children only was inversely correlated with diastolic blood pressure, interventricular septum thickness, and left ventricular mass index, suggesting that children with ESRD may have an increased cardiovascular morbidity and lower angiogenic potential [146].

2.5 Endothelial Cell Role in Blood Vessels Formation

Formation of new blood vessels can occur by two distinct processes: (1) by vasculogenesis or *de novo* formation of blood vessels from bone marrow mobilized cells, or (2) by angiogenesis or formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing vessels [147].

2.5.1 Vasculogenesis

During embryonic development the colocalization of endothelial and hematopoietic progenitors within the yolk sac gave rise to the hypothesis that both lineages arise from a common precursor called the hemangioblasts [148]. But the definitive isolation and localization of hemangioblasts proved to be difficult. However, recent evidence demonstrated that cells with hemangioblasts characteristics were present transiently in the posterior segment of the primitive streak during gastrulation and the hemangioblasts were shown to express VEGF receptor 2 and the mesoderm gene brachyury [149]. The initiation process of embryonic blood vessels formation requires the signaling of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) 2 and 4 as was demonstrated by gene deletion experiments [150, 151]. The earliest marker available at this time of endothelial differentiation from stem cells is the expression of VEGF-R2, which is also expressed on hematopoietic cells but VEGF-R2 persist only in mature endothelium. VEGF-R2 expression suggests a critical role for VEGF during early embryonic endothelium development as mice lacking VEGF or VEGF-R2 die early in gestation [152].

There are evidence that angioblast or endothelial progenitor cell can differentiate directly from mesoderm [153]. During embryonic vasculogenesis the angioblasts become organized and form cord-like structures that are lumenless and are arranged at different embryonic positions [154]. The angioblasts undergo another differentiation stage and transition from cuboidal to flat cells and arrange their contact junctions to the cords periphery and eventually mature into endothelial cells lining the inside of a newly formed blood vessel in a process known as tubulogenesis [155].

For proper lumen formation during vasculogenesis the endothelial cells must interconnect through adherens, tight junctions and to the extracellular matrix. The cellular junctions proteins are specialized transmembrane and intracellular molecules that allow the adjacent cells to adhere to each other [156]. The adherens junction proteins belong to the cadherin and catenin families. Cadherins form multimeric complexes that mediate transmembrane linkage, whereas catenins anchor cadherins to the cytoskeleton. Vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-cadherin) is the major adherens junctional protein expressed in endothelial cells of all vascular beds. The loss of VE-cadherin in knockout mice is lethal at E9.5 due to cardiovascular failure and defects in lumen formation are noticed by E8.5 of the embryonic development [157]. It has been suggested that VEcadherin is important in maintaining endothelial cells proper polarity that may play an important role in lumen formation [158]. N-cadherin on the other hand is suggested to anchor endothelial cells to extra cellular matrix and regulates the expression levels of VE-cadherin. In addition, Ncadherin knockout mouse is lethal at the embryonic stage where severe vascular defects are detected in the embryos [159]. Catenins are cytoplasmic proteins where β -catenin interacts with and propagates the extracellular signaling of VE-cadherin and α -catenin links β -catenin-VEcadherin complex to the actin cytoskeleton. When activated β -catenin translocates to the nucleus and interacts with the transcription factors Tcf [160]. Elimination of the β -catenin gene caused embryonic lethality at the

gastrulation stage, whereas endothelial-restricted knockout of β -catenin resulted in embryo death at E11.5-13.5 due to defects in vascular organization [161, 162].

The tight junctions tether the cells closely together forming an almost impermeable fluid barrier. The tight junction proteins consist of claudins, occludins, junctional adhesion molecules (JAM), and the endothelial-endothelial enriched endothelial cell selective adhesion molecule (ESAM) [154]. However, despite the critical role that tight junctions play in endothelial cells function, they have not been shown to be important in vascular lumen formation [163].

Endothelial cell interaction with extracellular matrix is important for proper lumen formation during vasculogenesis. It was shown that endothelial cells are connected to the endodermal basement membrane and to the matrix produced by the mesenchymal cells during mouse aortic vasculogenesis [164]. It appears fibronectin is the first extracellular matrix component produced by endothelial cells of the aorta, whereas as other components such as laminin is secreted at a later stage to form the basement membrane around the circumference of the aorta [164]. However, conditional knockdown studies of various extracellular matrix proteins including, vitronectin, nidogens, vWF, and perlecan did not result in any adverse effects on vasculogenesis suggesting that vascular defects are likely not observed due to redundancies of related molecules [165].

40

The intracellular signaling molecules that have been shown to regulate vascular tubulogenesis belong to the family of Rho monomeric G protein GTPases. The Rho GTPases are hydrolase enzymes involved in a number of cellular functions including cellular proliferation, migration, adhesion, cytoskeleton rearrangement, and cellular polarity [166]. Rho GTPases are involved in cellular signaling pathways activated by integrin-ECM interactions and interact with phosphoinositide-3 kinases (PI3K) to propagate the cellular signaling [167, 168]. The following members Rac, Cdc42, Rho, Ras, and Rap are ubiquitously expressed and have been shown to regulate both epithelial and endothelial lumen formation process [164, 169]. In a study using 3D collagen matrices it was demonstrated that Cdc42 and Rac1 play an important role in endothelial cells vasculogenesis and lumen formation and their activities is mediated by downstream signaling molecules including the serine/threonine-protein kinases PAK2 or PAK4, which are cytoskeleton signaling regulators, and Par3 and Par6, which are cell-polarity proteins that establish endothelial cells polarity through Cdc42 and the atypical protein kinase C (PKC). The siRNA knockdown of any molecule in the polarity complex Cdc42-Par3-Par6-PKCzeta inhibited the endothelial lumen formation in the in vitro 3D collagen system [170].

2.5.2 Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is the formation of new blood vessels from preexisting vasculature. Angiogenesis is an important process in various

physiological and pathological processes, such as embryogenesis, wound healing, and angiogenic neovascularization supports the growth of solid tumors [171]. Angiogenesis can occur through either two distinct processes known as sprouting angiogenesis and intussusception [147]. Sprouting angiogenesis is a complex process that requires an intricate balance between the endothelial cells and the signals from various growth factors, extracellular matrix proteins and mural cells. Angiogenesis includes a series of distinct and coordinated steps including, endothelial cells activation, degradation of basement membrane, migration, proliferation. lumen formation, alignment, anastomosis, and the recruitment of mural cells [171-173]. Sprouting angiogenesis is initiated when endothelial cells in an already formed blood vessel respond to stimulatory signals from angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A specifically VEGF-165. The activated endothelial cells differentiate to remodel intercellular and cell-matrix adhesions, and begin secreting basement membrane degrading proteases and start migrating towards the stimulating factor. The sprouting cells arrange themselves into tip cells that extend long filipodia but they lose their ability to proliferate. The tip cells are followed by the stalk cells that are proliferative but do not form long filipodia [174]. The intussusception angiogenesis describes the process of development of new blood vessel from a pre-existing one by the formation of transcapillary pillars of extracellular matrix that split the blood vessel into two [175].

2.5.2.1 Sprouting Angiogenesis

This process begins when quiescent EC responds to proangiogenic signals such as VEGF, FGF, angiopoietins-2 or chemokines that are produced by hypoxic, inflammatory, or tumor cells [174]. The sequential steps of vessel branching begin when pericytes detach from the blood vessel and VEGF increases EC permeability causing plasma proteins to leak and deposit provisional ECM scaffold. In response to integrin signaling, EC migrate towards the ECM surface. To prevent a large number of EC to differentiate into tip cells, there is a selection process of one endothelial to lead the tip in the presence of VEGF receptors and Notch-Dll4 signaling. The cells following the tip cell become the stalk cells that are capable of proliferating and forming lumina [174, 176, 177].

Mismatched oxygen and nutritional requirements are critical components of vascular adaptations in a given tissue that can lead to EC activation and induction of the angiogenesis process [178]. Hypoxia is a strong determinant of new blood vessel growth into hypoxic tissues. For instance hypoxic retinal astrocytes express VEGF in non-vascularized areas. As a result, quiescent phalanx endothelial cells expressing VEGF-R2 respond to the stimulus and develop into tip cells and extend filopodia that detect the hypoxic areas and migrate towards them. [158, 174, 179].

Hypoxia is a main inducer of angiogenesis and it has been shown that EPC in the bone marrow of diabetic patients followed a chemokine

gradient to the hypoxic sites where they contributed to neovascularization. Hypoxia can induce expression of VEGF in endothelial cells in a process that involves the transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) [178, 180, 181]. In addition aerobic glycolysis has a regulatory effect on angiogenesis. The endothelial cells are capable of surviving hypoxic conditions and sprout in avascular tissues largely due to their ability to produce sufficient energy from glycolysis under anaerobic conditions. Interestingly, despite the immediate access to O2, endothelial cells generate most of their energy through anaerobic glycolysis. Endothelial cells are reported to metabolize > 90 % of glucose anaerobically in vitro [182, 183]. In contrast, under normoxic conditions the endothelial cells are quiescent and rarely divide [178]. The activation of HIF-1 α can drive VEGF expression and its signaling through VEGF-R2 leads to the expression of the tip cell marker Delta-like 4 (DII4) which can play an important role in the arterial versus venous fate. Higher expression of DII4 can promote an arterial fate, whereas, veins express low levels of DII4 [184].

2.5.2.1.1 Tip Cell Biology

As the endothelial cells in a blood vessel are activated by VEGF only some will respond by directing the filopodia extensions from the activated cells located at the tips of the budding blood vessel. During retinal vascularization, a model of developmental angiogenesis, EC differentiate into tip cells in response to VEGF-A that guide tip cells migration and induce stalk cells proliferation [174]. Another feedback loop, based on notch / delta-like-4 (Dll4) signaling, is established between tip and stalk cells. The tip cells express slightly higher levels of DII4 and less notch activity and thus controlling the fate of the neighboring cells, the stalk cells, which will have increased notch signaling, are prevented from differentiating into tip cells. The activation of the notch pathway inhibits VEGFR2 and DII4 expression levels, a process that limits the number of cells differentiating into tip cells under VEGF stimulation [185, 186]. The tip cells are also regulated by the Fringe family of glycosyltransferases, which glycosylate notch receptors and enhance notch/Dll4 signaling in the stalk cells [177]. Jagged1, a notch ligand with elevated expression levels in stalk cells, antagonizes Dll4/notch signaling in cells expressing Fringe, promotes angiogenesis by down-regulating DII4-notch signaling in tip cells allowing more cells to differentiate into tip cells. In addition, Jagged1 acts as a partial agonist to limit DII4-notch signaling in adjacent stalk cells, which helps to maintain VEGFR expression levels in the newly formed vascular network [177]. Dll4-notch signaling controls the number of cells that will differentiate into tip cell phenotype as the inhibition of this pathway results in a substantial increase in sprouting [185]. Similarly, the inhibition of DII4-notch signaling by DII4 morpholinos in a zebrafish intersegmental vessels (ISV) model induces excessive branching of ISVs, whereas, the overexpression of notch signaling reduces the sprouting of the ISV [187]. In addition, DII4-notch signaling regulates the expression levels, of VEGF recptors (R1, R2, and R3) in tip cells. VEGFR2 is down-regulated, but VEGFR1 and soluble VEGFR1 are up-regulated which modulates the responsiveness to VEGF stimulation [188, 189]. VEGFR3 is down-regulated in the stalk cells and is highly expressed in the tip cells. Blocking VEGFR3 by genetic targeting or by monoclonal antibodies significantly reduces vascular sprouting and density, and endothelial cells proliferation [179]. In addition, during angiogenesis VEGFR3 forms a heterodimer with VEGFR2 that modulates VEGFR2 kinase activity in the tip cells [190].

The tip cells form cytoplasmic extensions called filipodia that guides the tip cells migration in response to VEGF stimulation. The filipodia are controlled by cytoskeleton remodelling which is dependent on myosin II contractility. The downregulation of myosin II permits the formation of lamellipodia and tip cells branching [191, 192]. The filipodia directionality is dependent on the activity of, a small GTPase of the Rho family, CDC42 and on the spatial cues provided by the heparin-binding of the VEGF isoforms VEGF¹⁶⁵, and VEGF¹⁸⁸ in the microenvironment [193, 194].

As endothelial cells are activated by an angiogenic factor such as VEGF and differentiate into tip cells, they undergo genetic changes that distinguish them from quiescent endothelial cells and from stalk cells [195]. Transcriptome analysis of retinal endothelial cells from DII4^{+/-} heterzygote mice identified three clusters of genes that were significantly up-regulated. These clusters of genes included extra cellular matrix (ECM) degrading enzymes, secreted molecules, and basement memebrane (BM) proteins [195]. The major ECM/BM proteins that are up regulated include;

46

nidogen-1, urokinase receptor (uPAR), and integrin β 1. The secreted molecules consist of apelin, endothelial-specific molecule 1 (ESM1), insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 (IGFBP-3), and angiopoietin-2. The mRNA expression levels of the microarray results were validated at the protein levels and confirmed the increased expression at the tip cells position [195].

Tip cells play an important role in sprouts anastomosis. The exact mechanism how tip cells meet and make contact with other tip cells is not fully understood [196]. However, it appears that VE-cadherin is involved in the process of connecting the vascular network. VE-cadherin is found not only at cell-cell junctions but also at the tip cells filipodia. The tip-tip localization of VE-cadherin was demonstrated to make contact with adjacent sprouts [197].

2.5.2.1.2 Stalk Cell Biology

Stalk cells are generally regarded as the cells that follow the tip cells and form the main body of the sprouts, capable of proliferation, form a lumen, and responsible for generation of the basement membrane and recruitment of pericytes [174]. The adjacent cells of an emerging sprout produce soluble VEGFR1 (sVEGFR1) to reduce the available VEGF to stalk cells and prevent them from differentiating into tip cells. At the same time, the depletion of VEGF from the stalk cells create a "corridor" of

higher VEGF concentration available to the tip cells that aids in sprout guidance [196, 198].

Proliferation of stalk cells is an important factor that contributes to the growth of newly formed sprouts, as tip cells do not, or rarely, proliferate [174]. However, it has been demonstrated that stalk cells proliferation does not propel the sprouts forward but it is the tip cells' stimulation with angiogenic factors and chemotactic migration that drives sprout extension [199, 200].

The expression of DII4 in the tip cells regulates the fate of the neighboring stalk cells by activating notch signaling that leads to the regulation of the specific transcription factors Hes/Hey of the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) family which, result in the down regulation of VEGFR2 and VEGFR3 and the up regulation of VEGFR1 and thus limiting the activity of the available VEGF in the stalk cells [179, 185, 186].

The suppression of stalk cells differentiation into tip cells by DII4/Notch signaling also requires the activation of the Smad1/Smad5 pathway by bone morphogenetic proteins as the conditional knockout of Smad1 and Smad5 in endothelial cells resulted in an increase in tip cells numbers and an impaired DII4/Notch signaling. The deletion of Smad1 and Smad5 in mice is embryonically lethal due to excessive sprouting, loss of vascular remodeling and impaired tip cell polarity [201]. The down regulation of Smad1/Smad5 *in vitro* was shown to reduce the expression

level of a number of notch target genes and other stalk cells enriched genes including VEGFR1, Jagged1, Hes1, Hey1 and DNA-binding protein inhibitors (Id) 1-3. The Id proteins operating downstream of Smad1/5 acts as stalk cells competence factors by heterodimerizing with Hes1 that strengthen Notch signaling and stabilize Hes1 in endothelial cells [201].

2.6 Proangiogenic Factors

2.6.1 The Family of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factors

Vascular endothelial growths factors (VEGF) are important regulators of embryonic vascular development and during angiogenesis process in adults [202]. VEGF belong to a family of proteins that consist of VEGFA, VEGFB, VEGFC, VEGFD, VEGFE, and placenta growth factor (PIGF). Alternative splicing generates many variants of VEGF and the different isoforms have specific functions in blood vessels formation and homeostasis [203-205]. There are at least seven VEGFA homodimeric isoforms that are identified by their number of amino acids such as, VEGFA-121, -145, -148, -165, -183, -189, or -206 [205]. The VEGFA monomers are encoded by a single gene that contains eight exons. All isoforms contain the exons, 1, 5, and 8 except VEGFA-148. The alternative splicing takes place in exons 6 and 7, which encodes heparinbinding domains. The presence or absence of the heparin-binding domains determines the isoform solubility and binding to the receptor(s). The isoforms that contain exon 6 (VEGFA-148, -189, and -206) express

the matrix-binding domain and are not diffusible. The heparin-binding domain encoded by exon 7 confers moderate diffusibility. In the case of VEGFA-121, the lack of exons 6 and 7 makes it highly diffusible [206]. In contrast, VEGFA-165 is the most abundant isoform and binds to heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG), and engages the VEGF receptors, and the neuropilins co-receptors. When VEGFA-165 is bound to HSPG expressed on the glycocalyx surface of endothelial cells, the affinity to VEGF-R2 is increased [203]. The HSPG found in the extracellular matrix are necessary to establish a gradient of VEGFA-165 that promotes sprouts guidance during angiogenesis [207]. Interestingly, the highly diffusible isoform VEGFA-121 that lacks the heparan-binding domain is not presented as a gradient and is rendered inefficient in guiding tip cells, but it can induce endothelial cells proliferation in mouse retina [174]. Mice expressing only VEGFA-120 develop unbranched and broad vessels, the expression of only VEGFA-188 in whereas mice causes hyperbranched and thin vessels, since VEGFA-189 has a high affinity for HSPG and therefore is restricted to the extracellular matrix [208, 209].

VEGFB expression is abundant in the skeletal muscle, pancreas and in the adult myocardium [205]. Through alternative splicing of exon 6 two VEGFB isoforms are generated VEGFB-167 and VEGFB-186. VEGFB-167 is around 21 kDa and is bound to cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans, whereas VEGB-186 has a molecular weight around 32 kDa and it is secreted. Both VEGFB are produced as homodimers however they can form heterodimers with VEGFA when coexpressed. VEGFB selectively binds to VEGF receptor1 and can induce the expression of urokinase type plasminogen activator (uPa) and plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) in endothelial cells suggesting that VEGFB can regulate extracellular matrix degradation and cellular adhesion [206, 210].

VEGFC has a high expression in the heart, placenta, ovary, and small intestine [211]. VEGFC is produced as a preproprotein of around 47 kDa and must be proteolytically cleaved to generate the mature protein that is secreted. Several VEGFC forms are generated by proteolytic processing and show strong binding activity to VEGF receptor 3, whereas only the fully mature VEGFC can bind to VEGFR-2 [211, 212]. VEGFC plays an important role in lymphangiogensis and regulates endothelial cell growth [213].

VEGFD is highly expressed in the lung, skeletal muscle, heart, and small intestine. VEGFD is generated as preproprotein and needs to be proteolytically cleaved in the N- and C-terminal for proper activity [214]. VEGFD forms a homodimer and binds to VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3. VEGFD can induce lymphangiogenesis, endothelial cell growth, and vascular permeability [215].

VEGFE is encoded by the Orf virus, a parapoxvirus that infects sheep, goats, and humans in some cases. VEGFE has ~25 % amino acid homology with mammalian VEGF. It is about 20 kDa and does not contain

a basic domain and has no affinity to heparin. VEGFE may play a role in pathological angiogenesis in lesions infected by viruses [206, 216].



Figure 2.1: Schematic representation of VEGF family of growth factors and their receptors.

VEGF are involved in a large number of biological and cellular processes that include survival, migration, proliferation, differentiation, communication, and vascular permeability [217-219]. VEGF isoforms are produced by different cell types including: endothelial cells, leukocytes, fibroblasts, and tumor cells [220, 221]. VEGF are induced strongly by hypoxia, through the transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1), which is thought to stimulate the angiogenesis process during development [222, 223]. The indispensable role of VEGF in vascular development is shown in knockout mice where the absence of one VEGF
allele was embryonically lethal with severe defects in the vasculature [224, 225].

There are three main VEGF receptors that belong to the family of receptor tyrosine kinase and are denoted VEGF-R1, -R2, and –R3. VEGF-R1 is also known as fms-like tyrosine kinase (FIt-1), VEGF-R2 is known as kinase domain region (KDR in human) or fetal liver kinase (FIk-1 in mouse), whereas VEGF-R3 is referred to as FIt-4. The receptors share structural homology as they have an extracellular domain with seven immunoglobulin-like domains, one transmembrane region, and a cytoplasmic tail with a split tyrosine kinase domain [226].

VEGF-R1 is considered the main receptor for PIGF but can also bind VEGFA and VEGFB [226]. VEGF-R1 is expressed predominantly in endothelial cells but is also found in hematopoietic cells where it acts as a positive regulator of monocytes and macrophages migration [223]. VEGF-R1 is also expressed in trophoblast cells and in mesangial cells of the kidney [223, 227, 228]. The result of VEGF-R1 signaling in endothelial cells is still ambiguous with contrasting reports. It has been shown that tyrosine 1169 in VEGF-R1 kinase domain provides a binding site for phospholipase C- γ (PLC- γ) after VEGF stimulation that also resulted in weak activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in VEGF-R1 overexpressing NIH3T3 cells [229, 230]. Alternatively, ERK was strongly activated in porcine aortic endothelial cells (PAEC) expressing VEGF-R1 whereas there was no evidence of PLC- γ activation in response to PIGF

53

[231]. The best-described function of VEGF-R1 is as a negative regulator of VEGF-R2. VEGFA binds VEGF-R1 with higher affinity than VEGF-R2, and with the presence of a soluble form of VEGF-R1, VEGFA is trapped, limiting its availability to VEGF-R2 [232, 233]. Accordingly, the deletion of the VEGF-R1 gene in mice is embryonically lethal at E8.5 with excessive endothelial cells growth and vascular disorganization, in addition to an increase in overall number of endothelial progenitor cells [234, 235]. Interestingly, the deletion of the cytoplasmic domain of VEGF-R1 in mice did not cause an adverse effect to the vasculature, as the animals were fertile and developed normally, however, there was a suppression of macrophage migration in vitro in response to VEGF stimulation [236].

VEGF-R2 is highly expressed during early development in endothelial progenitor cells, but the expression level decreases in quiescent endothelial cells in adults [202]. VEGF-R2 can be found also in hematopoietic stem cells, retinal progenitor cells, and megakaryocytes [237, 238]. The propagation of VEGF-R2 signaling leads to the activation of several cellular responses including survival, proliferation, migration, differentiation, and neovascularization in physiological or pathological conditions [202]. Upon ligand binding VEGF-R2 undergoes dimerization and autophosphorylation of the four tyrosine residues located in the kinase insert region and in the kinase domain [239]. In addition, VEGF signaling through VEGF-R2 can lead to the release of nitric oxide and prostacyclin (PGI₂), Ca²⁺ mobilization, endothelial cells migration and proliferation, and

AKT/PI3K and PLC-y activation [240-243]. VEGF-R2 mediated cellular survival is provided by the activation of the AKT pathway. The phosphorylation of Tyr 1173/1175 in VEGF-R2 cytoplasmic domain by VEGF leads to the recruitment of the PI3K via p85 regulatory subunit then activation of AKT supplying a survival signal in endothelial cells [244]. However PI3K/AKT signaling is not required for regulation of nitric oxide production that mediates cellular permeability [245]. Other Molecules containing SH2 domain can interact directly with VEGF-R2 such as PLC- γ , which binds phosphorylated Tyr 1175 and mediates the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) through PKC, resulting in endothelial cells proliferation [246]. Endothelial cells migration can be mediated through different pathways. VEGF-induced migration is mediated by binding of the adaptor molecule Shb to phosphorylated Tyr 1175 on VEGF-R2 [247]. VEGF-R2 signaling can lead to the activation of the focal adhesion kinase (FAK) via phosphorylated Tyr 1175, and p38MAPK through Tyr 1214 to regulate cellular migration [248]. In addition, migration is regulated by the activation of phosphorylated Tyr 951 and T-cell-specific adaptor (TSAd) [249]. VEGF-R2 delivers the specific differentiation signal of vascular progenitor cells into endothelial cells through phosphorylated Tyr 1175 and PLC-y1 [250]. The knockout of VEGF-R2 gene in mice is lethal at E8.5. The embryos show severe vascular defects and deficient endothelial cell development, highlighting the importance of VEGF-R2 during blood vessel formation [251]. The

VEGF-induced activity is modulated by the SH2 protein-tyrosine phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2 [252].

VEGF-R3 is the receptor for VEGFC and VEGFD and plays a major role in lymphatic development and function [253]. VEGF-R3 is abundant in lymphatic endothelial cells and found in fenestrated capillaries and veins, and on monocytes and macrophages [218]. During development VEGF-R3 is expressed on all endothelial cells but become mostly restricted to lymphatic endothelium in adults [254]. Interestingly, VEGF-R3 is implicated in post-natal angiogenesis as it is highly expressed in tip cells. The inhibition of VEGF-R3 activity by monoclonal antibodies substantially decreased angiogenic sprouts and affected endothelial proliferation, vessel branching, and vascular density in a mouse angiogenesis model [179].

Neuropilins are transmembrane glycoproteins with a short cytoplasmic domain that act as co-receptors for VEGF-165, but do not bind VEGF-121. They are maybe better known for their function in neuron biology as receptors for semaphorins. There are two identified neuropilin receptors NRP1 and NRP2. NRP1 is expressed in arteries, and NRP2 is abundant in venous and lymphatic vessels [202, 255]. NRP1 interaction with VEGF-R2 enhances VEGF-165 binding and endothelial cells had a better migratory response when NRP1 was present as compared to migration response of cells expressing only VEGF-R2 and no NRP1 [256]. The deletion of NRP1 gene is embryonically lethal demonstrating the importance of this gene in blood vessel development as the knockout embryos had severe cardiovascular defects [223, 257].

2.6.2 The Family of Platelet-Derived Growth Factors

Platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF) play an essential role in many different physiological and pathological conditions. They have activity for many cells of mesenchymal mitogenic origin, are chemoattractant, involved in erythropoiesis, modulate endothelial proliferation, and participate in wound healing and angiogenesis [258-260]. It has been reported that PDGFB induce angiogenesis by up-regulating the expression and production of VEGF [261]. In addition. PDGFB/PDGFR β signaling is involved in pericytes recruitment to the site of newly formed endothelial tubes [79]. PDGFB is also involved in embryonic vascular development as it stimulates embryonic stem cells to differentiate into EC through a process that requires calcium-mediated generation of reactive oxygen species [262]. PDGFB is widely expressed by the endothelium during embryonic development but expressed in adult in EC in a spatial-temporal pattern, and is up-regulated in sprouting tip cells [263].

PDGF belong to a highly conserved family of growth factors that are related based on the structure and function. PDGF exist as homodimers PDGF-AA, PDGF-BB, PDGF-CC, and PDGF-DD, and as a heterodimer PDGF-AB. PDGF-CC and –DD are secreted in a latent form that must be cleaved outside the cell to become active, whereas PDGF-AA and –BB are secreted in the active form [264, 265]. PDGF-CC is cleaved by tissuetype plasminogen activator (tPA) and by plasmin, and urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) acts on PDGF-DD [265].

PDGF isoform deletion is embryonically lethal. PDGF-AA and -CC knockout mice die perinatally with reported defects in the renal cortical interstitium, a phenotype also observed in PDGFR- α deficient mice [266, 267]. Similarly, PDGF-BB knockout mice die perinatally with notable renal defect characterized by an absence of mesangial cells and an abnormal glomerular tuft formation. On the other hand the glomerular endothelial cells, podocytes, and the basement membrane are normal [268].

The expression of PDGF isoforms and their receptors in human and mouse kidney cells is well established. PDGF-AA is expressed by podocytes and epithelial cells of distal tubules and of collecting duct in human, and in the loop of Henle cells in mouse [269, 270]. Low levels of PDGF-BB are expressed in human mesangial cells and in mouse arteries smooth muscle cells [267]. PDGF-CC is found in human glomerular parietal epithelial cells, proximal and distal tubules, and in endothelial cells in arteries. In mouse PDGF-CC is expressed in glomerular endothelial cells and in arterial smooth muscle and endothelial cells [271]. PDGF-DD expression in humans is limited to podocytes and to vascular smooth muscle cells, whereas, in mouse PDGF-DD is constitutively expressed by mesangial cells [272].

58

All PDGF isoforms are overexpressed in injured kidneys, a finding observed in almost all animal models of kidney disease [273]. PDGFA is overexpressed after injury in the glomerulus by mesangial cells and in the interstitial compartment [274, 275]. PDGFB is up-regulated in the glomerulus and is expressed mainly by mesangial, parietal epithelial cells, by platelets and circulating leukocytes [267, 276-278], and by arterial smooth muscle cells [279]. In addition, tubular and interstitial cells contribute to PDGFB production after a renal injury [280]. PDGFC expression is up- regulated in mesangial cells, podocytes, interstitial cells and macrophages [267, 271]. PDGFD expression after renal injury is limited to mesangial and interstitial cells [272, 281].

The PDGFR- α is up regulated mainly by interstitial cells and macrophages [272], whereas the isoform beta has much wider expression pattern that includes the glomerular and interstitial compartments. The PDGFR- β expression is observed in mesangial cells, podocytes, parietal epithelial cells, and in interstitial cells [282-284].

The PDGF isoforms bind to receptor tyrosine kinase homodimers PDGFR- $\alpha\alpha$, PDGFR- $\beta\beta$, and the heterodimer PDGFR- $\alpha\beta$ with different affinities [264]. PDGF have strong mitogenic activity and the activation of their cognate receptors is important during embryonic development and in wound healing. In addition, PDGF signaling is a mechanism associated with disorders such as cancers, and vascular diseases [285]. PDGF exert

their effect mainly on smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts that can potentially lead to vascular fibrosis and other pathologies [286].

PDGF isoforms are constitutively expressed, or components of the PDGF/PDGFR system can be induced in most kidney cells. It is reported that the majority of experimental models and human kidney diseases have an irregular expression of PDGF isoforms and/or receptors [267].

Overexpression PDGF-BB and -DD in glomeruli can lead to mesangial cell proliferation and to the development of glomerulosclerosis and eventually tubulointerstitial fibrosis [287]. PDGF-DD has been directly implicated in the development of tubulointerstitial fibrosis likely by inducing epithelial to mesenchymal transition. This process is controlled by the microRNA miR-200 family [287, 288].

2.7 Phosphoinositide 3-Kinases as Integrators of Proangiogenic Cues

The phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K) belong to a family of enzymes implicated in various cellular activities such as survival, proliferation, differentiation, trafficking, and chemotaxis [289]. The PI3K act downstream of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK), and G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR). PI3K phosphorylate phosphotidylinositol (PtdIn) a phospholipid without phosphate group attached to the inositol ring. The PtdIn is called phosphoinositide (PI) once it is phosphorylated. There are three different classes of PI3K divided upon their structure, and lipid specificity [290].

2.7.1 Class I PI3K

Class IA PI3K form heterodimers and are composed of one catalytic and one regulatory subunit that contains two src homology (SH2) domains. There are three catalytic subunits p110 α , p110 β , and p110 δ that are encoded by separate genes. The major regulatory subunits are p85 α , p55 α , and p50 α , which are splice variants of the same gene whereas p85 β , and p55 γ are expressed by other genes [291]. The only member of class IB is p110 γ and is generally associated with the adapter protein p101. P110 γ is highly expressed in leukocytes and acts downstream of GPCRs and plays important roles in inflammation and allergy [292, 293].

Upon ligand binding to a RTK receptor or a GPCR PI3K are recruited to the receptor and become active by relief of allosteric inhibition from regulatory PI3K the subunit. Activated phosphorylate phosphotidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate (PIP2) to form phosphotidylinositol (3,4,5) triphosphate (PIP3), which is localized at the plasma membrane and acts as binding site for proteins containing a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain [294, 295]. PIP3 recruits Akt (also known as protein kinase B) to the plasma membrane where it is phosphorylated on Thr308 by phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1) and on Ser473 by PDK2 (mTOR complex2) [296-298]. Akt exerts its major activities via a

serine/threonine kinase known as mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway that regulates numerous cellular activities including cellular growth, proliferation, survival, and motility [299, 300].

Akt mediates cell cycle entry by regulating the forkhead transcription factors (FOXO) and cyclin D1. The cellular survival activity of Akt is mediated by phosphorylation of $I\kappa B$ kinase ($I\kappa BK$), Bad, and caspase 9. The combined actions of activated Akt and guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEF) lead to the activation of Cdc42 and Rac that promote cellular growth and proliferation, and an increase in cellular motility [291, 301].

PI3K is implicated in cell cycle regulation. When PI3K pathway is activated by growth factors, it facilitates the transitions from G0->G1 and G1->S, as PI3K activity peaks within minutes of growth factor-agonist binding and peaks again in late G1 phase [302, 303]. The enhanced production of PIP3 accelerates the entry into the cell cycle, whereas the reduction in PIP3 concentration has an opposite effect [304]. The differential activity of p110 catalytic isoforms is evident during the cell cycle. p110 α is activated first as the cell transits from G0 and into G1 with minor p110 β activity. In late G1 phase, p110 α activity was detected first but p110 β reached maximum activity at this stage of the cell cycle. The inhibition of either p110 α or p110 β resulted in significant reduction in cell cycle entry [305]. Moreover, p110 β activity has been implicated during cell division. Nuclear p110 β was found associated with PKB and the inhibition of p110 β activity had an adverse effect on the DNA replication rate, on the proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) binding to chromatin, and on PCNA binding to polymerase δ . The mechanism by which p110 β exerts its activity during DNA replication appears to be related to the regulation of the nuclear activation of PKB and PCNA negative regulator p21^{Cip} phosphorylation during the S phase [306].

The PI3K catalytic isoform p110 β is involved in cell repair response to DNA double-strand break (DSB), which is one of the most damaging lesions for genomic integrity. It has been shown that p110 β is necessary to sense the DSB as it regulates the DNA damage sensor protein nibrin or Nbs1. In p110 β -deficient cells Nbs1 failed to bind to DSB, resulting in a defective DNA damage response, cell cycle arrest at G2, radiation sensitivity, and genomic instability [307].

There are ample evidence suggesting PI3K signaling, especially, class IA catalytic isoforms are essential for growth and survival of cancer cells. PI3K signaling activates Akt, which is considered the major effector molecule of PI3K in many cancers. PI3K-Akt signaling leads to the activation of the effector molecule mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1), which is implicated in numerous cellular functions including growth factor signaling, cellular AMP levels (energy), and the availability of the oxygen and nutrients to the cell [308]. The PI3K-Akt-mTORC1 axis is constitutively

activated in many cancers. The inappropriate activation of PI3K-Akt pathway is largely due to growth factors/receptor tyrosine kinases activation and the accumulation of somatic mutations in some components of PI3K-Akt-mTORC1 signaling pathway [308].

The activities of PI3K are modulated by the phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN). PTEN is a multifunctional phosphatase with PIP3 being its major substrate. PTEN is a tumor suppressor gene and is mutated in many cancers [309, 310].

2.7.2 Class II PI3K

Class II PI3Ks are molecules around 170 kDa in size and are comprised of three catalytic isoforms C2 α , C2 β , and C2 γ encoded by three separate genes. PI3Ks class II are defined by their C-terminal C2 domain that can bind to phospholipids in a Ca²⁺- independent manner, and show strong substrate specificity to phosphotidylinositol (4) monophosphate (PIP) and to PIP2 [311, 312]. However, *in vivo* studies about the exact nature of the lipids produced by class II PI3K have not been conclusive, as overexpression of class II PI3K did not result in an increase in PIP2/PIP3 levels [313]. Class II PI3K can be activated by various growth factors and chemokines including, insulin, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), integrins, and monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1) [314-317]. It appears that class II PI3K are constitutively associated with the plasma membrane unlike class I members, which are found mainly in the cytoplasm. The deletion of the C2 domain did not alter the location of the class II PI3K [312].

2.7.3 Class III PI3K

There is one class III PI3K catalytic subunit that forms a complex with a serine/threonine kinase p150. It has been demonstrated *in vitro* that class III PI3K is capable of generating phosphotidylinositol-3 phosphate from phosphotidylinositol. The catalytic subunit is homologous to the yeast vesicular protein-sorting protein Vps34, which may suggest a role in proteins and vesicles trafficking [290, 318]. The extracellular stimuli that regulate Vps34 activity are not well established, but there is evidence of regulation by amino acids, glucose, and GPCR [319-321]. Vps34 can function as a protein scaffold since not all effectors interact with phosphotidylinositol-3 phosphate [322]. The global deletion of Vps34 is lethal in yeast and flies, but it has not been studied in mice yet [322].

2.7.4 The Role of PI3K in Angiogenesis

Several lines of evidence implicate the PI3K signaling in endothelial cells during vascular development in embryo, tumor growth, and after injury/ischemia [323]. PI3K signal downstream of receptor tyrosine kinases, which are natural receptors to a variety of growth factors such as VEGF, FGF, EGF, and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) that can also deliver an angiogenic stimulus. Moreover, the inhibition of the PI3K activity impedes the angiogenic process [324, 325].

The exact role of the PI3K class I catalytic isoforms in angiogenesis is not fully understood [326]. The isoforms p110 α and p110 β are ubiquitously expressed, however $p110\delta$ has low expression in endothelial cells but enriched in leukocytes [313, 327]. The genetic deletion of *Pik3ca* that encodes $p110\alpha$ in mice is embryonically lethal at mid-gestation with evidence of vascular abnormalities, whereas the p110 β knockout mouse does not exit the blastocyst stage [328, 329]. The conditional knockout of p110 α or the expression of a kinase-dead allele in endothelial cells both resulted in embryonic lethality at mid-gestation. The embryos developed normally until E9.5 in the absence of p110 α , however, by E10.5 the blood vessels and trunk were poorly developed and all the embryos died by E12.5 likely due to angiogenic remodeling defects [330]. On the contrary, the conditional knockout of p110 β or p110 δ had no obvious vascular defects, as the mice were viable and fertile [330]. p110 α is the predominant isoform that is activated by VEGF-A and affects angiogenesis, whereas, the outgrowth of angiogenic sprouts in aortic rings assay were reduced in p110 β -deficient endothelial cells when stimulated by GPCR agonists such as sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), SDF1 α , and interleukin-8 (IL-8) [330].

PI3K catalytic subunits contain a domain that binds Ras, Rac, and cdc42. Interaction with these small GTP binding proteins may modulate PI3K activity [331]. In a study to identify vascular signaling by H-Ras, two

H-Ras mutants were generated H-RasV12S35 and H-RasV12C40 that constitutively activated MAPK and PI3K pathways respectively. The MAPK pathway was shown to be important for vascular permeability, whereas the PI3K pathway was important for both angiogenesis and vascular permeability. In addition, pharmacological inhibition of the PI3K catalytic isoforms p110 α and p110 β resulted in disruption of angiogenesis and vascular permeability *in vivo*, whereas the inhibition of p110 δ and p110 γ affected vascular permeability mediated by H-Ras or VEGF [332].

2.8 Summary

Endothelial injury to the kidney microvasculature is a major pathologic pathway leading to loss of kidney function. This mechanism is observed in a group of diseases called thrombotic microangiopathies. A common feature of typical hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS), atypical HUS, and alloantibody-mediated rejection is direct endothelial injury and loss from glomerular microvasculature. However, the mechanisms of repair of the renal microvasculature are largely unknown.

The immense interest shown in endothelial progenitor cells because of the tremendous potential they have in regenerative medicine has flooded the literature. With that came controversy and confusion as different cell populations were given the name EPC. Despite the lack of an EPC specific marker, there is a general consensus today that the population which, actually represents endothelial progenitor cells is the late outgrowth cells obtained from the endothelial colony-forming cells method. EPC are studied extensively in various diseases in the prospect of repairing microvasculatures but so far there is limited but encouraging success. Endothelial cells are responsible for forming new blood vessel in two distinct processes called vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Angiogenesis is a complex process that requires the coordination of several cellular processes and involves different cell types. One major family that provides an angiogenic stimulus is the vascular endothelial growth factors that signal through VEGR receptors and activates PI3K-Akt and MAPK pathways that lead to cellular survival and proliferation. Activation of endothelial cells during angiogenesis results in the differentiation of tip cells that lead the sprout and control the fate of the following cells or stalk cells as the sprouts eventually mature into a new blood vessel.

CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.0 Animals

Older than twelve weeks C57BL/6, Rag1, and Rag2 were used in this thesis. The BL/6 and Rag1 mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Sacramento, CA), Rag2 from Taconic (Hudson, NY). Hartley guinea pigs and Lewis rats six weeks old were purchased from Charles River (Wilmington, MA). The Tie2^{ERT2}Cre/p110β^{flox/flox} mice were a kind gift from Dr. Gavin Oudit (University of Alberta) and Dr. Bart van Haesebroeck (Queen Mary, University of London, UK). All the mice were housed at the VAF unit in filter-top cages, and the other animals were kept at the conventional facility of Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services (HSLAS) at the Department of Medicine. The animals were maintained according to the Canadian Council for Animal Care (CCAC) guidelines.

3.1 Antibodies

The following is a list of the primary antibodies used throughout this thesis. Negative control mouse IgG1 (DAKO, X0931); anti-human CD62, E-selectin (DAKO, M7105); anti-human CD184, CXCR4 (BD Pharmingen, 551510); anti-human eNOS (Chemicon Int, AB16301); anti-human S100A4, FSP1 (Abnova, PAB0010); anti-human smooth muscle actin (R&D Systems, MAB1420); anti-human TGF-βRII (R&D Systems, AF3025); anti-

human endoglin, CD105 (R&D Systems, AF1097); anti-human SMAD3 (Abnova, H00004088-M05); anti-human phospho-SMAD3 (R&D Systems, AB3226); anti-human PECAM, CD31 (BD Pharmingen, 555445); anti-human VEGFR2, KDR (R&D Systems, FAB357P); anti-human cleaved caspase 3 (Cell Signaling, 9661); anti-human ERG (Sigma-Aldrich, E3158); anti-human ALK1 (R&D Systems, AF370); anti-human DLL4 (R&D Systems, MAB1389); anti-human apelin (abcam, ab59469); anti-human ESM1 (abcam, ab103590); anti-human vWF was a kind donation from Dr. Nadia Jahroudi (University of Alberta).

Anti-mouse CD31 (BD Pharmingen, 550274); anti-mouse podocalyxin (R&D Systems, AF1556), anti-mouse fibrinogen/fibrin (GenWay, GWB-85DBCA); anti-mouse podocin (Santa Cruz, sc-22298).

Anti-saporin (abcam, ab42903; Advanced Targeting Systems, AB-15HRP), DyLight 549 goat anti-rabbit (Jackson ImmunoResearch, 111-506-003); DyLight 488 goat anti-mouse (Jackson ImmunoResearch, 115-485-164); FITC nouse anti-goat (Jackson ImmunoResearch, 205-095-108); HRP rabbit anti-sheep (Jackson ImmunoResearch, 313-035-003); HRP goat anti-mouse (115-035-003); HRP goat anti-rabbit (Jackson ImmunoResearch, 111-035-008); HRP goat anti-rabbit (Jackson ImmunoResearch, 112-035-143); rabbit anti-biotin (Polysciences, Inc. 23867). Anti- 6X His tag® antibody (abcam, ab18184).

3.2 Isolation of Endothelial Progenitor Cells

The EPC were isolated according to the endothelial colony-forming cells method described by Lin et al. [333] with some modifications. Human mononuclear cells (MNC) were isolated from 120 mL peripheral blood from healthy adult donors or from 1-liter leukapheresis blood obtained from the blood bank. The blood was diluted at 1:1 ratio with Hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS) (Lonza, 10508F) and 20 mL of the blood HBSS mixture were layered over 10 mL of Lymphoprep[™] (Axis-Shield, 1114544) and centrifuged for 30 min at 1800 rpm. The MNC were removed and washed with HBSS 2X at 1600 rpm for 10 min. The MNC were suspended in 1 mL solution of PBS, 2% FBS, 1 mM EDTA and counted to prepare the cells for CD34+ selection. CD34+ cells were isolated using EasySep human CD34 selection kit (StemCell Technologies, 18956) according to manufacturer's instructions. The resulting CD34+ cells were counted and seeded on fibronectin coated 6well tissue culture plates in complete endothelial basal medium-2 (EBM-2 supplemented with 10 % FBS and VEGF, bFGF, IGF, EGF, heparin, ascorbic acid, gentamicin) (Lonza, CC-4176). After 24h incubation at 37 $^{\circ}$ C, 5 % CO₂ non-adherent cells were discarded and the adherent cells were fed every other day with complete EBM-2 until EPCs colonies appeared in culture 7 - 21 days after seeding. In all experiments, EPC were used between passages 3-6 exclusively.

3.3 Isolation of Human Macrophages

Peripheral blood monocytes were isolated as described in [334]. The cells were cultured in complete DMEM supplemented with 10 % FBS, 2mM glutamine, 15 mM HEPES, 0.02 % sodium bicarbonate, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 μg/mL streptomycin, and 500 U/mL macrophage- colony stimulating factor (M-CSF), and incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO₂. The cells were cultured for seven days and changed medium every other day. The macrophages were characterized for the expression of macrophage markers by real time PCR using CD14, CD45, and M-CSF receptor primers (see Table 1 for sequences).

3.4 Quantitative PCR

Real time PCR was performed using 7500 thermocycler (Applied Biosytems). Total RNA was isolated using RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen, 74104) and one µg of total RNA was reversed transcribed into cDNA using qScript[™] cDNA supermix (Quanta, 84034) and the primers were designed using PrimerExpress 3.0 (Applied Biosystems) software and purchased from IDT (Toronto, ON). The complete list of primers used in this thesis is presented in Table 3.1.

3.5 End-point PCR

The presence of human cells in the mouse tissues was evaluated by end-point PCR using the human specific primers for β_2 -microglobulin and/or CD34 genes (see Table 3.1 for the primers sequences). The cycling parameters were as follows 5 min at 95 °C, and 35 cycles of 95 °C for 15 s, 58 °C for 15 s, and 72 °C for 15 s, and the PCR reaction was finished with a final step of extension at 72 °C for 10 min. The PCR products were resolved on an agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide and visualized using Multilmage 2® and FluorChem software (Alpha Innotech).

3.6 SDS-PAGE and Western Blot

SDS-PAGE was done using 25 µg of cell lysate (cell lysis buffer: 50 mM TRIS-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 10 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 50mM sodium fluoride, 0.5% Triton X-100, 1mM PMSF, 10 µg/mL leupeptin, 10 µg/mL aprotinin, and a protease inhibitor cocktail) and resolved using 12 % acrylamide/Bis gels under denaturing conditions at 120 Volts for 90 min. Proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane (BioRad) at 100 Volts for 60 min and the membranes probed using the primary antibodies at the manufacturer's recommended concentrations. The membranes were washed 5 times with TTBS and probed with the appropriate HRP labeled anti-species secondary antibodies (Jackson Laboratories) for 1 hr. The membranes were washed 5 times with PBST and were developed using ECL prime kit (GE Healthcare, 45002401) and visualized using MultiImage 2® and FluorChem software (Alpha Innotech).

3.7 IL-8 ELISA

Ready-Set-Go ELISA (eBioscience; cat. No. 88-8086-22) was used as per manufacturer's directions to measure interleukin-8 (IL-8) secretion by endothelial progenitor cells. Briefly, Corning Costar 9018 96-well ELISA plates were coated using 100 μ L/well of capture antibody in coating buffer. The plates were incubated overnight at 4 °C. After incubation the plates were washed 5 times with 250 µL/well 1X PBST. The plates were blocked with 200 µL/well using 1X assay diluent and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. The plates were washed 5 times with 250 μ L PBST. One hundred μ L of the test samples and standards were added to wells and the plates incubated overnight at 4 °C. After incubation the plates were washed 5 times using 250 μ L PBST and 100 μ L/well of Avidin-HRP-antibody were added to the wells and the plates were incubated at room temperature for 30 min. The plates were then washed 7 times using 250 μL PBST, followed by the addition of the substrate solution 1X TMB and the plates were incubated for another 15 min at room temperature. The reaction was stopped by the addition of 50 μ L of 2 N H₂SO₄. The plates were read at 450 and 570 nm, and then the values of 570 nm were subtracted from those of 450 nm.

3.8 Nitric Oxide Assay

The nitric oxide concentration released by endothelial cells was determined using nitric oxide synthase (NOS) detection kit (Sigma-Aldrich,

FCANOS1) according to the manufacturer's instruction. Briefly, 50 thousands cells were seeded into each well of a black, clear bottom, 96 well plate and incubated overnight 37 °C, 5 % CO₂. The next day the wells were washed 2X with PBS and 200 μ L of reaction mixture (8 μ M 4,5 diaminofluorescein diacetate DAF-2 DA, 2 μ M β -NADPH, 100 mM L-arginine) were added to each well in presence or absence of 1 mM of the NOS inhibitor L-NMMA. The plate was incubated for 2 hours at room temperature in the dark and the fluorescence intensity was measured at the wavelengths 485 – 527 nm.

3.9 Flow Cytometery

The EPC were grown in 6-well tissue culture plates coated with 0.1 % gelatin. The cells were collected by centrifugation and resuspended in 500 μ L of wash buffer (PBS, 1 % BSA) after the cells were fixed (PBS, 4 % formaldehyde) for 10 min at RT. For extracellular antigens the cells were incubated with the primary antibodies for 1 h at RT after the cells were blocked with blocking buffer (PBS, 2.5 % BSA, 1 % non-specific IgG) for 1 h at RT. The cells were washed 3X with wash buffer and incubated with species-specific fluorescently labeled secondary antibodies for 30 min. The cells were washed 3X and resuspended in 400 μ L of wash buffer and analyzed using the FACScalibur at the Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry Flow Cytometery Facility. For intracellular antigens, the same

75

procedure was applied but before the blocking step the cells were permeabilized with ice-cold 100 % methanol for 30 min on ice.

3.10 MTT assay

The MTT assay was used to evaluate the cell killing activity of the lectin-saporin conjugate and the method used according to [335]. Either porcine aorta endothelial cells (PAEC) or mouse cardiovascular endothelial cells (MCEC) were seeded at 50 thousands cells/well in a 96well tissue culture plate in triplicate and treated with medium, PBS, 10 ng/mL TNF α and 3 µg/mL cyclohiximide, 10 µg/mL MOA lectin, 10 µg/mL saporin, 10-50 µg/mL Gala1-3Gal (V-Labs, Inc. LA), and a range of concentrations of MOA lectin-saporin conjugate (0.1 – 20 μ g/mL). The PAEC cells were incubated overnight at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. The next day the cells were washed 2X with PBS and 100 µL of 0.5 mg/mL MTT were added to each well and the plate was incubated for further 4 h at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. After incubation the plate was centrifuged at 1000g for 10 min and the MTT solution was removed by inverting the plate and blot onto paper towels. The MTT product (Formazan) was solubilized with 100 μL DMSO for 10 min at RT and the plate was read at 570 nm.

3.11 Two-Dimensional Tube Formation Assay

The matrigel basement membrane matrix (BD Biosciences, 356234) was diluted 1:5 with PBS and 250 μ L were placed in a 24-well tissue culture plate and incubated at 37 °C until the matrigel formed a

semi-solid gel. Twenty thousands EPC or HUVEC were placed on top of the gel and incubated at 37 $^{\circ}$ C and 5 % CO₂ for 24 h.

3.12 Uptake of Dil-Ac-LDL and Ulex Lectin Binding

The ability of EPC to uptake acetylated low density lipoprotein and the binding of *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin was performed according to the protocol described in [336]. The acetylated low density lipoprotein labeled with 1,1'-dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindo-carbocyanine perchlorate was purchased from Biomedical Technologies Inc. (BT-902). The FITC labeled *U. europaeus* agglutinin was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (L-9006).

3.13 EdU Proliferation Assay

Cellular proliferation was evaluated using Click-iT® EdU (5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine) flow cytometry assay kit (Invitrogen, C-10420) as per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, hEPC treated with siRNA were incubated with 10 μ M EdU and incubated at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ for 24 h. The cells were washed with wash buffer (PBS+ 1% BSA) and fixed with Click-iT fixative for 15 min at RT in the dark. The cells were later washed and permeabilized with Click-iT Triton X-100 based permeabilization buffer for 30 min at RT in the dark. The EdU was detected by Alexa-488 antibody provided by the kit and the proliferating cells were analyzed by flow cytometer.

3.14 Chemotaxis Assay

The cell migration assay was performed using 24 well Transwell plate with 8 um pores (Corning, 3422). The EPCs (treated with p110 β siRNA, control siRNA, or left untreated) were seeded at a density of 10⁵ cells in the insert in the presence of incomplete EBM2. Complete EBM2 (with SingleQuots kit and 10% FBS) was placed in the bottom chamber. To eliminate the concentration gradient of the chemotactic factors, in some wells complete EBM2 was placed in the top insert and in the bottom well. The plate was incubated at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ for 24 h. To determine the number of cells that migrated into the bottom well, the insert was washed once and the receiver well 2X with PBS. 350 µL Calcein AM diluted in cell dissociation solution (Sigma-Aldrich, C5914) were added to the bottom well and the insert was placed back in the well and the plate was incubated at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ for 1 h. The inserts were removed and the plate was read at 485-527 nm using fluorescent plate reader (Fluoroskan, Thermo Scientific).

3.15 siRNA Transfection

All siRNA sequences used in this thesis were purchased from Qiagen (see Table 3.3). The gene knockdown procedure was based on Qiagen HiPerFect (301705) Transfection protocol. The hEPC were transfected on two consecutive days with 10-50 nM siRNA at 50-60 % confluent for 5 hours. The gene knockdown was evaluated by Western blot and/or real time PCR after 72 h.

3. 16 Three-Dimensional Angiogenesis Assay

The study of sprouting angiogenesis of hEPC *in vitro* was determined by using the protocol described by Nakatsu [172] with some modifications. hEPC were mixed with collagen coated Cytodex 3 microcarrier beads (Sigma-Aldrich, C3275) and incubated at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ for 4 h with shaking every 20 min. The coated beads were then transferred to T25 tissue culture flasks and incubated for further 2 hours. The coated beads were washed with PBS 2X and mixed with 2 mg/mL fibrinogen (Sigma-Aldrich, F4753) and 0.15 U/mL aprotinin (Sigma-Aldrich, A1153). Five hundred μ L of the hEPC coated beads and fibrinogen solution were mixed with 0.625 U/mL thrombin (Sigma-Aldrich, T4648) in a 24-well tissue culture plate and incubated at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ for ~15 min until the fibrin gel hardened. One mL of EBM2 was added to each well and sprouts formation were analyzed after 18-24 hours. In some experiments 20 thousand fibroblasts/well were added on top of the gel.

3.17 in vivo Vasculogenesis by Matrigel Plugs

The *in vivo* study of vasculogenesis was performed according to the method described in [337]. Briefly, growth factor reduced matrigel (BD Biosciences, 356231) was mixed with EPC (treated with 50 nM PI3-kinase catalytic subunit p110 β siRNA, control siRNA, or left untreated) and with

human aorta smooth muscle cells (Cell Application, Inc. 311-500) at a ratio 75 EPC : 25 SMC. The matrigel plugs were injected into Rag 2 mice (Taconic) subcutaneously and retrieved after one week. The plugs were placed in OCT and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Five μ m sections were stained with anti-human and -mouse CD31 and visualized using Leica fluorescent microscope. The capillaries that are formed by human cells were counted in 20 fields of view under 20X/0.45 objective lens.

3.18 MOA Lectin-Saporin Conjugation

Five mg of each pure MOA lectin and saporin were conjugated using sulfo-LC-SPDP as per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 5 mg of MOA lectin and 5 mg of saporin were mixed with 25 mM SPDP separately and dissolved in 1 mL of PBS containing 1 mM EDTA. The mixture was incubated at RT for 1 hour. Two desalting columns (Zeba desalt spin columns, Thermo Scientific) were equilibrated with PBS-EDTA. The proteins-SPDP mixtures were loaded onto desalting columns to buffer exchange to remove reaction byproducts and excess nonreacted SPDP. SPDP-modified saporin was reduced with 50 mM DTT to modify the sulhydryl group of SPDP. The sulfhydryl-modified saporin solution was buffer exchanged using Zeba desalting column to remove DTT. Finally, the SPDP modified protein and the sulhydryl-modified protein were mixed together and incubated for 18 hours at 4 °C. The resulting reaction was visualized either by silver stain (Sigma-Aldrich, PROTSIL2-1KT) or by antisaporin antibody (abcam[®], ab42903) to determine the presence of lectinsaporin conjugates. The conjugate soultion was further processed by FPLC and a size-exclusion column (Superdex 75, GE Lifesciences). The resulting fractions were analyzed for killing activity, and the active fractions of pure L-S conjugate were pooled, concentrated, and filter-sterelized using 0.2 micron filters.

3.19 Tail Vein Injection of Biotinylated MOA Lectin

Five C57BI/6 mice were injected via tail vein with 10 mg/Kg biotinylated MOA lectin. The animals were euthanized by cervical dislocation after 3 h and the following organs were collected: heart, lung, kidney, liver, skeletal muscle, and brain. The organs were placed in optimal cutting temperature (OCT) solution and snapped frozen in liquid nitrogen. The MOA lectin in the tissues was vizualized using Alexa Fluor 594 conjugated streptavidin and either by fluorescence or confocal microscopy.

3.20 Intra-Carotid Artery Delivery of MOA Lectin

The mice were anaesthetized using Isoflurane. A small incision was made on the left side of the neck and the underlying tissues were removed gently to expose the carotid artery. The carotid artery was ligated at the proximal and distal ends. A small cut was made at the distal portion, and the polyethylene catheter (0.011" I.D. x 0.024" O.D. Intramedic) was inserted and secured inside the carotid artery. One hundred microliters of L-S or saline were delivered using 1 ml syringes and 27 gauge needles.

The neck wound was closed with two stitches and the mice were place inside a 37 °C incubator for three hours before they were housed at room temperature for the remainder of the experiment.

3.21 Enzymatic Creatinine Assay

The mice sera were evaluated for creatinine concentration by Mouse Creatinine Kit (Crystal Chem, Cat# 80350) as per manufaturer's instructions with minor modifications. Breifly, 10 μ L serum was placed into a 96-well tissue culture plate (Costar) and mixed with 270 μ L of reagent CC1. The plate was incubated at 37 °C for 10 min and read at 550 nm (A1). Then 90 μ L reagent CC2 were added and the plate was again incubated for 10 min at 37 °C and read at 550 nm (A2). The mean change in absorbance (A2-A1) from samples were interpolated using a calibration standard curve, and creatinine concentration was reported in μ M.

3.22 Blood Urea Nitrogen Assay

The urea concentration in animal sera was evaluated by using Urea Assay Kit (QuantiChromTM, Cat # DIUR-500) as per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 10 µL serum were added to a 96-well tissue culture plate (Costar) and mixed with 200 µL of equal volumes of combined reagent A and reagent B and the plate was incubated at room temperature for 20 min and the plate was read at 450 nm.

3.23 Urine Total Protein Microassay

The urine samples were assayed for proteinuria using Genzyme (cat # 450-50) total protein microassay as per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 2 μ L of urine were mixed with 200 μ L of pyrogallol red molybdate solution were place in a 96-well ELISA plate and incubated at RT for 10 min. The plate was read at 570 nm.

3.24 Histology and Immunohistochemical Staining

Kidney, heart, lung, liver, spleen, skeletal muscle, and brain were collected from each euthanized mouse and either placed in OCT and snapped frozen in liquid nitrogen or placed in IHC zinc fixative (BD PharmingenTM). The tissues in the zinc fixative were processed at the Hisotlogy Core Facility at the University of Alberta and stained with Hematoxylin & Eosin (H & E) and with periodic acid- Schiff (PAS). For immunofluorescence staining, 5 μ m frozen sections were stained for fibrin, CD31, podocalyxin, podocin, or stained with the tomato lectin *Lycopersicon esculentum* to specifically detect glomerular and peritubular capillaries. All tissues were incubated with the primary antibodies overnight and detected with a fluorescently labelled anti-species antibodies. The controls consisted of either no primary antibody or a nonspecific IgG.

3.25 Microscopy

Renal tissues ~1 mm² from L-S or saline injected mice were fixed using Karnovsky fixative solution (Poly Scientific, New York, NY) and embedded in the low viscosity embedding Spurr's Kit (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Ultra-thin sections were stined with uranyl acetate and lead citrate (Reynold's stain) and viewed using Philips 410 transmission electron microscope (Department of Cell Biology, University of Alberta) under different magnification settings. Confocal microscopy was performed at the Department of Medicine Cell Imaging Centre using Quorum Wave FX-X1 spinning disk confocal. Immunofluorescence imaging were taken using Leica DM IRB or Zeiss Axioplan-2.

3.26 Schistocytes Staining

Mouse blood samples were collected by cardiac puncture and 20 μ L were mixed with equal volume of 0.3 % (w/v) Brilliant Cresyl blue solution. The mixture was incubated for 10 min at R.T. and then the blood was spread over a microscope slide.

3.27 Human bFGF ELISA

Human mesangial cells (Lonza, cc-2559) were grown to confluence in MsBM[™] (Lonza, cc-3147) supplemented with 10 % FBS. The mesangial cells were seeded into 6-well tissue culture plate and serum starved in the presence of 2 % FBS overnight. The next day the cells were washed 2X with HBSS and fresh DMEM supplemented with 2 % FBS and treated with 20 ng/mL recombinant human PDGFBB (eBioscience®, 14-8501) overnight, or left untreated and served as control. The supernatant from PDGFB treated cells or from control cells were used to assay for bFGF production using RayBiotech® Huamn bFGF ELISA Kit (ELH-bFGF-001) as per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 100 μ L of standards and samples were added to a 96-well bFGF microplate and incubated overnight at 4°C. The plate was then washed 4X with wash buffer and 100 uL of biotinylated antibody were added and the plate was incubated for 1 hour at R.T. After, 4 more washes with wash buffer, 100 μ L of strepavidin conjugate was added and the plate was incubated for further 45 min at R.T. The plate was washed again 4X with wash buffer and 100 μ L of Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate was added and the plate was incubated for 30 min in the dark at R. T. The reaction was stopped with 50 ul of 0.2 M sulfuric acid and the plate was read at 450 nm.

3.28 Combined Direct Flow Injection and LC-MS/MS Compound Identification and Quantification

We have applied a targeted quantitative metabolomics approach to analyze the mouse serum samples using a combination of direct injection mass spectrometry (Absolute*IDQ*[™] Kit) with a reverse-phase LC-MS/MS Kit. The Kit is a commercially available assay from BIOCRATES Life Sciences AG (Austria). This kit, in combination with an ABI 4000 Q-Trap

(Applied Biosystems/MDS Sciex) mass spectrometer, can be used for the targeted identification and quantification of up to 180 different endogenous metabolites including amino acids, acylcarnitines, biogenic amines, glycerophospholipids, sphingolipids and sugars. The method used combines the derivatization and extraction of analytes, and the selective mass-spectrometric detection using multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) pairs. Isotope-labeled internal standards and other internal standards are integrated in Kit plate filter for metabolite quantification. The AbsoluteIDQ kit contains a 96 deep-well plate with a filter plate attached with sealing tape, and reagents and solvents used to prepare the plate assay. First 14 wells in the Kit were used for one blank, three zero samples, seven standards and three quality control samples provided with each Kit. All the serum samples were analyzed with the Absolute/DQ kit using the protocol described in the Absolute/DQ user manual. Briefly, serum samples were thawed on ice and were vortexed and centrifuged at 13,000x g. 10 µL of each serum sample was loaded onto the center of the filter on the upper 96-well kit plate and dried in a stream of nitrogen. Subsequently, 20 μ L of a 5% solution of phenyl-isothiocyanate was added for derivatization. After incubation, the filter spots were dried again using an evaporator. Extraction of the metabolites was then achieved by adding 300 µL methanol containing 5 mM ammonium acetate. The extracts were obtained by centrifugation into the lower 96-deep well plate, followed by a dilution step with kit MS running solvent. Mass spectrometric analysis was

performed on an API4000 Qtrap® tandem mass spectrometry instrument (Applied Biosystems/MDS Analytical Technologies, Foster City, CA) equipped with a solvent delivery system. The samples were delivered to the mass spectrometer by a LC method followed by a direct injection (DI) method. The Biocrates MetIQ software was used to control the entire assay workflow, from sample registration to automated calculation of metabolite concentrations to the export of data into other data analysis programs. A targeted profiling scheme was used to quantitatively screen for known small molecule metabolites using multiple reaction monitoring, neutral loss and precursor ion scans. The metabolomics analysis was performed at Dr. David Wishart's lab and this section was written by Dr. Ruparsi Mandal (The Metabolomics Innovation Centre, University of Alberta).

3.29 Semi-Quantitative Analysis of the Renal Injury

The H&E and PAS slides were evaluated by the University of Alberta Hospital pathologist Dr. D. Rayner. The kidney sections were scored using the scale 0-4 (0 = no thrombosis, $1 \le 25$ % thrombosed capillary loops, $2 \le 50$ %, $3 \le 75$ %, and $4 \ge 75$ % thrombi filled capillary loops). Capillary loops density were scored using a grid system where each square that contained an open capillary loop was counted. Thirty glomeruli were scored per each animal. The apototic cells were reported as the total number present per glomerulus.

3.30 Statistical Analysis

The statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad PRISM[®] (La Jolla, CA). The data were expressed as mean \pm SEM, and analyzed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc analysis, or 2-way ANOVA where applicable. The non-parametric data were analyzed using Mann-Whitney *U*-test. A *p* value < 0.05 was considered significant.
primers
human
of
List
••
ъ.
0
Q
Ta

Acession #	NM_000591	NM_000757	AB022318	NM_002019	NM_006017	NM_002046	NM_000442	NM_001795	NG_012303	NM_000552	NM_001773	NR_003286	NM_002961	NM_024740	NM_000603	X13839	NM_001077401	NM_001136154	NM_001160031	NM_000314	NM_006218	NM_006219	NM_005026	NM_007036	AB043894	NM_017413	NM_001147	AK222466	NM_006908	NM_004048	NM_001773
Reverse primer	5'-GTAGGCGCAAGCTGGAAAGT-3'	5'-GGATCTTTCAACTGTTCCTGGTCTA-3'	5'-AGGTGACCACGGCCACAGT-3'	5'-GGTCACGTGGAAGGAGATCAC-3'	5'-CTGTGTACTTTGTTGGTGCAAGCT-3'	5'-GTGGTCGTTGAGGGCAATG-3'	5'-CAGTTCGGGCTTGGAAAATAGT-3'	5'-GGGTAGGAAGTGGACCTTGGTA-3'	5'-CCACATGACCATTGGTCAACA-3'	5'-GTCTTCGATTCGCTGGAGCTT-3'	5'-GACAGGCTAGGCTTCAAGGTTGT-3'	5'-CATTCTTGGCAAATGCTTTCG-3'	5'-GCAGGACAGGAAGACACAGAGTACTC-3'	5'-GGAATGCTGATGATGAGCAAAA-3'	5'-CATACAGGATTGTCGCCTTCACT-3'	5'-AAAACAGCCCTGGGGGGCAT-3'	5'-ATGCCGCGGGACACAGCTA-3'	5'-CGTCGGGATCCGTCATCTT-3'	5'-CCATATGCGGTACAAGTCAGGAT-3'	5'-CGTCGTGTGGGTCCTGAATT-3'	5'-TGCCTCGACTTGCCTATTCA-3'	5'-GGAGGTTGAACATTGGGTAATTG-3'	5'-CAGCTCATCGTCCGTCAGTTT-3'	5'-GTCGTCGAGCACTGTCCTCTT-3'	5'-CTGCAGATGACCCGGTAAGAG-3'	5'-TCAGTTTGAGGCCAGTTGACCTA-3'	5'-CCGGTTATATCTTCTCCCCACTGTT-3'	5'-GTCGTACACTTTGCACTGCATGT-3'	5'-CGCTTCGTCAAACACTGTCTTG-3'	5'-GCCAGCCCTCCTAGAGCTACCTGT-3'	5'-CCGTTGTTGTCAAGACTCATGAACC-3'
Forward primer	5'-GACCTAAAGATAACCGGCACCAT-3'	5'-GGCTGATTGACAGTCAGATGGA-3'	5'-AAGCCCAGGTTCTACTCCATCA-3'	5'-CGGCAAATGTGTCAGCTTTG-3'	5'-AGCGATCAAGGAGACCAAAGAG-3'	5'-GGTGGTCTCCTCTGACTTCAACA-3'	5'-AGTGGAGTCCAGCCGCATAT-3'	5'-TCACGATAACACGGCCAACA-3'	5'-GCCTTCCTCGCTTCCAAGA-3'	5'-CAGTGTTCCCTATTGGAATTGGA-3'	5'-CCTCTGTAATCAGCACAGTGTTCA-3'	5'-TTCGTATTGCGCCGCTAGA-3'	5'-CCAGAAGCTGATGAGCAACTTG-3'	5'-GGGTTGCACGTGAGTCGAAT-3'	5'-GCCAACGCCGTGAAGATCT-3'	5'-CTGCCTTGGTGTGTGACAATG-3'	5'-ACGGCTCCCTCTACGACTTTCT-3'	5'-CCTGTCGGACAGCTCCAACT-3'	5'-AAAGGCCGTGTCATCGTTTC-3'	5'-TCAGTGGCGGGAACTTGCAA-3'	5'-AGAGGTTTGGCCTGCTTTTG-3'	5'-CCTCGGGAAGCTACCATTTCT-3'	5'-AGACTTCAGCTTCCCCCGATTG-3'	5'-GGTGGACTGCCCTCAACACT-3'	5'-TGGGTCAGAACTGGTTATTGGA-3'	5'-CCCATGCCCACATATTGCA-3'	5'-CGCTGCCATTCTGACTCACA-3'	5'-GCCTTCCTGGACCACACA-3'	5'-AAGGAGATTGGTGCTGTAAAATAC-3'	5'-CTGGCGGGCATTCCTGAAGCTGA-3'	5'-CTCAAGTTAGTAGCAGCCAAGGAGAG-3'
Gene	CD14	MCSF	INOS	KDR	CD133	GAPDH	CD31	CD144	MCSFR	vWF	CD34	18S rRNA	FSP1	ALG9	eNOS	aSMA	ALK1	ERG	VEGF R1	PTEN	p110a	p110b	p110d	ESM1	DLL4	Apelin	Angiopoietin 2	Claudin 5	Rac1	B2M (RT PCR)	CD34 (RT PCR)

Table 3.2: List of mouse primers

Acession #	NM_008816	NM_008491	NM_134248	NM_001025250	NM_028333	AF168466	NM_021704	NM_009868	NM_013690	NM_008713	NM_011057	NM_010427	M30644	NM_008591	NM_010612	NM_013912.3	NM_019454.3	NM_023612.3	NM_009911.3	NM_001146268.1
Reverse primer	5'-AAGACCCGAGCCTGAGGAA-3'	5'-AACTGATCGCTCCGGGAAGTCT-3'	5'-TGCTCACAAGGAGCAGTAGCA-3'	5'-TCCGCATGATCTGCATGGT-3'	5'-CCAGGTCCATCCTGGTGATC-3'	5'-CACTTGCTCTCCCAGGAACTCT-3'	5'-TTCTTCAGCCGTGCAACAATC-3'	5'-GTGCCGATCAGCGGTTTCT-3'	5'-CGAACTCGACCTTCACAGAAATAA-3'	5'-CATGCCGCCCTCTGTTG-3'	5'-AATGGTCACCCGAGCTTGAG-3'	5'-TCCATAGGGACATCAGTCTCATTC-3'	5'-GTTGGCACACACTCCCTTGAT-3'	5'-GGGCCGTACCTCGGAGAA-3'	5'-ACCACACATCGCTCTGAATTGT-3'	5'-TTCTCCATCCCCCCAAAAGC-3'	5'-GCAGTTTGCCACAATTGGACTT-3'	5'-TGCATTCCATCCCGAAGGT-3'	5'-TGACCAGGATCACCAATCCA-3'	5'-CAAGGTACGGTTGTCCTTGAGCC-3'
Forward primer	5'-AGGACGATGCGATGGTGTATAA-3'	5'-CCCAGGACTCAACTCAGAACTTG-3'	5'-CCGCAGAAAACCCCTACTAAGG-3'	5'-GCAGGCTGCTGTAACGATGA-3'	5'-ACAGGGCCAATCTGTGTCAAC-3'	5'-GCGAGGCACTTCGTGAAAC-3'	5'-CCAGAGCCAACGTCAAGCAT-3'	5'-ATGAGCCCCCTGTCTTCCA-3'	5'-GGGCGAAAAAGTTGTTTGG-3'	5'-TGTCTGCGGCGATGTCACTA-3'	5'-CCCTCGGCCTGTGACTAGAA-3'	5'-CTGACACCCCTTGGGGAGTATTG-3'	5'-GAGCGACCCACACGTCAAA-3'	5'-ACAGTCGAGAGACGACGCAATA-3'	5'-GATGCCCGACTCCCTTTGA-3'	5'-TAGCCCCTGACACTGGTTGTC-3'	5'-CAGCTCAAAACACACAAACCAGAA-3'	5'-AGCGAGGAGGATGATTTTGGT-3'	5'-AGGATCTTCCTGCCCACCAT-3'	5'-GTGCTGACACTGACCAATGTCACTG-3'
Gene	CD31	Lipocalin2/NGAL	KIM-1	VEGFA	Angiopoietin 2	Nephrin	SDF1/CXCL12	CD144/VE CAD	TIE 2	eNOS	PDGFB	HGF	bFGF	cMet	FLK1	Apelin	DLL4	ESM1	CXCR4	PDGFbR ECD

Table 3.3 List of siRNA used in this thesis.

Gene	Accession no.	Cat. No.
ALK1	NM_000020	SI02758392
Apelin (1)	NM_017413	SI00118013
Apelin (2)		SI02642570
ERG	NM_001136154	SI00063903
FGD5	NM_152536	SI00386680
ILK	NM_001014794	SI00288176
IQGAP1	NM_003870	SI02655268
KDR	NM_002253	SI1027400
p110α	NM_006218	SI02665369
p110β (1)	NM_006219	SI04436327
p110β (2)		SI02622214
p110β (3)		SI00085862
p110δ	NM_005026	SI02223809
PTEN	NM_000314	SI00301504
RAC1	NM_006908	SI02655051
siRNA C		1027281

CHAPTER IV EXPERIMENTAL GLOMERULAR MICROVASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL INJURY AND REPAIR

4.0 INTRODUCTION

Thrombotic microangiopathies (TMA) are initiated by diverse processes. Among them are uncontrolled complement protein activity caused by inherited or acquired defects in complement regulatory proteins, epidemic Shiga-toxigenic (Stx) bacterial infection, or immune responses to allogeneic endothelium in the context of allogeneic bone marrow or solid organ transplantation. In the recent German epidemic of Shiga-toxigenic *E. coli* infection, the kidney glomerular microvascular endothelium was most commonly affected, however the brain microvasculature was also targeted to contribute to the high death rate observed in the epidemic [338, 339]. Similarly, transplant-associated TMA is a significant cause of morbidity, mortality, and kidney graft loss in the transplant setting [340, 341].

Acute microvascular thrombosis of the kidney glomerulus, with compromised kidney function, is a presenting feature in most cases of fulminant TMA as seen in epidemic hemolytic uremic syndrome. *In vitro* studies indicate Shiga toxin binds human microvascular endothelial cells (EC) to induce apoptosis [342, 343], but a variety of subtle effects on endothelial gene transcription induced by sublethal toxin concentrations may also contribute to the kidney pathology [344, 345]. Study of the mechanisms of glomerular injury and repair following Shiga toxin administration to rodents, however, are confounded by predominant injury of the kidney tubular epithelial cells *in vivo* [346, 347].

In transplantation, both classical T cell-mediated and antibodymediated (AMR) allograft rejection target the microvasculature, recognized in clinical biopsy specimens by features such as subendothelial accumulation of lymphocytes in the allograft arterial intima, glomerulitis, and complement C4d labeling of the endothelium [348]. Endothelial injury in rejection can be fulminant, typically associated with acute alloantibodymediated attack, resulting in widespread loss of the endothelium, microvascular thrombosis, and parenchymal cell injury as a consequence of the disturbed microcirculation [349-353]. In addition, these features dominate immune responses mounted in cross-species (xeno) transplantation [354, 355], and remain a risk in transplantation into a blood group or allo-sensitized recipient [356-358].

More indolent glomerular endothelial cell (GEC) injury is also seen in transplanted organs. This may be accompanied by direct evidence of antibody-dependent cell or complement-mediated alloantibody attack, such as C4d labeling. However, chronic injury in the kidney allograft is also mediated by structural changes to the microvasculature, including transplant glomerulopathy and/or multiple lamination of the peritubular capillary basement membranes, linked to altered EC gene transcription reflecting the EC stress response [359-362]. These observations in clinical specimens are supported by experimental evidence [363] to imply that the microvasculature endures repetitive cycles of injury and repair, which ultimately result in graft failure [364, 365]. Nevertheless, the full spectrum of features of alloantibody-mediated injury has been difficult to reproduce in animal models, hampering efforts to understand the responses of the endothelium to injury and mechanisms of microvascular repair.

We describe a mouse model of acute microvascular endothelial injury isolated to kidney glomerular endothelium with synchronized vascular damage and repair. Selective delivery of a toxin to the glomerular endothelium induces a wave of injury characterized by microvascular thrombosis and fulminant kidney failure. At sublethal doses, microvascular fibrin deposition, glomerular microvascular cell apoptosis and EC loss are evident.

4.1 Results

4.1.1 Characterization of Lectin-Saporin Conjugate

To generate a potent compound to injure glomerular microvascular endothelial cells, we conjugated the toxin, saporin, to *M oreades* (MOA) lectin (Figure 4.1b). We next verified that the lectin does not bind human cells but can bind to mouse cardiovascular endothelial cells (MCEC) (4.1 a). The lectin saporin conjugate was very effective in killing MCEC in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 4.2 a), and this killing activity was reduced by pre-incubating the L-S with the carbohydrate epitope Gal α (1,3)Gal (Figure 4.2 b). Earlier work identified glomerular endothelial binding specificity of this lectin in the mouse [30]. Preliminary testing *in vitro* determined that the lectin-saporin (L-S) conjugate bound cultured MCEC and induced apoptosis, indicated by activated caspase-3 staining after 6 hours of treatment by flow cytometer (Figure 4.3 a & b) and by immunofluorescence (Figure 4.3 c & d). This result indicates that the lectin efficiently delivered the toxin to the EC to induce endothelial apoptosis in vitro in the absence of an additional pro-apoptotic stimulus.

4.1.2 Binding Characteristics of MOA Lectin in BI6 Mice

Next, we determined the binding characteristics of MOA lectin in vivo. Following iv injection into Bl/6 mice, we observed that biotinylated MOA lectin selectively labeled heart and kidney glomerular microvascular EC (Figure 4.4) but MOA lectin was not detected in liver, lung, muscle, and in brain (Figure 4.4). In contrast, when the biotinylated lectin was used as a staining reagent on frozen sections of normal kidney, both glomerular and peritubular capillary EC were uniformly labeled (data not shown), suggesting that the circulating lectin was largely adsorbed from the blood during transit through the glomerulus. Since we wished to avoid injury to the heart microcirculation, we injected the biotinylated lectin intra-arterially retrograde via the carotid artery (Figure 4.5). We found glomerular but no heart EC labeling using this approach (Figure 4.6 a, b). Within the glomerulus we found that lectin selectively bound the EC, but not the mesangial cells or podocytes (Figure 4.6 c).

4.1.3 Results of Intra-Carotid Artery Injection of Lectin-Saporin

BI/6 mice were then treated with saporin, unconjugated MOA lectin, L-S (200 µg/Kg or 500 µg/Kg), LPS (50 µg/Kg), LPS + L-S, or saline. Tissues were harvested at 12h and examined by a blinded observer (DCR) for evidence of thrombotic microvascular injury. No injury was observed among animals treated with saporin, MOA lectin, or LPS alone. As shown in Figure 4.7 b,c using H & E and PAS staining, we observed diffuse glomerular capillary thrombosis involving 72 ± 14% of glomeruli in animals treated with LPS and the L-S conjugate, but no injury in the other groups (control groups that included LPS, MOA lectin, saporin, and saline) (Figure, 4.7 a , c). Glomerular capillaries stained for fibrin by immunohistochemistry, and fibrin clot was identified in glomerular capillary loops on transmission electron microscopy of LPS/L-S-treated mice (Figure 4.8 b, c). The glomerular ultrastructure revealed loss of fenestrated endothelium in the glomerular capillaries, but intact podocyte foot process distribution (Figure 4.8 b). No injury to the tubular epithelial cells was evident at this timepoint. The presence of intraluminal apoptotic cells was observed under the light microscope and by cleaved caspase-3 staining (Figure 4.9 a, b). In addition, the presence of schistocytes was evident in the L-S injured animals (Figure 4.9 c). The low concentration of LPS was included in with the L-S treatment to enhance the killing activity. LPS can stimulate immune cells, such as macrophages, to release tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) [366] that can provide an additional apoptotic signal, which can synergize with L-S to kill the glomerular endothelial cells. This data demonstrates that LPS/ L-S treatment induced rapid, selective injury of the glomerular endothelium resulting in thrombotic microangiopathy.

4.1.4 Functional Characterization of Kidney Injury

Mice were treated with LPS/L-S to characterize the functional consequence of the toxin-induced glomerular endothelial injury. We observed that animals did not tolerate treatment with L-S 500 µg/kg or higher doses, and morbid mice were euthanized before Day 4 (Figure 4.10). However, lower doses of LPS/L-S were tolerated, and tissues were examined in mice given L-S 200 µg/kg. Sublethal injury to the microvasculature was seen at Day 4 by loss of microvascular EC and regenerative changes evident in the glomerular endothelial and tubular epithelial cell compartments of the kidney. As shown in Figure 4.11, within the glomerulus we identified intralumenal apoptotic cells, frequently adherent to the capillary wall (Figure 4.11 a) and inside the tubules (Figure 4.11 b). We observed around 35 % of the glomeruli with signs of injury (figure 4.11 c) such as thrombosed capillary, apoptotic cells, and capillary loss. Mononuclear cells were more commonly seen in the glomerular capillaries of LPS/L-S treated mice, but were infrequent, and PMN were not seen. Immunostaining for EC was discontinuous in glomerular capillaries of mice treated with a sublethal dose of L-S (Figure 4.12 b). Fibrin deposition was evident around the margin of the glomerular capillary loops in immunofluorescence microscopy (Figure 4.13 b, c). Injury in the tubular cell compartment was prominent at Day 4 as a consequence of the disordered microcirculation in the sublethally injured animals (Figure 4.14 a). Similarly, KIM-1, a marker of tubular injury was elevated in both L-S treatment groups at Day 4 after injury. At Day 7 after L-S injury, pathologic features of tubular injury were resolving, and KIM-1 expression is normalized (Figure 4.14 b, c). This data indicates that sublethal doses of L-S induce microvascular endothelial loss that is followed by evidence of tubular epithelial injury and regeneration.

Repair of the injured vascular endothelium was evident on Day 7 in tissue sections of the sublethal L-S injured group, reflected by mitotic figures within the glomerular capillaries and in tubules (Figure 4.15). Tubular repair became evident at day 4 with signs of tubular regeneration (Figure 4.15 top panel). By day 7 post sublethal L-S treatment both GEC and tubular repair were also evident by the presence of intraluminal mitotic figures (Figure 4.15 lower left panel) and tubular regenerative changes including epithelial denudement and simplification, as well as enlarged tubular nuclei (Figure 4.15 lower right panel).

The abundance of constitutively expressed EC-specific transcripts, CD31, TIE2, and eNOS, in the kidney cortex was reduced ~40% in sublethal L-S-treated vs control mice at day 4 (Figure 4.16). However, CD31 and Tie 2 gene expression level was normalized by day 7 in the sublethal injured group, but eNOS mRNA expression remained relatively low at day 7. The podocyte-specific transcript nephrin was unchanged during the acute phase of injury between Day 0-4 in LPS/L-S-treated animals vs controls, but it was significantly up regulated by day 7 post injury (Figure 4.16).

We next assessed certain candidate growth factors that may play a role in tissue repair such as VEGFA, SDF1 α , and HGF [107, 205, 367] were down-regulated at the mRNA level in the high dose, lethally injured, group at day 4, whereas HGF receptor cMet expression did not change. In contrast, PDGFB and bFGF were up-regulated in the high dose group at day 4 (Figure 4.17). To characterize microvascular EC repair we evaluated expression of characteristic angiogenic tip genes Dll4 and apelin [195]. The mRNA expression level of both Dll4 and apelin was down-regulated in the injured animals with either low dose or high dose at day 4, but the expression level of both genes was normalized by day 7 in the low dose group. On the other hand, the tip cell marker endothelial-specific molecule 1 (ESM1) mRNA expression level did not change in either low dose or high dose groups (Figure 4.18).

4.1.5 Metabolomic Analysis

We characterized the metabolic consequences of selective glomerular EC injury using LC/MS/MS of serum sampled at baseline, Day 4, and Day 7 from animals subjected to L-S-mediated endothelial injury. A panel of metabolites was used to classify the animals in an unsupervised cluster analysis (Figure 4.19 a). The Day 4 samples demonstrated clear metabolic derangement elicited by low dose L-S treatment vs control animals, similar to lethal doses of L-S. In contrast, the Day 7 samples showed marked regression to the baseline metabolomic profile. Serum creatinine, as a measure of kidney function, was increased in the high L-S dose group, consistent with acute renal failure. The creatinine showed an intermediate rise at each timepoint in the low dose group, indicating normalization of impaired renal function was not complete by Day 7 (Figure 4.19 b). In addition, the presence of proteinuria was evident in the low dose group as compared to control (Figure 4.19 c).

Nitric oxide (NO) generated by the endothelium is a critical physiologic regulator of vascular tone that is impaired in vascular disease, and is an important mediator of angiogenesis. Metabolic derangement in the NO synthesis pathway is identified by MetaboAnalyst software [368] in mice following glomerular EC injury (Figure 4.20). We observed a decrease in the NOS3 substrate, L-arginine, and an increase in the NOS3 antagonist, asymmetric dimethyl L-arginine (ADMA), in the serum of LPS/L-S-treated mice. Further, citrulline, the metabolic byproduct of NO synthesis by NOS3, was reduced in acutely injured mice. These findings suggest marked impairment of endothelial-dependent vascular regulation occur after glomerular endothelial injury. The abnormalities resolved in the Day 7 samples harvested from sublethal LPS/L-S-treated mice, consistent with vascular repair. In contrast, a metabolic marker for oxidative stress, Met-SO, was not increased after L-S treatment.

The metabolomic study of injured and control mice sera resulted in the identification of 142 metabolites with the majority belonging to lipids (Table 4.1). The analysis of the compounds that positively correlated with serum creatinine, as a marker of renal insufficiency, are shown in Figure 4.21. Those metabolites include many glycerophospholipid molecules, ADMA and some amino acids. The concentration of many lipid molecules was increased in injured mice with high dose L-S treatment and a modest increase in the low dose treatment group as compared to control mice (Figure 4.22).

4.1.6 Discordant Transplantation

Finally, we investigated discordant transplantation in order to compare the nature of the injury caused by anti-endothelial antibodies with our lectin-saporin injury model. We transplanted guinea pig kidneys and hearts into Lewis rats, and then collected the transplanted organs at 5 and 15 min. The transplanted guinea pig hearts ceased beating completely 15 min after transplantation. The guinea pig hearts and kidneys were perfused with the rat blood for 15 min, enhanced by visible platelet clots in capillary lumens when examined by electron microscopy (Figure 4.23).

4.2 Discussion

Endothelial injury of the kidney glomerular microvasculature is a key feature of diverse diseases resulting in thrombotic microangiopathy. The consequences of these disorders on organ function represent a considerable health burden to affected individuals. In particular, Stxmediated GEC injury in epidemic toxigenic *E. coli* infections contributes to morbidity and mortality of both affected children and adults [338, 339]. Moreover, among transplant recipients, cell-mediated allo-immune responses, and the more recently recognized antibody-mediated rejection target the EC in kidney allografts [350]. Although low-grade injury is tolerated for a time, the cumulative burden of damage to the microvasculature ultimately limits kidney allograft survival [364, 365, 369, 370]. Animal models of this disease are needed to develop an understanding of the consequences of injury and importantly, the key repair mechanisms that might be exploited to minimize organ damage or prolong graft survival.

We describe a new model of temporally coordinated glomerular EC damage in the mouse, and characterize the immediate consequences of glomerular microvascular compromise on the kidney. With massive injury, widespread thrombosis of the glomerular capillaries is seen, followed by features of tubular injury and functional compromise of the kidney precipitating death in a few days. These features emulate the early phase of microvascular injury observed in clinical specimens with Stx-or alloantibody-mediated damage [350, 351, 353, 361, 371-373]. More limited endothelial injury, on the other hand, provokes moderate functional compromise associated with features of repair in the vascular and tubular cell compartments. We describe disturbance in the metabolome following

102

the glomerular microvascular endothelial injury that progressively normalizes in association with repair.

Other approaches to model thrombotic microangiopathy in the mouse have been developed. Mutations in complement regulatory proteins [374], or vascular endothelial growth factor [375] elicit chronic progressive microvascular thrombosis and ultimately death. Administration of Shiga-like toxins causes acute kidney injury in the mouse [345, 376], but appear to directly damage kidney tubular epithelial cells [346, 347]. Several lectins have been identified that broadly label the endothelial glycocalyx in rodents after intravenous injection [5, 377]. Concanavalin A, for example, binds endothelium from diverse microvascular beds in rodents, but selective injection into a renal artery followed by anticoncanavalin A antibody induces widespread microvascular injury associated with inflammatory changes in the glomerulus and peritubular capillaries [378]. In a model of allo-immune EC injury, adoptive transfer of high-titer antibody from CCR5-deficient mice sensitized to donor alloantigen has been shown to elicit microvascular complement deposition and heart allograft rejection in B-cell-deficient recipient mice [379]. These valuable models support investigations of the role of complement, alloantibody, and innate immune cell actions on endothelium, but often induce asynchronous endothelial injury. Deficient expression of one or more components of the complement system in many inbred laboratory mouse strains may confound these approaches [380]. The current model

has the strength of widespread, synchronized, and selective GEC injury resulting in TMA and compromised kidney function.

The MOA lectin has been characterized to specifically bind to the Gal- α (1,3) Gal epitope on glycoproteins expressed on the glycocalyx of glomerular endothelium [381]. In previous work, injection of the MOA lectin alone at high doses was reported to elicit proteinuria, but not features of diffuse TMA [381]. In contrast to this previous report, we observed the lectin binding to the heart microvascular EC after iv injection, but selective kidney injury could be achieved by systemic intraarterial injection. Injury of the heart microvasculature is under study to model the effects of microvascular injury and repair in that organ.

Injury of the glomerular endothelium was evident in both the high dose and low dose L-S treatment groups. We observed focal loss of the glomerular endothelium and EC injury reflected by loss of fenestration on transmission electron microscopy, in homogeneous glomerular EC immunostaining, and focal fibrin deposition in glomerular capillaries after L-S treatment. This morphological data is supported by decreased transcripts of the characteristic constitutively- expressed endothelial genes CD31, TIE2, and NOS3, but EC remain able to increase PDGFB and bFGF expressions as a stress response. In contrast, injury to the podocyte and tubular cell compartment is evident later. Taken together this data establishes primary GEC injury induced by L-S treatment, resulting in features of TMA.

104

Structural damage to the glomerular microvasculature is accompanied by impairment of kidney function. The serum creatinine is found to be elevated early after L-S treatment in both treatment groups indicating impaired glomerular filtration rate. Similarly we identify widespread changes in the metabolome after glomerular EC damage. Although precipitated by glomerular TMA, these effects are likely to reflect changes in kidney function.

Strikingly, we found evidence for profound metabolic disturbance of eNOS activity, occurring within hours of glomerular microvascular damage. First, we observe markedly reduced plasma concentrations of the eNOS substrate, L-arginine. Second, the endogenous eNOS inhibitor, asymmetric dimethyl-arginine, is increased in the systemic circulation early after injury. Third, eNOS within the kidney is reduced in keeping with the other endothelial markers in renal cortical mRNAs, but unlike CD31 and TIE2, eNOS does not recover by Day 7. In line with this observation, the by-product of NO production, citrulline, is reduced.

Endothelial NO production plays a central role in defending the vasculature against injury. Renal disease has been associated with dysfunction of endothelial NO production [382], while deficient eNOS activity strongly potentiates renal injury [383-386]. For example, the effect of ischemia reperfusion-induced oxidative stress on tissue is exacerbated by eNOS deficiency [387, 388]. Loss of endothelial nitric oxide synthase

105

expression and NO production is linked to human chronic allograft microvascular injury in the kidney glomerulus and heart [389, 390].

Interestingly, we did not observe evidence for oxidative stress that could transform NO to noxious reactive intermediates. Taken together, our data suggests an early reduction in eNOS activity within the kidney and more broadly within the vasculature occurring after selective damage to the kidney endothelium. Further, it suggests a deleterious positive feedback loop to promote renal injury may be at play.

Metabolomic analysis identified an array of glycerophospholipid molecules that correlated positively with creatinine. Given that creatinine is a marker of kidney injury, disturbed phospholipid profile may be a marker of kidney failure or vascular injury. This needs to be verified further. Interestingly, the excretion of phospholipids in the urine was previously shown to be a sensitive marker of renal injury, where the excretion of phospholipids significantly increased in contrast to other molecules such as proteins, acetyl-beta-glucosaminidase (NAG), and neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) [391]. It is also suggested that kidney injury alter arachidonic acid metabolites may and glycerophospholipids species were present in injured rat kidney samples [392].

In summary, we describe a mouse model of selective glomerular endothelial cell injury that elicits the pathological features of TMA similar to those seen in Stx-mediated acute kidney injury, and acute and chronic allograft rejection. Endothelial injury is associated with kidney dysfunction and pronounced metabolic changes. These include dysregulation of NO production during the injury and early repair phase that may blunt reendothelialization of the microvasculature.



Figure 4.1: MOA lectin binding to MCEC and conjugation of MOA lectin and saporin. The binding characteristics of MOA lectin to hEPC and to MCEC were determined by flow cytometery using Biotinylated MOA lectin and an Alexa 647 conjugated streptavidin, where it shows that MOA lectin does not bind human cells (a). The conjugation of MOA lectin with saporin was achieved using the Sulfo-LC-SPDP crosslinker. The L-S conjugate is detected by SDS-PAGE and Western blot using anti-saporin antibody (saporin 30 kDa, MOA lectin 30 kDa, and L-S conjugate 60 kDa) of FPLC fractions of Superdex 75 size exclusion column (lane 1 unfractionated lectin saporin conjugate, 2-3 empty, 4-12 selected FPLC fractions) (b).



Figure 4.2: Killing activity of L-S conjugate as determined by MTT assay. Dose-dependent response of pooled L-S (a) and dose-dependent inhibition of L-S activity by the carbohydrate epitope Gala(1,3)Gal (b). MCEC cells were seeded in a 96-well tissue culture plate and treated with various concentrations of L-S conjugate, medium, 20ng/mL TNF α + 3 µg/mL cycloheximide, 20 µg/mL pure lectin, 20 µg/ mL saporin, or PBS and incubated overnight at 37°C and 5 % CO2. The next day the cells were washed and incubated with MTT for 4 h and the formazan products were solubilized with DMSO and the plate was read at 570 nm. Each bar represents mean ± SEM; n = 3 independent experiments; p<0.05 vs medium control one-way ANOVA.



Figure 4.3: L-S induces cell death of MCEC by apoptosis as determined by cleaved caspase 3 detection. MCEC were cultured in 35 mm tissue culture dishes and treated with 20 ng/mL TNF α + 3 µg/mL cycloheximide, 20 µg/mL lectin-saporin conjugate for 6 hours or left in untreated. FITClabeled Cleaved caspase 3 was added to the cells and incubated for 1 hour. The cells were analyzed by flow cytometer. (a) Shows the percentage of cells that expressed cleaved caspase 3. (b) A representative overlay of the flow cytometer results demonstrating the shift of fluorescence in the cells that expressed cleaved caspase 3. The cleaved caspase 3 activity was detected by immunofluorescence (c) shows a representative image from medium control cells with DAPI (blue) nuclei staining and no signal for cleaved caspase 3, whereas (d) shows a representative image from MCEC cells treated with 20 µg/mL L-S conjugate (green: cleaved caspase 3). Each bar represents mean ± SEM; n = 3 independent experiments; p < 0.05 vs medium control one-way ANOVA.



Figure 4.4: MOA lectin binding characteristics after intravenous delivery. Biotinylated MOA lectin (10 mg/mouse) was delivered via tail vein injection of C57Bl/6 mice. The animals were euthanized after 3 hours and various tissues were removed and placed in OCT. Five μ m tissue sections were stained with Alexa 647 conjugated streptavidin. Shown are representative images from heart, liver, skeletal muscle, lung, brain, and kidney sections showing specific binding of MOA lectin to heart microvasculature. n=5.



Figure 4.5: The development of the intra-carotid artery surgical procedure. The left carotid artery was cannulated to bypass the heart microcirculation and the lectin was injected through the carotid artery and down the descending aortic arch (a). (b) A representative image of a mouse with cannulated carotid artery.



Figure 4.6: MOA lectin binding after intra-carotid artery delivery. Biotinylated MOA lectin (10 mg/mouse) was injected down the carotid artery and the mice were euthanized after 3 hours and various tissues were removed and placed in OCT. Five µm tissue section were stained with Alexa 647 conjugated streptavidin. As shown in (a) the heart tissue section reveals the lack of biotinylated MOA lectin to the heart blood vessels where the presence of such vessels is demonstrated by the endothelial marker CD31. (b) Shows the binding of the lectin to kidney capillary walls and verified by the overlapping signals from MOA lectin and CD31. (c) Demonstrates the specific binding of MOA lectin to glomerular endothelial cells as the podocytes marker podocin signal does not overlap with MOA lectin signal.



Figure 4.7: Glomerular thrombotic microangiopathy after L-S/LPS treatment. Kidneys were harvested 12h after saline (a, c) or LS (500 μ g/kg + 50 μ g/kg LPS) (b, d). Hematoxylin & eosin (a, b), and periodic acid-Schiff (c, d) stains reveal widespread amorphous eosinophilic glomerular capillary thrombi (b, d), whereas red blood cells are seen in patent capillaries in (a, c).



Figure 4.8: Transmission electron microscopy shows focal loss of glomerular endothelium (b), and capillary thrombosis (b, d), but preserved podocyte foot processes similar to the control (a, c). Magnification of (a, b) is 34K, whereas (c, d) are at 4.3K. (bm: basement membrane, GEC: glomerular endothelial cell, F: fibrin, FP: podocyte foot processes, RBC: red blood cell).



Figure 4.9: L-S conjugate induces cell death by apoptosis *in vivo*. (a) A representative glomerulus with positive cleaved caspase-3 staining (arrow), x1000 original magnification, and (b) quantitation of the average apoptotic cell/glomerulus. (c) A representative image of a blood smear indicating the presence of schistocytes (arrows), x400 original magnification. Each bar represents mean ± SEM; n ≥ 5, p < 0.05 vs saline control, Mann-Whitney *U* test.



Figure 4.10: Dose-response effect of LS/LPS treatment in mice. Kaplan-Meier survival graph of animals treated with 500 μ g/kg, or 200 μ g/kg LS, and control (includes: LPS, saporin, MOA lectin, and saline) (n ≥ 5 / group, p < 0.0001 Log-rank test).



Figure 4.11: Glomerular microvascular injury after sublethal L-S treatment. Mice were treated with 200 μ g/kg L-S/LPS via intra-carotid injection and were euthanized after 4 days. Kidney sections were stained with periodic acid-Schiff and apoptotic cells are seen in the glomerular capillaries (a) and tubules (b), x1000 original magnification. Injury in glomeruli (thrombosed capillaries, apoptotic cells, capillary loss) was quantitated in 30 consecutive glomeruli. Each bar represents mean ± SEM, n ≥ 5, p < 0.05 vs control, Mann-Whitney *U* test.



Figure 4.12: Glomerular and peritubular capillaries injury after sublethal LS treatment. Kidney sections from control (a) and mice treated with 200 μ g/kg L-S (b) were stained with the endothelial cells specific tomato lectin (*L. esculentum*), x400 original magnification. The arrows indicate the location of the glomeruli. There is a noticeable decrease of the lectin staining in the injured mouse (b) as compared to control (a) indicating the loss of endothelial cells. (n = 5).



Figure 4.13: Fibrin is still present in the glomeruli of sublethally injured mice after 4 days. Direct immunofluorescence shows fibrin deposition in glomeruli (arrows) in injured mice (b) as compared to control (a), x400 original magnification. (c) Shows the quantitation of glomerular fibrin as measured by the mean integrated density of the fluorescence using Image J. Thirty glomeruli were analyzed and each bar represents mean ± SEM, n \geq 5, p < 0.05 vs saline control, one-way ANOVA.



Figure 4.14: Tubular epithelial cell damage occurs after glomerular endothelial injury. Tubular epithelial cell effacement and regeneration is evident at day 4 after L-S/LPS treatment (left panel PAS x400 original magnification). Features of tubular injury and repair are quantitated in (upper right panel) as described in Methods. Expression of the tubular epithelial cell stress gene KIM-1 is quantitated by qRT-PCR in (lower right panel). (n ≥ 5 mice / group; *-p < 0.05 vs 200 µg/kg L-S/LPS D4 group; **-p < 0.05 vs. saline group). ATN: acute tubular necrosis; KIM-1: kidney injury molecule-1.

200 µg/Kg d4



200 µg/Kg d7

200 µg/Kg d7



Figure 4.15: Evidence of glomerular and tubular injury and repair after sublethal dose of L-S. Left panel: A tubular cell undergoing mitosis (arrow, top panel), consistent with regenerative activity after injury, PAS, x1000 original magnification. Lower left panel: endothelial mitotic figure (inset). A tubular cell shows features of apoptosis (arrow), PAS, x1000 original magnification. Lower right panel: multiple tubular profiles show features of acute injury, including epithelial denudement and simplification. Enlarged tubular nuclei are consistent with a regenerative change (arrow), hematoxylin-eosin x 1000 original magnification.



Figure 4.16: Endothelial gene expression after L-S injury. Mice were treated with saline or L-S/LPS to induce glomerular EC damage, then kidney cortex mRNA was isolated at day 4 or day 7 after injury. Constitutively expressed endothelial genes CD31, TIE2, and eNOS or the podocyte-specific gene nephrin were assessed by qRT-PCR as described in Methods ($n \ge 5$ mice / group; * -p < 0.05 vs saline control one-way ANOVA).



Figure 4.17: Growth factor gene expression after L-S injury. Mice were treated with saline or L-S/LPS to induce glomerular EC damage, then kidney cortex mRNA was isolated at day 4 or day 7 after injury. VEGFA, PDGFB, SDF1a, bFGF, HGF, and cMet were assessed by qRT-PCR ($n \ge 5$ mice / group; * -p < 0.05 vs saline control one-way ANOVA).


Figure 4.18: Tip cells marker gene expression after L-S/LPS injury. Mice were treated with saline or L-S/LPS to induce glomerular EC damage, then kidney cortex mRNA was isolated at day 4 or day 7 after injury. DLL4, Apelin, and ESM1 were assessed by qRT-PCR ($n \ge 5$ mice / group; * -p < 0.05 vs control, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 4.19: Metabolic derangement after glomerular endothelial injury. (A) Unsupervised cluster analysis of sera from mice treated with 500 μ g/kg L-S/LPS (High Dose, HD), or 200 μ g/kg L-S/LPS (Low Dose, LD) harvested at 12 hours, 4 days, or 7 days after L-S challenge using the Metaboanalyst software and Pearson statistical analysis and Ward clustering algorithm. Mice treated with saline, MOA lectin, or saporin alone are grouped together as controls. The panel of metabolites was analyzed by LC/MS/MS as described in Methods. (B) Kidney function is impaired in L-S-treated mice. Serum creatinine was assayed by LC/MS/MS and urine total protein was determined by pyrogallol red-molybdate method (c). (n \ge 5 mice / group; * -p < 0.05 vs saline control, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 4.20: Derangement in the nitric oxide metabolic pathway after glomerular endothelial injury. Sera from mice treated with 500 μ g/kg or 200 μ g/kg L-S/LPS were assayed by LC/MS/MS for the endogenous eNOS inhibitor, asymmetric dimethyl L-arginine (ADMA), the eNOS substrate, L-arginine, or the by-product of NO generation, L-citrulline, and the oxidative stress marker Met-SO. n ≥ 5 mice / group; ADMA differed in both high dose and low dose vs saline control, L-arginine differed between high dose and saline control; L-citrulline differed between high dose and saline control, Met-SO was not different, p < 0.01 two-way ANOVA.

 Table 4.1: A list of the metabolites identified in the sera samples from control and injured mice

Metabolites	Detected
Glycerophospholipids	82
Aminoacids	20
Acylcarnitines	15
Sphingolipids	14
Biogenic amines	9
Hexose	1



Top 25 compounds that correlate positively with creatinine

Figure 4.21: List of the top 25 metabolites that correlated positively with creatinine. The metabolites were analyzed using Metaboanalyst software and Spearman rank correlation statistical analysis.



Figure 4.22: The concentration of phospholipids in the injured animals. Glycerophospholipids concentration was determined by liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry LC/MS/MS. $n \ge 5$ mice/ group, p < 0.001 vs saline control, two-way ANOVA.



Figure 4.23: Electron microscope images from discordant transplantation. Guinea pig kidneys were transplanted into Lewis rats for 15 minutes. (A) Shows a platelet clot (large arrows), and (B) shows accumulation of unidentified vesicles in the capillary lumen (small arrow), x2000 original magnification.

CHAPTER V

ISOLATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF HUMAN CD34+ DERIVED ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELLS

5.0 INTRODUCTION

Early reports of endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) challenged the existing dogma that vasculogenesis process does not occur postnatally. However, many studies, mainly in mouse models have demonstrated that bone marrow- derived cells are incorporated into the blood vessels during wound healing, re-endothelization of denuded vessels, and restored blood flow in ischemic hindlimbs and in cardiac muscle [393-396].

EPC were first described by Asahara et al. [8] in 1997 and since then, interest in primitive endothelial lineage cell populations has exploded. With this came the controversy and the bewilderment, as the literature is flooded by reports on the isolation methods of various cell types collectively called EPC. Yet there is no one uniform definition or consensus on a surface marker to positively identify this cell population with some degree of certainty. However, out of the three reported methods: colony-forming unit (CFU)-Hill [397], circulating angiogenic cells (CAC) [121], and endothelial colony forming cells (ECFC) [333], only the latter yield cells that are currently considered genuine endothelial progenitor cells [17]. In this chapter, I report the isolation and characterization of EPC generated from CD34+ cells derived from peripheral blood of healthy volunteers and/or from G-CSF-mobilized leukapheresis blood obtained from the blood bank, using the ECFC method.

5.1 RESULTS

5.1.1 EPC Isolation by ECFC Method

The isolation of human EPC was carried out using the endothelial cells colony-forming method since it is the method that has been demonstrated to yield EPC that express all endothelial markers, none of the leukocytes markers, and demonstrate the ability to stably incorporate into the vasculature [17]. The mononuclear layer was isolated from peripheral blood from healthy volunteers ranged in age from 23 - 50 years old or from leukapheresis blood obtained from the blood bank and processed as described in (Chapter 3, section 3.2) and summarized in Figure 5.1. The colonies generally appeared in culture after three weeks of incubation with only one exception. A colony appeared after one week in culture, and incidentally, this colony derived from the blood of a 23-yearold donor whose cells produced 3 EPC clones. When a colony appeared in culture it was transferred to a 6-well fibronectin-coated tissue culture dish until the cells became confluent. Thereafter the cells were transferred to a T-25 tissue culture flask, which at this stage the cells were highly proliferative (Figure 5.2). In general, peripheral blood cells produced on

average one EPC clone per 120 mL of peripheral blood (Table 5.1). Out of the twelve individual clones four colonies were passaged 12 times, 3 of them were derived from a young male, and one clone was derived from a 40-year old man. The clones derived from female donors (2) and the older male donors (2) were not subcultured beyond passage 4. The remaining 4 EPC clones were passaged 8 times. Interestingly, freezing down individual clones in liquid nitrogen caused the cells to lose their high proliferative ability and were only passaged once after being thawed.

Alternatively, we opted to generate EPC from leukapheresis product because we were able to obtain considerably more EPC clones. On average we obtained 80 clones from ~ 80 mL of leukapheresis product. Interestingly, the overall percentage of clones derived from CD34+ cells isolated from leukapheresis product was identical to that generated from peripheral blood ~ 0.0002 % or one in 510⁵ (Table 5.1).

5.1.2 Characterization of EPC Clones

In the absence of a specific marker to positively identify EPC a number of different tests are considered as standard identification procedure, including uptake of acetylated low-density lipoprotein (Ac-LDL) and *Ulex europeaus* agglutinin binding, expression of endothelial markers, and the lack of expression of leukocytes markers.

The EPC clones that we obtained in the lab were rigorously subjected to the identification tests to ensure that clones were of endothelial lineage. Endothelial cells, among other cell types, are known for their ability to take-up fluorescently labeled Ac-LDL (red) and the binding of *U. europeaus* lectin (green) as shown in Figure 5.3.

The EPC clones were evaluated for the expression of endothelialspecific genes by real time PCR and compared to the mature endothelial cell line of HUVEC. As Figure 5.4 demonstrates EPC express all of the endothelial markers similar to HUVEC albeit at a slightly lower levels particularly the two genes, endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS, NOS3) and von Willebrand factor (vWF). It appears that EPC like HUVEC do not express the pluripotent stem cells marker CD133, and maintained expression of CD34. The gene expression levels of EPC and HUVEC were calibrated against CD34+ cells.

Moreover, the real time PCR evaluation of mRNA expression was validated by flow cytometery and by Western blotting. The EPC clones expressed endothelial cells markers such as CD31, kinase-insert domain receptor (KDR, CD309), vascular-endothelial cadherin (VE cad, CD144), eNOS, and vWF, as demonstrated by flow cytometer analysis (Figure 5.5 a), or by Western blot (Figure 5.5 b). Interestingly, the protein expression levels of eNOS and vWF in EPC were comparable to that observed in HUVEC.

To ensure EPC clones do not express the pan leukocyte marker CD45, which is reported to be expressed on EPC isolated by CFU-Hill method. We isolated human macrophages from peripheral blood of healthy volunteers and assessed the expression CD45 and the macrophage marker CD14 by real time PCR. HUVEC were used as a negative control (Figure 5.6). The results demonstrated the lack of CD45 and CD14 expression in the EPC clones as well as in HUVEC further supporting the endothelial lineage of our EPC.

We assessed the production of nitric oxide (NO) and interleukin-8 (IL-8) to address the functional characteristics of the EPC clones. The nitric oxide assay was based on the membrane permeable compound 4,5-diaminofluorescein-2 diacetate (DAF-2 DA) that is cleaved inside the cell and become fluorescent when it interacts with NO. As Figure 5.7 shows a significant increase of intracellular NO production in response to 20 ng/mL VEGF in both EPC and HUVEC as compared to cells cultured in the absence of VEGF. The VEGF-stimulated DAF-2 fluorescence was blocked in the presence of the nitric oxide inhibitor L-NAME.

Endothelial cells are major producers of interleukin-8 where it is stored in the Weibel-Palade bodies and secreted upon a pro-inflammatory stimulus such as TNF- α [398]. IL-8 production in EPC clones was assessed using a commercially available ELISA kit. As Figure 5.8 shows a significant IL-8 increase after 50 ng/mL TNF- α treatment in both EPC and HUVEC as compared to medium control treated cells.

5.1.3 EPC Clones Lineage Commitment

The term "progenitor" indicates that the cells have differentiated along a certain lineage, to the extent that they are committed to become a mature cell of a particular cell type. However, it has been reported that progenitor/stem cells in many instances maldifferentiate when transplanted in vivo [399, 400]. We sought to investigate the potential of EPC clones to differentiate into another cell type under in vitro conditions. We cultured EPC in media that are formulated to support the growth of cells other than endothelial cells such as, chondrocytes, adipocytes, and macrophages under conditions reported to support pluripotent stem cells differentiation. Initially, the EPC were cultured in the presence of complete endothelial medium (EBM2) until they reached confluency, thereafter the cells were washed with PBS and one specific growth medium was added into a separate EPC dish. Very early in culture it became evident that chondrocyte and adipocyte media do not support the growth or survival of EPC, as by day 3 there were many floating cells. Virtually half of the cells died out by day seven and almost all the cells were dead by day 14 as demonstrated by MTT cell viability assay shown in Figure 5.9, whereas Figure 5.10 shows representative images of cells in different culture media at day 7. The macrophage medium supported the EPC survival better than chondrogenic and adipogenic media with noticeable decrease in cell density observed by day 14. By day 28 almost all the cells were gone in sharp contrast to the EPC grown in EBM2 where the cells survived in the same culture dishes until the experiment was terminated 28 days later. However in prolonged culture a fraction of EPC cells cultured in EBM2 expanded in size suggesting senescence.

Since EPC survived over two weeks in macrophage medium, we examined whether those cells gained macrophage specific markers such CD14, CD45, and MCSFR. Quantitative PCR was performed using cDNA generated from RNA extracted from day 14 cells. Figure 5.11 shows EPC grown in macrophage medium did not gain expression of any macrophage specific genes as compared to EPC grown in EBM2 and to macrophages grown in their own medium. However, EPC in macrophage medium showed reduction in mRNA expression of vWF and endothelin 1 when cultured in macrophage medium.

5.1.4 Investigation of Endothelial to Mesenchymal Transition

Endothelial to mesenchymal transition (EndMT) is an important embryonic developmental process by which the endothelial cells respond to signals from the underlying myocardium to transition into mesenchymal cells that ultimately form the atrioventicular cushion, the septa, and the primodia of the valves of the adult heart [401]. Recent evidence attributed cardiac fibrosis in adult tissue to the EndMT process in response to signals from TGF- β 1, whereas BMP7 had a protective effect preserving the endothelial phenotype [402]. The EPC clones are intended for *in vivo* studies, and a change of endothelial phenotype into fibroblast would be detrimental for investigation of vascular repair by EPC. We sought to examine the effect of TGF β isoforms β 1, and β 2 on the lineage commitment of the EPC clones.

EPC clones were cultured in complete EBM2 and/or in EBM2 minus the growth factors VEGF and bFGF in the presence of 2 ng/mL of either TGF β 1 or TGF β 2 for one week at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. Cell lysates and total RNA were collected from the EPCs cultured in the presence of TGF β isoforms 1 and 2 or grown in complete EBM2. The EPC maintained expression of the endothelial-specific genes such as CD144, CD31, KDR, and vWF as demonstrated by real time PCR, and flow cytometery shown in Figure 5.12 (a & c). In addition, there was low expression of α -smooth muscle actin in EPC at mRNA and protein levels Figure 5.12 (a & b). However, the TGF β treatment did not result in EPC gaining the fibroblast marker FSP1 as both real time PCR and Western blot results were negative. FSP1 was highly expressed in the human fibroblast cell line HFF1 as shown in Figure 5.12 (a & b).

To ensure the TGF β isoforms were functional, we probed for phospho-Smad-3 (p-Smad3) a signaling molecule activated by TGF β s binding to their receptors. As shown in Figure 5.13 (b) phosphorylated Smad-3 was detected in the TGF β isoforms 1 & 2 -treated EPC but not in the control cells (starved EPC in incomplete EBM2 + 2% FBS). Total Smad-3 was detected in all cell lysates and tubulin expression was used as a loading control. In addition, we assessed the expression of TGF β receptors ALK1, TGF β rII, ALK5 (TGF β rI), and endoglin (Figure 5.13 a) to ensure that EPC express the receptors and can propagate TGF β isoforms signaling.

5.2 DISCUSSION

EPC are considered to derive from multipotent stem cells called hemangioblast and are generally identified by the expression of CD34, VEGFR2, and CD133 on their surface [403]. The hemangioblasts give rise multipotent hematopoietic stem cells and to angioblasts that to differentiate into all blood cells and into endothelial cells respectively [404]. Endothelial progenitor cells are bone marrow derived cells that were first isolated from peripheral blood from CD34+ pool of cells [8]. Many studies later isolated putative EPC cells based on the expression of various extracellular markers. One specific subset of mononuclear cells expressing CD34+VEGFR-2+CD133+ was widely accepted as "true" EPCs however later studies demonstrated that this specific subset represent a population of CD45+ hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPC) that did not form endothelial cells in vitro [405]. A subset of HPC cells CD34+CD45+ did not differentiate into endothelial cells in vitro whereas another subset of HPCs cells CD34+CD45- formed EPC demonstrating that EPCs can be separated from HPCs. Thus not all EPC preparations yield pure population and may be contaminated with HPC, hence a

validation process of the putative EPC is required when performing endothelial differentiation studies [18, 405].

There are large numbers of measures that can be used to isolate and quantify EPC. One approach deals with adhesion and growth *in vitro*. and the second approach relies on cell selection based on surface markers by flow cytometery with the aid of fluorescently labeled antibodies [17]. In the absence of a specific marker unique to EPC, many tests are required to positively identify putative EPC that can differentiate into mature endothelial cells. Some of the tests performed include cobblestone morphology in 2-dimensional culture, the uptake of Dil-Ac-LDL, the binding of Ulex europaeus agglutinin, in vitro tube formation assay, and the expression of endothelial specific markers such as KDR, CD31, eNOS, vWF, and CD144 [17]. It is important to note that isolation of EPC based on the expression of endothelial markers alone is inadequate as macrophages cultured in endothelial medium supplemented with fetal calf serum may express the endothelial specific proteins [406, 407]. Additionally, EPC are assayed for nitric oxide (NO) and interleukin-8 (IL-8) production to confirm the endothelial lineage and functionality of EPC in vitro [17, 408].

It has been suggested that EPC may only give rise to endothelial cells in the presence of exact combination of growth factors [18]. Therefore, we sought to analyze EPC lineage commitment in the presence of different growth factors that favour the growth of other cell types to

provide us with an indication of how the EPC may perform when transplanted *in vivo*. Our results suggest that late outgrowth EPC are capable of surviving for extended time in the absence of the endothelial specific growth factors *in vitro* (two weeks in macrophage medium without loss of endothelial markers). In addition, treatment with TGF β did not transition EPC into fibroblast phenotype. Taken together, our results suggest that EPC isolated by ECFC method are committed to the endothelial lineage *in vitro*. Nevertheless, we have not been able to systematically verify lineage commitment *in vivo* (see chapter VII on hEPC transplantation).

In this chapter, I studied the characteristics of EPC expanded in vitro. I routinely isolated EPCs from peripheral and leukapheresis blood and systematically characterized the cells for expression of endothelial markers at the mRNA and protein levels. I have performed the battery of tests to positively identify our EPC clones *in vitro*. The CD34+CD45- cells differentiated into late outgrowth EPC clones, had the cobblestone morphology, the high proliferative capacity, expressed all the endothelial markers and had the functional characteristics of mature endothelial cells. Functionally, EPC produced NO and IL-8, formed tube-like structures in 2-D and 3-D gels. In addition, the data show that late outgrowth EPC are committed to endothelial lineage *in vitro*, which make them a suitable EPC population to study *in vivo* for vascular repair in an appropriate animal model.



Figure 5.1: Flow chart demonstrating the strategy applied to isolate human EPC from peripheral blood.

Table 5.1: Comparison between peripheral and leukapheresis blood forgeneration of EPC clones.

Peripheral B	llood						
# of donors	Avg blood volume (mL)	Avg # of colonies	Max Col/dnr	Min col/dnr	Avg total MNC	Avg CD34+	% EPC clones from CD34+
18	100	1	3	0	1.67 x 10^8	4.9 x 10^5	0.0002
Leukaphere	sis Blood (avera	iges are from	each bag of b	lood)	,		
3	83	80	98	58	3.15 x 10^9	4.85 x 10^7	0.0002



Figure 5.2: Representative images of EPC clones. Colonies generally appear in culture approximately three weeks after plating. On average one or two clones of EPC are generated from 120 mL of blood. The individual colonies are expanded to $\sim 2.10^6$ cells by day 40 of culture, at which time the EPC are highly proliferative and are passaged a further 8-12 times before they reach the senescence stage, x100 original magnification.



Figure 5.3: Uptake of Dil-Ac-LDL and Ulex binding. Representative images of the uptake of acetylated low-density lipoprotein (Dil-Ac-LDL) (red) and the binding of *Ulex europeaus* lectin (green) are characteristic features of endothelial cells. The images are representatives of six independently isolated clones, x400 original magnification.



Figure 5.4: mRNA expression levels of endothelial genes. The expression levels of endothelial specific genes: CD31, KDR, CD144, eNOS, and vWF, and that of stem cells markers: CD34, and CD133 as determined by real time PCR. The data were calibrated against the expression levels of CD34+ cells. The bars represent the mean \pm SEM of three independently isolated clones (n = 3, p = ns).



Figure 5.5: The expression of endothelial markers as determined by flow cytometer and by Western blot. The expression of CD31, VE cadherin and VEGFR2 in EPC clones was evaluated by flow cytometery (A). The EPC were labeled with antigen specific antibodies that are fluorescently tagged. The peaks represent the expression level of the cell surface marker (solid line) and compared to isotype control (dashed line). (B) shows a representative Western blot of von Willebrand factor (vWF) and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) demonstrating the expression of endothelial markers in EPC as compared to that in HUVEC. The flow cytometer and the Western blot were performed at least on three different EPC clones.



Figure 5.6: Lack of expression of macrophage markers in EPC. The mRNA expression levels of macrophage specific gene CD14 and the pan leukocyte marker CD45 in EPC and HUVEC were evaluated by real time PCR and demonstrate the lack of expression of macrophage markers in endothelial cells. The bars represent the mean \pm SEM of three independent EPC clones (p < 0.05 vs macrophages one-way ANOVA).



Figure 5.7: The production of nitric oxide (NO) by hEPC and HUVEC. NO was evaluated using the nitric oxide method based on diaminofluroscein-2 compound. The NO activity increased after treatment with VEGF (20 ng/mL) as compared to cells in medium control. The VEGF-mediated increase of NO was inhibited by NO-specific inhibitor L-NAME (1 mM). The bars represents the mean \pm SEM of three independently isolated clones. p < 0.05 as determined by one-way ANOVA and compared to medium control. VEGF+ LNAME treatment was not statistically significant when compared to medium control.



Figure 5.8: Interleukin-8 (IL-8) production by EPC and HUVEC. IL-8 release was evaluated using the Ready-Set-Go IL-8 ELISA kit. IL-8 production by EPC was comparable to that of HUVEC at basal conditions. Similarly, the treatment with the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF α (50 ng/mL) overnight significantly increased IL-8 levels as compared to medium control. However, there was no difference in IL-8 production between EPC and HUVEC in response to TNF α treatment. The bars represent the mean ± SEM of three independently isolated clones. p < 0.05 as determined by one-way ANOVA and compared to medium control.



Figure 5.9: Cell viability of EPC in various culture conditions. EPC were in culture media that support the growth of different types of cells and followed for viability over 28 days by MTT assay. EPC grown in endothelial basal medium (EBM2) survived best over the course of experiment without noticeable cell death until day 28 and by that time many senescent cells appeared in the tissue culture dishes. EPC cultured in macrophage supporting medium survived well for almost a week thereafter there were very noticeable cell death that almost all cells disappeared by day 28. Adipogenic and chondrogenic media did not support the growth of EPC as most of the cells died out within the first week of the experiment. The bars represents the mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments using three independently isolated clones (p < 0.005 for treatment and time 2-way ANOVA).





Figure 5.10: Representative images from day 7 cultured EPC under different growth conditions that demonstrate the preference of EPC to endothelial basal medium (EBM2), x100 original magnification.



Figure 5.11: The mRNA expression levels of endothelial and macrophage genes by real time PCR. EPC were cultured in EBM2 or in macrophage ($M\Phi$) medium and macrophages were grown in macrophage medium. Total RNA was extracted from the cells after 14 days in culture. The gene expression level was calibrated against EPC grown in EBM2. The results indicate that the EPC grown in macrophage medium maintain their expression of endothelial genes with some decrease in vWF, End1 and a slight increase in eNOS expression (statistically insignificant). On the hand, EPC grown in macrophage medium did not gain the expression of macrophage specific genes, CD14, MCSFR, or CD45. The bars represent the mean \pm SEM of three independently isolated clones p < 0.005 EPC in M Φ medium vs EPC in EBM2, one-way ANOVA.

a		4	ů			
	CD144	CD31	KDR	vWF	αSMA	FSP1
EPC in EBM2	21.982 ± 0.79	20.051 ± 0.89	22.689 ± 1.27	20.915 ± 0.46	26.558 ± 0.61	Not detected
EPC + TGFØ1	22.735 ± 0.37	21.265 ± 0.47	21.054 ± 0.73	20.615±0.76	26.945±0.84	Not detected
EPC + TGFp2	22.170 ± 0.74	19.868 ± 1.16	22.572 ± 0.59	20.251 ± 0.71	26.272 ± 0.77	Not detected
HFF1(fibroblast)	31.655 ± 0.46	Not detected	30.611 ± 0.55	30.117 ± 1.02	23.249±0.81	18.865 ± 0.24



Figure 5.12: The effect of TGF β isoforms on endothelial to mesenchymal transition. EPC were grown in EBM2 and/or –VEGF/FGF and in the presence of 2 ng/mL TGF β 1 or TGF β 2 for one week. EPC were then analyzed for the expression of fibroblast specific markers FSP1 (S100A4) and α SMA by qPCR (a), and Western blot (b). TGF β treatment did not drive the EPC into a fibroblast phenotype. There was no gain of fibroblast markers or loss of the endothelial markers. EPC maintained expression of endothelial marker CD31 and KDR as demonstrated by flow cytometer analysis (c). The results shown are representatives of three independent experiments performed. Table (A) shows the mean ± SD.



Figure 5.13: TGF β receptors expression in EPC. (A) flow cytometer evaluation of ALK1, TGF β RII, ALK5, and endoglin demonstrate that EPC are capable of receiving TGF β stimulus. (B) Smad3 phosphorylation in EPC lysates pre-treated with TGF β 1, and TGF β 2. EPC were starved in low serum concentration (2 %) overnight and stimulated the next day with 2 ng/mL TGF β 1 or TGF β 2 for 1 hour and the cell lysates were assayed for Smad proteins. The results shown are representatives of three independently isolated clones.

CHAPTER VI

THE STUDY OF ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELLS ANGIOGENIC POTENTIAL

6.0 INTRODUCTION

The formation of new blood vessels can occur by two distinct processes (1) by vasculogenesis or *de novo* formation of blood vessels from bone marrow mobilized cells and (2) by angiogenesis or formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing vessels [147].

During embryonic development, hemangioblasts, the precursor cells that give rise to hematopoietic stem cells and angioblasts (also called endothelial progenitor cells), differentiate from mesodermal stem cells of the bone marrow [409, 410]. The endothelial-committed angioblasts, during vasculogenesis, aggregate into clusters called blood islands to form the primary vascular plexus that eventually develop into the complex microcirculation [147, 411]. In adults, new blood vessels are generated mainly through angiogenesis where new capillaries develop from pre-existing mature endothelial cells within the blood vessel [412]. However, circulating EPC can contribute to adult angiogenesis and can get incorporated into the site of neovascularization in both physiological and pathological conditions [413-415]

Angiogenesis is a complex processes that requires the endothelial cells to integrate the signals from various growth factors, extracellular matrix proteins and mural cells. Angiogenesis includes a series of distinct and coordinated steps including, endothelial cell activation, degradation of basement membrane, migration, proliferation, lumen formation, alignment, anastomosis, and the recruitment of mural cells [171-173].

During the angiogenesis process EC respond to chemical stimuli such as VEGF, bFGF, PDGF, EGF, S1P, and angiopoietin 2, which can be secreted by the surrounding tissues within the microenvironment or be produced by the endothelial cells [147, 174, 416-418]. Once activated by angiogenic stimuli ECs differentiate into specialized cells called tip cells that spearhead the growing sprout. The tip cell function in guiding the growing capillary toward a concentration gradient of an angiogenic factor, and in preventing the trailing stalk cells from differentiating into tip cells in the same outgrowing capillary. Tip cells are characterized by the formation of large number of filipodia, rarely proliferate, and express high levels of DII4, apelin, ESM1, and CXCR4. In contrast, stalk cells are highly proliferative, form lumen, and express high levels of Robo4, Jag1, and Flt1 [195, 199, 200, 419].

In this chapter, I study the competence of human late outgrowth EPC to form tube-like structures *in vitro*, utilizing a three-dimensional angiogenesis assay. The fibrin bead angiogenesis assay captures many features of the *in vivo* angiogenesis process [172]. The endothelial cells

are surrounded by a matrix and provided with growth factors and over few days the cells undergo sprouting and can form visible lumens by day ~7 of culture. The fibrin bead assay provides a setting that closely resembles the microenvironment *in vivo* and also permits manipulation of gene expression, study sprouts and lumen formation and the factors that govern this process.

6.1 RESULTS

6.1.1 Comparison of Angiogenic Activity of Different Endothelial Cell Types

The angiogenesis assay was performed in the presence of fibroblast cells seeded on top of the fibrin gel to provide additional angiogenic growth factors.

To determine whether different endothelial cell types have differential angiogenic activities, we compared EPC, human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC), and human aorta endothelial cells (HAEC) sprouting potential using 3-D fibrin bead angiogenesis assay in vitro. EPC and HAEC formed more tip cells per bead (Figure 6.1 a) and migrated the farthest distance away from the bead (Figure 6.1 b) as compared to HUVEC after 24 h of incubation. The tip cells generally (depending on the cell line) appeared in culture after ~ 16 h of incubation at 37 °C. At this time point the budding sprouts consisted for the most part of tip cells only based on the morphology (cells with multiple filipodia) (Figure 6.1), and

actual sprouts, composed of both tip cells and stalk cells, did not appear until day 3-4 of culture (Figure 6.1), to eventually form lumens by day 7-10 of culture (Figure 6.1).

To further identify differences between EPC and HUVEC we coated the beads with equal number of both cell types in an attempt to analyze if a particular cell type has a preference to occupy the tip cell or stalk position. The HUVEC when mixed with EPC had an increase in tip cells per bead (Figure 6.2 a) but both cell types did not migrate very far away from the bead (Figure 6.2 b). However, EPC cell-conditioned medium did not have the same effect (Figure 6.3 a, b). Moreover, by day 4 of culture there was a preference for EPC to occupy the tip position whereas the HUVEC preferentially occupied the stalk position (Figure 6.4 a, b).

To understand the contribution of the factors released by fibroblasts, we cultured EPC in the absence of human fibroblasts (HFF1). For the first day there was no observable differences between EPC grown in the presence or absence of fibroblast cells. However, by day 4 of culture EPC grown in the absence of fibroblast died out (Figure 6.5 a, b) despite the fact that the cells were grown in complete EBM2 that contains VEGF, bFGF, IGF, EGF and 10 % FBS. This demonstrate the importance of the factors released by the fibroblast to prevent cellular death and maintain "healthy" sprouts that eventually develop lumens by day 7-10 of culture. However the initial sprouting event is independent of co-culture with fibroblast.
6.1.2 The Effect of Cellular Proliferation and Migration on Sprouting Angiogenesis

Cellular proliferation and migration are important processes during angiogenesis [172]. To study the effect of inhibition of cellular proliferation and migration on sprouting angiogenesis we treated the EPC with mitomycin C and/or nocodazole, a cell cycle inhibitor and a microtubule inhibitor respectively. The beads were analyzed 24 h after embedding in fibrin gel. Treatment with mitomycin C was effective in inhibiting tip cells formation and migration in a dose dependent manner (Figure 6.6, a, b). Similarly, treatment with the microtubule inhibitor nocodazole inhibited tips cells formation and migration also in a dose dependent manner (Figure 6.7 a, b).

6.1.3 The Effect of siRNA Knockdown of Various Genes on Sprouting Angiogenesis

New blood vessel formation is a complex process that requires the activity of multiple cellular processes [172]. To understand the role of various genes during angiogenesis in vitro, siRNA specific to genes listed in Table 6.1 were used and the results of each gene on sprouting angiogenesis is summarized in Table 6.1. SiRNA knockdown of several genes including ALK1, apelin, ERG, FGD5, ILK, KDR, PI3K catalytic subunits p110 α , p110 β , and p110 δ , and rac1 significantly reduced cellular sprouting *in vitro*. On the other hand, the siRNA knockdown of DII4, and

PTEN had the opposite effect as sprouting angiogenesis increased. The knockdown of IQGAP1 had no detectable effect on the angiogenesis process *in vitro*.

6.1.4 The Study of Phosphatidylinositide-3 Kinases Role on Sprouting Angiogenesis *in vitro*

To study whether all PI3K catalytic isoforms are involved in the angiogenesis process or if they have differential functions, a gene knockdown strategy by siRNA was applied to specifically eliminate one single isoform at a time. P110 α knockdown resulted in a decrease in tip cells formation and reduced the distance the tip cells migrated away from the bead (Figure 6.8 a, b). The siRNA knockdown was confirmed by real time PCR (Figure 6.8 c). Similarly, the knockdown of p110 β isoform resulted in a decrease of sprouting angiogenesis in vitro (discussed in more details in Chapter VIII). Interestingly, the siRNA knockdown of $p110\delta$ caused more pronounced inhibition of sprouting angiogenesis (Figure 6.9 a, b) in *vitro*. The specific knockdown of $p110\delta$ by siRNA was confirmed by real time PCR. The involvement of PI3K in angiogenesis was confirmed by using the pan PI3K inhibitor wortmannin (Figure 6.10) as few tip cells formed and did not migrate too far away from the beads. Consistent with these data the knockdown of the PI3K counter-regulatory phosphatase PTEN had the opposite effect; we observed a significant increase in the number of tip cells per bead. The most pronounced effect was that these

sprouts extended longer (Figure 6.11 a, b). The knockdown efficiency of PTEN was evaluated by real time PCR (Figure 6.11 c).

6.1.5 Down Regulation of Tip Cells Markers Apelin and DII4 Correlates with Reduced Angiogenesis

To understand the genetic regulation of sprouting angiogenesis, total RNA was extracted from sprouting beads embedded in fibrin gel and the mRNA expression levels of tip cell markers apelin, Dll4, and ESM1 were determined. There was a down-regulation of apelin and Dll4 in the siRNA treatments that resulted in reduction of tip cell formation (Figure 6.12) including wortmannin, the PI3K catalytic isoforms p110 alpha, beta, and delta, FGD5, and Rac1 as compared to medium control. However, the expression levels of the tip cell markers did not change in the cells treated with either non-silencing or PTEN siRNA. In contrast, the mRNA expression level of ESM1 was unchanged across the various siRNA treatments (Figure 6.12).

The EPC-coated beads in fibrin gel were cultured in the presence of complete EBM2 (Includes, SingleQuots supplemented with 10 % FBS), or in incomplete EBM2 (supplemented with 2 % FBS) overnight at 37 ° C and 5 % CO₂. Total mRNA was extracted from the cells cultured in fibrin gel and reverse transcribed into cDNA as described in materials and methods. The expression of the mRNA levels of ESM1, Dll4, and apelin was determined by real time PCR. There was an up regulation of ESM1, Dll4,

and apelin in the cells grown in the presence of complete EBM2 when compared to the expression levels of those genes in the cells grown in incomplete EBM2 (Figure 6.13).

6.1.6 Apelin and DII4 Differentially Regulate Sprouting Angiogenesis

Since the two cell markers apelin and DII4 mRNA expression levels were down-regulated when angiogenesis was inhibited, the effect they may have on sprouting angiogenesis after gene knockdown was investigated. As a result, apelin knockdown significantly reduced tip cells formation and also affected their migration distance away from the beads (Figure 6.14 a, b). In contrast, DII4 knockdown resulted in an increase in sprouting with many cells migrating farther distances in the gel as compared to control cells (Figure 6.15 a, b).

6.1.7 FGD5 siRNA Knockdown Reduces Sprouting Angiogenesis *in vitro*¹

Facio-genital dysplasia-5 (FGD5) was identified by gene expression profiling, and it is enriched in endothelial cells. Investigation in the lab placed the molecule as a novel regulator of PI3K function. Therefore, siRNA specific to FGD5 was applied to knockdown this gene and study its effect on sprouting angiogenesis. Consistent with the observed effect on PI3K signaling, FGD5 siRNA-treated EPC produced fewer tip cells and

 $^{^1}$ The FGD5 results are published as part of a manuscript by Nakhaei-Nejad et al. 2012. ATVB 33: 2694-2701

reduced cell migration distance when compared to control cells (Figure 6.16 a, b).

6.2 **DISCUSSION**

Formation of blood vessels is a critical function of EC in health and in disease. To study EPC *in vivo* for rescue of glomerular endothelial cell injury in our animal model (described in Chapter 4). We first needed to learn the angiogenic capabilities of EPC *in vitro*. Further we sought to identify what genes/proteins that are involved in the angiogenesis process that can be modified to enhance or disrupt angiogenesis depending on the conditions.

Although, there are many models to study angiogenesis, such as corneal neovascularization assay, *in vivo / in vitro* chick chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay, *in vivo* matrigel plug, and aorta ring assay, we selected the 3-D fibrin bead angiogenesis assay because this assay captures many stages observed during blood vessels formation *in vivo*. Angiogenesis is a multistep process where activated endothelial cells must digest the basement membrane, migrate, proliferate, differentiate into tip/stalk cells sprout from the pre-existing vessel, align, form lumen, and eventually anastomose with other vessels [172, 420]. The fibrin bead assay reproduces each of these stages, which renders this assay an invaluable tool to study angiogenesis under the controlled environment in

vitro. Further the technique is amenable to short term gene inactivation using siRNA or small molecule inhibitors.

We and others [83, 421] have observed that EPC are in many ways indistinguishable from HUVEC. However, when we compared the angiogenic potential, EPC were by far the more angiogenic cells. They produced more tip cells and migrated farther in fibrin gel after 24 h of seeding. These observations contrast to what Finkenzeller et al. [422] has previously reported that putative EPC and HUVEC demonstrated almost identical angiogenic potential as determined by the 3-D spheroid sprouting assay and by 2-D matrigel assay. A few discrepancies must be highlighted between Finkenzeller study and the results reported in this chapter. First, the EPC in Finkenzeller's study were obtained by a different method. They did not select CD34+ cells and kept the adherent peripheral blood mononuclear cells after they removed the non-adherent cells at day 4 of seeding. This indicates that the authors followed a similar method of obtaining circulating angiogenic cells, which are the early outgrowth cells and do not show "true" endothelial phenotype [17]. Second, they do not specify if EPC colonies appeared in culture or not. Third, the 2-D matrigel assay has many inherent problems and it is not suitable to assess angiogenic potential. Specifically, in 2-D culture on matrigel EC do not form intercellular lumens, do not sprout or proliferate, and no mRNA or protein synthesis changes occur. In addition, other cell types such as fibroblast and U87-MG glioblastoma cells, can align and form similar cords on matrigel hence the assay does not reflect EC-specific behavior [172, 420]. Nevertheless, despite the fact that late outgrowth EPC in our studies displayed higher angiogenic potential at early time points (~ 24h), by day 10 after embedding in fibrin gel there was no difference in the number of sprouts with lumens formed by EPC and HUVEC. There was one sprout with lumen or none per bead.

The co-culture of EPC with HUVEC showed an enhanced angiogenic response by HUVEC with more tip cells formed but shorter migration distance. Interestingly, the EPC showed a remarkable selection for tip cell position whereas HUVEC occupied the stalk cell position. It is likely that EPC with their higher proliferative potential [421] respond faster to the angiogenic stimuli and differentiate into more tip cells to lead the growing sprouts. The development of more tip cells exert control over the fate of the following cells to differentiate into stalk cells through the established mechanism that involves DII4-notch signaling [185]. Interestingly, Sieveking et al. [423] reported that late outgrowth EPC do not exert paracrine angiogenic effect in contrast to our results. However, the authors demonstrated this effect by using a transwell assay to assess paracrine angiogenic effect. The assay accounts for only secreted angiogenic factors if they are produced. It is likely that the enhanced angiogenic activity of HUVEC when co-cultured with EPC is due to cell-cell contact rather than to the release of soluble angiogenic factors. In accordance with Sieveking et al., EPC cell conditioned medium (CCM) had no effect on HUVEC sprouting unlike when the EPC and HUVEC were mixed together.

The role of PI3K signaling in blood vessel formation is not well understood. It is established that the catalytic isoform p110 α function is important during embryonic vascular development [330]. However, little is known about the activity of the other class IA catalytic isoforms p110 β (discussed in detail in Chapter 8) and p110 δ during angiogenesis process. Surprisingly, siRNA knockdown of p110 δ resulted in a severe impairment of sprouts formation *in vitro*, given that p110 δ is expressed minimally in endothelial cells and it is not thought that this isoform contributes much to PI3K activity [330]. Further, p110 δ germline knockout mouse is not defective in embryonic angiogenesis [424]. However, Geng *et al.* [425] have reported that the antagonist IC486068 of p110 δ enhanced tumor vascular destruction by radiation *in vivo*, reduced endothelial migration and tubule formation *in vitro*, and attenuated radiation-induced AKT phosphorylation.

The role of PI3K during angiogenesis is extended to class 1B as well. The only catalytic subunit of class 1B is p110 γ that functions mainly downstream of G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) [313]. The treatment of HUVEC with p110 γ specific siRNA resulted in a strong impairment of endothelial cells angiogenic potential due to the suppression of AKT and MAPK pathways *in vitro*. In addition, p110 γ inhibitor AS605240 or PI3K

gamma knockout resulted in defective reparative neovascularization in a myocardial infarction animal model. Both treatments resulted in an activation of apoptosis in both EC and cardiomyocytes and inhibition of endothelial cell proliferation [426].

Apelin, Dll4, and ESM1 are genes found in different microarray studies to be overexpressed in tip cells over stalk cells and are considered as tip cell markers [195, 419, 427].

Apelin is a preproprotein that is cleaved into functional peptides (13, 17, and 36 kDa) with diverse physiological activities including angiogenesis [428]. Apelin knockout mice exhibit impaired retinal vascularization in the early postnatal period. Corneal pocket assay demonstrated that angiogenic response to proangiogenic factors VEGF and FGF2 was significantly decreased in apelin knockout mice [429]. Apelin and its G protein-coupled receptor APJ have been shown to regulate angiogenesis by induction of endothelial cells migration, proliferation, tube formation, maturation, and increasing the new blood vessel caliber. In addition, apelin plays a role in tip cell-stalk cell communications and modulates stalk cells proliferation [195, 430]. Apelin-APJ axis has been reported to be highly expressed in tumour endothelium. The co-expression of apelin and its receptor in endothelial cells of tumour vasculature suggests that apelin can exert autocrine and paracrine activities on endothelial cells [431]. Apelin-APJ has been shown to be overexpressed in the vasculature of diabetic retinopathy disease. Retinal

169

angiogenesis was inhibited in the apelin deficient mouse model of diabetic retinopathy although temporal expression of VEGF did not change between wild type and apelin deficient mice [432]. Our results also suggest that apelin is critical for proper tip cell differentiation *in vitro*.

DII4-Notch1 signaling regulates angiogenesis by controlling the number of differentiated endothelial tip cells and by suppressing stalk cells from becoming tip cells [185]. The inhibition of DII4 signaling can lead to increase in tip cells formation, however, intact Notch1 signaling via DII4 antagonist jagged 1 can lead to reduction in tip cell numbers [185]. It is also suggested that DII4 expression can bring to an end the proliferative stage of angiogenesis and begin the stage of maturation and stabilization [188]. Similarly, we observed a modest increase in tip cell formation but significantly longer migration distance from the bead in EPC treated with DII4 specific siRNA *in vitro*.

Interestingly, the mRNA expression levels of DII4 and apelin were markedly decreased when PI3K was down-regulated and where we observed inhibition of sprouting angiogenesis, suggesting that the activity of apelin and DII4 together is important for the differentiation of activated EC into tip cells and proper sprout formation. However, the mRNA expression level of the other tip cell marker ESM1 did not change across the various treatments. This result suggests a complex regulation of the tip cell differentiation program. It should be noted that total RNA was extracted from whole fibrin gels of sprouting beads and not from pure tip cells only, however, we believe that after 24 h of seeding the coated beads, there is an enrichment of tip cells at that time point. Regardless, the data need to be validated by mechanically excising tip cells for example by laser capture microdissection.

In this Chapter, I studied the angiogenic potential of EPC and compared it with other types of endothelial cells. I showed that EPC have higher angiogenic potential than HUVEC. I studied several genes by siRNA knockdown that may play a role during the sprouting angiogenesis process *in vitro*. I also confirmed the role of p110 α in angiogenesis, as well as, demonstrating a role for the other class IA PI3K catalytic isoforms p110 β and p110 δ in blood vessel formation *in vitro*. In addition, my data also suggest that DII4 and apelin are necessary for proper tip cell differentiation.



Figure 6.1: Comparison of the angiogenic activity of various types of endothelial cells. Endothelial progenitor cells, human umbilical vein endothelial cells, and human aorta endothelial cells were coated on Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gel. The cells were evaluated after 24 hours and 30 beads per treatment were scored for number of tip cells/bead (A), and for the distance the cells migrated away from the bead (B). Representative images of tip cells formation after 24 h (x200 original magnification), sprouts (tip cells + stalk cells) formation by day 4 (x200 original magnification), eventually lumens are formed by day 10 (x100 original magnification). (n = 5, the bars represent mean \pm SEM, *p < 0.05 EPC vs HUVEC, HAEC vs HUVEC, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.2: Competition assay between EPC and HUVEC. EPC (green) and HUVECs (red) were coated on the Cytodex beads at equal number and embedded in fibrin gel with fibroblast placed on top of the gel. The beads were analyzed after 24 h of culturing at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. The number of tip cells per bead was evaluated (a) and the migration distance away from the beads (b). The image in (c) represents a bead coated with EPC after 24 of culture, (d) shows a bead coated with HUVEC after 24 h. (e) shows a representative bead with mixed EPC and HUVEC at the same time point as above, x200 original magnification. (n = 5, the bars represent mean ± SEM, *p < 0.05 EPC vs HUVEC one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.3: The effect of EPC cell-conditioned medium (CCM) on HUVEC sprouting. HUVEC embedded in fibrin gel were cultured in the presence of an increased concentration of EPC CCM (10, 25, 50, 100 %). The beads were analyzed 24 h after plating. (n = 3, p = NS).



Figure 6.4: EPC preferentially occupy tip cell position. EPC (green) and HUVEC (red) were coated on the Cytodex beads at equal number and embedded in fibrin gel with fibroblast placed on top of the gel. After 4 days in culture the beads were analyzed for the type of cell that occupied the tip cell position of a growing sprouts. EPC preferentially occupied the tip cell position in the majority of the sprouts (a). (b) A representative bead showing chimeric sprouts with EPC occupying the tip position whereas the HUVEC locating mostly in the stalk position, x200 original magnification. (n = 3, the bars represent mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 EPC vs HUVEC, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.5: The role of fibroblasts in maintaining cellular survival and sprout development. EPC cultured in the absence of fibroblasts exhibit fast growth in the first day of culture but the cells undergo cell death by day 4, x200 original magnification. However in the presence of fibroblast, EPC survive past day 4 and start to form sprouts that eventually form lumens.



Figure 6.6: The effect of cell cycle inhibitor mitomycin C on sprouting angiogenesis. The EPC were treated with various concentrations (0-10 μ g/mL) overnight. The next day the cells were coated on Cytodex beads. The tip cells formation and the cells migration distance were analyzed the next day. Images x200 original magnification. (n = 3, the bars represent mean ± SEM, * p < 0.05 vs untreated cells one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.7: The effect of microtubule inhibitor nocodazole on sprouting angiogenesis. The EPC were treated with various concentrations (0-5 μ M) overnight. The next the cells were trypsinized and coated on Cytodex beads. The tip cell formation and the cells migration distance were analyzed the next day. Images x200 original magnification. (n = 3, the bars represent mean ± SEM, * p < 0.05 vs untreated cells one-way ANOVA).

Table 6.1: Summary of the effect of siRNA knockdowns of various genes on sprouting angiogenesis. Downward pointing arrows indicate reduction, upward pointing arrows indicate increase, and right pointing arrow indicate no change in sprouting angiogenesis.

SiRNA for	Effect on
	sprouting
ALK1	↓
Apelin	₽
DII4	1
ERG	¥
FGD5	¥
ILK	¥
IQGAP1	+
KDR	¥
p110 α	¥
p110 β	¥
p110 δ	↓
PTEN	↑
Rac1	₽



Figure 6.8: The effect of siRNA knockdown of p110 α on angiogenesis. EPC were transfected with 50 nM of p110 α siRNA twice. After 72 h of transfection the cells were coated on Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gel and incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO2 overnight. The next day the beads were analyzed for tip cell formation and for migration distance away from the beads (a, b). The siRNA knockdown was verified after 72 h of transfection by real time PCR (c). Images x200 original magnification. (n = 5, the bars represent mean ± SEM, *p < 0.05 p110 α vs siRNA C, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.9: The effect of siRNA knockdown of p110 δ on angiogenesis. EPC were transfected with 50 nM of p110 δ siRNA twice. After 72 h of transfection the cells were coated on Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gel and incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO2 overnight. The next day the beads were analyzed for tip cell formation and for migration distance away from the beads (a, b). The siRNA knockdown was verified after 72 h of transfection by real time PCR (c). Images x200 original magnification. (n = 6, the bars represent mean ± SEM, * p < 0.05 p110 δ vs siRNA C,one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.10: Inhibition of sprouting angiogenesis by wortmannin. EPC were treated with 10 μ g/mL of wortmannin overnight. Next the cells were coated on Cytodex beads and incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO2 overnight. The next day the cells were analyzed for tip cells formation (a) and the distance they travelled away from the beads (b). (c) Shows a representative image of a bead coated with EPCs treated with wortmannin. Image x200 original magnification. (n = 3, the bars represent mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs siRNAC, one-way ANOVA). NT: no treatment; c: control.



Figure 6.11: The effect of siRNA knockdown of PTEN on angiogenesis. EPC were transfected with 50 nM of PTEN siRNA twice. After 72 h of transfection the cells were coated on Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gel and incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO2 overnight. The next day the beads were analyzed for tip cell formation and for migration distance away from the beads (a, b). The siRNA knockdown was verified after 72 h of transfection by real time PCR (c). Images x200 original magnification. (n = 5, the bars represent mean ± SEM, * p < 0.05 PTEN vs siRNA C, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.12: Real time expression of tip cells markers apelin, Dll4, and ESM1. Total mRNA was extracted using TRIzol/chloroform method from sprouting beads 24 h after seeding. One microgram of total RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA. SYBR Green and Delta Delta Ct method was used to quantify mRNA expression levels. (n = 3, the bars represent mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs siRNA C, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.13: Induction of tip cell markers ESM1, Dll4, and apelin. The mRNA was extracted from beads coated with EPC and embedded in fibrin gel and cultured overnight in the presence of complete EBM2 (includes all growth factors and 10 % FBS), or in incomplete EBM2 (do not include the growth factors and supplemented with 2 % FBS). One microgram of total RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA. SYBR Green and Delta Delta Ct method was used to quantify mRNA expression levels. (n = 3, the bars represent mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 one-way ANOVA).



Figure 6.14: The effect of siRNA knockdown of apelin on tip cell formation. EPC were transfected with 50 nM of apelin siRNA twice. After 72 h of transfection the cells were coated on Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gel and incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO2 overnight. The next day the beads were analyzed for tip cell formation and for migration distance away from the beads (a, b). The siRNA knockdown was verified after 72 h of transfection by real time PCR (c). (a) A representative sprouting of EPC treated with apelin siRNA. Image x200 original magnification. (n = 6, the bars represent mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs siRNA C, one-way ANOVA). NT: no treatment; c: control.



Figure 6.15: The effect of siRNA knockdown of Dll4 on angiogenesis. EPC were transfected with 50 nM of Dll4 siRNA twice. After 72 h of transfection the cells were coated on Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gel and incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO2 overnight. The next day the beads were analyzed for tip cell formation and for migration distance away from the beads (a, b). The siRNA knockdown was verified after 72 h of transfection by real time PCR (c). (d) A representative sprouting of EPC treated with Dll4 siRNA. Image x200 original magnification. (n = 5, the bars represent mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs siRNA C, one-way ANOVA). NT: no treatment; c: control.



Figure 6.16: The effect of siRNA knockdown of FGD5 on angiogenesis. EPC were transfected with 50 nM of Dll4 siRNA twice. After 72 h of transfection the cells were coated on Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gel and incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO2 overnight. The next day the beads were analyzed for tip cell formation and for migration distance away from the beads (a, b). The siRNA knockdown was verified after 72 h of transfection by real time PCR (c). (d) A representative sprouting of EPCs treated with FGD5 siRNA. Image x200 original magnification. (n = 5, the bars represent mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs siRNA C, one-way ANOVA). NT: no treatment; c: control.

CHAPTER VII

THE STUDY OF KIDNEY MICROVASCULAR REPAIR BY HUMAN ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELLS

7.0 INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury in the setting of existing damage is a leading cause of end stage renal disease [433]. Despite the medical advancements made in the past 30 years in intensive care medicine and dialysis modalities, there is still high mortality rate in hospitalized patients with acute renal failure [141, 433, 434]. Chronic endothelial dysfunction is considered to be the initial step in the development of vascular diseases that leads to accelerated arteriosclerosis and impaired angiogenesis [435]. Renal hypo-perfusion caused by various pathologies adversely affect the function of kidney tubular epithelial cells, a condition that has been recognized as a secondary effect of the microvascular endothelial cells dysfunction that impedes post-ischemic kidney reperfusion and interrupts the repair process [140, 436].

The vascular repair concept came to prominence when Asahara et al. [8] reported on the isolation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells. Subsequently, many researchers have described studies on the participation of EPC in vasculogenesis or *de novo* blood vessels formation from circulating endothelial precursors cells [80, 395, 437]. There has been an explosion in the field of regenerative medicine because of the tremendous potential EPC hold as a therapeutic strategy for vascular diseases [17]. Due to this great interest in EPC and in the absence of a uniform definition and a specific marker, there has been a well-documented controversy stemming from the various cell populations called EPC. Recently it appears that there is a general consensus that the EPC population known as late outgrowth cells, that are derived from the endothelial colony-forming cells (ECFC), are the cells that "truly" differentiate into mature endothelial cells. Whereas the other EPC types are known to generate angiogenic factors but express hematopoietic markers [17, 18], also reviewed in Chapter 2 section 2.2.

There are a few reports indicating that patients with chronic renal disease have dysfunctional "EPC", insignificantly lower numbers as compared to control patients [12, 399, 435, 438]. The causes of the EPC incompetence are broad and encompass many cellular processes such as mobilization, impaired endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), viability, reduced engraftment, and impaired differentiation into mature endothelial cells (reviewed by [399]).

Encouraging evidence points to a role of EPC transplantation in neovascularization and blood vessel reendothelization in cardiovascular diseases [439]. For example, *ex vivo* generated EPC introduced into an animal model of myocardial infarction reduced ventricular scarring and improved cardiac function [440, 441]. Similarly, introduction of EPC ameliorated blood flow in hind limb ischemia models in mice and rats [442, 443]. However, there are fewer published reports on endothelial regeneration by EPC of damaged kidney microvasculature [12]. Early report by Rookmaker et al. [444] showed a fourfold increase of transplanted bone marrow-derived glomerular endothelial cells after 7 days in Thy-1.1 glomerulonephritis animal model. Using the same Thy-1.1 animal model, Uchimura et al. [14] showed that bone marrow-derived EPC administered into the renal artery reduced glomerular endothelial cell cell injury and mesangial cell activation.

Other studies have attempted to genetically modify EPC to enhance their activity *in vivo*. Some strategies involved the overexpression of eNOS and heme oxygenase-1 to inhibit neointimal hyperplasia [445]. Murasawa et al. [446] have overexpressed telomerase reverse transcriptase to increase the mitogenic, migratory, and cell survival activity of EPC. Using a different approach, Yamamizu et al. [447] constitutively overexpressed protein kinase A in order to increase EPC differentiation into mature endothelial cells.

The vast majority of studies that focus on EPC reparative potential are based on chronic kidney disease with the rat Thy-1.1 animal model being the most widely used, and the early outgrowth EPC and/or circulating EPC being the transplanted cells utilized in the majority of the early reported studies. Late outgrowth EPC may represent the cells with "true" endothelial phenotype these cells have not been functionally studied extensively *in vivo* and in the clinical situation [12, 448]. In this chapter, I show the results of the late outgrowth EPC transplantation study using our lectin-saporin animal model of acute kidney injury.

7.1 RESULTS

7.1.1 Introduction of Human EPC into Rag Knockout Mice

The initial studies of human EPC transplantation into lectin-saporin injured animals were carried out using recombination activating gene 1 (Rag 1, lack functional T and B cells) knockout mice where the human cells (2.10⁶ cells/mouse) were not detected in the mouse organs including kidney, Lung, liver, heart, and spleen after 24 h of injecting the cells. In addition, the Rag1 mice were very sensitive to a high dose of lectinsaporin (L-S 500 µg/Kg) and the majority of the animals died within two davs. In further pilot studies we used Rag 2^{-/-} (lack functional T. B. and NK cells) mice and a higher concentration of cells. In this protocol we first inject the L-S and 24 h later we delivered the hEPC. This strategy resulted in a positive identification of human EPC in mouse organs within 24 h of cell delivery; however the majority of the animals did not survive past day 1 of cell injection. The mice were subjected to intraarterial surgery procedures in two consecutive days. The best results were obtained by delivering low-dose L-S (200 µg/Kg) conjugate together with the hEPC at 4.10⁶ cells/mouse concentration in one intraarterial injection but the majority of the animals were morbid before day 4 post injection (Figure 7.1). All the strategies applied in this study are summarized in Table 7.1.

7.1.2 Detection of Human EPC in Mouse Tissues

Human cells in mouse tissues were detected by means of end-point PCR, quantitative PCR and by immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence. The hEPC were detected in mouse tissues using a primer set designed to specifically amplify a 650 bp of human beta-2microglobulin (B2M) that was validated not to amplify the mouse B2M gene. We were able to detect the hEPC in the mouse organs up to 24h post cells injection in both PBS control animals and lectin-saporin injured animals (Figure 7.2 a). At later time points, for example at day 2, we noticed that the hEPC injected into PBS control mice were not detectable in any mouse organ, whereas the cells persisted in the injured animals at least in the lung and in the kidney (Figure 7.2 b). Interestingly, the hEPC persisted in the kidneys of the injured mice up to day 4 (Figure 7.2 c). However it was unfortunate that no animal survived past day 4 post injection, thus confounding the long term study of hEPC engraftment into the kidney microvasculature.

The hEPC engraftment into the mouse kidney glomerular capillaries was confirmed by immunohistochemistry staining by using speciesspecific anti-human CD31 antibody that was raised in mouse. The hEPC were detected in the glomeruli of the injured animals but not in the peritubular capillaries. The cells were not detected in the PBS control mice at day 2 post injection (Figure 7.3 a,b). It was more difficult to detect the hEPC at day 4 but few positive glomeruli were observed by immunofluorescence (Figure 7.3 c).

In a pilot analysis, the expression of endothelial markers CD31 and Tie2 was evaluated by quantitative PCR using mouse specific primers. To our surprise the expressions of both genes were up regulated in injured mice (Figure 7.4) that received hEPC. This was contrary to what we observed previously in injured animals that did not receiving hEPC where CD31 and Tie2 mRNA transcripts were down regulated (Chapter 4, Figure 4.16). Most likely the mouse primers were amplifying the human transcripts in the mouse tissues. The mouse CD31 and Tie2 primers binding to human CD31 and Tie2 cDNA was confirmed by amplifying the two transcripts from human cells cDNA. Human specific CD31 and Tie2 primers were used to detect the hEPC mRNA transcripts in the mouse kidney cDNA by qPCR. Those showed specific detection of human CD31 and Tie2 transcripts in the injured animals at day 1 and day 2 post injection but they were only detected in day 1 cDNA from mice treated with PBS (Table 7.2). The qPCR results confirmed indirectly the persistence of hEPC in mouse kidney up until day 4 post injection in the mice that were treated with lectin-saporin, whereas no there was no signal of hEPC in the mice that received hEPC and PBS at that time point.

Renal injury was evaluated with qPCR, using the detection of kidney injury markers KIM1 and Lipocalin2. Both genes were significantly up-regulated in the injured animals but not in the animals that received PBS and hEPC (Figure 7.4). The kidney function was evaluated by serum creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) concentrations. The serum creatinine and BUN concentrations were significantly higher in the injured mice as compared to PBS control and PBS + hEPC group (Figure 7.5).

The expression of the growth factors PDGFB, bFGF, SDF1 α , and VEGFA in the kidney were evaluated by qPCR. There was a significant up-regulation of PDGFB and bFGF transcripts at day 4 in the group of mice that received low dose of lectin-saporin and not the control groups. On the other hand, the expression of SDF1 α , and VEGFA was significantly down regulated in the injured mice as compared to control (Figure 7.4).

7.2 DISCUSSION

We sought to investigate the potential of repairing injured glomerular capillaries by introducing human CD34+ derived EPC expanded in vitro. The lectin-saporin animal model (described in Chapter 4) caused an endothelial specific glomerular injury. The high dose (500 µg/kg L-S/LPS) caused severe irreparable renal damage and no animal survived past day 4 post L-S/LPS injection. On the other hand, the low dose was well tolerated by the mice. Injury was associated with a mild

195

kidney dysfunction that the animals' endogenous repair mechanism was sufficient to overcome the injury.

In an attempt to rescue the mice with severe renal injury, we injected high dose L-S conjugate intraarterially at day 1 and the following day we introduced 2 millions hEPC also intraarterially in Rag1^{-/-} immunodeficient mice. Unlike the wild type C57Bl6 mice, the Rag1 mice were more sensitive to the surgery procedure and required longer time to awaken from the anesthetic and no mouse survived for longer than 12 hours after the second surgical procedure. The administration of a low dose of L-S was well tolerated despite surgical procedures in two consecutive days. Unfortunately, we were not able to detect the hEPC in the mouse tissues even 24 h after transplantation. Similarly, higher concentration of hEPC was not successful as well. Although, the Rag1^{-/-} immunodeficient mice lack functional T and B cells [449] but they still generate functional NK cells [450]. It is possible that NK cells are responsible for eliminating hEPC.

For this reason we opted to study hEPC engraftment *in vivo* by using another strain of immunodeficient mouse. The Rag2^{-/-} mouse strain is a double knockout mutant (both the Rag2 and the X-linked IL2r γ genes are targeted) that lacks functional T, B, and NK cells [451]. Thus the Rag 2^{-/-} (i.e. Rag2^{-/-} $\gamma c^{-/-}$) mouse is a better-suited animal strain for xenotransplantation studies. The double surgery strategy was not suitable for this strain as all the animals died within few hours after the second
surgery. We modified our procedure to include only one surgery to deliver both lectin-saporin conjugate and the hEPC. This strategy suited the animals better but the majority of the mice died or were very morbid within two days after receiving low dose L-S+EPC or L-S only. Only 3 mice treated with L-S+EPC survived to day 4 post injection, but those animals were very morbid. We were able to detect the hEPC in the mouse kidneys of both control and injured mice up to 24 h after the delivery of the cells, and only in the kidney glomeruli of the injured animals past 24 h of transplantation. It is very interesting that the hEPC were located in the kidney glomerular capillaries of the injured mice suggesting an engraftment of the cells in the capillary walls by day 2 and up to day 4 post cells injection. The same was not true for the PBS control mice where the hEPC were not detected after 24 h post cells injection, suggesting that hEPC engraftment requires likely denuded areas in the microvasculature for the cells to take up residence. Alternatively, perhaps the presence of growth factors that are released at the site of injury aid the transplanted cells to persist and survive longer in that microenvironment. It is likely that the presence of hEPC in the injured mice increased the expression of growth factors such as PDGFB and bFGF that have mitogenic and angiogenic activities [260, 452] and aided the survival of hEPC in vivo. Indeed, Chade et al. [453] reported that autologous EPC transplantation increased the expression of angiogenic factors such as VEGF, HIF1 α and angiopoietin-1 in injured kidneys.

Our results suggest that hEPC are suitable for transplantation studies as they can survive in a foreign host up to 4 days and were capable of homing to the site of injury in the mouse renal microvasculature, but the Rag 1 & 2 mouse strains are not suitable for this type of investigation.

The beneficial contribution of EPC treatment of renal injury is the reversal of vascular damage that occurs during acute kidney injury leading to progressive renal dysfunction [399, 454, 455]. Regardless of the origin and phenotype of the EPC there are mounting evidence that these cells have a renoprotective potential and most importantly are without significant side effects [456]. Treatments with EPC have improved renal function by reducing inflammation, and repairing vascular endothelium and improving tubular damage [454, 455, 457, 458]. EPC niches have been identified in the bone marrow and also in the kidney papilla, cortex and in the renal capsule that can be mobilized to repair damaged endothelium if those cells are healthy and intact [459-461]. However, renal injury can lead to the destruction of the endogenous EPC as was demonstrated in an adriamycin model of nephropathy [458].

There are different clinical settings designed to study EPC repair and regeneration potential of ishaemic and damaged microvasculatures. These clinical trials are aimed at evaluating EPC expanded *ex vivo* that includes studying autologous EPC transplantation, drug treatment, and physical exercise (reviewed by [462]). Despite the current advancements in EPC transplantation there are still major obstacles that must be overcome. One of the major problems is the method of EPC delivery. It is reported that intravenous (IV) injections result in only ~ 3 % of the cells homing to the site of microvascular injury in the kidney and the rest of the cells undergo programmed cell death by anoikis (induced by detachment from the extracellular matrix) or get trapped in the pulmonary vasculature [463].

To overcome the IV injection problems researchers have engineered scaffolds designed to deliver EPC for treatment of acute kidney injury. The bioengineered scaffolds provide protection and a favorable microenvironment for their viability in order to maximize their therapeutic potential. The hyaluronic acid (HA) hydrogels have shown a remarkable benefit in delivering EPC embedded in them. In experimental adriamycin induced nephropathy, EPC implanted in HA-hydrogels transplanted in the renal capsule reduced serum creatinine concentration by 50-60 % and proteinuria by 60-75 %, a greater improvement from the IV delivered EPC [456, 458].

Despite the current obstacles in therapeutic regenerative angiogenesis of EPC and the lack of consistent data, there are still 19 published and 31 registered and ongoing clinical trials [462] that can improve and further our understanding of EPC biology. In the near future EPC can be used as a therapeutic agent.

Other alternative strategies using different cell types are also being evaluated. Several lines of evidence indicate that administration of mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) reduce kidney injury accelerate repair [464]. Bone marrow fraction that contains MSC injected intravenously into ischemia/reperfusion animal model of kidney injury resulted in a decrease in BUN concentration, whereas whole bone marrow had no effect [11, 465]. Similarly, injected MSC protected against renal injury in a glycerolinduced nephropathy model [466]. Interestingly, injected MSC are not shown to incorporate into the injured tubules but it is suggested that MSC modulate renal injury by paracrine/endocrine mechanism. Several studies have shown that MSC can secrete VEGF, bFGF, MCP1, HGF, and IGF-1 [464, 467]. These authors suggest that MSC can home to the site of microvascular injury and inhibit apoptosis thus blunting the renal injury. Other studies have demonstrated that MSC cell-conditioned medium could protect against renal injury [468].

In this chapter, I studied the possibility of using hEPC to repair damaged renal microvasculature in a mouse model of thrombotic microangiopathy. The encouraging result from this study is that the hEPC persisted in the mouse kidney in particularly in the glomeruli of injured mice but not in the PBS control animals. However, long term study of hEPC homing and engraftment was not feasible, as the immunodeficient mouse strain Rag2^{-/-} did not tolerate the surgical procedure.

Strategy	mouse strain	L-S dose	# of EPCs	Outcome		
2 surgeries	Rag1	High	2.10^6	Died > 12 h		
2 surgeries	Rag1	Intermediate 2.10^6 D		Died > 24 h		
2 surgeries	Rag1	Low	2.10^6	Survived but EPCs were NOT detected		
2 surgeries	Rag1	Low	4.10^6	Survived but EPCs were NOT detecte		
2 surgeries	Rag2	Intermediate	2.10^6	Died > 12 h EPCs were detected		
2 surgeries	Rag2	Intermediate	4.10^6	Died > 12 h EPCs were detected		
1 surgery	Rag2	Low	4.10^6	Died 1-4 days EPCs were detected		
1	Pag2	Inn	6.10^6 Died > 12 h EPCs were detect			

Table 7.1: Strategies utilized in the study of hEPC reparative potential in lectin-saporin mouse model of TMA. $n \ge 5$ animals/group.



Figure 7.1: Kaplan-Meier survival graph for Rag2^{-/-} $\gamma^{-/-}$. The mice were injected with either saline or L-S conjugate (200 µg/Kg) along with human EPC via the carotid artery. (n ≥ 5, p = NS Log-rank test)



Figure 7.2: Detection of human EPCs in Rag 2^{-/-} tissues by end-point PCR. The immunodeficient mice were injected with 200 μ g/Kg L-S/LPS along with 4.10⁶ hEPC, injected with PBS and hEPC, treated with L-S only. The mouse tissues were aseptically removed and placed in TRIzol reagent to extract total RNA by phenol/chloroform method. Five μ g of total RNA were reversed transcribed into cDNA. Human cells were detected using human specific B2M primers that amplify 650 bp of the mRNA transcript. n ≥ 3 animals/group.



Figure 7.3: Detection of human EPC by immunocytochemistry and immunofluorescence in Rag 2^{-/-} mice. The human cells were detected in the mouse kidney sections using anti-human CD31 antibody. Five μ m of OCT frozen kidney sections were stained with anti-hCD31 and an anti species HRP-conjugated secondary antibody and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate or an anti-species fluorescently labeled secondary antibody, IHC images x200, and IF image x400 original magnification. n ≥ 3 animals/group.



Figure 7.4: Real time PCR analysis of mRNA expression in Rag 2^{-/-} kidneys. Endothelial-specific genes CD31 and Tie2, kidney injury specific markers KIM1 and lipocalin2, in addition to the growth factors PDGFB, bFGF, SDF1 α , and VEGFA. (n ≥ 3 animals/group, * p < 0.05 one-way ANOVA).

Table	7.2:	Expression	of	human	CD31	gene	in	mouse	kidney	after
receivi	ng hE	PC as deter	min	ed by qu	lantitati	ve PC	R. r	n ≥ 3 anii	mals/gro	oup.

CD31	Avg ddCt				
Sal	Undet.				
PBS d1 + EPCs	33 ± 1				
PBS d4 + EPCs	Undet.				
L-S d1 + EPCs	33 ± 1				
L-S d4 + EPCs	35 ± 2				



Figure 7.5: Evaluation of kidney function after hEPC introduction. The kidney function was determined by determining serum concentrations of creatinine and blood urea nitrogen in control and injured mice (200 μ g/Kg L-S/LPS). n ≥ 3 animals/group, p < 0.05 two-way vs saline control ANOVA.

CHAPTER VIII

ENDOTHELIAL EXPRESSION OF THE PI 3-KINASE CATALYTIC ISOFORM P110 BETA IS REQUIRED FOR SPROUTING ANGIOGENESIS AND KIDNEY MICROVASCULAR REPAIR

8.0 INTRODUCTION

Acute and chronic endothelial injury and loss from the microvasculature underlies a group of disorders termed thrombotic microangiopathies (TMA) [469]. Common causes of such endothelial damage include exposure to Shiga-like toxin associated with epidemic *E. coli* infections, drug toxicity, and acute and chronic immune responses against allogeneic vascular endothelium in the context of bone marrow or solid-organ transplantation. These diseases often follow a fulminant course leading to rapid failure of affected organs [470]. In particular, thrombosis involving the kidney glomerular capillaries, a particularly susceptible microcirculation, results in acute kidney failure and is a major cause of morbidity in Shiga-like toxigenic infection [471-473].

Despite catastrophic kidney glomerular endothelial damage requiring renal replacement therapy, many affected individuals recover kidney function [473]. This observation points to the regenerative capacity of the microvascular endothelium to repair injury. Yet the mediators that cue repair responses, and the signal transduction pathways triggered in the endothelium, are poorly defined. Candidate growth factors inferred from vascular development in the embryo or neoangiogenesis into a tumour include vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2), or thrombin and sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling to the endothelial cells through receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) or G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) respectively [176]. Nevertheless, the cues used to repair a mature endothelium in the adult may differ from these well-modeled scenarios.

Downstream of both endothelial RTK and GPCR. the phosphatidylinositide-3 kinases (PI3K) act to integrate survival and growth signals [474]. PI3 kinases are a family of lipid kinases that include 4 catalytic isoforms expressed in EC, p110 - α , - β , - δ , - γ that associate with a regulatory subunit to couple PI3 kinase activity to receptor activation [475]. PI3 kinases that associate with the p85 regulatory subunit are grouped into class IA, whereas the single class IB, γ , isoform is regulated via p101 and coupled to GPCR. The class I PI3 kinase- β is the only isoform coupled to both RTK and GPCR [476, 477]. In embryonic development it is established that the PI3 kinase- α isoform is critically required, since both global and EC-restricted knockout of *Pik3ca*, the α catalytic subunit, results in death of the embryo with features of disordered vascular development [330, 478]. Conversely, global loss of PI3 kinase- β expression is lethal in early embryogenesis, but EC-restricted loss is

tolerated in development [329, 330]. The function of PI3 kinase- β remains largely unknown.

To address the question of PI3 kinase- β function in the adult microcirculation, we examined the effect of selective endothelial loss of PI3 kinase- β expression in TMA injury. We observe a dramatic phenotype of lethal kidney failure among mice lacking endothelial expression of the PI3 kinase- β isoform, indicating a critical role of the enzyme in the adult microvasculature. *In vitro* studies using human late blood outgrowth progenitor endothelial cells (hEPC) demonstrate defects in proliferation, cytoskeletal reorganization, and gene transcription associated with a failure to extend sprouts into 3D fibrin gels that model the environment in a thrombosed microvessel. Further, we observe that hEPC deficient in *Pik3cb* expression fail to assemble into microvessels *in vivo*.

8.1 RESULTS

8.1.1 Endothelial-Specific p110β Knockout Renders Mice More Susceptible to Injury and Reduces Survival

To determine the role of p110 β in the mature microvasculature, adult Tie2 ^{ERT2}Cre/p110 β ^{flox/flox} mice received 2mg of tamoxifen or vehicle (oil) daily for 5 days via an intraperitoneal injection to induce the Cre recombinase activity selectively in vascular EC to delete exons 21 and 22 that constitute the kinase domain (Figure 8.1). Mice were then rested for a week before 200 µg/Kg lectin-saporin conjugate (L-S) was injected intraarterially to selectively injure the glomerular capillary microvasculature as described in Chapter V. Vehicle-treated mice tolerated the sublethal dose of the lectin-saporin (L-S) toxin conjugate incurring 25% death at 7 days after injury (Figure 8.2). In contrast, the tamoxifen-treated group, lacking endothelial p110 β , showed signs of morbidity as early as 24 hours after receiving the L-S dose and none survived more than 3 days after L-S injection.

To understand the nature of the renal injury incurred by the p110 β EC- knockout mice, kidney histology was examined. We observed features of persistent glomerular injury of microvascular TMA of glomerular capillaries. Figure 8.3 a, illustrates a thrombus and an apoptotic cell in an arteriole adjacent to a glomerulus with thrombosed capillary lumens. In contrast Figure 8.3 b, shows a healthy glomerulus with patent glomerular capillary lumens. The degree of glomerular injury quantitated by a blinded observer is shown in Figure 8.3 c. Glomerular injury was more frequent among p110 β -deficient mice compared to controls. Consistent with the glomerular damage, features of acute tubular necrosis (ATN) were widespread in both p110 β -deficient and L-S treated control groups (Figure 8.3 d). The kidney function was indistinguishable among the uninjured p110 β -deficient and p110 β -wild type mice. However, the kidney function of the EC p110 β -deficient mice after TMA injury is markedly worse vs controls as assessed by creatinine (Figure 8.3 e) and BUN (Figure 8.3 f).

Fibrin deposition in the kidney glomerulus was evaluated using immunofluorescence staining. Fibrin was present in glomeruli of injured p110β-deficient mice vs controls (Figure 8.4).

EC loss was evaluated by qRT-PCR of endothelial-specific transcripts in kidney cortex. As shown in Figure 8.5, we observed a significant decrease in expression of CD31 and Tie 2 among L-S/LPS-treated animals. Similarly, tubular injury is also evident by the significant increase in mRNA expression of tubular cell injury markers KIM1 and lipocalin 2 (or NGAL). Taken together these data indicate that endothelial p110 β loss in quiescent mature microvessels is tolerated. However, EC p110 β is critically important to maintain organ function and survival of the mouse after glomerular TMA injury.

8.1.2 P110β Knockdown Reduces Sprouting Angiogenesis *in Vitro*

We next evaluated the role of endothelial p110 β in repair of microvascular injury by studying ECs *in vitro*. To evaluate angiogenic sprouting, the hEPC treated with p110 β specific siRNA were coated on Cytodex beads and analyzed for sprout formation after 18 h of stimulation with growth factors. The p110 β siRNA knockdown was verified by Western blot and real time PCR (Figure 8.6 a, b). p110 β -deficient hEPC consistently produced fewer cell protrusions, and shorter extensions from the beads compared to EPC treated with non-specific siRNA, or EPC grown in complete EBM2 without siRNA transfection, even when the beads (control and p110 β knockdown) were cultured in the same fibrin gel

(Figure 8.7 a, b, c). Similarly, the treatment with p110 β specific inhibitor TGX-221 resulted in a modest decrease of sprouting and resulted in shorter migration distance (Figure 8.7 d, e). To determine if p110 β loss caused a cell autonomous defect in endothelial sprouting, we co-cultured p110 β -deficient and p110 β -wild type hEPC on the Cytodex beads, then evaluated the sprouts to determine which cell type led the protruding sprout (Figure 8.8 a, b). We observed that p110 β -deficient hEPC could contribute to either tip or stalk position. Similar to p110 β -deficient hEPC cultures, p110 β -deficient hEPC initiated few sprouts in co-culture with wt cells, hence, p110 β -sufficient EC were unable to rescue the sprouting defect of p110 β knockdown. This data suggests that endothelial p110 β loss impairs EC responses to reparative cues.

8.1.3 P110β Knockdown Reduces Cellular Proliferation and Migration

Next we sought to determine whether p110 β knockdown affects hEPC proliferation and migration. We observed a modest reduction in the fraction of proliferating EC after p110 β knockdown (Figure 8.9). In contrast, inhibition of cell division using mitomycin C treatment completely suppressed cell proliferation.

Cell migration was assessed using a modified Boyden chamber assay. As shown in Figure 8.10 a, p110 β -deficient EPC showed

decreased migration vs the control cells. Similarly, the treatment of EPC with a known p110 β specific inhibitor TGX-221 decreased migration by ~ 30 %. To evaluate a defect in chemokinesis, we eliminated the concentration gradient of the chemotactic agents by adding complete EBM2 in the top and bottom chambers. We observed a similar reduction in chemokinetic cell migration among p110 β -deficient or p110 β -inhibited hEPC vs controls (Figure 8.10 b). These data indicate loss of p110 β function reduces hEPC movement.

8.1.4 P110β Loss Inhibits Differentiation of hEPC into Tip Cells

To evaluate the effect of loss of p110 β function on EC differentiation that enables invasion of the fibrin matrix, we determined the expression of the tip cell markers DLL4, apelin, and ESM1 [479]. We extracted total RNA from hEPC cultured in the fibrin gel after 18 h of growth factor stimulation. As shown in Figure 8.11 a, we observed a significant decrease in DII4 and apelin mRNA expression in the cells pretreated with p110 β siRNA versus controls. In contrast, the expression of a third tip cell gene, ESM1, did not change after p110 β knockdown. These results were confirmed by Western blot (Figure 8.11 b) to demonstrate that the expression DII4 and apelin protein was decreased in hEPC treated with p110 β siRNA versus the cells pre-treated with non-specific siRNA. Taken together with the defective invasion of fibrin matrices, this data suggests loss of p110 β impairs full differentiation of EC to acquire the invasive tip cell phenotype.

8.1.5 PTEN knockdown rescues sprouting in p110 β knockdown cells

To investigate whether the loss of p110 β activity can be overcome during *in vitro* sprouting angiogenesis. We evaluated the combined knockdown of p110 β and PTEN on sprouting *in vitro*. As Figure 8.12 a shows that the double knockdown of p110 β and PTEN significantly increased sprouting as compared to p110 β -treated cells. It appears that PTEN knockdown can reverse the effect of p110 β loss and restores sprouting to normal levels as observed in siRNA control-treated cells.

8.1.6 P110β Loss Reduces Microvessel-Like Formation in vivo

To evaluate the impact of p110 β knockdown in hEPC function *in vivo*, we evaluated *in vivo* vasculogenesis. hEPC transfected with nonsilencing or p110 β siRNA were suspended in matrigel and injected subcutaneously into immunodeficient Rag2^{-/-} mice. After one week, control siRNA-treated hEPC in the matrigel plugs were observed to form microvessel-like structures, and to interact with the invading host vasculature to form chimeric blood vessels (Figure 8.13 a). Some of these were perfused with mouse blood. However, the hEPC treated with p110 β siRNA were generally restricted to the center of the matrigel plug, formed fewer microvessel-like structures, and no chimeric blood vessels were observed (Figure 8.13 b & c). Taken together, these results demonstrate that p110β-deficient hEPC are defective in remodeling associated with microvascular repair.

8.2 **DISCUSSION**

Thrombotic microangiopathy involving the kidney glomerulus is a devastating injury that often results in rapid loss of kidney function. Early observations in clinical specimens identified that endothelial loss and apoptosis [480] was accompanied by proliferative reparative changes in the endothelium [371, 481]. Yet the mechanisms underlying glomerular endothelial defense and repair are largely unknown. PI3 kinase activity can be generated by several isoforms expressed in the endothelial cell to integrate survival and growth signals from a variety of extracellular cues, hence is of interest for development of therapies to enhance repair.

We adopted a genetic approach to examine the role of the PI3 kinase– β isoform in the adult vasculature, and observe that mice are markedly more susceptible to microvascular injury after post-natal, EC-selective, loss of *Pik3cb*. A normally sublethal injury to the glomerular endothelium results in fulminant kidney failure and death. Although, genetic deletion of *Pik3cb* in mice leads to early embryonic death before formation of the primitive vasculature [329], later deletion at the time of vasculogenesis is well tolerated [330]. Consistent with this observation, postnatal EC *Pik3cb* deletion alone did not alter kidney structure or function.

We observe no effect of PI3 kinase- β deficiency on endothelial susceptibility to pro-apoptotic stress. Signal transduction to Akt, a major pathway associated with defense against apoptosis, is mediated via PI3 kinase- α in EC as in other cell types in response to receptor tyrosine kinase agonists such as VEGF [245], but is defective in response to several GPCR agonists among PI3 kinase- β -deficient EC [330, 482]. These observations are consistent with the finding that any activity on the pathway is sufficient to confer protection against death [483]. Taken together, the selective loss of PI3 kinase- β in the endothelium subjected to cytotoxic TMA injury appears to predominantly affect the repair response.

We investigated the effect of PI3 kinase- β loss on fibrin gel invasion *in vitro* to model repair of the injured glomerular capillary endothelium along fibrin-lined basement membrane sheaths [484]. Since PI3 kinase- β in the mouse appears functionally downstream of agonists coupled to both RTK and GPCR [330, 485-487], we anticipated that repair in the glomerular microcirculation involved many of the growth factors, notably VEGF, constitutively expressed by the adjacent glomerular podocytes or mesangial cells [488, 489]. Strikingly, primary human EC, derived from either late blood outgrowth progenitors or mature umbilical veins, required PI3 kinase- β signaling to extend angiogenic sprouts in response to a potent combination of these proangiogenic growth factors. This indicates that PI3 kinase- β in the adult vasculature is functionally coupled to integrate signals from a variety of receptor tyrosine kinases, such as the VEGF and FGF2 receptors, in vascular repair, and reflects distinctly different requirements for EC PI3 kinase- β expression in the adult versus vascular development in the embryo [330].

The downstream events controlled by PI3 kinase- β are largely unknown. A subtle defect in ex vivo angiogenesis in response to SDF-1 α GPCR agonist, but not VEGF, could be demonstrated in aorta from Tie2^{ERT2}Cre/p110 $\beta^{flox/flox}$ mice, but was not linked to a cellular phenotype [330]. Interestingly, defective regulation of integrin adhesion is recognized to contribute to poor platelet aggregation, aggregate stability, and attenuation of thrombosis in vivo after pharmacologic inhibition of PI3 kinase- β in wild-type animals [490, 491]. A similar defect in adhesion complex remodeling of PI3 kinase- β knockdown in EPC may explain the modestly impaired EC migration we observed *in vitro* and account, in part, for impaired endothelial invasion *in vitro*, and vascular assembly by human EC *in vivo*.

Matrix invasion involves the characteristic differentiation of EC leading sprout extension, and the trailing stalk cells [176]. For example, the endothelial notch ligand, Dll4, is expressed by the leading cell and plays a central role in directing specification of the stalk cell [185, 492]. We observed defective induction of both Dll4 and apelin, but not ESM1, among Pl3 kinase- β -deficient sprouts. Moreover the lack of Pl3 kinase- β could not be complemented by wild-type EC to normalize tip cell sprouting.

This suggests that a fundamental cell-autonomous defect in tip cell differentiation contributes to the impaired repair of PI3 kinase- β -deficient endothelium.

However, currently only indirect regulation of gene expression is attributed to PI3 kinase- β [493]. Further work is required to define this pathway.

Although acute injury to the endothelium, as in Shiga-like toxin exposure, is generally repaired by a healthy host vasculature, repetitive injury may overcome or exhaust the reparative potential. For example, genetic deficiency of the complement regulatory proteins that defend the endothelium, or sustained immune attack on the allogeneic microvasculature in a transplant recipient, lead inexorably to organ failure. In diabetic individuals, retinopathy and nephropathy are linked to endothelial apoptosis and the progressive dropout of the microcirculation. Indeed, progressive microcirculation rarefaction may be a common mechanism of kidney failure initiated by diverse causes. Identification of the checkpoints that guard the endothelium and sustain repair may suggest novel treatment strategies for further development.



Figure 8.1: Detection of exons 21 and 22 deletion of *Pik3cb* gene by PCR. Tie2 ^{ERT2}Cre/p110 $\beta^{flox/flox}$ or p110 $\beta^{flox/flox}$ mice received 2mg of tamoxifen or vehicle (oil) daily for 5 days via an intraperitoneal injection. The deletion of exons 21 and 22 was detected by RT-PCR. Primers were designed to amplify a region between exons 16 and exon 24. In the Cre recombinase induced mice the PCR product is expected around 850 bp and 1000 bp in Cre un-induced mice.



Figure 8.2: Kaplan-Meier survival graph of Tie $^{\text{ERT2}}$ Cre/p110 $\beta^{\text{flox/flox}}$ mice. Either Cre recombinase was induced and the animals received saline (β^{KO} /sal) and/or 200 μ g/Kg Lectin-saporin conjugate (β^{KO} /Toxin), or not induced and the animals received 200 μ g/Kg Lectin-saporin ($\beta^{\text{flox/flox}}$ /Toxin) (n ≥ 5 mice/group, p = 0.0006).



Figure 8.3: Histological evaluation and functional analyses of the renal injury. (a) A representative glomerulus from the Cre recombinase induced group (β^{KO} / toxin) show thrombosed arteriole and glomerular capillary lumens (large arrows), and an apoptotic nucleus in the arteriole wall (small arrow), x1000 original magnification. (b) A representative image showing a normal healthy glomerulus from the β^{KO} / saline group, . (c) a comparison of the percentage injured (thrombosis, apoptosis, loss of capillary loop density) glomeruli among the various groups (β^{KO} / saline, $\beta^{flox/flox}$ / Toxin, and β^{KO} / toxin). (d) Semi-quantitative evaluation of acute tubular necrosis (1> 25 %, 2 > 50 %, 3, > 75 %, and 4< 75 % of the field of view). (e) Creatinine concentration in the serum as determined by enzymatic creatinine assay. (f) Determination of blood urea nitrogen levels. N ≥ 5 animals per group. Each bar represents mean ± SEM.* p < 0.05 Mann-Whitney *U* test or two-way ANOVA analysis where applicable.



Figure 8.4: Detection of fibrin deposition in glomeruli by immunofluorescence. At day 3 post L-S injection, the mice were euthanized and kidneys were placed in OCT and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Five um sections were stained with anti-mouse fibrin antibody overnight and an anti-species FITC-labeled secondary antibody. Shown representative images from the groups (β^{KO} /saline, $\beta^{flox/flox}$ / Toxin, and β^{KO} / toxin), x200 original magnification. The graph shows quantitation of the mean integrated density of light inside 10 glomeruli of 5 mice/group, n = 5, * p < 0.05 vs saline control, one-way ANOVA.



Figure 8.5: Real time PCR expression of endothelial markers and kidney injury markers. Total RNA was isolated from kidney cortices at day 3 after L-S/LPS treatment and reverse transcribed into cDNA as described in Methods. Constitutively expressed endothelial genes CD31, TIE2, and kidney injury markers KIM1 and lipocalin2 were assessed by qRT-PCR (n \geq 5 mice/ group; * -p < 0.05 vs control, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 8.6: Quality control of p110 β knockdown by Western blot and qPCR. (a & b) show the selective knockdown of p110 β without affecting the other PI3K catalytic isoform alpha and delta by Western blot and qPCR. (n ≥ 5; * -p < 0.05 vs control, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 8.7: Analysis of sprouting angiogenesis in three-dimension fibrin gel. The EPC were coated on Cytodex beads and embedded in fibrin gel in complete EBM2 and incubated overnight at 37°C, 5% CO₂. hEPC were treated with 50 nM of p110 β siRNA using three different sequences. (a) Representative images showing consecutively sprouting beads from control (medium or no treatment NT), siRNA control, p110 β (x200 original magnification), and control and p110 β beads cultured in the same fibrin gel x50 original magnification. (b & c) Demonstrate the defect of sprouting by p110 β knockdown cells as significantly less cells formed tip cells and migrated shorter distances in the fibrin gel. The results were validated using p110 β specific inhibitor TGX-221 (50 ng/mL) (d, e).(n ≥ 5; * p < 0.05 vs control, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 8.8: Competition assay between control and p110 β knockdown cells. (a) Represents a bead (x200 original magnification) from day 4 of 2 cell populations non-silencing treated EPC and p110 β knockdown showing a preference of the control cells to occupy the tip position (b). (n = 5; * -p < 0.05 vs control, one-way ANOVA).



Figure 8.9: The effect of p110 β knockdown on cellular proliferation as measured by EdU incorporation. The cells were incubated in the presence of 10 mM EdU overnight and assayed for EdU incorporation by flow cytometery. (A) EPC treated with p110 β siRNA significantly reduced the proportion of proliferating cells as compared to EPC cultured in complete EBM2 and received EdU (EPC NT), and to EPC treated with non-specific siRNA sequence (siRNA C). EPC not treated with EdU and EPC treated with proliferation inhibitor mitomycin C (10 µg/mL) serve as negative controls. (B) Representative graphs of flow cytometer results. The bars represent the mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. n=3; * p < 0.05 p110 β vs EPC NT and siRNA C.



Figure 8.10: The effect of p110 β knockdown on cellular migration. The chemotaxis assay was performed using modified Boyden chamber. (a) The siRNA knockdown and p110 β specific inhibitor significantly reduced cellular migration. To eliminate the concentration gradient, or chemokinesis, of the chemotactic compounds, complete EBM2 was added in the top and bottom chambers (b) resulting in decreased random migration by the cells treated with p110 β siRNA or by the inhibitor as compared to control. The bars represent the mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. * p < 0.05 vs NT one-way ANOVA. NT: no treatment, -GFs: no growth factors.



Figure 8.11: The expression of tip cell markers, DLL4, apelin, and ESM1 by qPCR and by Western blot. Total RNA/ cell lysates ware extracted from fibrin gels. The mRNA expression level of ESM1 did not change among the different treatments, however, DLL4 and apelin mRNA expression levels were significantly reduced in EPCs treated with p110 β siRNA (a). Similarly, Dll4, and apelin at the protein level were down regulated. The bars represent the mean ± SEM of four independent experiments. * p < 0.05 analyzed by one-way ANOVA p110 β vs EPC NT and siRNA C.



Figure 8.12: PTEN knockdown overrides p110 β knockdown and restores normal sprouting. EPC were transfected with non-silencing, p110 β , PTEN, or both p110 β /PTEN siRNA. (a) Shows the combined knockdown of p110 β and PTEN rescues the sprouting activity of EPC. (b) Shows representative sprouting beads from p110 β k/d and p110 β /PTEN k/d groups. k/d: knockdown



Figure 8.13: *in vivo* vasculogenesis assay using siRNA control and p110 β siRNA treated EPC. The matrigel plugs were removed after 7 days and embedded in OCT. Five um sections were stained with anti-human and anti-mouse CD31. Twenty fields of view under 200X magnification were counted and analyzed for the presence of microvessels in a double-blinded fashion. Image (a) shows capillaries formed by the human EPC (red) treated with siRNA control, inset, shows a chimera vessel made of control EPCs and mouse endothelial cells. (b) Shows a representative image from the human EPCs treated with p110 β siRNA, x200 original magnification. (d) Quantitation of the number of microvessels per field of view. The bars represent the mean ± SEM of four independent experiments. * p < 0.05 analyzed by one-way ANOVA, p110 β vs siRNA C.
CHAPTER IX

INHIBITION OF PDGFB IMPAIRS KIDNEY MICROVASCULAR REPAIR

9.0 INTRODUCTION

Platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF) belong to a highly conserved family of growth factors that are related based on structure and function. PDGF exist as homodimers PDGF-AA, PDGF-BB, PDGF-CC, and PDGF-DD and as heterodimer PDGF-AB. PDGF-AA and –BB are secreted in the active form, whereas PDGF-CC and –DD are secreted in a latent form that must be cleaved outside the cell to become active [264, 265]. PDGF-CC is cleaved by tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA) and by plasmin, whereas urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) acts on PDGF-DD [265].

The PDGF isoforms bind to receptor tyrosine kinase homodimers PDGFR- $\alpha\alpha$, PDGFR- $\beta\beta$, and the heterodimer PDGFR- $\alpha\beta$ with different affinities [264]. PDGFAA binds to PDGFR α chain exclusively, PDGFBB is a ligand to the three receptors, PDGFCC appears to be specific ligand to the alpha chain of either homo- or heterodimer form, whereas PDGFDD binds PDGFR β [265, 494, 495]. PDGF have strong mitogenic activity and the activation of their cognate receptors is important during embryonic development and in wound healing. In addition, PDGF signaling has been associated in disorders such as cancers, and vascular diseases [285].

PDGF exert their effect mainly on smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts that can potentially lead to vascular fibrosis and other pathologies [286].

The expression of PDGF isoforms and their receptors in human and mouse kidney cells is well established. PDGF-AA is expressed by podocytes and epithelial cells of distal tubules and of collecting duct in human, and in the loop of Henle cells in mouse [269, 270]. PDGFBB is expressed in the glomerulus of a mature mouse by either podocytes or glomerular endothelial cells. However during embryonic development PDGFBB transcripts are highly expressed by vascular endothelial cells of the developing kidney [270]. During embryonic development, endothelium specific deletion of PDGFBB results in failure of glomerular maturity due to impaired recruitment of mesangial cells [496]. Similarly, early post-natal blockade of PDGFBB signaling reduces mesangial cell recruitment and disrupts glomerular development [497]. Inhibition of PDGFBB signaling impaired renal regeneration in a rat model of acute tubular necrosis (ATN) [498]. In addition, low levels of PDGF-BB are expressed in human mesangial cells and in mouse arteries smooth muscle cells [267].

PDGF-CC is found in human glomerular parietal epithelial cells, proximal and distal tubules, and in endothelial cells in arteries. In mouse, PDGF-CC is expressed in glomerular endothelial cells and in arterial smooth muscle and endothelial cells [271]. PDGF-DD expression in humans is limited to podocytes and to vascular smooth muscle cells, whereas, in mouse PDGF-DD is constitutively expressed by mesangial cells [272]. PDGFR- α is localized to kidney interstitial and mesangial cells. PDGFR- β is found in parietal epithelial, mesangial, and interstitial cells [499].

PDGF isoforms are constitutively expressed, or components of the PDGF/PDGFR system can be induced in most kidney cells. It is reported that the majority of experimental models and human kidney diseases have an irregular expression of PDGF isoforms and/or receptors [267]. Overexpression PDGF-BB and –DD, which both drive activation of PDGFR β in glomeruli can lead to mesangial cell proliferation and to the development of glomerulosclerosis and eventually tubulointerstitial fibrosis [287]. PDGF-DD has been directly implicated in the development of tubular interstitium fibrosis likely by inducing epithelial to mesenchymal transition that is controlled by the microRNA miR-200 family [287, 288].

Since we identified early up-regulation of PDGFB in sublethally injured mice challenged with the L-S toxin to induce TMA. We sought to investigate the impact of inhibiting PDGFB on renal microvascular injury and repair. We infected Bl/6 mice with an adenovirus vector expressing the extracellular domain of PDGFR β and/or the Fc portion of IgG (control) and induced glomerular endothelial cells specific injury with a sublethal dose of lectin-saporin (L-S) conjugate (described in Chapter 4). Remarkably, the injured animals expressing the soluble PDGFR β did not survive past day 2 post L-S/LPS injection, whereas the control animals survived to day 7 when they were euthanized as planned. Our results demonstrate that PDGFB is an essential growth factor that plays an important role to initiate the repair mechanism in the kidney.

9.1 RESULTS

9.1.1 Cloning Soluble PDGFRβ and Adenovirus Production

The adnenovirus vector expressing the extra-cellular domain (ECD) of PDGFR β (Ad sPDGFRb/PH) was generated in Dr. Kuo's lab [500] and sent to us on a Whatman filter paper. We received two plasmids one control that encodes the Fc portion of IgG (Ad Fc) and the second encodes the sPDGFR β . The plasmids were eluted off the filter papers with water and cloned into DH5 α competent *E. coli*. Seven colonies from sPDGFR β and one colony from the Fc transformation reations were grown overnight to isolate the plamids. The plasmid mini-prep reaction was resolved on 0.8 % agarose gel (Figure 9.1 a). To ensure the plasmids from the sPDGFR β transformation reaction encodes the ECD of PDGFR β , a PCR reaction was performed, using ECD specific primers that amplify 650 bp of the ECD, and resolved on 1.2 % agarose gel (Figure 9.1 b).

The Ad sPDGFR β and Ad Fc plasmids were sent to the Molecular Biology Core at the Cardiovascular Research Center at the University of Alberta to generate the adenovirus. Viral DNA was isolated from HEK 293 cells infected with the adenovirus and the expression of sPDGFR β ECD was detected by PCR to confirm the adenoviral vector is carrying the sequence of interest (Figure 9.2 a). To ensure the adenoviruses are infective and can generate the recombinanat proteins. EPC and HEK 293 cells were infected with 50 μ L of adenovirus cell lysates and protein expression in the supernatants of the infected cells was detected by Western blot using anti His-tag antibody. Both adenoviruses Ad sPDGFR β and Ad Fc were infective and the protein products were detected as shown in Figure 9.2 b.

9.1.2 sPDGFRβ Inhibits Mesangial Cells bFGF Production After PDGFB Stimulation

We tested the functionality of the soluble PDGFR β receptor by blocking PDGFBB stimulation of mesangial cells and inhibition of bFGF production. Human mesangial cells stimulated with recombinant human PDGFBB released significant amount of bFGF as compared to unstimulated cells. However, pre-incubation of the cells with supernatants from adenovirus (Ad sPDGFR β) infected cells significantly reduced bFGF release by mesangial cells after PDGFBB stimulation. On the other hand, pre-incubation of mesangial cells with the supernatants from Ad Fc infected cells had no effect on bFGF production after PDGFBB stimulation (Figure 9.3). This data indicates effective blockade by sPDGFR β of PDGFBB signaling. In addition, it demonstrates PDGFBB stimulation of mesangial cells induces bFGF expression. This result suggests a cascade of reparative growth factors in the glomerulus with early PDGFBB production, signaling, and subsequent bFGF secretion.

9.1.3 *in vivo* Study of the Effect of PDGFB Inhibition After Renal Injury

C57BI/6 mice were infected with the optimized virus concentration of 10^8 pfu per mouse intravenously. Three days later the mice were challenged with 200 µg/Kg (low dose) lectin-saporin. The timeline of the experimental procedure is shown in Figure 9.4. The animals appeared in good conditions 24 h after the delivery of the L-S/LPS in both groups (control Ad Fc and the Ad sPDGFR β). However, the mice that received the sPDGFR β adenovirus became morbid 48 h after they received the L-S/LPS injection and had to be euthanized (Figure 9.5). In contrast, the animals that received the control Ad Fc adenovirus did not show any signs of distress and survived to day 7 as expected after treatment with the low dose of L-S/LPS toxin.

The production of the recombinant proteins in the mice was evaluated at day 5 post virus injection or at day 2 post L-S/LPS challenge. The sPDGFR β and Fc portion of IgG were expressed in the animals sera as shown in Figure 9.6.

The semi-quantitative histological evaluation of the renal injury revealed a greater susceptibility to injury in the Ad sPDGFR β + L-S group when compared to the group that received Ad Fc control virus + L-S. There were more injured glomeruli (Figure 9.7 a & c) and a greater percentage of fields of view exhibiting signs of acute tubular necrosis (Figure 9.7 b & d) in the Ad sPDGFR β + L-S/LPS group.

The kidney function was evaluated by the measurement of serum creatinine, BUN, and the presence of proteinuria. The Ad sPDGFR β group had significantly higher serum creatinine and BUN concentrations as compared to Ad Fc and to saline groups at day 2 post L-S injection (Figure 9.8 a & b). The presence of protein in the urine was higher in the Ad Fc group (Figure 9.8 c) when compared to saline control group.

The presence of fibrin clot in the glomeruli was evaluated by immunofluorescence. Fibrin positive glomeruli were detected in both Ad sPDGFR β and Ad Fc groups (Figure 9.9). Quantitation of the fluorescence intensity in the glomeruli showed a slight increase in the Ad sPDGFR β group when compared to Ad Fc group. No glomeruli with positive fibrin staining were detected in the saline control group (Figure 9.9).

The kidney injury was also evaluated by real time PCR. The mRNA expression levels of endothelial markers CD31 and Tie 2 were markedly down-regulated in the sPDGFR β group. However, only Tie2 was significantly down regulated in the Ad Fc group as compared to saline control group (Figure 9.10). The markers of renal injury KIM1 and lipocalin 2 were up regulated in the sPDGFR β group but modestly up regulated in the Ad Fc group as compared to control modestly up regulated in the Ad Fc group as compared to control (Figure 9.10).

The expression levels of bFGF and VEGF were down regulated in the group of mice that was treated with Ad sPDGFR β + 200 µg/Kg L-S + LPS as compared to control mice. Interestingly, VEGF was also down regulated in the group of mice that received Ad Fc and L-S + LPS at day 7 post L-S/LPS injection (Figure 9.11)

The mRNA expression levels of PDGF isoforms B, A, C, and D had differential expression levels among the different groups. PDGFB was significantly up regulated in the injured mice that received sPDGFR β and/or Ad Fc at day 2, then expression was normalized in the surviving Ad Fc group by day 7. PDGFA mRNA expression was found significantly upregulated in the Ad sPDGFR β group at day 2 and Ad Fc group at day 7. PDGFC mRNA expression levels did not change among the various groups and at the different time points. Lastly, PDGFD mRNA expression level was only up regulated in the mice that received Ad Fc + L-S/LPS albeit at day 7 post L-S/LPS injection (Figure 9.12).

We examined expression of EC tip cell genes to evaluate endothelial repair. The mRNA expression levels of tip cell markers apelin DII4, ESM1, and CXCR4 were determined by real time PCR. Interestingly, the expression of apelin and DII4 were mostly up regulated in the mice that received the Ad Fc adenovirus and L-S/LPS at day 7. ESM1 expression did not change, but CXCR4 mRNA expxression was up regulated in the Ad Fc + L-S/LPS group at day 2 post L-S injection (Figure 9.13).

9.2 DISCUSSION

In the present chapter, we investigated the role of PDGF-B in primary glomerular endothelial cells damage. In the L-S TMA mouse model of kidney injury, the inhibition of PDGF-B by sPDGFRβ resulted in

decreased kidney function, worsened glomerular injury, and excacerbated tubular damage, when compared to mice that received low dose L-S+LPS only. The most striking observation was the high mortality rate of the mice that received low dose L-S+LPS and sPDGFR β inhibition as no animal survived past day 2 after induction of kidney injury. In contrast, there was one death in the control groups receiving L-S+LPS+ Ad Fc group. The adminstration of adenovirus expressing sPDGFR β or Ad Fc without L-S treatment did not result in any mortality or caused glomerular injury or proteinuria.

The PDGF family is the best-characterized growth factors in healthy and diseased kidneys [285]. All components of the PDGF family, ligands and receptors, are either constitutively expressed or induced in almost all kidney cells [285].

Platelet-derived growth factors were first thought to mediate inflammation during renal injury, based on the temporal expression of PDGF and their receptors [501]. Indeed, mounting evidence implicate PDGF in kidney pathologies ranging from induction of mesangial proliferation, development of kidney fibrosis, to glomerular angiogenesis [267]. The main PDGF isoforms linked to mesangial proliferation and the development of glomerulscelrosis are PDGF-B and PDGF-D. Eventually, the autocrine and paracrine signaling of PDGF-B and -D in the glomeruli lead to development of tubulointerstitial fibrosis [287]. Despite the overwhelming evidence of PDGF role in renal disease pathogenesis we

241

should not neglect the beneficial effect of PDGF during tissue remodeling and repair [502]. In a Thy1.1 mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis (MPGN) rat animal model that is accompanied by extensive glomerular endothelial cell (GEC) damage [503], the infusion of PDGF-C resulted in reduction of mesangiolysis and microaneurysm as well as increased GEC proliferation. In addition, PDGF-C infusion increased bFGF expression in the glomeruli. Similarly, inhibition of PDGF-C in a mouse model of thrombotic microangiopathy exacerbated the renal injury and reduced GEC area [503]. GEC can also participation in capillary repair and restoration of glomerular architecture after mesangial injury that occurs in the Thy1.1 model of MPGN. Although mesangial proliferation is a principal response to the injury, GEC proliferation was also observed from day 2 to day 14 that was accompanied by capillary repair and up-regulation of VEGF. The GEC proliferation was reduced by 40 % with neutralizing bFGF antibodies [504]. The inhibition of PDGF-B and PDGFR with either trapidil or Ki6896, which inhibit PDGF-B binding to its receptor and selectively inhibit PDGFR β phosphorylation respectively, adversely affected tubular repair after an ischemia injury in rats. The inhibition of PDGF-B/PDGFR β axis leads to increase serum creatinine concentration, inhibition of tubular epithelial cells proliferation and most importantly, higher mortality rate [498].

It appears that systemic inhibition of PDGF-B in the presence of a kidney injury is lethal. In our TMA model of glomerular endothelial cells

injury a dose of 200 μ g/Kg L-S/LPS resulted in a mild renal damage such that the overwhelming majority of the mice overcame the injury and showed signs of repair by day 7 that were almost indistinguishable from normal uninjured mice (described in Chpater 4). However, despite the mild renal injury the inhibition of PDGF-B exacerbated the damage to overwhelm repair and the mice succumbed to the injury. Cross talk between the different glomerular cell types is of a great importance in health and in disease. PDGF-B does not exert its activity directly on glomerular endothelial cells as the PDGF receptors have not been detected in adult mouse GEC, and inhibition of PDGFB by neutralizing antibodies did not affect GEC proliferation in Thy1.1 animal model [267, 504]. It has been shown that PDGF-B is up regulated in the glomeruli after an injury and it is produced by mesangial cells, podocytes, parietal epithelial cells and by circulating leukocytes [276-278, 505]. Through autocrine and paracrine stimulation PDGF-B can activate mesangial cells and podocytes to release bFGF and VEGF that can activate GEC and induce vascular repair [267, 282, 504]. We demonstrated that sPDGFR β both blocked PDGFB-stimulated bFGF expression by mesangial cells in vitro, and bFGF transcripts expression in the kidney cortex of injured animals. Endothelial recovery is a crucial factor in the resolution of the injury in our TMA animal model. Growth factors such as VEGF and bFGF are very important elements in endothelial survival and glomerualr capillary repair [504, 506]. Thus, the inhibiton of PDGF-B deprives GEC

from the mitogenic and angiogenic effects of bFGF and VEGF [205, 416] likely resulting in impairement of vascular repair mechanism and leading to more severe renal damage.

Inhibition of PDGFR β can lead to glomerular endothelial cell apoptosis in neo-natal mice. The administration of a PDGFR β neutralizing antibody daily resulted in disturbance of glomerular structure that was apparent by noticeable reduction in mesangial cells. Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase nick-end labeling (TUNEL) showed that GEC in the outer kidney cortex region underwent apoptosis. The tubular cells did not appear to sustain any damage [497].

PDGF-B is one of the 4 isoforms present in injured kidney, but is up-regulated after injury and is more widely expressed, along with PDGFR β , in animal models of renal diseases than any other isoform [267]. PDGFB binds to all PDGFR isoforms $\alpha\alpha$, $\alpha\beta$, and $\beta\beta$ [494, 495]. PDGFB is a strong inducer of mesangial cells proliferation and migration [507]. PDGF-A binds only to PDGFR $\alpha\alpha$, which is expressed on mesangial and tubular cells [267, 272], and exerts a weak effect on mesangial cells proliferation and migration [507]. PDGF-D binds predominantly to PDGFR $\beta\beta$ [265]. PDGF-C is largely a ligand for PDGFR $\alpha\alpha$ and can bind PDGFR $\alpha\beta$ [265]. Boor et al. [503] reported that inhibtion of PDGF-C by neutralizing antibodies in a conA-TMA mouse model resulted in a significant increase in glomerular injury, but BUN and proteinuria were not different from controls at day 4 after induction of injury. Although, the conA-TMA model is different from our L-S TMA model, the results largely support the premise that PDGF have an important function in jumpstarting vascular repair mechanism after a renal injury. Our systemic evaluation of PDGF isoforms expression in kidney cortex after injury indicates PDGFB is both markedly elevated vs baseline, and is up-regulated earlier than other PDGF isoforms after injury. Our observation that blockade of PDGFR β signaling results in collapse of the repairative response after TMA injury, emphasizes the central role that PDGFBB plays in preserving kidney function after vascular stress.

In this chapter, I studied the role of PDGF-B in glomerular capillary repair. The inhibition of PDGF-B by adenovirus vector expressing soluble PDGFRβ followed by induction of GEC specific injury by L-S resulted in high mortality as no mouse survived past day 2 after the injection of a sublethal dose of L-S. The kidney injury was characterized by increased glomerular damage, high serum creatinine concentration and BUN, and an increased glomerular fibrin staining. At the molecular level, the endothelial markers CD31 and Tie2 mRNA expression were down regulated, and the kidney injury markers KIM1 and lipocalin2 were significantly up regulated.



Figure 9.1: Cloning of sPDGFR β and Fc vectors. The Ad sPDGFR β and Ad Fc plasmids were cloned into DH5 α competent *E. coli* strain and the resulting colonies were grown overnight. The plasmids mini-prep reactions were resolved on 0.8 % agarose gel (a). The plasmids were used in a PCR reaction to amplify 650 bp portion of the sPDGFR β ECD (b) and the reaction was analyzed on 1.2 % agarose gel. Primers are listed in Chapter 3, Table 2.



Figure 9.2: Production of adenoviruses and protein detection. Viral DNA was isolated from cell lysates of adenovirus-infected cells that express the E1 region of the adenovirus geneome. The ECD of sPDGFR β was detected by PCR (a). EPC and HEK 293 cells were infected with 50 μ L of adenovirus cell lysates. The sPDGFR β (Ad PH) and IgG Fc were detected in the infected cell supernatant by Western blot, using anti 6-His tag antibody, 24 h after infection (b).



Figure 9.3: Inhibition of mesangial cell bFGF production by PDGFBB stimulation using sPDGFRb. Human mesangial cells were treated with 20 ng/mL recombinant human PDGFBB, pre-incubated with 25 μ L supernatant from adenovirus (Ad sPDGFR β , Ad Fc) infected cells, or left untreated. One hundred uL of the supernantants from the mesangial cells were assayed for bFGF using human bFGF ELISA kit. (n=3. The bars represent mean ± SEM, p < 0.05 vs medium control one way ANOVA).



Figure 9.4: Timeline of the experimental procedure. C57Bl/6 mice were injected with 10^8 pfu/mouse Ad sPDGFR β and/or Ad Fc intravenously 3 days before the mice were challenged with 200 µg/Kg lectin-saporin conjugate and LPS. Tissues were collected at day 2 post L-S challenge as all the Ad sPDGFR β infected mice were euthanized at that day and the animals infected with control virus (Ad Fc) were euthanized at day 2 and day 7 post challenge.



Figure 9.5: Effect of PDGFBB inhibition on the response to L-S challenge in mice. Kaplan-Meier survival graph of animals treated with PBS, Ad Fc + 200 μ g/kg L-S/LPS, or Ad sPDGFR β + 200 μ g/kg L-S/LPS (n ≥ 5 / group, p = 0.0004 Log-rank test).



Figure 9.6: Detection of recombinant protein expression in mice sera. C57Bl/6 mice were injected with 10^8 pfu/mouse intravenously of Ad sPDGFR β and/or Ad Fc adenoviruses. Blood samples were collected 5 days later and assayed by SDS/PAGE and Western blot for the expression of proteins of interest using anti His-tag antibody.



Figure 9.7: Semi-quantitative evaluation of the kidney injury. C57BI/6 were injected with 10^8 pfu/mouse of either Ad Fc (control virus) or Ad sPFGFR β virus or received saline (control). Three days later the animals received 200 µg/Kg L-S+LPS or received only saline. Glomerular and tubular injuries were analyzed by pathologist (DCR) blinded to treatment groupds (30 different glomeruli and 30 different fields of view respectively). The inhibition of PDGFB resulted in an increase in injured glomeruli and in ATN (a & b) as compared to saline (control). The mice that received the Ad sPDGFR β adenovirus + L-S showed more susceptibility to the L-S injury than their Ad Fc + L-S mice. (c) shows a representative image of an injured glomerulus from Ad sPDGFR β group with an apoptotic cell (arrow) in the capillary wall. (d) shows injured tubular cells from the Ad sPDGFR β group as well. (x1000 original magnification). (n = 5, The bars represent mean ± SEM, p< 0.05 vs control Mann-whitney *U* test).



Figure 9.8: Evaluation of renal function as measured by serum creatinine blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and proteinuria. The mice that received Ad sPDGFR β + L-S showed a significant increase in serum creatinine concentration and BUN (a & b) as determined by enzymatic cretinine assay and BUN kit respectively. The total protein presence in urine was significantly increased in both Ad sPDGFR β and Ad Fc groups as compared to contol mice. (n = 5, the bars represent mean ± SEM, p < 0.05 vs control).



Figure 9.9: Detection of fibrin deposition in glomeruli by immunofluorescence. At day 2 post L-S injection the mice were euthanized and kidneys were placed in OCT and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Five μ m sections were stained with anti-mouse fibrin antibody overnight and an anti-species FITC-labeled secondary antibody. (a) A representative image from saline group, (b) an image from Ad Fc+L-S group, and (c) from Ad sPDGFR β +L-S group (Ad sR β), x200 original magnification. (d) Quantitation of the mean integrated density of light inside 10 consecutive glomeruli (n = 5. The bars represent mean ± SEM, p< 0.05 one way ANOVA).



Figure 9.10: Expression of endothelial and kidney injury markers. Total RNA was isolated from kidney cortices reversed transcribed into cDNA as described in Methods. Constitutively expressed endothelial genes CD31, TIE2, and kidney injury markers KIM1 and lipocalin2 were assessed by qRT-PCR (n = 5. The bars represent mean \pm SEM, p< 0.05 vs control PBS-PBS, one way ANOVA).



Figure 9.11: The effect of PDGFBB inhibition on expression of bFGF and VEGF among injured mice. bfgf expression was decreased among mice treated with sPDGFR β and 200 µg/Kg L-S+LPS. VEGF was down-regulated in the mice that were treated with the control Ad Fc virus or sPDGFR β and 200 µg/Kg L-S + LPS. (n = 5. The bars represent mean ± SEM, p< 0.05 vs control PBS-PBS, one way ANOVA).



Figure 9.12: The mRNA expression levels of PDGF isoforms after injury. C57Bl/6 were injected with 10^8 pfu/mouse of either Ad Fc (control virus), Ad sPFGFR β virus, or saline (control). Three days later the animals received 200 µg/Kg L-S+LPS or saline. Total RNA was isolated from kidney cortices. PDGF-B, -A, C, and –D mRNA expression was assessed by qRT-PCR (n = 5. The bars represent mean ± SEM, p< 0.05 vs control PBS-PBS one way ANOVA).



Figure 9.13: Tip cell marker gene expression after adenovirus and L-S injection. C57Bl/6 were injected with 10^8 pfu/mouse of either Ad Fc (control virus), Ad sPFGFR β virus, or saline (control). Three days later the animals received 200 µg/Kg L-S+LPS or saline. Total RNA was isolated from kidney cortices. DLL4, Apelin, and ESM1 mRNA expression was assessed by qRT-PCR (n = 5. The bars represent mean ± SEM, p< 0.05 vs control PBS-PBS, one way ANOVA).

CHAPTER X

GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

10.0 Overview of Findings

Functional and structural damage to the kidney microvasculature are major contributors to the development and progression of acute kidney injury (AKI). AKI can lead to acute renal failure, which is prevalent among hospitalized patients and is estimated between 1-35 % and is associated with high mortality rate [508, 509]. Renal endothelial injury is a hallmark of diseases termed thrombotic microangiopathies (TMA) that include hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS), thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), vasculitis, and certain modes of renal transplant rejection [21, 24, 34, 378]. Aside from dialysis and renal transplantation, clinicians do not have many options at their disposal for renal replacement therapy. Many investigators are studying alternative therapeutic strategies to repair the renal microvasculature and restore kidney function. The majority of the new strategies are based on the delivery of angiogenic factors and on endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) transplantation [12, 462, 510].

The concept of vascular restoration has gained enormous attention since Asahara's report on the isolation of peripheral blood CD34+ cells that differentiated into endothelial-like cells *in vitro* termed EPC [8, 12]. For over a decade of research on the identity of EPC, we still do not have

good understanding of this cell population. To date EPC lack a specific marker and are only identified by the time they appear in culture. The cell populations are termed early or late outgrowth cells. The cells are recognized as two distinct cell types. The early outgrowth cells are known to produce angiogenic factors but do not incorporate into the blood vessel wall. In contrast, the late outgrowth cells do not produce angiogenic factors but are involved in neovascularization [12, 17, 397, 421]. Regardless of the controversy, EPC still represent a great potential for treatment of vascular diseases with many ongoing clinical trials aimed at studying means of increasing EPC numbers and mobilization, as well as autologous EPC transplantation [462]. However, the results of the clinical trials have not reached satisfactory levels to use EPC in clinical practice, and more research is still needed to enhance our understanding, and to devise new strategies to improve the efficacy of EPC as a treatment for vascular diseases [462, 511].

This thesis work is focused on studying renal microvascular injury and repair. We investigated repair by EPC transplantation into the GECspecific TMA model that we developed in the lab. We studied the role of PI3K catalytic subunit p110 β in angiogenesis and in GEC repair. In addition, we examined the role of platelet-derived growth factor- (PDGF)-B in glomerular capillary repair.

In order to study kidney microvascular repair we needed to develop a glomerular endothelial cell specific injury model. Despite the availability

of numerous animal models of kidney injury, however, none met the criteria of injury that we were seeking. We initially adopted the Shiga toxin animal model of kidney injury. The verocytotoxin is the leading cause of non-familial diarrhea + HUS in the human [512, 513]. However, after experimentation we noticed that the injury affected mostly tubular and did not suit our goal of eliciting EC-specific damage. The development of GEC-specific mouse model of renal injury was critical for the progression of the work presented in this thesis. The animal model was based on the binding properties of MOA lectin to Gal α (1,3)Gal carbohydrate epitope that was previously shown to bind specifically to glomerular capillary cells in CD1 mice [381]. Warner et al. also demonstrated that a concentration of 23 mg/Kg can induce GEC injury, but the renal damage was not uniform, and the authors presented very shallow description of the renal injury without including descriptions of the hallmarks of TMA. Nevertheless, the carbohydrate binding properties of MOA lectin were taken into consideration to form the basis of our TMA animal model. We used the MOA lectin as a vector to deliver the potent toxin, saporin to enhance the killing activity of MOA lectin. Interestingly, saporin lacks a binding domain and cannot enter the cell on its own but once internalized it is highly toxic [514]. The MOA lectin and saporin were conjugated using the long-chain disulfide crosslinker LC-SPDP. The stoichiometry of the reaction resulted in mainly 1:1 lectin-saporin conjugates. In our experiments with C57BI/6 strain of mice, we detected binding to the heart microvessels of the

biotinylated MOA lectin in addition the GEC. This is a striking difference from what Warner et al. have reported. It is likely reflecting that the carbohydrate epitope Gala(1,3)Gal is differentially expressed in different mouse strains. In order to avoid the heart microcirculation, we developed a surgical procedure to deliver the lectin-saporin conjugate away from the heart by cannulating the left carotid artery. The toxin was injected retrograde of the blood flow and down the descending aortic arch. The surgical procedure was successful in delivering the toxin molecules to the GEC without affecting the heart microvessels. The lectin-saporin conjugate was very effective in killing GEC at low concentrations since even 500 μ g/Kg (compared to the mild injury incurred with 23 mg/Kg of MOA lectin alone reported by Warner et al.) caused severe renal capillary thrombosis within 12 h after injection. The lectin-saporin animal model captures many features of TMA, including thrombosis, loss of GEC, proteinuria, schistocytosis, and increase in serum creatinine and BUN [515], which provides a method to study the consequences of endothelial injury and the subsequent downstream effects leading up to activation of the repair mechanism and injury resolution.

There are few reports on the subject of kidney endothelial cell regeneration by EPC [12]. We sought to study GEC repair, using our TMA animal model, by *ex vivo* expanded human EPC. We selected the late outgrowth EPC because they represent the progenitor population with the "true" endothelial lineage [17, 83]. We comprehensively characterized the

EPC according to the reported functional and biochemical analysis that are required to positively identify this cell population. In addition, we added two more in vitro tests to ensure the endothelial lineage commitment of EPC. We cultured the hEPC in different media formulated to drive differentiation of embryonic stem cells to other cell types such as, chondrocytes, adipocytes, and macrophages. This test did not result in change of the endothelial phenotype. Moreover, the treatment of hEPC with TGF β isoforms 1 and 2 did not mediate endothelial to mesenchymal transition in vitro. Taken together, our analyses of hEPC indicate that this progenitor cell population is committed to the endothelial lineage at least under in vitro culturing conditions. This makes EPC suitable candidate progenitor cells to study vascular repair in vivo and possibly circumvent the reported maldifferentiation problems encountered with stem cells transplantations [400]. The study of GEC repair by hEPC using our TMA animal model was very challenging as the Rag2^{-/-}γ^{-/-} mouse strain was sensitive to the surgery procedure despite the treatment with low sublethal dose of L-S conjugate. Nonetheless, the hEPC persisted in the injured animals to day 4 post L-S injection, whereas we did not detect a signal of hEPC in the control uninjured animals after 24h. Interestingly, it appears the hEPC were engrafted only in the glomerular capillaries and maintained expression of endothelial markers such as CD31, and Tie2 as demonstrated by real time PCR. This suggests the approach may well work after the technical challenges are overcome.

Major functions of endothelial cells include forming blood vessels during embryonic development, mediating repair of vascular damage, and contributing to tumor neovascularization [415, 516, 517]. To study the angiogenic competence of EPC, we selected a 3-D in vitro angiogenesis assay that captures many features of the angiogenesis process in vivo [172]. The EPC proved to be more angiogenic than HUVEC but not more than HAEC. Co-culture of EPC and HUVEC enhanced the latter their angiogenic capacity in a process that is dependent on cell-cell contact and not on the release of pro-angiogenic factors. Cell conditioned-medium (CCM) from EPC did not confer the same effect on HUVEC cultured alone. We also demonstrated that EPC occupy more often the tip cell position of a given sprout, whereas HUVEC were found mostly in the stalk of the angiogenic sprouts. In addition, we demonstrated the involvement of the PI3K catalytic isoforms p110 β and p110 δ , and FGD5 in sprouting angiogenesis in vitro. The selective siRNA knockdown of the aforementioned genes significantly inhibited the sprouting of EPC in fibrin gels.

It was previously reported that PI3K catalytic isoform $p110\alpha$ is required for angiogenesis during development in an endothelial-restricted conditional knockout mouse study. The authors also reported that $p110\beta$ deletion in endothelial cells had no bearing on the embryonic development of blood vessels [330]. In light of our *in vitro* results where $p110\beta$ knockdown in EPC resulted in significant inhibition of sprout formation in fibrin gel, we sought to investigate whether p110 β signaling is required during tissue injury and repair using the same conditional EC-restricted p110 β knockout mouse generated by Graupera et al. [330] and our TMA model of glomerular injury. Post-natal deletion of endothelial Pik3cb was done, and then mice were given a sublethal dose of L-S conjugate. Within the first 24 h the p110 β knockout mice did not exhibit signs of morbidity. However, by day 2 post L-S injection the mice began to show signs of distress so that by day 3 all the mice were morbid. In contrast, the vehicletreated mice plus low dose of L-S conjugate remained relatively healthy (one exception) and survived to day 7. Histological evaluation of kidney sections demonstrated an increase of glomerular and tubular injury in the p110 β knockout group as compared to control (no tamoxifen plus 200 μ g/Kg L-S/LPS). In addition, the p110 β knockout group had higher serum creatinine and BUN levels indicative of acute renal failure. It should be noted that the animals that received the tamoxifen treatment but left uninjured survived over one month, until the experiment was terminated, without exhibiting any sign of morbidity. Our in vitro and in vivo results indicate that p110 β signaling or scaffolding functions are important in responding to repair cues released at the site of microvascular injury.

To understand further the cross talk among the glomerular tuft cells and the type of cues that are released at the site of injury. We sought to investigate the effect of inhibition of PDGFB on glomerular repair. We obtained an adenoviral vector expressing the soluble ectodomain of PDGFR β that has been reported to efficiently inhibit PDGFB activity *in vivo* [500]. The adenovirus expression system has the distinct advantage over small molecule kinase inhibitors, which have a wide range of substrate specificities, in that the target is specific and the expression is long lasting (> 30 days). The adenovirus infection remains epichromosomal, lacks E1 region of its genome and cannot replicate, and most importantly is well tolerated [500, 518, 519].

We challenged the mice expressing PDGFB blocker with a low dose (200 μ g/Kg + LPS) L-S conjugate to induce GEC injury. In the first 24h after L-S injection the mice appeared healthy however by day 2, post L-S injection, the health of the mice had deteriorated so that they were morbid. On the other hand, the mice that were challenged with low dose L-S but received the control vector survived normally. Histological evaluation of kidney sections revealed higher number of injured glomeruli and more injured tubules in the sPDGFR β group as compared to control. Functionally, the kidneys from the sPDGFR β group fared worse than the injured control mice as measured by higher serum creatinine and BUN concentrations as well as higher proteinuria indicative of acute renal failure.

PDGFB activity is important for mesangial activation and production of bFGF and VEGF [488, 520]. In addition, injured glomeruli podocytes gain expression of PDGFR β where PDGFB likely activates podocytes to increase VEGF production [282, 521]. The complex and close interaction among the glomerular endothelial cells, mesangial cells, and podocytes is essential for proper glomerular function. Any disturbance in one cell type can generate adverse changes in the others [521]. The inhibition of PDGFB signaling during GEC injury likely deprives the endothelial cells from the proangiogenic effects of bFGF [452] and a concentration gradient of VEGF [174] that are necessary to jumpstart the angiogenesis process and vascular repair by endothelial cells. Our results indicate that inhibition of PDGFB signaling exacerbates renal microvascular injury and impedes the initiation of the repair mechanism.

The major contributions of my thesis work are: 1) the development of a glomerular endothelial cell-specific injury model that can be utilized to further our understanding of thrombotic microangiopathy diseases and the role of endothelial cells in the development and the resolution of the injury, 2) provision of evidence of EPC location and possible engraftment in the glomerular capillary walls and their persistence in the injured animals, which render them suitable to study long-term engraftment and vascular repair, 3) the identification of novel roles of the PI3K signal transduction pathway in the endothelium, specifically, the catalytic subunits p110 β and p110 δ , and FGD5 are critical for angiogenesis, 4) the demonstration that p110 β activity is required for proper GEC repair, as the endothelialrestricted deletion of p110 β rendered the mice more susceptible to renal injury that resulted in acute renal failure, and 5) the provision of evidence

267

on the importance of PDGFB signaling in initiating the repair mechanism after GEC-specific injury.

In summary, my thesis work provides endothelial cell researchers with a GEC-specific animal model suitable to study various aspects of endothelial injury and repair. The data presented in this thesis also advance our understanding of the endogenous repair mechanism and the adverse effect caused by the absence of one growth factor (PDGFB) or the disruption of one signaling pathway. Thus, we identified two checkpoints 1) the up-regulation of PDGFB and 2) intact PI3 Kinase- β signaling that mediate renal microvascular repair. Failure of either exacerbates otherwise reparable injury and can lead to higher morbidity and mortality
10.1 Future Directions

The field of regenerative medicine, in particular, vascular repair has garnered tremendous attention ever since the identification of a putative cell population termed endothelial progenitor cells by Asahara and coworkers almost two decades ago [8]. My thesis work focused on studying glomerular endothelial cells repair by introduction of EPC into GEC-injured mice, and also focused on the factors involved in the mouse endogenous repair mechanism. The data presented in this thesis laid the framework for many future studies that will provide further insights into the repair of renal microvasculature and potentially restoration of kidney function. I believe there are three main areas of future research that could be pursued to expand and complement the findings of this thesis, 1) to study EPC homing in and engraftment at the site of glomerular capillaries injury, 2) to study the endogenous factors that are important in initiating the vascular repair mechanism in the kidney, and 3) to further elucidate the roles of p110 β and FGD5 in the angiogenesis process.

(1) To study EPC homing in and engraftment at the site of glomerular capillary injury:

Based on the results presented in Chapter VII of this thesis there is a necessity to overcome the problems presented by the survival or lack thereof of Rag2^{-/-} mice. To study human EPC engraftment specifically it is essential to utilize an immunodeficient mouse strain to take advantage of all the available knockout mice. Therefore, the current surgical procedure of intra-carotid artery (ICA) delivery of lectin-saporin conjugate could be modified. One option is to cannulate the renal artery of one kidney, clamp the renal vein to inject the toxin directly into one kidney and sparing the other kidney to serve as an internal control. The hEPC can be delivered intravenously to decrease the stress level on the mice. The renal artery procedure has been described previously by [378] and the micro- surgeon at the Surgical Medical Research Institute must first acquire that skill. Alternatively, the injured animals that had undergone the ICA surgical procedure can receive a kidney transplant a day after the first surgery to provide life support. However, this option requires the mice to undergo an invasive surgical procedure and may not survive two surgical procedures in two consecutive days as reported in Chapter VII.

Consideration should be given to establish the lectin-saporin glomerular endothelial cell-specific injury in larger animals such as Rag 2^{-/-} rat (from Sage Labs, Product number: TGRS4410) where the lectin-saporin and hEPC can be delivered through a direct injection into the renal artery of one kidney, sparing the other kidney to serve as an internal control. However it must be first validated that the rat kidney microvasculature expresses Gal α (1,3)Gal epitope.

Another possibility can be considered but it does not involve hEPC. This strategy involves autologous transplantation of bone marrow from a transgenic mouse strain that expresses GFP in bone marrow cells such as C57BL/6-Tg(CAG-EGFP)131Osb/LeySopJ (Jax mice stock: 006567), since there is no method exists to date to isolate mouse EPC in sufficient numbers. This study requires sub-lethal irradiation of the recipient mouse strain of the same background as the donor strain to eliminate bone marrow cells. The wild type mouse will undergo the ICA surgery to deliver the L-S conjugate and the bone marrow from the donor strain can be delivered by an intravenous injection. The advantage of this study is that it provides insight into the source of endothelial cells responsible for GEC repair, whether the bone marrow-derived EPC are mobilized and homed in to the site of renal injury, whether the repair is achieved from the pre-existing endothelial cells, or it is a combination of both. However, the disadvantage of this approach lies in the side effects of irradiation that can cause high mortality and can also cause kidney damage [522, 523].

(2) <u>To study the endogenous factors that are important in initiating the</u> vascular repair mechanism:

To further our understanding of the genetic components of the repair cues that are released at the site of the glomerular injury using the lectin-saporin animal model. A gene microarray study can be performed on isolated glomeruli from high dose injured animals at 12h and day 4 post L-S injection. Also, from glomeruli 12h, day 4 and 7 after low dose L-S injection, and from glomeruli isolated from saline control mice at the same timepoints. It is critical that the glomeruli isolation procedure yields pure samples. We have tried the glomeruli isolation using Dynabeads® M-450

tosylactivated magnetic beads perfused through the heart and the beadfilled glomeruli were separated from tubules by a magnet. It is a high throughput and fast preparation of glomeruli. However the glomeruli from the injured animals fell apart during the perfusion step and the glomeruli separation step was contaminated with tubules. To circumvent this problem pure glomeruli can be isolated using a micromanipulator tool that can physically capture glomeruli individually without a perfusion step.

We have reported in this thesis (Chapter IX) that systemic inhibition of PDGFB exacerbates the renal injury and leads to high morbidity and mortality rates. PDGFB is reported to be up regulated in the glomeruli after injury. PDGFB acts in an autocrine/paracrine fashion to stimulate mesangial cells to produce bFGF, which is an angiogenic factor that contributes to kidney vascular reendothelization and repair [267, 416, 524]. To gain more insights into the role of bFGF during the repair mechanism after GEC-specific injury using the L-S animal model, bFGF knockout mice (Jax mice stock number, 010698, 010720) can be used for this study. However, there are two types of bFGF knockout mice. One type lacks the low molecular weight (18 kDa) but expresses the high molecular weight (20.5 and 21 kDa), while the other knockout mouse is the opposite. Therefore, both knockout mouse strains are needed to determine which bFGF isoform is more important during GEC repair.

Whether PDGFB treatment after GEC injury can accelerate vascular repair can be considered. However, there are few obstacles that must be overcome: 1) method of delivery as systemic administration of

PDGFB is not effective since PDGFB is eliminated from systemic circulation by α 2 macroglobulin [525], 2) PDGFB concentration delivered is critical as excessive PDGFB signaling can cause mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis [501].

3) To further elucidate the roles of p110 β and FGD5 in the angiogenesis process:

The role of PI3K catalytic isoform p110 β role in angiogenesis and glomerular injury/repair has been studied extensively in this thesis with *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. However, phenotype rescue experiments for *in vitro* angiogenesis are still lacking. P110 β coding domains can be inserted into a lentiviral or a retroviral vector that can be used to infect hEPC after siRNA knockdown of p110 β to rescue the cells and their ability to form sprouts in the fibrin gel. Moreover, PTEN inhibition can be considered to rescue p110 β phenotype using the specific inhibitor VO-OHpic [526] to determine whether other PI3K catalytic subunits can compensate for the lack of p110 β activity. The phenotype rescue also allows the study of mutated p110 β in order to evaluate the function of individual domains of the molecule e.g. Ras-binding domain (RBD).

Another possible research interest in the role of p110 β during kidney injury and repair is to investigate whether *Pik3cb* gene is mutated in the patients that develop HUS but never recover after treatment. In the German Shiga-toxin outbreak in 2011, 20% of the adult patients

developed HUS, and generally dialysis-dependent HUS patients fail to recover kidney function [16, 472].

The role of FGD5 in mammalian angiogenesis is not fully understood and to date there is no FGD5 knockout mouse. Since FGD5 is enriched in endothelial cells it would be of great interest to develop a FGD5 knockout mouse to study blood vessels formation during embryonic development. In the event that FGD5 ablation is embryonically lethal, a conditional endothelial-restricted FGD5 knockout mouse can be considered instead.

The potential future studies as a follow up to the data already presented in this thesis would further enhance our understanding about glomerular endothelial cell injury and the factors produced in the microenvironment of the damaged glomerular capillaries that can lead to initiate the repair mechanism.

CHAPTER XI

FOOTNOTES

¹ The FGD5 results are published as part of a manuscript by Nakhaei-Nejad et al. 2012.

ATVB 33: 2694-2701

CHAPTER XII

REFERENCES

- 1. [http://www.kidney.ca]
- 2. Basile DP: The endothelial cell in ischaemic acute kidney injury: implications for acute and chronic function. *Kidney* International 2007, **72**:151-156.
- 3. Aird WC: Endothelium in health and disease. *Pharmacol Rep* 2008, **60**(1):139-143.
- 4. Zampetaki A, Kirton JP, Xu Q: Vascular repair by endothelial progenitor cells. *Cardiovascular Research* 2008, **78**(3):413-421.
- 5. Belloni PN, Nicolson GL: Differential Expression of Cell Surface Glycoproteins on Various Organ-Derived Microvascular Endothelia and Endothelial Cell Cultures. Journal of Cellular Physiology 1988, **136**:398-410.
- 6. Aird WC: Endothelial cell heterogeneity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2012, 2(1):a006429.
- 7. Schwartz SM, Gajdusek CM, Reidy MA, Selden SC, 3rd, Haudenschild CC: **Maintenance of integrity in aortic endothelium**. *Federation proceedings* 1980, **39**(9):2618-2625.
- 8. Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, Witzenbichler B, Schatteman G, Isner JM: Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. *Science* 1997, 275:964-967.
- 9. Semenza GL: Therapeutic angiogenesis: another passing phase? *Circulation research* 2006, **98**(9):1115-1116.
- 10. Duffield JS, Park KM, Hsiao LL, Kelley VR, Scadden DT, Ichimura T, Bonventre JV: Restoration of tubular epithelial cells during repair of the postischemic kidney occurs independently of bone marrow-derived stem cells. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2005, **115**(7):1743-1755.
- 11. Lin F, Moran A, Igarashi P: Intrarenal cells, not bone marrowderived cells, are the major source for regeneration in postischemic kidney. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2005, 115(7):1756-1764.
- 12. Goligorsky MS, Kuo M-C, Patschan D, Verhaar MC: **Review** article: Endothelial progenitor cells in renal disease. *Nephrology* 2009, **14**(3):291-297.
- 13. Togel F, Isaac J, Westenfelder C: Hematopoietic stem cell mobilization-associated granulocytosis severely worsens acute renal failure. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2004, **15**(5):1261-1267.
- 14. Uchimura H, Marumo T, Takase O, Kawachi H, Shimizu F, Hayashi M, Saruta T, Hishikawa K, Fujita T: Intrarenal injection of bone marrow-derived angiogenic cells reduces endothelial injury

and mesangial cell activation in experimental glomerulonephritis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2005, **16**(4):997-1004.

- 15. Ardalan MR: Review of Thrombotic Microangiopathy (TMA), and Post- Renal Transplant TMA. Saudi Journal of Kidney Diseases and Transplantation 2006, **17**:235-244.
- 16. Tsai HM: The molecular biology of thrombotic microangiopathy. *Kidney International* 2006, **70**(1):16-23.
- 17. Hirschi KK, Ingram DA, Yoder MC: Assessing identity, phenotype, and fate of endothelial progenitor cells. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* 2008, 28(9):1584-1595.
- 18. Timmermans F, Plum J, Yoder MC, Ingram DA, Vandekerckhove B, Case J: Endothelial progenitor cells: identity defined? *J Cell Mol Med* 2009, **13**(1):87-102.
- 19. Pham PT, Danovitch GM, Wilkinson AH, Gritsch HA, Pham PC, Eric TM, Kendrick E, Charles LR, Tsai HM: Inhibitors of ADAMTS13: a potential factor in the cause of thrombotic microangiopathy in a renal allograft recipient. *Transplantation* 2002, **74**(8):1077-1080.
- Gould LH, Demma L, Jones TF, Hurd S, Vugia DJ, al. e: Hemolytic uremic syndrome and death in persons with Escerichia coli O157:H7 infection, foodborne diseases active surveillance network sites, 2000-2006. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2009, 49:1480-1485.
- 21. Corrigan JJ, Boineau FG: **Hemolytic-Uremic Syndrome**. *Pediatrics in Review* 2001, **22**:365-369.
- 22. Jennette JC, Olson JL, Schwartz MM, Silva FG: **Heptinstall's Pathology of the kidney**, vol. 1, 6 edn. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007.
- 23. Donohue-Rolfe A, Acheson DW, Keusch GT: Shiga toxin: purification, structure, and function. *Reviews of Infectious Diseases* 1991, Suppl 4:S293-S297.
- 24. Ruggenenti P: **Post-transplant hemolytic-uremic syndrome**. *Kidney international* 2002, **62**(3):1093-1104.
- Carter AO, Borczyk AA, Carlson JA, Harvey B, Hockin JC, Karmali MA, Krishnan C, Korn DA, Lior H: A severe outbreak of Escherichia coli O157:H7--associated hemorrhagic colitis in a nursing home. The New England journal of medicine 1987, 317(24):1496-1500.
- Dundas S, Murphy J, Soutar RL, Jones GA, Hutchinson SJ, Todd WT: Effectiveness of therapeutic plasma exchange in the 1996 Lanarkshire Escherichia coli O157:H7 outbreak. Lancet 1999, 354(9187):1327-1330.
- 27. Banerjee S: **Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome**. *Indian Pediatrics* 2009, **46**:1075-1084.

- 28. Pangburn MK: Host recognition and target differentiation by factor H, a regulator of the alternative pathway of complement. *Immunopharmacology* 2000, **49**(1-2):149-157.
- 29. Rodriguez de Cordoba S, Esparza-Gordillo J, Goicoechea de Jorge E, Lopez-Trascasa M, Sanchez-Corral P: **The human complement** factor H: functional roles, genetic variations and disease associations. *Molecular immunology* 2004, **41**(4):355-367.
- 30. Jozsi M, Heinen S, Hartmann A, Ostrowicz CW, Halbich S, Richter H, Kunert A, Licht C, Saunders RE, Perkins SJ *et al*: Factor H and atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome: mutations in the C-terminus cause structural changes and defective recognition functions. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2006, **17**(1):170-177.
- 31. Licht C, Weyersberg A, Heinen S, Stapenhorst L, Devenge J, Beck B, Waldherr R, Kirschfink M, Zipfel PF, Hoppe B: Successful plasma therapy for atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome caused by factor H deficiency owing to a novel mutation in the complement cofactor protein domain 15. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2005, **45**(2):415-421.
- 32. Ruggenenti P, Noris M, Remuzzi G: Thrombotic microangiopathy, hemolytic uremic syndrome, and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Kidney International* 2001, **60**:831-846.
- 33. Sadler JE, Moake JL, Miyata T, George JN: **Recent advances in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura**. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program* 2004:407-423.
- 34. George JN: **Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura**. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2006, **354**:1927-1935.
- 35. Moake JL: von Willebrand factor, ADAMTS-13, and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Semin Hematol* 2004, **41**(1):4-14.
- 36. Tsai HM: Current concepts in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. Annu Rev Med 2006, **57**:419-436.
- 37. Colvin RB, Smith RN: Antibody-mediated organ-allograft rejection. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2005, **5**(10):807-817.
- 38. Feucht HE, Felber E, Gokel MJ, Hillebrand G, Nattermann U, Brockmeyer C, Held E, Riethmuller G, Land W, Albert E: Vascular deposition of complement-split products in kidney allografts with cell-mediated rejection. *Clinical and experimental immunology* 1991, 86(3):464-470.
- 39. Collins AB, Schneeberger EE, Pascual MA, Saidman SL, Williams WW, Tolkoff-Rubin N, Cosimi AB, Colvin RB: Complement activation in acute humoral renal allograft rejection: diagnostic significance of C4d deposits in peritubular capillaries. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1999, **10**(10):2208-2214.
- 40. Racusen LC: Antibody-mediated rejection in the kidney. *Transplant Proc* 2004, **36**(3):768-769.
- 41. Monsinjon T, Gasque P, Chan P, Ischenko A, Brady JJ, Fontaine MC: **Regulation by complement C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins of**

cytokine production in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 2003, **17**(9):1003-1014.

- 42. Albrecht EA, Chinnaiyan AM, Varambally S, Kumar-Sinha C, Barrette TR, Sarma JV, Ward PA: **C5a-induced gene expression in human umbilical vein endothelial cells**. *The American journal of pathology* 2004, **164**(3):849-859.
- 43. Smith JD, Lawson C, Yacoub MH, Rose ML: Activation of NFkappa B in human endothelial cells induced by monoclonal and allospecific HLA antibodies. *Int Immunol* 2000, **12**(4):563-571.
- 44. Levi M, van der Poll T: **Disseminated intravascular coagulation:** a review for the internist. *Intern Emerg Med* 2013, **8**(1):23-32.
- 45. Keller TT, Mairuhu AT, de Kruif MD, Klein SK, Gerdes VE, ten Cate H, Brandjes DP, Levi M, van Gorp EC: **Infections and endothelial cells**. *Cardiovascular research* 2003, **60**(1):40-48.
- 46. Gando S, Nakanishi Y, Tedo I: Cytokines and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in posttrauma disseminated intravascular coagulation: relationship to multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Critical care medicine* 1995, **23**(11):1835-1842.
- 47. Colman RW, Rubin RN: **Disseminated intravascular coagulation due to malignancy**. *Semin Oncol* 1990, **17**(2):172-186.
- 48. Barbui T, Falanga A: **Disseminated intravascular coagulation in acute leukemia**. *Seminars in thrombosis and hemostasis* 2001, **27**(6):593-604.
- 49. Fisher DF, Jr., Yawn DH, Crawford ES: **Preoperative** disseminated intravascular coagulation associated with aortic aneurysms. A prospective study of 76 cases. *Arch Surg* 1983, 118(11):1252-1255.
- 50. Levi M: Disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Critical care medicine* 2007, **35**(9):2191-2195.
- 51. Ralph AG, Brainard BM: Update on disseminated intravascular coagulation: when to consider it, when to expect it, when to treat it. *Top Companion Anim Med* 2012, **27**(2):65-72.
- 52. Fourrier F, Chopin C, Goudemand J, Hendrycx S, Caron C, Rime A, Marey A, Lestavel P: Septic shock, multiple organ failure, and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Compared patterns of antithrombin III, protein C, and protein S deficiencies. *Chest* 1992, **101**(3):816-823.
- 53. Levi M, de Jonge E, van der Poll T: Rationale for restoration of physiological anticoagulant pathways in patients with sepsis and disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Critical care medicine* 2001, **29**(7 Suppl):S90-94.
- 54. Choy JC, Granville DJ, Hunt DW, McManus BM: Endothelial cell apoptosis: biochemical characteristics and potential implications for atherosclerosis. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 2001, **33**(9):1673-1690.

- 55. Aird WC: Endothelium as an organ system. *Critical Care Medicine* 2004, **32**:S271-S279.
- 56. Kinlay S, Libby P, Ganz P: **Endothelial function and coronary artery disease**. *Current Opinion in Lipidology* 2001, **12**:383-389.
- 57. Michiels C: Endothelial cell functions. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 2003, **196**:430-443.
- 58. Sachais BS: **Platelet-endothelial interactions in atherosclerosis**. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports* 2001, **3**:412-416.
- 59. Gross PL, Aird WC: **The endothelium and thrombosis**. *Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis* 2000, **26**:463-478.
- 60. Bevilacqua MP: Endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecules. Annual Review of Immunology 1993, **11**:767-804.
- 61. Cayette AJ, Palacino JJ, Horten K, Cohen RA: Chronic inhibition of nitric oxide production accelerates neointimal formation and impairs function in hypercholesterolemic rabbits. *Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis* 1994, **14**:753-759.
- 62. Garg UC, Hassid A: Nitric oxide-generating vasodilators and 8bromo-cyclic guanosine monophosphate inhibit mitogenesis and proliferation of rat vascular vascular smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1989, **83**:1774-1777.
- 63. Tanner FC, Noll G, Boulanger CM, Luscher TF: Oxidized low density lipoproteins inhibit relaxations of porcine coronary arteries: Roleof scavenger receptor and endothelium-derived nitric oxide. *Circulation* 1991, 83:2012-2020.
- 64. Radomski MW, Palmer RM, Moncada S: An L-arginine/nitric oxide pathway present in human platelets regulates aggregation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1990, 87:5193-5197.
- 65. Gauthier TW, Davenpeck KL, Lefer AM: Nitric oxide attenuates leukocyte-endothelial interaction via P-selectin in splanchnic ischemia-reperfusion. *American Journal of Physiology* 1994, 267:G562-G568.
- 66. Harrison DG: Cellular and molecular mechanisms of endothelial cell dysfunction. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1997, 100:2153-2157.
- 67. Hening B, Oesterling E, Toborek M: Environmental toxicity, nutrition, and gene interactions in the development of atherosclerosis. *Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases* 2007, **17**:162-169.
- 68. MacMicking J, Xie Q-W, Nathan C: **Nitric oxide and macrophage function**. *Annual Reviews of Immunology* 1997, **15**:323-350.
- 69. Stuehr D: Mammalian nitric oxide synthases. Biochemica et Biophysica Acta 1999, **1411**:217-230.
- 70. Bogdan C: Nitric oxide and the immune response. Nature Immunology 2001, 2:907-916.

- 71. Feletou M, Kohler R, Vanhoutte PM: Nitric oxide: orchestrator of endothelium-dependent responses. *Ann Med* 2012, **44**(7):694-716.
- 72. Smith WL: Localization of enzymes responsible for prostaglandin formation. In: Handbook of Eicosanoids: Prostaglandins and Related Lipids. Volume IA, edn. Edited by Wmlis AL. Boca raton, Fla, USA: CRC Press; 1987: 175-184.
- 73. Qian H, Luo N, Chi Y: Aging-shifted prostaglandin profile in endothelium as a factor in cardiovascular disorders. *J Aging Res* 2012, **2012**:121390.
- 74. Schulz E, Jansen T, Wenzel P, Daiber A, Munzel T: Nitric oxide, tetrahydrobiopterin, oxidative stress, and endothelial dysfunction in hypertension. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 2008, 10(6):1115-1126.
- 75. Aldamiz-Echevarria L, Andrade F: Asymmetric dimethylarginine, endothelial dysfunction and renal disease. *Int J Mol Sci* 2012, 13(9):11288-11311.
- 76. Rose ML: Endothelial cells as antigen-presenting cells: role in human transplant rejection. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 1998, **54**:965-978.
- 77. Risau W: Vasculogenesis, angiogenesis and endothelial cell differentiation during embryonic development In: The development of the vascular system. edn. Edited by Feinberg RN, Shere GK, Auerbach R. Basel: Karger; 1991: 58-68.
- 78. Ferrara N, Heinsohn H, Walter CE, Buting S, Thomas GR: The regulation of blood vessel growth by vascular endothelial growth factor. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1995, **752**:246-256.
- 79. von Tell D, Armulik A, Betsholtz C: **Pericytes and vascular stability**. *Experimental cell research* 2006, **312**(5):623-629.
- 80. Asahara T, Masuda H, Takahashi T, Kalka C, Pastore C, Silver M, Kearne M, Magner M, Isner JM: Bone marrow origin of endothelial progenitor cells responsible for postnatal vasculogenesis in physiological and pathological neovascularization. *Circulation research* 1999, **85**(3):221-228.
- 81. Hill JM, Zalos G, Halcox JP, Schenke WH, Waclawiw MA, al. e: Circulating endothelial cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2003, 348:593-600.
- 82. Hur J, Yoon CH, Kim H, S., Choi JH, Kang HJ, al. e: Characterization of two types of endothelial progenitor cells and their different contributions to neovasculogenesis. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology* 2004, **24**:288-293.
- 83. Yoder MC, Mead LE, Prater DN, Krier TR, Mroueh KN, Krasich R, Temm CJ, Prchal JT, Ingram DA: **Redefining endothelial**

progenitor cells via clonal analysis and hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell principals. *Blood* 2007, **109**:1801-1809.

- 84. De Palma M, Venneri MA, Galli R, Sergi Sergi L, Politi LS, al. e: **Tie2 identifies a hematopoetic lineage of proangiogenic monocytes required for tumor vessel formation and a mesenchymal population of pericyte pogenitors**. *Cancer Cell* 2005, 8:211-226.
- 85. De Palma M, Naldini L: **Role of haematopoietic cells and endothelial progenitors in tumour angiogenesis** *Biochemica et Biophysica Acta* 2006, **1766**:159-166.
- 86. Weiler H, Sood R: Endothelial mimicry of placental trophoblast cells. In: *Endothelial Biomedicine*. edn. Edited by Aird WC. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2007: 1479-1187.
- 87. Melero-Martin JM, khan ZA, Picard A, Wu X, Paruchuri S, Bischoff J: In vivo vasculogenic potential of human blood-derived endothelial progenitor cells. *Blood* 2007, **109**:4761-4768.
- 88. Furness SG, McNagny K: **Beyond mere markers: functions for CD34 family of sialomucins in hematopoiesis**. *Immunological Research* 2006, **34**:13-32.
- 89. Krause DS, Fackler MJ, Civin CI, May WS: **CD34: structure**, **biology, and clinical utility**. *Blood* 1996, **87**(1):1-13.
- 90. Fina L, Molgaard HV, Robertson D, Bradley NJ, Monaghan P, Delia D, Sutherland DR, Baker MA, Greaves MF: Expression of the CD34 gene in vascular endothelial cells. Blood 1990, 75(12):2417-2426.
- 91. Baumheter S, Singer MS, Henzel W, Hemmerich S, Renz M, Rosen SD, Lasky LA: **Binding of L-selectin to the vascular sialomucin CD34**. *Science* 1993, **262**(5132):436-438.
- 92. Gehling UM, Ergun S, Schumacher U, Wagener C, Pantel K, al. e: In vitro differentiation of endothelial cells from AC133-positive progenitor cells. *Blood* 2000, **95**:3106-3112.
- 93. Case J, Mead LE, Bessler WK, Prater DN, White HA, Saadatzadeh MR, Bhavsar JR, Yoder MC, Haneline LS, Ingram DA: Human CD34⁺ AC133⁺ VEGFR-2⁺ cells are not endothelial progenitor cells but distinct, primitive hematopoietic progenitors. Experimental Hematology 2007, 35:1109-1118.
- 94. Kamps JAAM, Kar Kruijt J, Kuiper J, van Berkel TJC: Characterization of the interaction of acetylated LDL and oxidatively modified LDL with human liver parenchymal and Kupffer cells in culture. *Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis* 1992, 12:1079-1087.
- 95. van Berkel TJC, De Rijke YB, Kruijt JK: Different fate in vivo of oxidatively modified low density lipoprotein and acetylated low density lipoprotein in rats: Recognition by various scavenger receptors on Kupffer and endothelial liver cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1991, **266**:2282-2289.

- 96. Yan Z-q, Hansson GK: Innate immunity, macrophage activation, and atherosclerosis. *Immunological Reviews* 2007, **219**:187-203.
- 97. Rhode E, Malischnik C, Thaler D, Maierhofer T, Linkesch W, al. e: **Blood monocytes mimic endothelial progenitor cells**. *Stem Cells* 2006, **24**:357-367.
- 98. Holthofer H, Virtanen I, Kariniemi AL, Horima M, Linder M, Miettinen A: ulex europaeus I lectin as a marker for vascular endothelium in human tissues. *Lab Investigation* 1982, **47**:60-66.
- 99. Graziano M, St-Pierre Y, Potworowski EF: **UEA-1 binding to thymic medullary epithelial cells selectively reduces numbers of cortical TCRalphabeta+ thymocytes in FTOCs**. *Immunology Letters* 2001, **77**:1443-1150.
- 100. Liu SM, Li CY: Immunhistochemical study of Ulex europaeus agglutinin 1 (UEA-1) binding of megakaryocytes in bone marrow biopsy specimens: demonstration of heterogeity in staining pattern reflecting the stages of differentiation. Hematopathology and Molecular hematology 1996, **10**:99-109.
- 101. Nakatsu MN, Hughes CCW: An optimized three-dimensional in vittro model for the analysis of angiogenesis. In: Methods in Enzymology: Angiogenesis: in vitro systems. Volume 443, edn. Edited by Cheresh DA. San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press Publications; 2008: 65-79.
- 102. Donovan D, Brown NJ, Bishop ET, Lewis CE: Comparison of three in vitro human 'angiogenesis' assays with capillaries formed in vivo. *Angiogenesis* 2001, **4**:113-121.
- 103. Davis GE, Wonshill K, Stratman AN: Mechanisms controlling human endothelial lumen formation and tube assembly in three-dimensional extracellular matrices. *Birth Defects research* 2007(81).
- 104. Bayless KJ, Davis GE: The Cdc42 and Rac1 GTPases are required for capillary lumen formation in three-dimensional extracellular matrices. The Journal of Cell Sciences 2002, 115:1123-1136.
- 105. Gill M, Dias S, Hattori K, Rivera ML, Hicklin D, Witte L, Girardi L, Yurt R, Himel H, Rafii S: Vascular trauma induces rapid but transient mobilization of VEGFR2(+)AC133(+) endothelial precursor cells. *Circulation research* 2001, 88(2):167-174.
- 106. Heeschen C, Aicher A, Lehmann R, Fichtlscherer S, Vasa M, Urbich C, Mildner-Rihm C, Martin H, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S: Erythropoietin is a potent physiologic stimulus for endothelial progenitor cell mobilization. *Blood* 2003, **102**(4):1340-1346.
- 107. Ceradini DJ, Kulkarni AR, Callaghan MJ, Tepper OM, Bastidas N, Kleinman ME, Capla JM, Galiano RD, Levine JP, Gurtner GC: Progenitor cell trafficking is regulated by hypoxic gradients through HIF-1 induction of SDF-1. Nature medicine 2004, 10(8):858-864.

- 108. Aicher A, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S: **Mobilizing endothelial** progenitor cells. *Hypertension* 2005, **24**:321-325.
- 109. Heissig B, Hattori K, Dias S, Friedrich M, Ferris B, al. e: Recruitment of stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow niche requires MMP-9 mediated release of kit-ligand. *Cell* 2002, **109**:625-637.
- 110. Aicher A, Heeschen C, Mildner-Rihm C, Urbich C, Ihling C, al. e: **Essential role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase for mobilization of stem and progenitor cells**. *Nature Medicine* 2003, **9**:1370-1376.
- 111. Oh IY, Yoon CH, Hur J, Kim JH, Kim TY, Lee CS, Park KW, Chae IH, Oh BH, Park YB *et al*: **Involvement of E-selectin in recruitment of endothelial progenitor cells and angiogenesis in ischemic muscle**. *Blood* 2007, **110**(12):3891-3899.
- 112. Lapidot T, Dar A, Kollet O: How do stem cells find their way home? *Blood* 2005, **106**:1901-1910.
- 113. Hristov M, Zernecke A, Bidzhekov K, Liehn EA, Shagdarsuren E, al. e: Inportance of CXC chemokine receptor 2 in the homing of human peripheral blood endothelial progenitor cells to sites of arterial injury. *Circulation Research* 2007, **100**:590-597.
- 114. Maeng Y-S, Choi H-J, Kwon J-Y, Choi K-S, Min J-K, al. e: Endothelial progenitor cell homing; prominent role of the IGF2-IGF2R-PLC2 axis. *Blood* 2009, **113**:233-243.
- 115. Chen JZ, Zhang FR, Tao QM, Wang XX, Zhu JH, Zhu JH: Number and activity of endothelial progenitor cells from peripheral blood in patients with hypercholesterolemia. *Clinical Science* 2004, **107**:273-280.
- 116. Werner C, Nickering G: Influence of cardiovascular risk factors on endothelial progenitor cells. Limitation for therapy? *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology* 2006, **26**:257-266.
- 117. Kondo T, Hayashi M, Takeshita K, Numaguchi Y, Kobayashi K, al. e: **Smoking cessation rapidly increases circulating progenitor cells in peripheral blood in chronic smokers**. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology* 2004, **24**.
- 118. Laufs U, Werner N, Link A, Enders M, Wassmann S, al. e: **Physical training increases endothelial progenitor cells, inhibits neointima formation, and enhances angiogenesis**. *Circulation* 2004, **109**:220-226.
- 119. Fujii H, Li SH, Szmitko PE, Fedak pWM, Verma S: C-reactive protein alters antioxidant defenses and promotes apoptosis in endothelial progenitor cells. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology* 2006, **26**:2476-2482.
- 120. Werner N, Kosiol S, Schieg T, al. e: Circulating endothelial progenitor cells and cardiovascular outcomes. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2005, **353**:999-1007.

- 121. Shi Q, Rafii S, Wu MH, al. e: Evidence for circulating bone marrow-derived endothelial cells. *Blood* 1998, **92**:362-367.
- 122. Griese DP, Efsan A, Melo LG, al. e: Isolation and transplantation of autologous circulating endothelial cells into denuded vessels and prosthetic grafts: implications for cell-based vascular therapy. *Circulation* 2003, **108**:2710-2715.
- 123. George J, Afek A, Abashidze A, al. e: Transfer of endothelial progenitor and bone marrow cells influences atherosclerotic plaque size and composition in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology* 2005, 25:2636-2641.
- 124. Massa M, Campanelli R, Boneti E, Ferrario M, Marinoni B, Rosti V: Rapid and large increase of the frequency of circulating endothelial colony-forming cells (ECFCs) generating late outgrowth endothelial cells in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Experimental Hematology* 2009, **37**:8-9.
- 125. Graham SH, Chen J: **Programmed cell death in cerebral ischemia**. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism* 2001, **21**:99-109.
- 126. Jung K-H, Roh J-K: Circulating endothelial progenitor cells in cerebrovascular disease. *Journal of Clinical Neurology* 2008, 4:139-147.
- 127. Zhang ZG, Zhang L, Jiang Q, Chopp M: Bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells participate in cerebral neovascularization after focal cerebral ischemia in the adult mouse. *Circulation Research* 2002, **90**:284-288.
- 128. Ghani U, Shuaib A, Salam A, Nasir A, Shuaib U, al. e: **Endothelial progenitor cells during cerebrovascular disease**. *Stroke* 2005, **36**:151-153.
- 129. Chu K, Jung K-H, Lee ST, Park H-K, Sinn DI, al. e: Circulating endothelial progenitor cells a new marker of endothelial dysfunction or repair in acute stroke. *Stroke* 2008, **39**:1441-1447.
- 130. Sobrino T, Hurtado O, Moro MA, Rodrigue-Yanez M, Castellanos M, al. e: The increase of circulating endothelial progenitor cells after acute ischemic stroke is associated with good outcome. *Stroke* 2007, **38**:2759-2764.
- 131. Suzuki J, Takaku A: Cerebrovascular 'MMD' disease: disease showing abnormal net-like vessels in base of brain. Archives of Neurology 1969, 20:288-299.
- 132. Jung K-H, Chu K, Lee S-T, Park H-K, Kim D-H, Kim J-H, Bahn J-J, Song E-C, Kim M, Lee SK *et al*: **Circulating endothelial progenitor cells as a pathogenic marker of moyamoya disease**. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism* 2008, **28**:1795-1803.
- 133. Dome B, Dobos J, Tovari J, Paku S, Kovacs G, Ostoros G, Timar J: **Circulating bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells:**

characterization, mobilization, and therapeutic considerations in malignant disease. *Cytometry A* 2008, **73**(3):186-193.

- 134. Nolan DJ, Ciarrocchi A, Mellick AS, Jaggi JS, Bambino K, al. e: Bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells are a major determinant of nascent tumor neovascularization. *Genes and Development* 2007, **21**:1546-1558.
- 135. Wei J, Blum S, Unger M, Jarmy G, Lamparter M, al. e: Embryonic endothelial progenitor cells armed with a suicide gene target hypoxic lung metastases after intavenous delivery. *Cancer Cell* 2004, **5**:477-488.
- 136. Larrivee B, Olive PL, Karsan A: **Tissue distribution of endothelial cells in vivo following intravenous injection**. *Experimental hematology* 2006, **34**(12):1741-1745.
- 137. Debatin K-M, Wei J, Beltinger C: Endothelial progenitor cells for cancer gene therapy. *Nature Gene Therapy* 2008, **15**:7780-7786.
- 138. Davidoff AM, Ng CY, Brown P, Leary MA, Spurbeck WW, al. e: Bone marorw-derived cells contribute to tumor neovasculature and, when modified to express an angiogenesis inhibitor, can restrict tumor growth in mice. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2001, 7:2870-2879.
- 139. Becherucci F, Mazzinghi B, Ronconi E, Peired A, Lazzeri E, al. e: **The role of endothelial progenitor cells in acute kidney injury**. *Blood Purification* 2009, **27**:261-270.
- 140. Yamamoto T, Tada T, Brodsky SV, Tanaka H, Noiri E, Kajiya F, Goligorsky MS: Intravital videomicroscopy of peritubular capillaries in renal ischemia. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2002, 282(6):F1150-1155.
- 141. Basile C: The long-term prognosis of acute kidney injury: acute renal failure as a cause of chronic kidney disease. *J Nephrol* 2008, **21**(5):657-662.
- 142. Li B, Cohen A, Hudson TE, Motlagh D, Amrani DL, Duffield JS: Mobilized human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells promote kidney repair after ischemia/reperfusion injury. Circulation 2010, **121**(20):2211-2220.
- 143. Abe-Yoshio Y, Abe K, Miyazaki M, Furusu A, Nishino T, al. e: Involvement of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells in glomerular capillary repair in habu snake cenominduced glomerulonephritis. *Verchows Archiv* 2008, **453**:97-106.
- 144. Chade AR, Zhu X, Lavi R, Krier J, Pislaru S, al. e: Endothelial progenitor cells restore renal function in chronic experimental renovascular disease. *Circulation* 2009, **119**:547-557.
- 145. Schlieper G, Hristov M, Brandenburg V, Kruger T, Westenfeld R, al. e: **Predictors of low circulating endothelial progenitor cell numbers in haemodialysis patients**. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 2008, **23**:2611-2618.
- 146. Metsuyanim S, Levy R, Davidovits M, Dekel B: Molecular evaluation of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in

children undergoing hemodialysis and after kidney transplantation. *Pediatric Research* 2009, **65**:221-225.

- 147. Risau W: Mechanisms of angiogenesis. *Nature* 1997, **386**(6626):671-674.
- 148. Choi K, Kennedy M, Kazarov A, Papadimitriou JC, Keller G: A common precursor for hematopoietic and endothelial cells. Development 1998, **125**(4):725-732.
- 149. Fehling HJ, Lacaud G, Kubo A, Kennedy M, Robertson S, Keller G, Kouskoff V: Tracking mesoderm induction and its specification to the hemangioblast during embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Development* 2003, **130**(17):4217-4227.
- 150. Yang X, Li C, Xu X, Deng C: The tumor suppressor SMAD4/DPC4 is essential for epiblast proliferation and mesoderm induction in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1998, 95(7):3667-3672.
- 151. Winnier G, Blessing M, Labosky PA, Hogan BL: Bone morphogenetic protein-4 is required for mesoderm formation and patterning in the mouse. *Genes Dev* 1995, **9**(17):2105-2116.
- 152. Drake CJ, LaRue A, Ferrara N, Little CD: VEGF regulates cell behavior during vasculogenesis. *Dev Biol* 2000, 224(2):178-188.
- 153. Drake CJ, Fleming PA: Vasculogenesis in the day 6.5 to 9.5 mouse embryo. *Blood* 2000, 95(5):1671-1679.
- 154. Xu K, Cleaver O: **Tubulogenesis during blood vessel formation**. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 2011, **22**(9):993-1004.
- 155. Zovein AC, Luque A, Turlo KA, Hofmann JJ, Yee KM, Becker MS, Fassler R, Mellman I, Lane TF, Iruela-Arispe ML: **Beta1 integrin** establishes endothelial cell polarity and arteriolar lumen formation via a Par3-dependent mechanism. *Dev Cell* 2010, 18(1):39-51.
- 156. Dejana E: Endothelial cell-cell junctions: happy together. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004, 5(4):261-270.
- 157. Gory-Faure S, Prandini MH, Pointu H, Roullot V, Pignot-Paintrand I, Vernet M, Huber P: **Role of vascular endothelial-cadherin in vascular morphogenesis**. *Development* 1999, **126**(10):2093-2102.
- 158. Strilic B, Kucera T, Eglinger J, Hughes MR, McNagny KM, Tsukita S, Dejana E, Ferrara N, Lammert E: **The molecular basis of vascular lumen formation in the developing mouse aorta**. *Dev Cell* 2009, **17**(4):505-515.
- 159. Luo Y, Radice GL: N-cadherin acts upstream of VE-cadherin in controlling vascular morphogenesis. *The Journal of cell biology* 2005, **169**(1):29-34.
- 160. Zhurinsky J, Shtutman M, Ben-Ze'ev A: **Plakoglobin and beta**catenin: protein interactions, regulation and biological roles. *Journal of cell science* 2000, **113 (Pt 18)**:3127-3139.

- 161. Haegel H, Larue L, Ohsugi M, Fedorov L, Herrenknecht K, Kemler R: Lack of beta-catenin affects mouse development at gastrulation. *Development* 1995, **121**(11):3529-3537.
- 162. Cattelino A, Liebner S, Gallini R, Zanetti A, Balconi G, Corsi A, Bianco P, Wolburg H, Moore R, Oreda B *et al*: **The conditional inactivation of the beta-catenin gene in endothelial cells causes a defective vascular pattern and increased vascular fragility**. *The Journal of cell biology* 2003, **162**(6):1111-1122.
- 163. Zeeb M, Strilic B, Lammert E: **Resolving cell-cell junctions: lumen formation in blood vessels**. *Current opinion in cell biology* 2010, **22**(5):626-632.
- 164. Xu K, Sacharidou A, Fu S, Chong DC, Skaug B, Chen ZJ, Davis GE, Cleaver O: Blood vessel tubulogenesis requires Rasip1 regulation of GTPase signaling. *Dev Cell* 2011, **20**(4):526-539.
- 165. Hynes RO: Cell-matrix adhesion in vascular development. J Thromb Haemost 2007, 5 Suppl 1:32-40.
- 166. Bishop AL, Hall A: Rho GTPases and their effector proteins. Biochem J 2000, **348 Pt 2**:241-255.
- 167. Davis GE, Senger DR: Endothelial extracellular matrix: biosynthesis, remodeling, and functions during vascular morphogenesis and neovessel stabilization. *Circulation* research 2005, **97**(11):1093-1107.
- 168. Yang HW, Shin MG, Lee S, Kim JR, Park WS, Cho KH, Meyer T, Do Heo W: Cooperative activation of PI3K by Ras and Rho family small GTPases. *Mol Cell* 2012, **47**(2):281-290.
- 169. Bayless KJ, Davis GE: The Cdc42 and Rac1 GTPases are required for capillary lumen formation in three-dimensional extracellular matrices. *Journal of cell science* 2002, 115(Pt 6):1123-1136.
- 170. Koh W, Mahan RD, Davis GE: Cdc42- and Rac1-mediated endothelial lumen formation requires Pak2, Pak4 and Par3, and PKC-dependent signaling. *Journal of cell science* 2008, 121(Pt 7):989-1001.
- 171. Conway EM, Collen D, Carmeliet P: Molecular mechanisms of blood vessel growth. *Cardiovascular research* 2001, **49**(3):507-521.
- 172. Nakatsu M, Hughes C: Chapter 4 An Optimized Three-Dimensional In Vitro Model for the Analysis of Angiogenesis. *Methods in Enzymology* 2008, 443:65-82.
- 173. Yancopoulos GD, Davis S, Gale NW, Rudge JS, Wiegand SJ, Holash J: Vascular-specific growth factors and blood vessel formation. *Nature* 2000, **407**(6801):242-248.
- 174. Gerhardt H, Golding M, Fruttiger M, Ruhrberg C, Lundkvist A, Abramsson A, Jeltsch M, Mitchell C, Alitalo K, Shima D *et al*: **VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia**. *The Journal of cell biology* 2003, **161**(6):1163-1177.

- 175. Burri PH, Hlushchuk R, Djonov V: Intussusceptive angiogenesis: its emergence, its characteristics, and its significance. *Dev Dyn* 2004, **231**(3):474-488.
- 176. Carmeliet P, Jain RK: **Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis**. *Nature* 2011, **473**(7347):298-307.
- 177. Benedito R, Roca C, Sorensen I, Adams S, Gossler A, Fruttiger M, Adams RH: **The notch ligands Dll4 and Jagged1 have opposing effects on angiogenesis**. *Cell* 2009, **137**(6):1124-1135.
- 178. Fraisl P, Mazzone M, Schmidt T, Carmeliet P: **Regulation of** angiogenesis by oxygen and metabolism. *Dev Cell* 2009, 16(2):167-179.
- 179. Tammela T, Zarkada G, Wallgard E, Murtomaki A, Suchting S, Wirzenius M, Waltari M, Hellstrom M, Schomber T, Peltonen R *et al*: **Blocking VEGFR-3 suppresses angiogenic sprouting and vascular network formation**. *Nature* 2008, **454**(7204):656-660.
- 180. Liu Y, Cox SR, Morita T, Kourembanas S: Hypoxia regulates vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in endothelial cells. Identification of a 5' enhancer. *Circulation research* 1995, **77**(3):638-643.
- 181. Gallagher KA, Liu ZJ, Xiao M, Chen H, Goldstein LJ, Buerk DG, Nedeau A, Thom SR, Velazquez OC: Diabetic impairments in NO-mediated endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and homing are reversed by hyperoxia and SDF-1 alpha. The Journal of clinical investigation 2007, 117(5):1249-1259.
- 182. Quintero M, Colombo SL, Godfrey A, Moncada S: Mitochondria as signaling organelles in the vascular endothelium. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2006, **103**(14):5379-5384.
- 183. Krutzfeldt A, Spahr R, Mertens S, Siegmund B, Piper HM: Metabolism of exogenous substrates by coronary endothelial cells in culture. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology* 1990, 22(12):1393-1404.
- 184. De Val S, Black BL: Transcriptional control of endothelial cell development. *Dev Cell* 2009, **16**(2):180-195.
- 185. Hellstrom M, Phng LK, Hofmann JJ, Wallgard E, Coultas L, Lindblom P, Alva J, Nilsson AK, Karlsson L, Gaiano N *et al*: DII4 signalling through Notch1 regulates formation of tip cells during angiogenesis. *Nature* 2007, 445(7129):776-780.
- 186. Williams CK, Li JL, Murga M, Harris AL, Tosato G: Up-regulation of the Notch ligand Delta-like 4 inhibits VEGF-induced endothelial cell function. *Blood* 2006, **107**(3):931-939.
- 187. Siekmann AF, Lawson ND: Notch signalling limits angiogenic cell behaviour in developing zebrafish arteries. *Nature* 2007, 445(7129):781-784.
- 188. Harrington LS, Sainson RC, Williams CK, Taylor JM, Shi W, Li JL, Harris AL: **Regulation of multiple angiogenic pathways by DII4**

and Notch in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Microvascular research* 2008, **75**(2):144-154.

- 189. Funahashi Y, Shawber CJ, Vorontchikhina M, Sharma A, Outtz HH, Kitajewski J: Notch regulates the angiogenic response via induction of VEGFR-1. *J Angiogenes Res* 2010, **2**(1):3.
- 190. Nilsson I, Bahram F, Li X, Gualandi L, Koch S, Jarvius M, Soderberg O, Anisimov A, Kholova I, Pytowski B *et al*: **VEGF receptor 2/-3 heterodimers detected in situ by proximity ligation on angiogenic sprouts**. *Embo J* 2010, **29**(8):1377-1388.
- 191. Fischer RS, Gardel M, Ma X, Adelstein RS, Waterman CM: Local cortical tension by myosin II guides 3D endothelial cell branching. *Curr Biol* 2009, **19**(3):260-265.
- 192. Myers KA, Applegate KT, Danuser G, Fischer RS, Waterman CM: Distinct ECM mechanosensing pathways regulate microtubule dynamics to control endothelial cell branching morphogenesis. *The Journal of cell biology* 2011, **192**(2):321-334.
- 193. Etienne-Manneville S: Cdc42--the centre of polarity. *Journal of cell science* 2004, **117**(Pt 8):1291-1300.
- 194. Ruhrberg C, Gerhardt H, Golding M, Watson R, Ioannidou S, Fujisawa H, Betsholtz C, Shima DT: **Spatially restricted patterning cues provided by heparin-binding VEGF-A control blood vessel branching morphogenesis**. *Genes Dev* 2002, **16**(20):2684-2698.
- 195. del Toro R, Prahst C, Mathivet T, Siegfried G, Kaminker JS, Larivee B, Breant C, Duarte A, Takakura N, Fukamizu A *et al*: Identification and functional analysis of endothelial tip cell-enriched genes. *Blood* 2010, **116**:4025-4033.
- 196. Geudens I, Gerhardt H: **Coordinating cell behaviour during blood vessel formation**. *Development* 2011, **138**(21):4569-4583.
- 197. Almagro S, Durmort C, Chervin-Petinot A, Heyraud S, Dubois M, Lambert O, Maillefaud C, Hewat E, Schaal JP, Huber P *et al*: **The motor protein myosin-X transports VE-cadherin along filopodia to allow the formation of early endothelial cell-cell contacts**. *Mol Cell Biol* 2010, **30**(7):1703-1717.
- 198. Chappell JC, Taylor SM, Ferrara N, Bautch VL: Local guidance of emerging vessel sprouts requires soluble Flt-1. *Dev Cell* 2009, 17(3):377-386.
- 199. Caussinus E, Colombelli J, Affolter M: **Tip-cell migration controls** stalk-cell intercalation during Drosophila tracheal tube elongation. *Curr Biol* 2008, **18**(22):1727-1734.
- 200. Phng LK, Gerhardt H: Angiogenesis: a team effort coordinated by notch. *Dev Cell* 2009, **16**(2):196-208.
- 201. Moya IM, Umans L, Maas E, Pereira PN, Beets K, Francis A, Sents W, Robertson EJ, Mummery CL, Huylebroeck D *et al*: Stalk cell phenotype depends on integration of notch and smad1/5 signaling cascades. *Dev Cell* 2012, 22(3):501-514.

- 202. Olsson AK, Dimberg A, Kreuger J, Claesson-Welsh L: VEGF receptor signalling - in control of vascular function. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006, 7(5):359-371.
- 203. Robinson CJ, Stringer SE: The splice variants of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and their receptors. *Journal of cell science* 2001, **114**(Pt 5):853-865.
- 204. Harper SJ, Bates DO: VEGF-A splicing: the key to antiangiogenic therapeutics? *Nat Rev Cancer* 2008, **8**(11):880-887.
- 205. Hoeben A, Landuyt B, Highley MS, Wildiers H, Van Oosterom AT, De Bruijn EA: Vascular endothelial growth factor and angiogenesis. *Pharmacological reviews* 2004, **56**(4):549-580.
- 206. Ortega N, Hutchings H, Plouet J: Signal relays in the VEGF system. Front Biosci 1999, 4:D141-152.
- 207. Jakobsson L, Kreuger J, Holmborn K, Lundin L, Eriksson I, Kjellen L, Claesson-Welsh L: **Heparan sulfate in trans potentiates VEGFR-mediated angiogenesis**. *Dev Cell* 2006, **10**(5):625-634.
- 208. Carmeliet P, Ng YS, Nuyens D, Theilmeier G, Brusselmans K, Cornelissen I, Ehler E, Kakkar VV, Stalmans I, Mattot V et al: Impaired myocardial angiogenesis and ischemic cardiomyopathy in mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor isoforms VEGF164 and VEGF188. Nature medicine 1999, 5(5):495-502.
- 209. Maes C, Stockmans I, Moermans K, Van Looveren R, Smets N, Carmeliet P, Bouillon R, Carmeliet G: Soluble VEGF isoforms are essential for establishing epiphyseal vascularization and regulating chondrocyte development and survival. *The Journal* of clinical investigation 2004, **113**(2):188-199.
- 210. Olofsson B, Korpelainen E, Pepper MS, Mandriota SJ, Aase K, Kumar V, Gunji Y, Jeltsch MM, Shibuya M, Alitalo K et al: Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) binds to VEGF receptor-1 and regulates plasminogen activator activity in endothelial cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1998, 95(20):11709-11714.
- 211. Joukov V, Pajusola K, Kaipainen A, Chilov D, Lahtinen I, Kukk E, Saksela O, Kalkkinen N, Alitalo K: **A novel vascular endothelial** growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. *Embo J* 1996, 15(2):290-298.
- 212. Joukov V, Sorsa T, Kumar V, Jeltsch M, Claesson-Welsh L, Cao Y, Saksela O, Kalkkinen N, Alitalo K: Proteolytic processing regulates receptor specificity and activity of VEGF-C. Embo J 1997, 16(13):3898-3911.
- 213. Yoon YS, Murayama T, Gravereaux E, Tkebuchava T, Silver M, Curry C, Wecker A, Kirchmair R, Hu CS, Kearney M *et al*: **VEGF-C gene therapy augments postnatal lymphangiogenesis and ameliorates secondary lymphedema**. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2003, **111**(5):717-725.

- 214. Yamada Y, Nezu J, Shimane M, Hirata Y: **Molecular cloning of a novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-D**. *Genomics* 1997, **42**(3):483-488.
- 215. Rissanen TT, Markkanen JE, Gruchala M, Heikura T, Puranen A, Kettunen MI, Kholova I, Kauppinen RA, Achen MG, Stacker SA *et al*: VEGF-D is the strongest angiogenic and lymphangiogenic effector among VEGFs delivered into skeletal muscle via adenoviruses. *Circulation research* 2003, **92**(10):1098-1106.
- 216. Ogawa S, Oku A, Sawano A, Yamaguchi S, Yazaki Y, Shibuya M: A novel type of vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-E (NZ-7 VEGF), preferentially utilizes KDR/Flk-1 receptor and carries a potent mitotic activity without heparin-binding domain. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1998, **273**(47):31273-31282.
- 217. Cebe-Suarez S, Zehnder-Fjallman A, Ballmer-Hofer K: **The role of VEGF receptors in angiogenesis; complex partnerships**. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2006, **63**(5):601-615.
- 218. Shibuya M, Claesson-Welsh L: Signal transduction by VEGF receptors in regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. *Experimental cell research* 2006, **312**(5):549-560.
- 219. Nagy JA, Benjamin L, Zeng H, Dvorak AM, Dvorak HF: Vascular permeability, vascular hyperpermeability and angiogenesis. *Angiogenesis* 2008, **11**(2):109-119.
- 220. Gerber HP, Ferrara N: The role of VEGF in normal and neoplastic hematopoiesis. *Journal of molecular medicine* 2003, 81(1):20-31.
- 221. Carrero Y, Callejas D, Alana F, Silva C, Mindiola R, Mosquera J: Increased vascular endothelial growth factor expression, CD3positive cell infiltration, and oxidative stress in premalignant lesions of the cervix. *Cancer* 2009, **115**(16):3680-3688.
- 222. Stone J, Itin A, Alon T, Pe'er J, Gnessin H, Chan-Ling T, Keshet E: Development of retinal vasculature is mediated by hypoxiainduced vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression by neuroglia. *J Neurosci* 1995, **15**(7 Pt 1):4738-4747.
- 223. Neufeld G, Cohen T, Gengrinovitch S, Poltorak Z: Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 1999, **13**(1):9-22.
- 224. Ferrara N, Carver-Moore K, Chen H, Dowd M, Lu L, O'Shea KS, Powell-Braxton L, Hillan KJ, Moore MW: Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. *Nature* 1996, **380**(6573):439-442.
- 225. Carmeliet P, Ferreira V, Breier G, Pollefeyt S, Kieckens L, Gertsenstein M, Fahrig M, Vandenhoeck A, Harpal K, Eberhardt C *et al*: **Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in**

embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature* 1996, **380**(6573):435-439.

- 226. Zachary I, Gliki G: Signaling transduction mechanisms mediating biological actions of the vascular endothelial growth factor family. *Cardiovascular research* 2001, **49**(3):568-581.
- 227. Barleon B, Sozzani S, Zhou D, Weich HA, Mantovani A, Marme D: Migration of human monocytes in response to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is mediated via the VEGF receptor flt-1. *Blood* 1996, 87(8):3336-3343.
- 228. Charnock-Jones DS, Sharkey AM, Boocock CA, Ahmed A, Plevin R, Ferrara N, Smith SK: Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor localization and activation in human trophoblast and choriocarcinoma cells. *Biol Reprod* 1994, **51**(3):524-530.
- 229. Sawano A, Takahashi T, Yamaguchi S, Shibuya M: The phosphorylated 1169-tyrosine containing region of flt-1 kinase (VEGFR-1) is a major binding site for PLCgamma. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 1997, 238(2):487-491.
- 230. Seetharam L, Gotoh N, Maru Y, Neufeld G, Yamaguchi S, Shibuya M: A unique signal transduction from FLT tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF. Oncogene 1995, 10(1):135-147.
- 231. Landgren E, Schiller P, Cao Y, Claesson-Welsh L: Placenta growth factor stimulates MAP kinase and mitogenicity but not phospholipase C-gamma and migration of endothelial cells expressing Flt 1. Oncogene 1998, 16(3):359-367.
- 232. de Vries C, Escobedo JA, Ueno H, Houck K, Ferrara N, Williams LT: The fms-like tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Science* 1992, **255**(5047):989-991.
- 233. Kendall RL, Thomas KA: Inhibition of vascular endothelial cell growth factor activity by an endogenously encoded soluble receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1993, **90**(22):10705-10709.
- 234. Fong GH, Rossant J, Gertsenstein M, Breitman ML: Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. *Nature* 1995, **376**(6535):66-70.
- 235. Fong GH, Zhang L, Bryce DM, Peng J: Increased hemangioblast commitment, not vascular disorganization, is the primary defect in flt-1 knock-out mice. *Development* 1999, **126**(13):3015-3025.
- 236. Hiratsuka S, Minowa O, Kuno J, Noda T, Shibuya M: Flt-1 lacking the tyrosine kinase domain is sufficient for normal development and angiogenesis in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1998, **95**(16):9349-9354.
- 237. Katoh O, Tauchi H, Kawaishi K, Kimura A, Satow Y: Expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor gene, KDR, in hematopoietic cells and inhibitory effect of VEGF on

apoptotic cell death caused by ionizing radiation. *Cancer* research 1995, **55**(23):5687-5692.

- 238. Yang X, Cepko CL: Flk-1, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), is expressed by retinal progenitor cells. *J Neurosci* 1996, **16**(19):6089-6099.
- 239. Dougher-Vermazen M, Hulmes JD, Bohlen P, Terman BI: Biological activity and phosphorylation sites of the bacterially expressed cytosolic domain of the KDR VEGF-receptor. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 1994, 205(1):728-738.
- 240. Wheeler-Jones C, Abu-Ghazaleh R, Cospedal R, Houliston RA, Martin J, Zachary I: Vascular endothelial growth factor stimulates prostacyclin production and activation of cytosolic phospholipase A2 in endothelial cells via p42/p44 mitogenactivated protein kinase. *FEBS Lett* 1997, 420(1):28-32.
- 241. Kroll J, Waltenberger J: A novel function of VEGF receptor-2 (KDR): rapid release of nitric oxide in response to VEGF-A stimulation in endothelial cells. *Biochemical and biophysical* research communications 1999, **265**(3):636-639.
- 242. Cunningham SA, Tran TM, Arrate MP, Bjercke R, Brock TA: **KDR** activation is crucial for VEGF165-mediated Ca2+ mobilization in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol* 1999, 276(1 Pt 1):C176-181.
- 243. Takahashi T, Shibuya M: The 230 kDa mature form of KDR/Flk-1 (VEGF receptor-2) activates the PLC-gamma pathway and partially induces mitotic signals in NIH3T3 fibroblasts. Oncogene 1997, 14(17):2079-2089.
- 244. Fujio Y, Walsh K: Akt mediates cytoprotection of endothelial cells by vascular endothelial growth factor in an anchoragedependent manner. The Journal of biological chemistry 1999, 274(23):16349-16354.
- 245. Zhang QX, Nakhaei-Nejad M, Haddad G, Wang X, Loutzenhiser R, Murray AG: Glomerular endothelial Pl3 kinase-alpha couples to VEGFR2, but is not required for eNOS activation. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 2011, **301**(6):F1242-1250.
- 246. Takahashi T, Yamaguchi S, Chida K, Shibuya M: A single autophosphorylation site on KDR/Flk-1 is essential for VEGF-A-dependent activation of PLC-gamma and DNA synthesis in vascular endothelial cells. *Embo J* 2001, **20**(11):2768-2778.
- 247. Holmqvist K, Cross MJ, Rolny C, Hagerkvist R, Rahimi N, Matsumoto T, Claesson-Welsh L, Welsh M: The adaptor protein shb binds to tyrosine 1175 in vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor-2 and regulates VEGF-dependent cellular migration. The Journal of biological chemistry 2004, 279(21):22267-22275.
- 248. Waltenberger J, Claesson-Welsh L, Siegbahn A, Shibuya M, Heldin CH: Different signal transduction properties of KDR and Flt1,

two receptors for vascular endothelial growth factor. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1994, **269**(43):26988-26995.

- 249. Matsumoto T, Bohman S, Dixelius J, Berge T, Dimberg A, Magnusson P, Wang L, Wikner C, Qi JH, Wernstedt C *et al*: **VEGF receptor-2 Y951 signaling and a role for the adapter molecule TSAd in tumor angiogenesis**. *Embo J* 2005, **24**(13):2342-2353.
- 250. Sase H, Watabe T, Kawasaki K, Miyazono K, Miyazawa K: VEGFR2-PLCgamma1 axis is essential for endothelial specification of VEGFR2+ vascular progenitor cells. *Journal of cell science* 2009, 122(Pt 18):3303-3311.
- 251. Shalaby F, Rossant J, Yamaguchi TP, Gertsenstein M, Wu XF, Breitman ML, Schuh AC: Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature* 1995, 376(6535):62-66.
- 252. Kroll J, Waltenberger J: The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor KDR activates multiple signal transduction pathways in porcine aortic endothelial cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1997, **272**(51):32521-32527.
- 253. Alitalo K, Tammela T, Petrova TV: Lymphangiogenesis in development and human disease. *Nature* 2005, **438**(7070):946-953.
- 254. Kaipainen A, Korhonen J, Mustonen T, van Hinsbergh VW, Fang GH, Dumont D, Breitman M, Alitalo K: **Expression of the fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1995, **92**(8):3566-3570.
- 255. Yuan L, Moyon D, Pardanaud L, Breant C, Karkkainen MJ, Alitalo K, Eichmann A: Abnormal lymphatic vessel development in neuropilin 2 mutant mice. *Development* 2002, **129**(20):4797-4806.
- 256. Soker S, Takashima S, Miao HQ, Neufeld G, Klagsbrun M: Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell* 1998, **92**(6):735-745.
- 257. Kitsukawa T, Shimizu M, Sanbo M, Hirata T, Taniguchi M, Bekku Y, Yagi T, Fujisawa H: Neuropilin-semaphorin III/D-mediated chemorepulsive signals play a crucial role in peripheral nerve projection in mice. *Neuron* 1997, **19**(5):995-1005.
- 258. Raica M, Cimpean AM: Platelet-Derived Growth Factor (PDGF)/PDGF Receptors (PDGFR) Axis as Target for Antitumor Antiangiogenic Therapy. *Pharmaceuticals* 2010, **3**:572-599.
- 259. Li WL, Yamada Y, Ueno M, Nishikawa S, Takakura N: Platelet derived growth factor receptor alpha is essential for establishing a microenvironment that supports definitive erythropoiesis. *J Biochem* 2006, **140**(2):267-273.

- 260. Battegay EJ, Rupp J, Iruela-Arispe L, Sage EH, Pech M: **PDGF-BB** modulates endothelial proliferation and angiogenesis in vitro via PDGF beta-receptors. *The Journal of cell biology* 1994, 125(4):917-928.
- 261. Betsholtz C, Gerhardt H: **Role of platelet-derived growth factors in the microvasculature**. In: *Microvascular Research. Volume 1*, edn. Edited by Shepro D. Burlington: Elsevier; 2006: 85-90.
- 262. Lange S, Heger J, Euler G, Wartenberg M, Piper HM, Sauer H: Platelet-derived growth factor BB stimulates vasculogenesis of embryonic stem cell-derived endothelial cells by calciummediated generation of reactive oxygen species. Cardiovascular research 2009, 81(1):159-168.
- 263. Gerhardt H, Betsholtz C: Endothelial-pericyte interactions in angiogenesis. *Cell Tissue Res* 2003, **314**(1):15-23.
- 264. Floege J, Johnson RJ: Multiple roles for platelet-derived growth factor in renal disease. *Miner Electrolyte Metab* 1995, **21**(4-5):271-282.
- 265. Reigstad LJ, Varhaug JE, Lillehaug JR: Structural and functional specificities of PDGF-C and PDGF-D, the novel members of the platelet-derived growth factors family. *Febs J* 2005, 272(22):5723-5741.
- 266. Ding H, Wu X, Bostrom H, Kim I, Wong N, Tsoi B, O'Rourke M, Koh GY, Soriano P, Betsholtz C *et al*: A specific requirement for PDGF-C in palate formation and PDGFR-alpha signaling. *Nature genetics* 2004, **36**(10):1111-1116.
- Floege J, Eitner F, Alpers CE: A new look at platelet-derived growth factor in renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 2008, 19(1):12-23.
- 268. Leveen P, Pekny M, Gebre-Medhin S, Swolin B, Larsson E, Betsholtz C: Mice deficient for PDGF B show renal, cardiovascular, and hematological abnormalities. *Genes Dev* 1994, 8(16):1875-1887.
- 269. Alpers ČE, Hudkins KL, Ferguson M, Johnson RJ, Rutledge JC: **Platelet-derived growth factor A-chain expression in developing and mature human kidneys and in Wilms' tumor**. *Kidney international* 1995, **48**(1):146-154.
- 270. Seifert RA, Alpers CE, Bowen-Pope DF: Expression of plateletderived growth factor and its receptors in the developing and adult mouse kidney. *Kidney international* 1998, **54**(3):731-746.
- 271. Eitner F, Ostendorf T, Kretzler M, Cohen CD, Eriksson U, Grone HJ, Floege J: **PDGF-C expression in the developing and normal adult human kidney and in glomerular diseases**. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2003, **14**(5):1145-1153.
- 272. Taneda S, Hudkins KL, Topouzis S, Gilbertson DG, Ophascharoensuk V, Truong L, Johnson RJ, Alpers CE: **Obstructive uropathy in mice and humans: potential role for**

PDGF-D in the progression of tubulointerstitial injury. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2003, **14**(10):2544-2555.

- 273. van Roeyen CR, Ostendorf T, Floege J: The platelet-derived growth factor system in renal disease: an emerging role of endogenous inhibitors. *Eur J Cell Biol* 2012, **91**(6-7):542-551.
- 274. lida H, Seifert R, Alpers CE, Gronwald RG, Phillips PE, Pritzl P, Gordon K, Gown AM, Ross R, Bowen-Pope DF *et al*: **Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and PDGF receptor are induced in mesangial proliferative nephritis in the rat**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1991, **88**(15):6560-6564.
- 275. Liapis H, Nag M, Steinhardt G: Effects of experimental ureteral obstruction on platelet-derived growth factor-A and type I procollagen expression in fetal metanephric kidneys. *Pediatr Nephrol* 1994, **8**(5):548-554.
- 276. Yoshimura A, Gordon K, Alpers CE, Floege J, Pritzl P, Ross R, Couser WG, Bowen-Pope DF, Johnson RJ: Demonstration of PDGF B-chain mRNA in glomeruli in mesangial proliferative nephritis by in situ hybridization. *Kidney international* 1991, 40(3):470-476.
- 277. Barnes JL, Abboud HE: Temporal expression of autocrine growth factors corresponds to morphological features of mesangial proliferation in Habu snake venom-induced glomerulonephritis. The American journal of pathology 1993, 143(5):1366-1376.
- 278. Taneda S, Hudkins KL, Cui Y, Farr AG, Alpers CE, Segerer S: Growth factor expression in a murine model of cryoglobulinemia. *Kidney international* 2003, **63**(2):576-590.
- 279. Shehata M, el Nahas Á, Barkworth E, Cope GH, Raftery AT: Increased platelet-derived growth factor in the kidneys of cyclosporin-treated rats. *Kidney international* 1994, **46**(3):726-732.
- 280. Kliem V, Johnson RJ, Alpers CE, Yoshimura A, Couser WG, Koch KM, Floege J: Mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of tubulointerstitial fibrosis in 5/6-nephrectomized rats. *Kidney international* 1996, **49**(3):666-678.
- 281. Ostendorf T, van Roeyen CR, Peterson JD, Kunter U, Eitner F, Hamad AJ, Chan G, Jia XC, Macaluso J, Gazit-Bornstein G *et al*: A fully human monoclonal antibody (CR002) identifies PDGF-D as a novel mediator of mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2003, 14(9):2237-2247.
- 282. Nakagawa H, Sasahara M, Haneda M, Koya D, Hazama F, Kikkawa R: Immunohistochemical characterization of glomerular PDGF B-chain and PDGF beta-receptor expression in diabetic rats. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2000, 48(2):87-98.
- 283. Fujigaki Y, Sun DF, Fujimoto T, Suzuki T, Goto T, Yonemura K, Morioka T, Yaoita E, Hishida A: **Mechanisms and kinetics of**

Bowman's epithelial-myofibroblast transdifferentiation in the formation of glomerular crescents. *Nephron* 2002, **92**(1):203-212.

- 284. Kimura M, Asano M, Abe K, Miyazaki M, Suzuki T, Hishida A: Role of atrophic changes in proximal tubular cells in the peritubular deposition of type IV collagen in a rat renal ablation model. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2005, **20**(8):1559-1565.
- 285. Ostendorf T, Eitner F, Floege J: The PDGF family in renal fibrosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* 2012, **27**(7):1041-1050.
- 286. Andrae J, Gallini R, Betsholtz C: Role of platelet-derived growth factors in physiology and medicine. *Genes Dev* 2008, 22(10):1276-1312.
- 287. Boor P, Konieczny A, Villa L, Kunter U, van Roeyen CR, LaRochelle WJ, Smithson G, Arrol S, Ostendorf T, Floege J: PDGF-D inhibition by CR002 ameliorates tubulointerstitial fibrosis following experimental glomerulonephritis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007, 22(5):1323-1331.
- 288. Kong D, Li Y, Wang Z, Banerjee S, Ahmad A, Kim HR, Sarkar FH: miR-200 regulates PDGF-D-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition, adhesion, and invasion of prostate cancer cells. *Stem cells* 2009, 27(8):1712-1721.
- 289. Katso R, Okkenhaug K, Ahmadi K, White S, Timms J, Waterfield MD: Cellular function of phosphoinositide 3-kinases: implications for development, homeostasis, and cancer. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2001, 17:615-675.
- 290. Leevers SJ, Vanhaesebroeck B, Waterfield MD: Signalling through phosphoinositide 3-kinases: the lipids take centre stage. *Current opinion in cell biology* 1999, **11**(2):219-225.
- 291. Wymann MP, Marone R: **Phosphoinositide 3-kinase in disease: timing, location, and scaffolding**. *Current opinion in cell biology* 2005, **17**(2):141-149.
- 292. Deane JA, Fruman DA: Phosphoinositide 3-kinase: diverse roles in immune cell activation. *Annual review of immunology* 2004, **22**:563-598.
- 293. Voigt P, Brock C, Nurnberg B, Schaefer M: Assigning functional domains within the p101 regulatory subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma. The Journal of biological chemistry 2005, 280(6):5121-5127.
- 294. Woscholski R, Parker PJ: Inositol lipid 5-phosphatases--traffic signals and signal traffic. *Trends in biochemical sciences* 1997, 22(11):427-431.
- 295. Hinchliffe K, Irvine R: Inositol lipid pathways turn turtle. *Nature* 1997, **390**(6656):123-124.
- 296. Feng J, Park J, Cron P, Hess D, Hemmings BA: Identification of a PKB/Akt hydrophobic motif Ser-473 kinase as DNA-dependent protein kinase. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 2004, 279(39):41189-41196.

- 297. Kawakami Y, Nishimoto H, Kitaura J, Maeda-Yamamoto M, Kato RM, Littman DR, Leitges M, Rawlings DJ, Kawakami T: Protein kinase C betall regulates Akt phosphorylation on Ser-473 in a cell type- and stimulus-specific fashion. The Journal of biological chemistry 2004, 279(46):47720-47725.
- 298. Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM: Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science* 2005, **307**(5712):1098-1101.
- 299. Hay N, Sonenberg N: Upstream and downstream of mTOR. *Genes Dev* 2004, **18**(16):1926-1945.
- 300. Beevers CS, Li F, Liu L, Huang S: Curcumin inhibits the mammalian target of rapamycin-mediated signaling pathways in cancer cells. *Int J Cancer* 2006, **119**(4):757-764.
- 301. Raftopoulou M, Hall A: Cell migration: Rho GTPases lead the way. *Dev Biol* 2004, **265**(1):23-32.
- 302. Jones SM, Klinghoffer R, Prestwich GD, Toker A, Kazlauskas A: **PDGF induces an early and a late wave of PI 3-kinase activity, and only the late wave is required for progression through G1**. *Curr Biol* 1999, **9**(10):512-521.
- 303. Jones SM, Kazlauskas A: Growth-factor-dependent mitogenesis requires two distinct phases of signalling. *Nat Cell Biol* 2001, **3**(2):165-172.
- 304. Alvarez B, Garrido E, Garcia-Sanz JA, Carrera AC: Phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation regulates cell division time by coordinated control of cell mass and cell cycle progression rate. The Journal of biological chemistry 2003, 278(29):26466-26473.
- 305. Marques M, Kumar A, Cortes I, Gonzalez-Garcia A, Hernandez C, Moreno-Ortiz MC, Carrera AC: Phosphoinositide 3-kinases p110alpha and p110beta regulate cell cycle entry, exhibiting distinct activation kinetics in G1 phase. *Mol Cell Biol* 2008, 28(8):2803-2814.
- 306. Marques M, Kumar A, Poveda AM, Zuluaga S, Hernandez C, Jackson S, Pasero P, Carrera AC: Specific function of phosphoinositide 3-kinase beta in the control of DNA replication. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2009, 106(18):7525-7530.
- 307. Kumar A, Fernandez-Capetillo O, Carrera AC: Nuclear phosphoinositide 3-kinase beta controls double-strand break DNA repair. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2010, **107**(16):7491-7496.
- 308. Engelman JA: Targeting PI3K signalling in cancer: opportunities, challenges and limitations. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2009, 9(8):550-562.
- 309. Li J, Yen C, Liaw D, Podsypanina K, Bose S, Wang SI, Puc J, Miliaresis C, Rodgers L, McCombie R *et al*: **PTEN**, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain,

breast, and prostate cancer. Science 1997, 275(5308):1943-1947.

- 310. Suzuki A, Hamada K, Sasaki T, Mak TW, Nakano T: Role of PTEN/PI3K pathway in endothelial cells. *Biochemical Society transactions* 2007, **35**(Pt 2):172-176.
- 311. MacDougall LK, Domin J, Waterfield MD: A family of phosphoinositide 3-kinases in Drosophila identifies a new mediator of signal transduction. *Curr Biol* 1995, **5**(12):1404-1415.
- 312. Arcaro A, Volinia S, Zvelebil MJ, Stein R, Watton SJ, Layton MJ, Gout I, Ahmadi K, Downward J, Waterfield MD: **Human phosphoinositide 3-kinase C2beta, the role of calcium and the C2 domain in enzyme activity**. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1998, **273**(49):33082-33090.
- 313. Vanhaesebroeck B, Waterfield MD: Signaling by distinct classes of phosphoinositide 3-kinases. *Experimental cell research* 1999, 253(1):239-254.
- Brown RA, Domin J, Arcaro A, Waterfield MD, Shepherd PR: Insulin activates the alpha isoform of class II phosphoinositide 3-kinase. The Journal of biological chemistry 1999, 274(21):14529-14532.
- 315. Arcaro A, Zvelebil MJ, Wallasch C, Ullrich A, Waterfield MD, Domin J: Class II phosphoinositide 3-kinases are downstream targets of activated polypeptide growth factor receptors. *Mol Cell Biol* 2000, **20**(11):3817-3830.
- 316. Zhang J, Banfic H, Straforini F, Tosi L, Volinia S, Rittenhouse SE: A type II phosphoinositide 3-kinase is stimulated via activated integrin in platelets. A source of phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1998, 273(23):14081-14084.
- 317. Turner SJ, Domin J, Waterfield MD, Ward SG, Westwick J: The CC chemokine monocyte chemotactic peptide-1 activates both the class I p85/p110 phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and the class II PI3K-C2alpha. The Journal of biological chemistry 1998, 273(40):25987-25995.
- 318. Herman PK, Stack JH, Emr SD: An essential role for a protein and lipid kinase complex in secretory protein sorting. *Trends Cell Biol* 1992, **2**(12):363-368.
- 319. Nobukuni T, Joaquin M, Roccio M, Dann SG, Kim SY, Gulati P, Byfield MP, Backer JM, Natt F, Bos JL *et al*: Amino acids mediate mTOR/raptor signaling through activation of class 3 phosphatidylinositol 3OH-kinase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2005, 102(40):14238-14243.
- 320. Byfield MP, Murray JT, Backer JM: hVps34 is a nutrient-regulated lipid kinase required for activation of p70 S6 kinase. The Journal of biological chemistry 2005, 280(38):33076-33082.

- 321. Slessareva JE, Routt SM, Temple B, Bankaitis VA, Dohlman HG: Activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase Vps34 by a G protein alpha subunit at the endosome. *Cell* 2006, **126**(1):191-203.
- 322. Vanhaesebroeck B, Guillermet-Guibert J, Graupera M, Bilanges B: **The emerging mechanisms of isoform-specific PI3K signalling**. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2010, **11**(5):329-341.
- 323. Schaper W, Buschmann I: Arteriogenesis, the good and bad of it. Cardiovascular research 1999, **43**(4):835-837.
- 324. Jiang BH, Zheng JZ, Aoki M, Vogt PK: Phosphatidylinositol 3kinase signaling mediates angiogenesis and expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in endothelial cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2000, **97**(4):1749-1753.
- 325. Zwick E, Bange J, Ullrich A: **Receptor tyrosine kinase signalling** as a target for cancer intervention strategies. *Endocr Relat Cancer* 2001, 8(3):161-173.
- 326. Morello F, Perino A, Hirsch E: **Phosphoinositide 3-kinase** signalling in the vascular system. *Cardiovascular research* 2009, 82(2):261-271.
- 327. Chantry D, Vojtek A, Kashishian A, Holtzman DA, Wood C, Gray PW, Cooper JA, Hoekstra MF: **p110delta**, **a novel phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase catalytic subunit that associates with p85 and is expressed predominantly in leukocytes**. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1997, **272**(31):19236-19241.
- 328. Bi L, Okabe I, Bernard DJ, Wynshaw-Boris A, Nussbaum RL: **Proliferative defect and embryonic lethality in mice homozygous for a deletion in the p110alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase**. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1999, **274**(16):10963-10968.
- 329. Bi L, Okabe I, Bernard DJ, Nussbaum RL: Early embryonic lethality in mice deficient in the p110beta catalytic subunit of PI 3-kinase. *Mamm Genome* 2002, 13(3):169-172.
- 330. Graupera M, Guillermet-Guibert J, Foukas LC, Phng LK, Cain RJ, Salpekar A, Pearce W, Meek S, Millan J, Cutillas PR *et al*: Angiogenesis selectively requires the p110alpha isoform of PI3K to control endothelial cell migration. *Nature* 2008, 453(7195):662-666.
- 331. Tolias KF, Cantley LC, Carpenter CL: **Rho family GTPases bind to phosphoinositide kinases**. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1995, **270**(30):17656-17659.
- 332. Serban D, Leng J, Cheresh D: H-ras regulates angiogenesis and vascular permeability by activation of distinct downstream effectors. *Circulation research* 2008, **102**(11):1350-1358.
- 333. Lin Y, Weisdorf DJ, Solovey A, Hebbel RP: Origins of circulating endothelial cells and endothelial outgrowth from blood. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2000, **105**(1):71-77.

- 334. Handel-Fernandez ME, Lopez DM: Isolation of macrophages from tissues, fluids, and immune response sites. In: *Macrophages.* edn. Edited by Paulnock DM. New York: Oxford University Press; 2000: 1-30.
- 335. Burton JD: The MTT assay to evaluate chemosensitivity. *Methods Mol Med* 2005, **110**:69-78.
- 336. Urbich C, Dimmeler S: Isolation, culture, and differentiation of circulating endothelial precursor cells. In: *Methods in Endothelial Cell Biology.* edn. Edited by Augustin HG. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 2004.
- 337. Ligi I, Simoncini S, Tellier E, Vassallo PF, Sabatier F, Guillet B, Lamy E, Sarlon G, Quemener C, Bikfalvi A *et al*: **A switch toward angiostatic gene expression impairs the angiogenic properties of endothelial progenitor cells in low birth weight preterm infants**. *Blood* 2011, **118**(6):1699-1709.
- 338. Frank C, Werber D, Cramer JP, Faber M, al. e: Epidemic profile of Shiga-toxin-producing Escherichia coli O104-H4 outbreak in Germany. New England Journal of Medicine 2011, 365:1771-1780.
- 339. Magnus T, Rother J, Simova O, Meier-Cillien M, Repenthin J, al. e: The neurological syndrome in adults during the 2011 northern German E. coli serotype o104:H4. *Brain* 2012, 135:1850-1859.
- 340. Colvin RB: Antibody-mediated renal allograft rejection: diagnosis and pathogenesis. Journal of American Society of Nephrology 2007, **18**:1046-1056.
- 341. Laskin BL, Goebel J, Davies SM, Jodele S: Small vessels, big trouble in the kidneys and beyond: hematopoietic stem cell transplantation-associated thrombotic microangiopathy. *Blood* 2011, **118**(6):1452-1462.
- 342. Erwert RD, Winn RK, Harlan JM, Bannerman DD: Shiga-like toxin inhibition of FLICE-like inhibitory protein expression sensitizes endothelial cells to bacterial lipopolysaccharide-induced apoptosis. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 2002, 277(43):40567-40574.
- 343. Pijpers AH, van Setten PA, van den Heuvel LP, Assmann KJ, Dijkman HB, Pennings AH, Monnens LA, van Hinsbergh VW: Verocytotoxin-induced apoptosis of human microvascular endothelial cells. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001, 12(4):767-778.
- 344. Matussek A, Lauber J, Bergau A, Hansen W, Rohde M, Dittmar KE, Gunzer M, Mengel M, Gatzlaff P, Hartmann M *et al*: **Molecular and functional analysis of Shiga toxin-induced response patterns in human vascular endothelial cells**. *Blood* 2003, **102**(4):1323-1332.
- 345. Petruzziello-Pellegrini TN, Yuen DA, Page AV, Patel S, Soltyk AM, Matouk CC, Wong DK, Turgeon PJ, Fish JE, Ho JJ *et al*: The CXCR4/CXCR7/SDF-1 pathway contributes to the pathogenesis of Shiga toxin-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome in

humans and mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2012, **122**(2):759-776.

- 346. Psotka MA, Obata F, Kolling GL, Gross LK, Saleem MA, Satchell SC, Mathieson PW, Obrig TG: **Shiga toxin 2 targets the murine renal collecting duct epithelium**. *Infection and immunity* 2009, **77**(3):959-969.
- 347. Paixao-Cavalcante D, Botto M, Cook HT, Pickering MC: Shiga toxin-2 results in renal tubular injury but not thrombotic microangiopathy in heterozygous factor H-deficient mice. *Clinical and experimental immunology* 2009, **155**(2):339-347.
- 348. Solez K, Colvin RB, Racusen LC, Haas M, Sis B, Mengel M, Halloran PF, Baldwin W, Banfi G, Collins AB *et al*: Banff 07 classification of renal allograft pathology: updates and future directions. *Am J Transplant* 2008, 8(4):753-760.
- 349. Kissmeyer-Nielsen F, Olsen S, Petersen VP, Fjeldborg O: Hyperacute rejection of kidney allografts, associated with preexisting humoral antibodies against donor cells. *Lancet* 1966, 2(7465):662-665.
- 350. Trpkov K, Campbell P, Pazderka F, Cockfield S, Solez K, Halloran PF: Pathologic features of acute renal allograft rejection associated with donor-specific antibody, Analysis using the Banff grading schema. *Transplantation* 1996, **61**(11):1586-1592.
- 351. Mauiyyedi S, Crespo M, Collins AB, Schneeberger EE, Pascual MA, Saidman SL, Tolkoff-Rubin NE, Williams WW, Delmonico FL, Cosimi AB *et al*: Acute humoral rejection in kidney transplantation: II. Morphology, immunopathology, and pathologic classification. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2002, **13**(3):779-787.
- 352. Magro CM, Calomeni EP, Nadasdy T, Shusterman BD, Pope-Harman AL, Ross P, Jr.: Ultrastructure as a diagnostic adjunct in the evaluation of lung allograft biopsies. *Ultrastruct Pathol* 2005, **29**(2):95-106.
- 353. Liptak P, Kemeny E, Morvay Z, Szederkenyi E, Szenohradszky P, Marofka F, Toldi J, Exner M, Ivanyi B: **Peritubular capillary damage in acute humoral rejection: an ultrastructural study on human renal allografts**. *Am J Transplant* 2005, **5**(12):2870-2876.
- 354. Blakely ML, Van der Werf WJ, Berndt MC, Dalmasso AP, Bach FH, Hancock WW: Activation of intragraft endothelial and mononuclear cells during discordant xenograft rejection. *Transplantation* 1994, **58**(10):1059-1066.
- 355. Shimizu A, Meehan SM, Kozlowski T, Sablinski T, lerino FL, Cooper DK, Sachs DH, Colvin RB: Acute humoral xenograft rejection: destruction of the microvascular capillary endothelium in pig-to-nonhuman primate renal grafts. Lab Invest 2000, 80(6):815-830.
- 356. Montgomery RÀ, Zachary AA, Racusen LC, Leffell MS, King KE, Burdick J, Maley WR, Ratner LE: **Plasmapheresis and intravenous immune globulin provides effective rescue**

therapy for refractory humoral rejection and allows kidneys to be successfully transplanted into cross-match-positive recipients. *Transplantation* 2000, **70**(6):887-895.

- 357. Crespo M, Pascual M, Tolkoff-Rubin N, Mauiyyedi S, Collins AB, Fitzpatrick D, Farrell ML, Williams WW, Delmonico FL, Cosimi AB et al: Acute humoral rejection in renal allograft recipients: I. Incidence, serology and clinical characteristics. *Transplantation* 2001, 71(5):652-658.
- 358. Fuchinoue S, Ishii Y, Sawada T, Murakami T, Iwadoh K, Sannomiya A, Koyama I, Kubota K, Tojimbara T, Nakajima I *et al*: **The 5-year outcome of ABO-incompatible kidney transplantation with rituximab induction**. *Transplantation* 2011, **91**(8):853-857.
- 359. Mauiyyedi S, Pelle PD, Saidman S, Collins AB, Pascual M, Tolkoff-Rubin NE, Williams WW, Cosimi AA, Schneeberger EE, Colvin RB: Chronic humoral rejection: identification of antibody-mediated chronic renal allograft rejection by C4d deposits in peritubular capillaries. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001, 12(3):574-582.
- 360. Regele H, Bohmig GA, Habicht A, Gollowitzer D, Schillinger M, Rockenschaub S, Watschinger B, Kerjaschki D, Exner M: Capillary deposition of complement split product C4d in renal allografts is associated with basement membrane injury in peritubular and glomerular capillaries: a contribution of humoral immunity to chronic allograft rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002, 13(9):2371-2380.
- 361. Ishii Y, Sawada T, Kubota K, Fuchinoue S, Teraoka S, Shimizu A: Injury and progressive loss of peritubular capillaries in the development of chronic allograft nephropathy. *Kidney international* 2005, **67**(1):321-332.
- 362. Sis B, Jhangri GS, Bunnag S, Allanach K, Kaplan B, Halloran PF: Endothelial gene expression in kidney transplants with alloantibody indicates antibody-mediated damage despite lack of C4d staining. *Am J Transplant* 2009, **9**(10):2312-2323.
- 363. Uehara S, Chase CM, Cornell LD, Madsen JC, Russell PS, Colvin RB: Chronic cardiac transplant arteriopathy in mice: relationship of alloantibody, C4d deposition and neointimal fibrosis. Am J Transplant 2007, 7(1):57-65.
- 364. Gloor JM, Sethi S, Stegall MD, Park WD, Moore SB, DeGoey S, Griffin MD, Larson TS, Cosio FG: **Transplant glomerulopathy: subclinical incidence and association with alloantibody**. *Am J Transplant* 2007, **7**(9):2124-2132.
- 365. Gaston RS, Cecka JM, Kasiske BL, Fieberg AM, Leduc R, Cosio FC, Gourishankar S, Grande J, Halloran P, Hunsicker L *et al*: Evidence for antibody-mediated injury as a major determinant of late kidney allograft failure. *Transplantation* 2010, **90**(1):68-74.
- 366. Hirohashi N, Morrison DC: Low-dose lipopolysaccharide (LPS) pretreatment of mouse macrophages modulates LPS-
dependent interleukin-6 production in vitro. *Infection and immunity* 1996, **64**(3):1011-1015.

- 367. Hammerman MR: Growth factors and apoptosis in acute renal injury. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* 1998, **7**(4):419-424.
- 368. Xia J, Psychogios N, Young N, Wishart DS: MetaboAnalyst: a web server for metabolomic data analysis and interpretation. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2009, **37**(Web Server issue):W652-660.
- 369. Sellares J, de Freitas DG, Mengel M, Sis B, Hidalgo LG, Matas AJ, Kaplan B, Halloran PF: Inflammation lesions in kidney transplant biopsies: association with survival is due to the underlying diseases. Am J Transplant 2011, 11(3):489-499.
- 370. Smith JD, Banner NR, Hamour IM, Ozawa M, Goh A, Robinson D, Terasaki PI, Rose ML: **De novo donor HLA-specific antibodies after heart transplantation are an independent predictor of poor patient survival**. *Am J Transplant* 2011, **11**(2):312-319.
- 371. John HD, Thoenes W: The glomerular lesions in endotheliotropic hemolytic nephroangiopathy (hemolytic uremic syndrome, malignant nephrosclerosis, post partum renal insufficiency). Pathol Res Pract 1982, **173**(3):236-259.
- 372. Mitra D, Kim J, MacLow C, Karsan A, Laurence J: Role of caspases 1 and 3 and Bcl-2-related molecules in endothelial cell apoptosis associated with thrombotic microangiopathies. *Am J Hematol* 1998, **59**(4):279-287.
- 373. Lajoie G: Antibody-mediated rejection of human renal allografts: an electron microscopic study of peritubular capillaries. *Ultrastruct Pathol* 1997, **21**(3):235-242.
- 374. Pickering MC, de Jorge EG, Martinez-Barricarte R, Recalde S, Garcia-Layana A, Rose KL, Moss J, Walport MJ, Cook HT, de Cordoba SR *et al*: Spontaneous hemolytic uremic syndrome triggered by complement factor H lacking surface recognition domains. J Exp Med 2007, 204(6):1249-1256.
- 375. Eremina V, Jefferson JA, Kowalewska J, Hochster H, Haas M, Weisstuch J, Richardson C, Kopp JB, Kabir MG, Backx PH et al: VEGF Inhibition and Renal Thrombotic Microangiopathy. The New England Journal of Medicine 2008, 358:1129-1136.
- 376. Keepers TR, Psotka MA, Gross LK, Obrig TG: A murine model of HUS: Shiga toxin with lipopolysaccharide mimics the renal damage and physiologic response of human disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2006, **17**(12):3404-3414.
- 377. Thurston G, Baluk P, Hirata A, McDonald DM: Permeabilityrelated changes revealed at endothelial cell borders in inflamed venules by lectin binding. *Am J Physiol* 1996, **271**(6 Pt 2):H2547-2562.
- 378. Hohenstein B, Braun A, Amann KU, Johnson RJ, Hugo CP: A murine model of site-specific renal microvascular endothelial injury and thrombotic microangiopathy. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2008, **23**(4):1144-1156.

- 379. Nozaki T, Rosenblum JM, Schenk AD, Ishii D, Fairchild RL: CCR5 is required for regulation of alloreactive T-cell responses to single class II MHC-mismatched murine cardiac grafts. *Am J Transplant* 2009, 9(10):2251-2261.
- 380. Choo JK, Seebach JD, Nickeleit V, Shimizu A, Lei H, Sachs DH, Madsen JC: Species differences in the expression of major histocompatibility complex class II antigens on coronary artery endothelium: implications for cell-mediated xenoreactivity. *Transplantation* 1997, **64**(9):1315-1322.
- 381. Warner RL, Winter HC, Speyer CL, Varani J, Oldstein IJ, Murphy HS, Johnson KJ: Marasmius oreades lectin induces renal thrombotic microangiopathic lesions. *Experimental and Molecular pathology* 2004, **77**(2):77-84.
- 382. Kielstein JT, Boger RH, Bode-Boger SM, Frolich JC, Haller H, Ritz E, Fliser D: Marked increase of asymmetric dimethylarginine in patients with incipient primary chronic renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002, 13(1):170-176.
- 383. Shao J, Miyata T, Yamada K, Hanafusa N, Wada T, Gordon KL, Inagi R, Kurokawa K, Fujita T, Johnson RJ *et al*: **Protective role of nitric oxide in a model of thrombotic microangiopathy in rats**. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2001, **12**(10):2088-2097.
- 384. Knowles JW, Reddick RL, Jennette JC, Shesely EG, Smithies O, Maeda N: Enhanced atherosclerosis and kidney dysfunction in eNOS(-/-)Apoe(-/-) mice are ameliorated by enalapril treatment. The Journal of clinical investigation 2000, 105(4):451-458.
- 385. Nakagawa T, Sato W, Sautin YY, Glushakova O, Croker B, Atkinson MA, Tisher CC, Johnson RJ: **Uncoupling of vascular endothelial growth factor with nitric oxide as a mechanism for diabetic vasculopathy**. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2006, **17**(3):736-745.
- 386. Forbes MS, Thornhill BA, Park MH, Chevalier RL: Lack of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase leads to progressive focal renal injury. *The American journal of pathology* 2007, **170**(1):87-99.
- 387. Sharp BR, Jones SP, Rimmer DM, Lefer DJ: **Differential response to myocardial reperfusion injury in eNOS-deficient mice**. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2002, **282**(6):H2422-2426.
- 388. Minamishima S, Bougaki M, Sips PY, Yu JD, Minamishima YA, Elrod JW, Lefer DJ, Bloch KD, Ichinose F: Hydrogen sulfide improves survival after cardiac arrest and cardiopulmonary resuscitation via a nitric oxide synthase 3-dependent mechanism in mice. *Circulation* 2009, **120**(10):888-896.
- 389. Albrecht EW, Stegeman CA, Tiebosch AT, Tegzess AM, van Goor H: Expression of inducible and endothelial nitric oxide synthases, formation of peroxynitrite and reactive oxygen species in human chronic renal transplant failure. Am J Transplant 2002, 2(5):448-453.

- 390. Vejlstrup NG, Andersen CB, Boesgaard S, Mortensen SA, Aldershvile J: **Temporal changes in myocardial endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression following human heart transplantation**. *J Heart Lung Transplant* 2002, **21**(2):211-216.
- 391. Nykjaer A, Schambye H, Pedersen AH, Nielsen H: Assessing lowdose gentamicin-induced kidney injury in rats by analysis of urine. *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods* 2009, **60**(3):316-320.
- 392. Chen S, Mariot R, Kirschner G, Favretto D, Traldi P: Analysis of arachidonic-acid-containing molecular species in glycerophospholipid classes from rat kidney by fast-atom bombardment mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 1990, **4**(12):495-497.
- 393. Tepper OM, Capla JM, Galiano RD, Ceradini DJ, Callaghan MJ, Kleinman ME, Gurtner GC: Adult vasculogenesis occurs through in situ recruitment, proliferation, and tubulization of circulating bone marrow-derived cells. *Blood* 2005, 105(3):1068-1077.
- 394. Urao N, Okigaki M, Yamada H, Aadachi Y, Matsuno K, Matsui A, Matsunaga S, Tateishi K, Nomura T, Takahashi T *et al*: **Erythropoietin-mobilized endothelial progenitors enhance reendothelialization via Akt-endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation and prevent neointimal hyperplasia**. *Circulation research* 2006, **98**(11):1405-1413.
- 395. Takahashi T, Kalka C, Masuda H, Chen D, Silver M, Kearney M, Magner M, Isner JM, Asahara T: Ischemia- and cytokine-induced mobilization of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells for neovascularization. *Nature medicine* 1999, **5**(4):434-438.
- 396. Jackson KA, Majka SM, Wang H, Pocius J, Hartley CJ, Majesky MW, Entman ML, Michael LH, Hirschi KK, Goodell MA: Regeneration of ischemic cardiac muscle and vascular endothelium by adult stem cells. The Journal of clinical investigation 2001, 107(11):1395-1402.
- 397. Hill JM, Zalos G, Halcox JP, Schenke WH, Waclawiw MA, Quyyumi AA, Finkel T: Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. The New England journal of medicine 2003, 348(7):593-600.
- 398. Yeh M, Leitinger N, de Martin R, Onai N, Matsushima K, Vora DK, Berliner JA, Reddy ST: Increased transcription of IL-8 in endothelial cells is differentially regulated by TNF-alpha and oxidized phospholipids. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and* vascular biology 2001, **21**(10):1585-1591.
- 399. Goligorsky MS, Yasuda K, Ratliff B: **Dysfunctional endothelial progenitor cells in chronic kidney disease**. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2010, **21**(6):911-919.
- 400. Kunter U, Floege J: **Potential risks of stem cell therapies**. In: *Rgenerative Nephrology*. 1 edn. Edited by Goligorsky MS. London: Academic Press; 2010: 361-379.

- 401. Eisenberg LM, Markwald RR: Molecular regulation of atrioventricular valvuloseptal morphogenesis. *Circulation research* 1995, **77**(1):1-6.
- 402. Zeisberg EM, Tarnavski O, Zeisberg M, Dorfman AL, McMullen JR, Gustafsson E, Chandraker A, Yuan X, Pu WT, Roberts AB *et al*: Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition contributes to cardiac fibrosis. *Nature medicine* 2007, **13**(8):952-961.
- 403. George AL, Bangalore-Prakash P, Rajoria S, Suriano R, Shanmugam A, Mittelman A, Tiwari RK: Endothelial progenitor cell biology in disease and tissue regeneration. *J Hematol Oncol* 2011, **4**.
- 404. Basak GW, Yasukawa S, Alfaro A, Halligan S, Srivastava AS, Min WP, Minev B, Carrier E: Human embryonic stem cells hemangioblast express HLA-antigens. *J Transl Med* 2009, **7**:27.
- 405. Case J, Mead LE, Bessler WK, Prater D, White HA, Saadatzadeh MR, Bhavsar JR, Yoder MC, Haneline LS, Ingram DA: Human CD34+AC133+VEGFR-2+ cells are not endothelial progenitor cells but distinct, primitive hematopoietic progenitors. *Experimental Hematology* 2007, **35**(7):1109-1118.
- 406. Ziegelhoeffer T, Fernandez B, Kostin S, Heil M, Voswinckel R, Helisch A, Schaper W: Bone marrow-derived cells do not incorporate into the adult growing vasculature. *Circulation research* 2004, **94**(2):230-238.
- 407. Schmeisser A, Garlichs CD, Zhang H, Eskafi S, Graffy C, Ludwig J, Strasser RH, Daniel WG: Monocytes coexpress endothelial and macrophagocytic lineage markers and form cord-like structures in Matrigel under angiogenic conditions. *Cardiovascular research* 2001, **49**(3):671-680.
- 408. Blease K, Chen Y, Hellewell PG, Burke-Gaffney A: Lipoteichoic acid inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced adhesion molecule expression and IL-8 release in human lung microvascular endothelial cells. *Journal of immunology* 1999, **163**(11):6139-6147.
- 409. Adams RH, Alitalo K: **Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis**. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2007, **8**(6):464-478.
- 410. Sirker AA, Astroulakis ZM, Hill JM: Vascular progenitor cells and translational research: the role of endothelial and smooth muscle progenitor cells in endogenous arterial remodelling in the adult. *Clinical science* 2009, **116**(4):283-299.
- 411. Paleolog E: It's all in the blood: circulating endothelial progenitor cells link synovial vascularity with cardiovascular mortality in rheumatoid arthritis? *Arthritis Res Ther* 2005, 7(6):270-272.
- 412. Hudlicka O, Brown M, Egginton S: **Angiogenesis in skeletal and** cardiac muscle. *Physiological reviews* 1992, **72**(2):369-417.

- 413. Iwami Y, Masuda H, Asahara T: Endothelial progenitor cells: past, state of the art, and future. *J Cell Mol Med* 2004, 8(4):488-497.
- 414. Zhang L, Yang R, Han ZC: Transplantation of umbilical cord blood-derived endothelial progenitor cells: a promising method of therapeutic revascularisation. *Eur J Haematol* 2006, **76**(1):1-8.
- 415. Li Calzi S, Neu MB, Shaw LC, Kielczewski JL, Moldovan NI, Grant MB: **EPCs and pathological angiogenesis: when good cells go bad**. *Microvascular research* 2010, **79**(3):207-216.
- 416. Gotlieb AI: Endothelial Regulation of Vascular Repair: Role of bFGF in Paracrine Pathways. Endocr Pathol 1997, 8(2):129-135.
- 417. Suri C, Jones PF, Patan S, Bartunkova S, Maisonpierre PC, Davis S, Sato TN, Yancopoulos GD: **Requisite Role of Angiopoietin-1 a** Ligand for the TIE2 Receptor, during Embryonic Angiogenesis. *Cell* 1996, **87**:1171-1180.
- 418. Rae PC, Kelly RD, Egginton S, St John JC: Angiogenic potential of endothelial progenitor cells and embryonic stem cells. *Vasc Cell* 2011, **3**:11.
- 419. Strasser GA, Kaminker JS, Tessier-Lavigne M: Microarray analysis of retinal endothelial tip cells identifies CXCR4 as a mediator of tip cell morphology and branching. *Blood* 2010, 115(24):5102-5110.
- 420. Auerbach R, Lewis R, Shinners B, Kubai L, Akhtar N: Angiogenesis assays: a critical overview. *Clin Chem* 2003, **49**(1):32-40.
- 421. Patschan D, Patschan S, Muller GA: Endothelial progenitor cells in acute ischemic kidney injury: strategies for increasing the cells' renoprotective competence. Int J Nephrol 2011, 2011:828369.
- 422. Finkenzeller G, Torio-Padron N, Momeni A, Mehlhorn AT, Stark GB: In vitro angiogenesis properties of endothelial progenitor cells: a promising tool for vascularization of ex vivo engineered tissues. *Tissue Eng* 2007, **13**(7):1413-1420.
- 423. Sieveking DP, Buckle A, Celermajer DS, Ng MK: Strikingly different angiogenic properties of endothelial progenitor cell subpopulations: insights from a novel human angiogenesis assay. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2008, **51**(6):660-668.
- 424. Jou ST, Carpino N, Takahashi Y, Piekorz R, Chao JR, Wang D, Ihle JN: Essential, nonredundant role for the phosphoinositide 3kinase p110delta in signaling by the B-cell receptor complex. *Mol Cell Biol* 2002, **22**(24):8580-8591.
- 425. Geng L, Tan J, Himmelfarb E, Schueneman A, Niermann K, Brousal J, Fu A, Cuneo K, Kesicki EA, Treiberg J *et al*: A specific antagonist of the p110delta catalytic component of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase, IC486068, enhances radiation-

induced tumor vascular destruction. *Cancer research* 2004, **64**(14):4893-4899.

- 426. Siragusa M, Katare R, Meloni M, Damilano F, Hirsch E, Emanueli C, Madeddu P: Involvement of phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma in angiogenesis and healing of experimental myocardial infarction in mice. *Circulation research* 2010, 106(4):757-768.
- 427. Siemerink MJ, Klaassen I, Vogels IM, Griffioen AW, Van Noorden CJ, Schlingemann RO: **CD34 marks angiogenic tip cells in human vascular endothelial cell cultures**. *Angiogenesis* 2012, **15**(1):151-163.
- 428. Kasai A, Shintani N, Oda M, Kakuda M, Hashimoto H, Matsuda T, Hinuma S, Baba A: **Apelin is a novel angiogenic factor in retinal endothelial cells**. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 2004, **325**(2):395-400.
- 429. Kasai A, Shintani N, Kato H, Matsuda S, Gomi F, Haba R, Hashimoto H, Kakuda M, Tano Y, Baba A: **Retardation of retinal** vascular development in apelin-deficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* 2008, **28**(10):1717-1722.
- 430. Kidoya H, Takakura N: **Biology of the apelin-APJ axis in** vascular formation. *J Biochem* 2012, **152**(2):125-131.
- 431. Kidoya H, Kunii N, Naito H, Muramatsu F, Okamoto Y, Nakayama T, Takakura N: The apelin/APJ system induces maturation of the tumor vasculature and improves the efficiency of immune therapy. *Oncogene* 2012, **31**(27):3254-3264.
- 432. Kasai A: [Pathological role of apelin in angiogenic eye disease]. Yakugaku Zasshi 2011, **131**(8):1201-1206.
- 433. Kribben A, Herget-Rosenthal S, Pietruck F, Philipp T: **[Acute renal** failure--an review]. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr* 2003, **128**(22):1231-1236.
- 434. Srisawat N, Hoste EE, Kellum JA: **Modern classification of acute kidney injury**. *Blood purification* 2010, **29**(3):300-307.
- 435. Di Marco GS, Rustemeyer P, Brand M, Koch R, Kentrup D, Grabner A, Greve B, Wittkowski W, Pavenstadt H, Hausberg M *et al*: Circulating endothelial progenitor cells in kidney transplant patients. *PloS one* 2011, **6**(9):e24046.
- 436. Brodsky SV, Yamamoto T, Tada T, Kim B, Chen J, Kajiya F, Goligorsky MS: Endothelial dysfunction in ischemic acute renal failure: rescue by transplanted endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2002, 282(6):F1140-1149.
- 437. Folkman J: Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease. *Nature medicine* 1995, **1**(1):27-31.
- 438. Jie KE, Zaikova MA, Bergevoet MW, Westerweel PE, Rastmanesh M, Blankestijn PJ, Boer WH, Braam B, Verhaar MC: **Progenitor** cells and vascular function are impaired in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2010, 25(6):1875-1882.

- 439. Capobianco S, Chennamaneni V, Mittal M, Zhang N, Zhang C: Endothelial progenitor cells as factors in neovascularization and endothelial repair. *World J Cardiol* 2010, **2**(12):411-420.
- 440. Kawamoto A, Gwon HC, Iwaguro H, Yamaguchi JI, Uchida S, Masuda H, Silver M, Ma H, Kearney M, Isner JM *et al*: **Therapeutic potential of ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cells for myocardial ischemia**. *Circulation* 2001, **103**(5):634-637.
- 441. Kocher AA, Schuster MD, Szabolcs MJ, Takuma S, Burkhoff D, Wang J, Homma S, Edwards NM, Itescu S: Neovascularization of ischemic myocardium by human bone-marrow-derived angioblasts prevents cardiomyocyte apoptosis, reduces remodeling and improves cardiac function. *Nature medicine* 2001, 7(4):430-436.
- 442. Kalka C, Masuda H, Takahashi T, Kalka-Moll WM, Silver M, Kearney M, Li T, Isner JM, Asahara T: **Transplantation of ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cells for therapeutic neovascularization**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2000, **97**(7):3422-3427.
- 443. Kawamoto A, Tkebuchava T, Yamaguchi J, Nishimura H, Yoon YS, Milliken C, Uchida S, Masuo O, Iwaguro H, Ma H et al: Intramyocardial transplantation of autologous endothelial progenitor cells for therapeutic neovascularization of myocardial ischemia. *Circulation* 2003, **107**(3):461-468.
- 444. Rookmaaker MB, Smits AM, Tolboom H, van't Wout K, Martens A, al. e: Bone-marrow-derived cells contribute to glomerular endothelial repair in experimental glomerulonephritis. *American Journal of Pathology* 2003, **163**:553-562.
- 445. Kong D, Melo LG, Mangi AA, Zhang L, Lopez-Ilasaca M, Perrella MA, Liew CC, Pratt RE, Dzau VJ: Enhanced inhibition of neointimal hyperplasia by genetically engineered endothelial progenitor cells. *Circulation* 2004, **109**(14):1769-1775.
- 446. Murasawa S, Llevadot J, Silver M, Isner JM, Losordo DW, Asahara T: Constitutive human telomerase reverse transcriptase expression enhances regenerative properties of endothelial progenitor cells. Circulation 2002, 106(9):1133-1139.
- 447. Yamamizu K, Kawasaki K, Katayama S, Watabe T, Yamashita JK: Enhancement of vascular progenitor potential by protein kinase A through dual induction of Flk-1 and Neuropilin-1. Blood 2009, 114(17):3707-3716.
- 448. Steinmetz M, Nickenig G, Werner N: Endothelial-regenerating cells: an expanding universe. *Hypertension* 2010, **55**(3):593-599.
- 449. Mombaerts P, Iacomini J, Johnson RS, Herrup K, Tonegawa S, Papaioannou VE: RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T Iymphocytes. Cell 1992, 68(5):869-877.
- 450. Carroll VA, Lundgren A, Wei H, Sainz S, Tung KS, Brown MG: Natural killer cells regulate murine cytomegalovirus-induced

sialadenitis and salivary gland disease. *J Virol* 2012, **86**(4):2132-2142.

- 451. Song J, Willinger T, Rongvaux A, Eynon EE, Stevens S, Manz MG, Flavell RA, Galan JE: **A mouse model for the human pathogen Salmonella typhi**. *Cell Host Microbe* 2010, **8**(4):369-376.
- 452. Villaschi S, Nicosia RF: Angiogenic role of endogenous basic fibroblast growth factor released by rat aorta after injury. *The American journal of pathology* 1993, **143**(1):181-190.
- 453. Chade AR, Zhu X, Lavi R, Krier JD, Pislaru S, Simari RD, Napoli C, Lerman A, Lerman LO: Endothelial progenitor cells restore renal function in chronic experimental renovascular disease. *Circulation* 2009, **119**(4):547-557.
- 454. Ghaly T, Rabadi MM, Weber M, Rabadi SM, Bank M, Grom JM, Fallon JT, Goligorsky MS, Ratliff BB: **Hydrogel-embedded endothelial progenitor cells evade LPS and mitigate endotoxemia**. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 2011, **301**(4):F802-812.
- 455. Ratliff BB, Ghaly T, Brudnicki P, Yasuda K, Rajdev M, Bank M, Mares J, Hatzopoulos AK, Goligorsky MS: Endothelial progenitors encapsulated in bioartificial niches are insulated from systemic cytotoxicity and are angiogenesis competent. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 2010, **299**(1):F178-186.
- 456. Ratliff B, Goligorsky MS: Delivery of EPC embedded in HAhydrogels for treatment of acute kidney injury. *Biomatter* 2013, 3(1).
- 457. Park HC, Yasuda K, Ratliff B, Stoessel A, Sharkovska Y, Yamamoto I, Jasmin JF, Bachmann S, Lisanti MP, Chander P et al: Postobstructive regeneration of kidney is derailed when surge in renal stem cells during course of unilateral ureteral obstruction is halted. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2010, 298(2):F357-364.
- 458. Yasuda K, Park HC, Ratliff B, Addabbo F, Hatzopoulos AK, Chander P, Goligorsky MS: Adriamycin nephropathy: a failure of endothelial progenitor cell-induced repair. *The American journal* of pathology 2010, **176**(4):1685-1695.
- 459. Oliver JA, Maarouf O, Cheema FH, Martens TP, Al-Awqati Q: **The renal papilla is a niche for adult kidney stem cells**. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2004, **114**(6):795-804.
- 460. Maeshima A, Yamashita S, Nojima Y: Identification of renal progenitor-like tubular cells that participate in the regeneration processes of the kidney. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2003, **14**(12):3138-3146.
- 461. Patschan D, Michurina T, Shi HK, Dolff S, Brodsky SV, Vasilieva T, Cohen-Gould L, Winaver J, Chander PN, Enikolopov G et al: Normal distribution and medullary-to-cortical shift of Nestinexpressing cells in acute renal ischemia. *Kidney international* 2007, **71**(8):744-754.

- 462. Napoli C, Hayashi T, Cacciatore F, Casamassimi A, Casini C, Al-Omran M, Ignarro LJ: Endothelial progenitor cells as therapeutic agents in the microcirculation: An update. *Atherosclerosis* 2011, 215(1):9-22.
- 463. Young PP, Vaughan DE, Hatzopoulos AK: **Biologic properties of** endothelial progenitor cells and their potential for cell therapy. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 2007, **49**(6):421-429.
- 464. Humphreys BD, Bonventre JV: Mesenchymal stem cells in acute kidney injury. Annu Rev Med 2008, **59**:311-325.
- 465. Kale Š, Karihaloo A, Clark PR, Kashgarian M, Krause DS, Cantley LG: Bone marrow stem cells contribute to repair of the ischemically injured renal tubule. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2003, **112**(1):42-49.
- 466. Herrera MB, Bussolati B, Bruno S, Fonsato V, Romanazzi GM, Camussi G: Mesenchymal stem cells contribute to the renal repair of acute tubular epithelial injury. *International journal of molecular medicine* 2004, **14**(6):1035-1041.
- 467. Haynesworth SE, Baber MA, Caplan AI: Cytokine expression by human marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells in vitro: effects of dexamethasone and IL-1 alpha. *Journal of cellular physiology* 1996, **166**(3):585-592.
- 468. Moghadasali R, Mutsaers HA, Azarnia M, Aghdami N, Baharvand H, Torensma R, Wilmer MJ, Masereeuw R: **Mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium accelerates regeneration of human renal proximal tubule epithelial cells after gentamicin toxicity**. *Exp Toxicol Pathol* 2012.
- 469. Burns ER, Zucker-Franklin D: Pathologic effects of plasma from patients with thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura on platelets and cultured vascular endothelial cells. *Blood* 1982, 60(4):1030-1037.
- 470. Siegler RL: Postdiarrheal Shiga toxin-mediated hemolytic uremic syndrome. Jama 2003, 290(10):1379-1381.
- 471. Pomajzl RJ, Varman M, Holst A, Chen A: Hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS)--incidence and etiologies at a regional Children's Hospital in 2001-2006. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2009, 28(12):1431-1435.
- 472. Frank C, Werber D, Cramer JP, Askar M, Faber M, an der Heiden M, Bernard H, Fruth A, Prager R, Spode A *et al*: Epidemic profile of Shiga-toxin-producing Escherichia coli O104:H4 outbreak in Germany. *The New England journal of medicine* 2011, 365(19):1771-1780.
- 473. Menne J, Kielstein JT, Wenzel U, Stahl RA: [Treatment of typical hemolytic-uremic syndrome. Knowledge gained from analyses of the 2011 E. coli outbreak]. *Internist (Berl)* 2012, 53(12):1420-1430.
- 474. Duronio V: The life of a cell: apoptosis regulation by the PI3K/PKB pathway. *Biochem J* 2008, 415(3):333-344.

- 475. Fruman DA, Meyers RE, Cantley LC: **Phosphoinositide kinases**. *Annu Rev Biochem* 1998, **67**:481-507.
- 476. Kurosu H, Maehama T, Okada T, Yamamoto T, Hoshino S, Fukui Y, Ui M, Hazeki O, Katada T: Heterodimeric phosphoinositide 3kinase consisting of p85 and p110beta is synergistically activated by the betagamma subunits of G proteins and phosphotyrosyl peptide. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1997, 272(39):24252-24256.
- 477. Guillermet-Guibert J, Bjorklof K, Salpekar A, Gonella C, Ramadani F, Bilancio A, Meek S, Smith AJ, Okkenhaug K, Vanhaesebroeck B: The p110beta isoform of phosphoinositide 3-kinase signals downstream of G protein-coupled receptors and is functionally redundant with p110gamma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2008, 105(24):8292-8297.
- 478. Lelievre E, Bourbon PM, Duan LJ, Nussbaum RL, Fong GH: Deficiency in the p110alpha subunit of PI3K results in diminished Tie2 expression and Tie2(-/-)-like vascular defects in mice. Blood 2005, 105(10):3935-3938.
- 479. del Toro R, Prahst C, Mathivet T, Siegfried G, Kaminker JS, Larrivee B, Breant C, Duarte A, Takakura N, Fukamizu A *et al*: Identification and functional analysis of endothelial tip cellenriched genes. *Blood* 2010, **116**(19):4025-4033.
- 480. Laurence J, Mitra D, Steiner M, Staiano-Coico L, Jaffe E: Plasma from patients with idiopathic and human immunodeficiency virus-associated thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura induces apoptosis in microvascular endothelial cells. *Blood* 1996, **87**(8):3245-3254.
- 481. Dang CT, Magid MS, Weksler B, Chadburn A, Laurence J: Enhanced endothelial cell apoptosis in splenic tissues of patients with thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood* 1999, **93**(4):1264-1270.
- 482. Knight ZA, Gonzalez B, Feldman ME, Zunder ER, Goldenberg DD, Williams O, Loewith R, Stokoe D, Balla A, Toth B *et al*: A pharmacological map of the PI3-K family defines a role for p110alpha in insulin signaling. *Cell* 2006, 125(4):733-747.
- 483. Foukas LC, Berenjeno IM, Gray A, Khwaja A, Vanhaesebroeck B: Activity of any class IA PI3K isoform can sustain cell proliferation and survival. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2010, **107**(25):11381-11386.
- 484. Mancuso MR, Davis R, Norberg SM, O'Brien S, Sennino B, Nakahara T, Yao VJ, Inai T, Brooks P, Freimark B *et al*: **Rapid vascular regrowth in tumors after reversal of VEGF inhibition**. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2006, **116**(10):2610-2621.
- 485. Jia S, Liu Z, Zhang S, Liu P, Zhang L, Lee SH, Zhang J, Signoretti S, Loda M, Roberts TM *et al*: **Essential roles of PI(3)K-p110beta**

in cell growth, metabolism and tumorigenesis. *Nature* 2008, **454**(7205):776-779.

- 486. Ciraolo E, lezzi M, Marone R, Marengo S, Curcio C, Costa C, Azzolino O, Gonella C, Rubinetto C, Wu H *et al*: Phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110beta activity: key role in metabolism and mammary gland cancer but not development. *Sci Signal* 2008, 1(36):ra3.
- 487. Kulkarni AA, Thatcher TH, Olsen KC, Maggirwar SB, Phipps RP, Sime PJ: PPAR-gamma ligands repress TGFbeta-induced myofibroblast differentiation by targeting the PI3K/Akt pathway: implications for therapy of fibrosis. *PloS one* 2011, 6(1):e15909.
- 488. Floege J, Eng E, Lindner V, Alpers CE, Young BA, Reidy MA, Johnson RJ: Rat glomerular mesangial cells synthesize basic fibroblast growth factor. Release, upregulated synthesis, and mitogenicity in mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 1992, **90**(6):2362-2369.
- 489. Eremina V, Sood M, Haigh J, Nagy A, Lajoie G, Ferrara N, Gerber HP, Kikkawa Y, Miner JH, Quaggin SE: **Glomerular-specific alterations of VEGF-A expression lead to distinct congenital and acquired renal diseases**. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2003, **111**(5):707-716.
- 490. Jackson SP, Schoenwaelder SM, Goncalves I, Nesbitt WS, Yap CL, Wright CE, Kenche V, Anderson KE, Dopheide SM, Yuan Y et al: PI 3-kinase p110beta: a new target for antithrombotic therapy. Nature medicine 2005, 11(5):507-514.
- 491. Cosemans JM, Munnix IC, Wetzker R, Heller R, Jackson SP, Heemskerk JW: Continuous signaling via PI3K isoforms beta and gamma is required for platelet ADP receptor function in dynamic thrombus stabilization. *Blood* 2006, **108**(9):3045-3052.
- 492. Jakobsson L, Franco CA, Bentley K, Collins RT, Ponsioen B, Aspalter IM, Rosewell I, Busse M, Thurston G, Medvinsky A *et al*: Endothelial cells dynamically compete for the tip cell position during angiogenic sprouting. *Nat Cell Biol* 2010, **12**(10):943-953.
- 493. Carver BS, Chapinski C, Wongvipat J, Hieronymus H, Chen Y, Chandarlapaty S, Arora VK, Le C, Koutcher J, Scher H *et al*: **Reciprocal feedback regulation of PI3K and androgen receptor signaling in PTEN-deficient prostate cancer**. *Cancer cell* 2011, **19**(5):575-586.
- 494. van Roeyen CR, Ostendorf T, Denecke B, Bokemeyer D, Behrmann I, Strutz F, Lichenstein HS, LaRochelle WJ, Pena CE, Chaudhuri A *et al*: Biological responses to PDGF-BB versus PDGF-DD in human mesangial cells. *Kidney international* 2006, 69(8):1393-1402.
- 495. Abboud HE, Grandaliano G, Pinzani M, Knauss T, Pierce GF, Jaffer F: Actions of platelet-derived growth factor isoforms in

mesangial cells. *Journal of cellular physiology* 1994, **158**(1):140-150.

- 496. Bjarnegard M, Enge M, Norlin J, Gustafsdottir S, Fredriksson S, Abramsson A, Takemoto M, Gustafsson E, Fassler R, Betsholtz C: Endothelium-specific ablation of PDGFB leads to pericyte loss and glomerular, cardiac and placental abnormalities. Development 2004, 131(8):1847-1857.
- 497. Sano H, Ueda Y, Takakura N, Takemura G, Doi T, Kataoka H, Murayama T, Xu Y, Sudo T, Nishikawa S *et al*: **Blockade of platelet-derived growth factor receptor-beta pathway induces apoptosis of vascular endothelial cells and disrupts glomerular capillary formation in neonatal mice**. *The American journal of pathology* 2002, **161**(1):135-143.
- 498. Nakagawa T, Sasahara M, Haneda M, Kataoka H, Nakagawa H, Yagi M, Kikkawa R, Hazama F: **Role of PDGF B-chain and PDGF receptors in rat tubular regeneration after acute injury**. *The American journal of pathology* 1999, **155**(5):1689-1699.
- 499. Alpers CE, Seifert RA, Hudkins KL, Johnson RJ, Bowen-Pope DF: **PDGF-receptor localizes to mesangial, parietal epithelial, and interstitial cells in human and primate kidneys**. *Kidney international* 1993, **43**(2):286-294.
- 500. Kuhnert F, Tam BY, Sennino B, Gray JT, Yuan J, Jocson A, Nayak NR, Mulligan RC, McDonald DM, Kuo CJ: Soluble receptormediated selective inhibition of VEGFR and PDGFRbeta signaling during physiologic and tumor angiogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2008, **105**(29):10185-10190.
- 501. Abboud HE: Role of platelet-derived growth factor in renal injury. Annu Rev Physiol 1995, 57:297-309.
- 502. Pierce GF, Vande Berg J, Rudolph R, Tarpley J, Mustoe TA: **Platelet-derived growth factor-BB and transforming growth factor beta 1 selectively modulate glycosaminoglycans, collagen, and myofibroblasts in excisional wounds**. *The American journal of pathology* 1991, **138**(3):629-646.
- 503. Boor P, van Roeyen CR, Kunter U, Villa L, Bucher E, Hohenstein B, Hugo CP, Eriksson U, Satchell SC, Mathieson PW et al: PDGF-C mediates glomerular capillary repair. The American journal of pathology 2010, 177(1):58-69.
- 504. Iruela-Arispe L, Gordon K, Hugo C, Duijvestijn AM, Claffey KP, Reilly M, Couser WG, Alpers CE, Johnson RJ: **Participation of glomerular endothelial cells in the capillary repair of glomerulonephritis**. *The American journal of pathology* 1995, **147**(6):1715-1727.
- 505. Floege J, Johnson RJ, Alpers CE, Fatemi-Nainie S, Richardson CA, Gordon K, Couser WG: Visceral glomerular epithelial cells can proliferate in vivo and synthesize platelet-derived growth

factor B-chain. The American journal of pathology 1993, **142**(2):637-650.

- 506. Ostendorf T, Kunter U, Eitner F, Loos A, Regele H, Kerjaschki D, Henninger DD, Janjic N, Floege J: **VEGF(165) mediates glomerular endothelial repair**. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 1999, **104**(7):913-923.
- 507. Floege J, Topley N, Hoppe J, Barrett TB, Resch K: Mitogenic effect of platelet-derived growth factor in human glomerular mesangial cells: modulation and/or suppression by inflammatory cytokines. *Clinical and experimental immunology* 1991, 86(2):334-341.
- 508. Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P: Acute renal failure - definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. *Crit Care* 2004, 8(4):R204-212.
- 509. Le Dorze M, Legrand M, Payen D, Ince C: **The role of the microcirculation in acute kidney injury**. *Current Opinion in Critical Care* 2009, **15**(6):503-508.
- 510. Star RA: **Treatment of acute renal failure**. *Kidney international* 1998, **54**(6):1817-1831.
- 511. Pearson JD: Endothelial progenitor cells hype or hope? J Thromb Haemost 2009, 7(2):255-262.
- 512. Noris M, Remuzzi G: Hemolytic uremic syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005, **16**(4):1035-1050.
- 513. Artz MA, Steenbergen EJ, Hoitsma AJ, Monnens LA, Wetzels JF: Renal transplantation in patients with hemolytic uremic syndrome: high rate of recurrence and increased incidence of acute rejections. *Transplantation* 2003, **76**(5):821-826.
- 514. Park SW, Vepachedu R, Sharma N, Vivanco JM: **Ribosome**inactivating proteins in plant biology. *Planta* 2004, **219**(6):1093-1096.
- 515. Ho VT, Cutler C, Carter S, Martin P, Adams R, Horowitz M, Ferrara J, Soiffer R, Giralt S: Blood and marrow transplant clinical trials network toxicity committee consensus summary: thrombotic microangiopathy after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 2005, **11**(8):571-575.
- 516. Risau W: **Embryonic angiogenesis factors**. *Pharmacol Ther* 1991, **51**(3):371-376.
- 517. Spring H, Schuler T, Arnold B, Hammerling GJ, Ganss R: **Chemokines direct endothelial progenitors into tumor neovessels**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2005, **102**(50):18111-18116.
- 518. Chartier C, Degryse E, Gantzer M, Dieterle A, Pavirani A, Mehtali M: Efficient generation of recombinant adenovirus vectors by homologous recombination in Escherichia coli. *J Virol* 1996, **70**(7):4805-4810.

- 519. O'Malley BW, Couch ME (eds.): Gene Therapy for Cancer and Review of Clinical trials. New York: CRC Press; 2003.
- 520. Gruden G, Thomas S, Burt D, Zhou W, Chusney G, Gnudi L, Viberti G: Interaction of angiotensin II and mechanical stretch on vascular endothelial growth factor production by human mesangial cells. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1999, **10**(4):730-737.
- 521. Schlondorff D, Banas B: The mesangial cell revisited: no cell is an island. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2009, **20**(6):1179-1187.
- 522. Cui YZ, Hisha H, Yang GX, Fan TX, Jin T, Li Q, Lian Z, Ikehara S: Optimal protocol for total body irradiation for allogeneic bone marrow transplantation in mice. *Bone marrow transplantation* 2002, **30**(12):843-849.
- 523. Safwat A, Nielsen OS, abd el-Bakky H, Overgaard J: Renal damage after total body irradiation in a mouse model for bone marrow transplantation: effect of radiation dose rate. *Radiother Oncol* 1995, **34**(3):203-209.
- 524. Cross MJ, Claesson-Welsh L: FGF and VEGF function in angiogenesis: signalling pathways, biological responses and therapeutic inhibition. *Trends in pharmacological sciences* 2001, 22(4):201-207.
- 525. Ross R, Raines EW, Bowen-Pope DF: The biology of plateletderived growth factor. *Cell* 1986, **46**(2):155-169.
- 526. Mak LH, Vilar R, Woscholski R: Characterisation of the PTEN inhibitor VO-OHpic. J Chem Biol 2010, 3(4):157-163.